
 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Regular Meeting 

Wednesday, June 23, 2021 
1:00 p.m. - 3:00 p.m. 

MS Teams Online 

1 / 1 

AGENDA 

1. Territorial Acknowledgement and Call to Order  ......................................................................... David Burns 1:00 

2. Approval of Agenda 

3. Approval of Minutes, May 19, 2021 

4. Chair's Report ......................................................................................................................................................................  1:05 

4.1. Creative Writing Program Review Timeline 

4.2. Physics for Modern Technology Program Review Timeline 

4.3. Brewing and Brewery Operations Program Review Timeline 

5. New Business  ......................................................................................................................................................................   

5.1. HCAP Quality Assurance Plan ..................................................................... Sharon Leitch, Sharmen Lee 1:15 

5.2. Fashion & Technology Self-Study Report....................................  Heather Clark, Andhra Goundrey 1:30 

6. Items for Discussion ..........................................................................................................................................................   2:00 

7. Manager’s Report for OPA ..............................................................................................................................................  2:05 

8. Adjournment ........................................................................................................................................................................  2:10 

 

 

 

 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 

Wednesday, May 19, 2021 
3:00 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. 

MS Teams Online 

1 / 3 

 

Voting Member Quorum 9 members  

Aimee Begalka 
Shelley Boyd 
Fergal Callaghan 
Heather Cyr 
Donna Danielson  
Julia Denker  
David Florkowski 

Lori McElroy 
Allison Richardson 
Melissa Swanink 
Leeann Waddington 
Michael Whitmore 
Jendy Wu 

 

Non-voting 

David Burns - Chair 
Melike Kinik-Dicleli 
Sandy Vanderburgh 
Steve Cardwell 

Regrets  Senate Office Guests  

Marti Alger 
Michael Cober 
Akshat Garg 
Stephen Yezerinac 

Meredith Laird Tomasz Gradowski 
Jocelyn Lymburner 
Rebecca Yoshizawa 
Diane Purvey 
Kamala Nayar 
Sylvia Woodyard 
Victoria Johnston-Hatch 
Diane Purvey 

1. Territorial Acknowledgement and Call to Order 

The Chair opened the meeting with a Territorial Acknowledgement and called the meeting to 
order at 3:01 p.m. 

2. Approval of Agenda 

Melissa Swanink moved the agenda be confirmed as presented. 

The motion carried. 

3. Approval of Minutes, April 21, 2021 

Heather Cyr moved the minutes be accepted as circulated. 

The motion carried. 

4. Chair’s Report 

David Burns, Vice-Chair of Senate, welcomed Tomasz Gradowski to the committee. The Chair 
noted that the Political Science Department submitted a report for consideration at this 
meeting, but after receiving the comments of the reviewers will incorporate the feedback and 
bring a revised version to the committee in September. David Burns noted that the Chair for the 
Senate Standing Committee on Program Review will be vacant when the committee begins the 



 

2 / 3 

2021/22 session and that notice of election for the Chair will be issued in September and the 
election held at the October meeting. 

5. New Business 

5.1. Psychology First Annual Follow-Up Report 

Jocelyn Lymburner described changes made to the report based on the reviewers’ comments, 
which included minor reorganization and greater detail on the Dean’s office’s support for the 
Honours program. The committee discussed the pop-up computer lab, which Jocelyn 
Lymburner described as a set of computers with statistical software that will be housed in the 
library and will be available to be signed out and used in classrooms by instructors. 

 

Jendy Wu moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Psychology First Annual Follow-Up Report as attached.  

The motion carried. 

Lori McElroy moved that the Psychology Department provide a second Annual Follow-Up Report 
next year. 

The motion carried. 

5.2.  Sociology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  

Rebecca Yoshizawa described the changes made to the report based on the reviewers’ 
comments. 

Donna Danielson moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Sociology Second Annual Follow-Up Report as attached.  

The motion carried. 

Lori McElroy moved that the Department of Sociology provide a Follow-up Report next year. 

The motion carried. 

 

5.3. Asian Studies Second Annual Follow-Up Report 

Kamala Nayar described the contents of the submission and answered questions from the 
committee. The committee discussed that references to writers of the reports sometimes use 
names and sometimes include titles, and noted that titles may change over the course of 
Program Review. 

Shelley Boyd moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the Asian 
Studies Second Annual Follow-Up Report as attached.  

The motion carried. 

5.4.  Education Assistant Program Self-Study Report  

Sylvia Woodyard described the changes made based on reviewer feedback, which included 
substantial copy editing of the document and greater detail about how the discipline relates to 
work opportunities.  She noted that the department has added a regular item in the department 



 

3 / 3 

meetings to discuss follow-ups with alumni and plans to forward alumni success stories to 
Alumni Affairs.  She informed the committee that many graduates of this program move into the 
field of child and youth care as well as respite care and behavioural intervention and that this 
might be identified by the program as another career pathway, and that graduates might find 
roles in residential and day programs due to a shortage of Community Support Workers. 

The committee discussed the difficulties the program is currently experiencing with practicum 
placements during the pandemic. Steve Cardwell offered to support the program in reaching 
out to school boards to find placements for the students. 

Melissa Swanink moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Education Assistant Program Self-Study Report as attached.  

The motion carried. 

 

5.5. Product Design External Review Report  

David Burns described the external review and noted that one external reviewer had to step 
away close to the end of the process but that the review had continued with the two other 
external reviewers. 

Melissa Swanink moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Product Design External Review Report as attached.  

The motion carried. 

 

5.6. Mathematics External Review Report 

David Burns described the external review. 

Julia Denker moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Mathematics External Review Report as attached.  

The motion carried. 

 

6.  Items for Discussion 

The Chair thanked reviewers for their work in reviewing 29 programs to date in this academic 
year and thanked Melike Kinik-Dicleli for coordinating the reviews. 

 
7. Manager’s Report from OPA 

The committee received the written report. Melike Kinik-Dicleli informed the committee that 
Physics for Modern Technology and Creative Writing are currently beginning their self-study 
reports.  The committee discussed the improvement to the committee’s function as a result of 
all the work accomplished prior to the meeting to address reviewers’ comments. 

8. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 3:54 p.m. 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 4.1 

Meeting Date: June 23, 2021 
Presenter: David Burns 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Creative Writing Program Review Timeline 

  

Action Requested Information 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

N/A 

  

Senate Standing 
Committee Report 

For Senate Office Use Only   

  

Context & 
Background 

To ensure that program reviews are completed in a timely manner and 
that program review reports are based on relevant data, program reviews 
at KPU follow a timeline. All program reviews should be completed within 
16 months from planning to the submission of the Quality Assurance Plan.  
Starting September 2020, the timelines for new program reviews will be 
presented to the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review. 
Attached is the program review timeline for the Creative Writing 
Program.  

  

Key Messages N/A 

  

Consultations Creative Writing Program Review Team 

  

Attachments Creative Writing Program Review Timeline 

  

Submitted by 
Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & 
Accountability 

Date submitted June 10, 2021 

 



 
 

TIMELINE FOR PROGRAM REVIEW– CREATIVE WRITING 
 

Senate Standing Committee on Program Review                                    June 2021                      1 

 

Finalized at the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review on DAY/MONTH/YEAR. 

 
Program Review Team (in alphabetical order): 

 Jen Currin 

 Billeh Nickerson 

 

The Program Review Team will be responsible for the following: 

 Seek support from Teaching and Learning Commons (TLC) to conduct the curriculum review, if 
needed. 

 Collaborate with the OPA on survey planning by providing the following: 
o Program-level outcomes; 
o Names and contact information of discipline/sector representatives to be included in 

discipline/sector surveys; 
o Names and contact information of faculty members to be included in faculty surveys; 
o Feedback on surveys which OPA will design and administer. 

 Write reports using the templates provided and submit them according to the timelines 
endorsed by the SSCPR as presented below. 

 Meet with the Dean/Associate Dean regularly so they can be apprised of the direction of the 
review. 

 Provide the Dean/Associate Dean draft reports so the Dean/Associate Dean can provide 
feedback and responses as required.  

 Attend SSCPR meetings to present reports (only one member of the team is required to attend 
though all are certainly welcome). 
 

The Program Review Timeline consists of 7 phases: 

1. Planning 
2. Curriculum Review 
3. Data Collection 
4. Self-Study Report Preparation 
5. External Review 
6. Quality Assurance Plan Development (needs to be signed off by the Dean and Provost) 
7. Annual Follow-Up Reporting 

 
It should take approximately 16 months from beginning of Self-Study to the submission of the Quality 

Assurance Plan. The first Annual Follow-Up Report should be submitted one year after the approval of 

the Quality Assurance Plan. The Annual Follow-Up Reporting continues until a program can 

demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the SSCPR, substantial completion of the Quality Assurance Plan. 

 



 
 

TIMELINE FOR PROGRAM REVIEW– CREATIVE WRITING 
 

Senate Standing Committee on Program Review                                    June 2021                      2 

 

 

The chart below provides a visual representation of the proposed timeline including elapsed time and report submissions.  

Phase   
Mar*
2021 

Sep 
2021 

Oct 
2021 

Nov 
2021 

Dec 
2021 

Jan 
2022 

Feb 
2022 

Mar 
2022 

Apr 
2022 

May 
2022 

June 
2022 

July 
2022 

Aug 
2022 

Sep 
2022 

Oct 
2022 

Nov 
2022 

1. Planning                             

2. Curriculum Review                              

3. Data Collection                  

4. Self-Study Report 
Preparation  

             
    

5. External Review                   

6. Quality Assurance 
Plan Development 

             
   

 

Nov 2023 

7. First Annual Follow Up Report   

 Report submission months 
*Program Review Planning meeting took place on March 18, 2021.  
Note: External Review Report is submitted by the External Review Team, not by the Program Review Team.  

 

The tasks involved in each phase of the program review process are described on the following pages. Note that the curriculum review, 

data collection, and self-study report preparation overlap. 

 



 
 

TIMELINE FOR PROGRAM REVIEW– CREATIVE WRITING 
 

Senate Standing Committee on Program Review                                    June 2021                      3 

 

PHASE 1 Month/Year Tasks 

PLANNING March 8, 2021  Manager of Quality Assurance sends Program Chair information about 
program review before the initial planning meeting 

March 12, 
2021 

 Manager of Quality Assurance and Chair of SSCPR meet with Program 
Review Team to outline the purpose and process for program review 
and expectations for reports and timing 

June/July 2021  Manager of Quality Assurance sends Program Review Team the 
guides and reporting templates 

PHASE 2 Month/Year Tasks 

CURRICULUM 
REVIEW 

September-
October 2021 

 Program Review Team conducts the curriculum review, which 
becomes part of the self-study report 

 Support is available from Educational Consultants at the Teaching and 
Learning Commons. The Manager of Quality Assurance will provide an 
introduction 

PHASE 3 Month/Year Tasks 

DATA 
COLLECTION 

September 
2021 

 Manager of Quality Assurance sends Program Review Team the 
administrative data report needed for the Self-Study Report 

February 2022  Program Review Team provides program-specific questions they want 
to address in the review 

 Program Review Team provides program-level learning outcomes and 
program competencies for Quality Assurance Team to include in 
surveys  

 Quality Assurance Team customizes surveys for students, alumni, 
faculty, discipline/sector and seeks feedback from Program Review 
Team 

 Program Review Team submits names and contact information of 
discipline/sector representatives and faculty members to be surveyed 

1st week of 
March 2022 

 Quality Assurance Team launches surveys for students, alumni, 
faculty and discipline/sector representatives 

4th week of 
March 2022 

 Quality Assurance Team provides survey data reports 

PHASE 4 Month/Year Tasks 

SELF-STUDY 
REPORT 
PREPARATION 

October 2021  Program Review Team begins work on the Self-Study Report  

 Program Review Team starts collecting relevant appendices for Self-
Study Report  

2nd week of 
May 2022 

 Program Review Team completes draft of Self-Study report and sends 
to Dean  

June 1, 2022  Program Review Team completes revisions to the Self-Study Report 
and submits to Senate Standing Committee on Program Review 
(SSCPR) 

June 22, 2022  SSCPR reviews Self-Study Report at June 22, 2022 meeting 



 
 

TIMELINE FOR PROGRAM REVIEW– CREATIVE WRITING 
 

Senate Standing Committee on Program Review                                    June 2021                      4 

 

PHASE 5 Month/Year Tasks 

EXTERNAL 
REVIEW SITE 
VISIT 

May 2022  Program Review Team sends names of potential external reviewers 

 SSCPR selects external reviewers  

June 2022  Program Review Team, with the help of Manager of Quality 
Assurance, begins planning external review  

 Dean invites two external reviewers 

 SSCPR Chair appoints KPU faculty member to the panel 
July 2022  External review site visit, with participation of Program faculty, 

students, alumni and PAC members 

EXTERNAL 
REVIEW 
REPORT  

August 2022  External reviewers submit External Review Report 

 Program Review Team receives the draft External Review Report so 
they can begin working on the Quality Assurance Plan 

September 
2022 

 SSCPR reviews External Review Report (at September 2022 meeting) 

 Approved External Review Report is sent to Program Review Team 
and Dean 

PHASE 6 Month/Year Tasks 

QUALITY 
ASSURANCE 
PLAN 
DEVELOPMENT 

August 2022  Program Review Team beings writing Quality Assurance Plan in 
consultation with the Dean 

October 2022  Program Review Team and Dean meets with the Provost to discuss the 
Quality Assurance Plan 

October 2022  Program Review Team submits Quality Assurance Plan to the SSCPR at 
least three weeks before the November meeting of the SSCPR 

November 
2022 

 SSCPR reviews Quality Assurance Plan (at November 2022 meeting)  

 Approved Quality Assurance Plan along with the Annual Follow-Up 
template and guide are sent to the Program Review Team 

PHASE 7  Month/Year Tasks 

ANNUAL 
FOLLOW-UP 
REPORTING 

November 
2023 

 Program Review Team submits Annual Follow-Up Report 

 SSCPR reviews Annual Follow-Up Report and decides whether the 
annual follow-up reporting should continue the following year 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 4.2 

Meeting Date: June 23, 2021 
Presenter: David Burns 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Physics for Modern Technology Program Review Timeline 

  

Action Requested Information 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

N/A 

  

Senate Standing 
Committee Report 

For Senate Office Use Only   

  

Context & 
Background 

To ensure that program reviews are completed in a timely manner and 
that program review reports are based on relevant data, program reviews 
at KPU follow a timeline. All program reviews should be completed within 
16 months from planning to the submission of the Quality Assurance Plan.  
Starting September 2020, the timelines for new program reviews will be 
presented to the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review. 
Attached is the program review timeline for the Physics for Modern 
Technology Program.  

  

Key Messages N/A 

  

Consultations Physics for Modern Technology Program Review Team 

  

Attachments Physics for Modern Technology Program Review Timeline 

  

Submitted by 
Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & 
Accountability 

Date submitted June 10, 2021 

 



 
 

TIMELINE FOR PROGRAM REVIEW: PHYSICS FOR MODERN TECHNOLOGY 
 

Senate Standing Committee on Program Review                                   June 2021_rev                      1 

 

 
Finalized at the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review on DAY/MONTH/YEAR. 

 
Program Review Team (in alphabetical order): 

 Fergal Callaghan 

 Mike Coombes 

 Michael Poon  

 Takashi Sato 

 Kianoosh Tahani 

 

The Program Review Team will be responsible for the following: 

 Seek support from Teaching and Learning Commons (TLC) to conduct the curriculum review, if 
needed. 

 Collaborate with OPA to provide the following: 
o Program-level outcomes; 
o Names and contact information of discipline/sector representatives to be included in 

discipline/sector surveys; 
o Names and contact information of faculty members to be included in faculty surveys; 
o Feedback on surveys which OPA will design and administer. 

 Write reports using the templates provided and submit them according to the timelines 
endorsed by the SSCPR as presented below. 

 Meet with the Dean/Associate Dean regularly so they can be apprised of the direction of the 
review. 

 Provide the Dean/Associate Dean draft reports so the Dean/Associate Dean can provide 
feedback and responses as required.  

 Attend SSCPR meetings to present reports (only one member of the team is required to attend 
though all are certainly welcome). 
 

The Program Review Timeline consists of 7 phases: 

1. Getting Started 
2. Curriculum Review 
3. Data Collection 
4. Self-Study Report Preparation 
5. External Review 
6. Quality Assurance Plan Development (needs to be signed off by the Dean and Provost) 
7. Annual Follow-Up Reporting 

 
It should take approximately 16 months from beginning of Self-Study to the submission of the Quality 

Assurance Plan. The first Annual Follow-Up Report should be submitted one year after the approval of 

the Quality Assurance Plan. The Annual Follow-Up Reporting continues until a program can 

demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the SSCPR, substantial completion of the Quality Assurance Plan.



 
 

TIMELINE FOR PROGRAM REVIEW: PHYSICS FOR MODERN TECHNOLOGY 
 

Senate Standing Committee on Program Review                                   June 2021_rev                      2 

 

 

 

The chart below provides a visual representation of the proposed timeline including elapsed time and report submissions.  

Phase   

Months 

Feb* 
2021 

May  
2021 

June 
2021 

July 
2021 

Aug 
2021 

Sep 
2021 

Oct 
2021 

Nov 
2021 

Dec 
2021 

Jan 
2022 

Feb 
2022 

Mar 
2022 

Apr 
2022 

May 
2022 

June 
2022 

July 
2022 

Aug 
2022 

Sep 
2022 

Oct 
2022 

Nov 
2022 

1. Getting 
Started 

    
  

                              
 

2. Curriculum 
Review  

   
  

                             
 

3. Data 
Collection 

    
  

                
 

4. Self-Study 
Report 
Preparation  

  

 

  

 

                

 

5. External 
Review  

    
  

                
 

6. Quality 
Assurance Plan 
Development 

    

  

                 

November 2023 

7. First Annual Follow Up Report   

 Report submission months 
*Program review planning meeting took place on February 22, 2021.  
Note: External Review Report is submitted by the External Review Team, not by the Program Review Team.  

 

The tasks involved in each phase of the program review process are described on the following pages. Note that the curriculum review, 

data collection, and self-study report preparation overlap. 

 



 
 

TIMELINE FOR PROGRAM REVIEW: PHYSICS FOR MODERN TECHNOLOGY 
 

Senate Standing Committee on Program Review                                   June 2021_rev                      3 

 

 

PHASE 1 Month/Year Tasks 

GETTING 
STARTED 

February 16, 
2021 

 Manager, Quality Assurance sends Program Chair information about 
program review before the initial planning meeting. 

February 22, 
2021 

 Manager, Quality Assurance and Chair of SSCPR meet with Program 
Review Team to outline the purpose and process for program review 
and expectations for reports and timing. 

June 2021  Manager, Quality Assurance sends Program Review Team the guides 
and reporting templates. 

PHASE 2 Month/Year Tasks 

CURRICULUM 
REVIEW 

May – August 
2021 

 Program Review Team conducts the curriculum review, which 
becomes part of the self-study report. 

 Support is available from Educational Consultants at the Teaching and 
Learning Commons. The Manager, Quality Assurance will provide an 
introduction. 

PHASE 3 Month/Year Tasks 

DATA 
COLLECTION 

August 2021  Manager, Quality Assurance sends Program Review Team the 
administrative data report needed for the Self-Study Report. 

1st week of 
September 
2021 

 Program Review Team provides program-specific questions they want 
to address in the review. 

 Program Review Team provides program-level learning outcomes for 
Quality Assurance Team to include in surveys.  

 Quality Assurance Team customizes surveys for students, alumni, 
faculty, discipline/sector and seeks feedback from Program Review 
Team. 

 Program Review Team submits names and contact information of 
discipline/sector representatives and faculty members to be 
surveyed. 

4th week of 
September 

 Quality Assurance Team launches surveys for students, alumni, 
faculty and discipline/sector representatives. 

3rd week of 
October 

 Quality Assurance Team provides survey data reports. 

PHASE 4 Month/Year Tasks 

SELF-STUDY 
REPORT 
PREPARATION 

May 2021  Program Review Team begins work on the Self-Study Report  

 Program Review Team starts collecting relevant appendices for Self-
Study Report.  

First week of 
February 2022 

 Program Review Team completes draft of Self-Study report and sends 
to Dean.  

February 23, 
2022 

 Program Review Team completes revisions to the Self-Study Report 
and submits to Senate Standing Committee on Program Review 
(SSCPR). 

March 16, 
2022 

 SSCPR reviews Self-Study Report at the March 16, 2022 meeting. 

  



 
 

TIMELINE FOR PROGRAM REVIEW: PHYSICS FOR MODERN TECHNOLOGY 
 

Senate Standing Committee on Program Review                                   June 2021_rev                      4 

 

PHASE 5 Month/Year Tasks 

EXTERNAL 
REVIEW SITE 
VISIT 

February 2022  Program Review Team sends names of potential external reviewers. 

 SSCPR selects external reviewers.  

March 2022  Program Review Team, with the help of Manager, Quality Assurance, 
begins planning external review. 

 Dean invites two external reviewers. 

 SSCPR Chair appoints KPU faculty member to the panel. 
April 2022  External review site visit, with participation of Program faculty, 

students, alumni and PAC members, takes place. 

EXTERNAL 
REVIEW 
REPORT  

May 2022  External reviewers submit External Review Report. 

June 22, 2022  SSCPR reviews External Review Report at the June 22, 2022 meeting. 

 Approved External Review Report is sent to Program Review Team 
and Dean. 

PHASE 6 Month/Year Tasks 

QUALITY 
ASSURANCE 
PLAN 
DEVELOPMENT 

July 2022  Program Review Team beings writing Quality Assurance Plan in 
consultation with the Dean. 

October 2022  Program Review Team and Dean meets with the Provost to discuss the 
Quality Assurance Plan. 

October 2022  Program Review Team submits Quality Assurance Plan to the SSCPR.  

November 
2022 

 SSCPR reviews Quality Assurance Plan at the November meeting. 

 Approved Quality Assurance Plan along with the Annual Follow-Up 
template and guide are sent to the Program Review Team. 

PHASE 7  Month/Year Tasks 

ANNUAL 
FOLLOW-UP 
REPORTING 

November 
2023 

 Program Review Team submits Annual Follow-Up Report. 

 SSCPR reviews Annual Follow-Up Report and decides whether the 
annual follow-up reporting should continue the following year. 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 4.3 

Meeting Date: June 23, 2021 
Presenter: David Burns 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Brewing and Brewery Operations Program Review Timeline 

  

Action Requested Information 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

N/A 

  

Senate Standing 
Committee Report 

For Senate Office Use Only   

  

Context & 
Background 

To ensure that program reviews are completed in a timely manner and 
that program review reports are based on relevant data, program reviews 
at KPU follow a timeline. All program reviews should be completed within 
16 months from planning to the submission of the Quality Assurance Plan.  
Starting September 2020, the timelines for new program reviews will be 
presented to the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review. 
Attached is the program review timeline for the Brewing and Brewery 
Operations Program.  

  

Key Messages N/A 

  

Consultations Brewing and Brewery Operations Program Review Team 

  

Attachments Brewing and Brewery Operations Program Review Timeline 

  

Submitted by 
Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & 
Accountability 

Date submitted June 10, 2021 

 



 
 

TIMELINE FOR PROGRAM REVIEW: BREWING AND BREWERY OPERATIONS 
 

Senate Standing Committee on Program Review                                   June  2021                      1 

 

 
Finalized at the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review on DAY/MONTH/YEAR. 

 
Program Review Team (in alphabetical order): 

 Dominic Bernard 

 Martina Solano Bielen 

 Alex Egi  

 Jon Howe 

 Derek Kindret 
 

The Program Review Team will be responsible for the following: 

 Seek support from Teaching and Learning Commons (TLC) to conduct the curriculum review, if 
needed. 

 Collaborate with OPA to provide the following: 
o Program-level outcomes; 
o Names and contact information of discipline/sector representatives to be included in 

discipline/sector surveys; 
o Names and contact information of faculty members to be included in faculty surveys; 
o Feedback on surveys which OPA will design and administer. 

 Write reports using the templates provided and submit them according to the timelines 
endorsed by the SSCPR as presented below. 

 Meet with the Dean/Associate Dean regularly so they can be apprised of the direction of the 
review. 

 Provide the Dean/Associate Dean draft reports so the Dean/Associate Dean can provide 
feedback and responses as required.  

 Attend SSCPR meetings to present reports (only one member of the team is required to attend 
though all are certainly welcome). 
 

The Program Review Timeline consists of 7 phases: 

1. Getting Started 
2. Curriculum Review 
3. Data Collection 
4. Self-Study Report Preparation 
5. External Review 
6. Quality Assurance Plan Development (needs to be signed off by the Dean and Provost) 
7. Annual Follow-Up Reporting 

 
Program Review should take approximately 16 months from beginning of Self-Study to the submission 

of the Quality Assurance Plan. The first Annual Follow-Up Report should be submitted one year after 

the approval of the Quality Assurance Plan. The Annual Follow-Up Reporting continues until a program 

can demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the SSCPR, substantial completion of the Quality Assurance Plan.



 
 

TIMELINE FOR PROGRAM REVIEW: BREWING AND BREWERY OPERATIONS 
 

Senate Standing Committee on Program Review                                   June  2021                      2 

 

 

 

The chart below provides a visual representation of the proposed timeline including elapsed time and report submissions.  

Phase   
Months 

Jan* 
2021 

Nov 
2021 

Dec 
2021 

Jan 
2022 

Feb 
2022 

Mar 
2022 

Apr 
2022 

May 
2022 

June 
2022 

July 
2022 

Aug 
2022 

Sep 
2022 

Oct 
2022 

Nov 
2022 

Dec 
2022 

Jan 
2023 

Feb 
2023 

1. Getting Started                                   

2. Curriculum 
Review  

                                

3. Data Collection                     

4. Self-Study Report 
Preparation  

                    

5. External Review                      

6. Quality Assurance 
Plan Development 

                    

Feb 2024 

7. First Annual Follow Up Report   

 Report submission months 
*Program Review planning meeting took place in January 2021.  
Note: External Review Report is submitted by the External Review Team, not by the Program Review Team.  

 

The tasks involved in each phase of the program review process are described on the following pages. Note that the curriculum review, 

data collection, and self-study report preparation overlap.  

 



 
 

TIMELINE FOR PROGRAM REVIEW: BREWING AND BREWERY OPERATIONS 
 

Senate Standing Committee on Program Review                                   June  2021                      3 

 

PHASE 1 Month/Year Tasks 

GETTING 
STARTED 

October 6, 
2020 

 Manager, Quality Assurance sent Program Chair information about 
program review before the initial planning meeting. 

January 29, 
2021 

 Manager, Quality Assurance and Chair of SSCPR met with Program 
Review Team to outline the purpose and process for program review 
and expectations for reports and timing. 

August 2021  Manager, Quality Assurance sends Program Review Team the guides 
and reporting templates. 

PHASE 2 Month/Year Tasks 

CURRICULUM 
REVIEW 

November – 
December 
2021 

 Program Review Team conducts the curriculum review, which 
becomes part of the self-study report. 

 Support is available from Educational Consultants at the Teaching and 
Learning Commons. The Manager, Quality Assurance will provide an 
introduction. 

PHASE 3 Month/Year Tasks 

DATA 
COLLECTION 

January 2022  Program Review Team provides program-specific questions they want 
to address in the review. 

 Program Review Team provides program-level learning outcomes for 
Quality Assurance Team to include in surveys.  

 Quality Assurance Team customizes surveys for students, alumni, 
faculty, discipline/sector and seeks feedback from Program Review 
Team. 

 Program Review Team submits names and contact information of 
discipline/sector representatives and faculty members to be 
surveyed. 

Last week of 
January 2022 

 Quality Assurance Team launches surveys for students, alumni, 
faculty and discipline/sector representatives. 

February 2022  Quality Assurance Team provides survey data reports. 

PHASE 4 Month/Year Tasks 

SELF-STUDY 
REPORT 
PREPARATION 

October 2021  Manager, Quality Assurance sends Program Review Team the 
administrative data report needed for the Self-Study Report. 

November 
2021 

 Program Review Team begins work on the Self-Study Report  

 Program Review Team starts collecting relevant appendices for Self-
Study Report.  

May 2022  Program Review Team completes draft of Self-Study report and sends 
to Dean.  

June 1, 2022  Program Review Team completes revisions to the Self-Study Report 
and submits to Senate Standing Committee on Program Review 
(SSCPR). 

June 2022  SSCPR reviews Self-Study Report at the June 22, 2022 meeting. 



 
 

TIMELINE FOR PROGRAM REVIEW: BREWING AND BREWERY OPERATIONS 
 

Senate Standing Committee on Program Review                                   June  2021                      4 

 

PHASE 5 Month/Year Tasks 

EXTERNAL 
REVIEW SITE 
VISIT 

June 2022  Program Review Team sends names of potential external reviewers. 

 SSCPR selects external reviewers.  
July 2022  Program Review Team, with the help of Manager, Quality Assurance, 

begins planning external review. 

 Dean invites two external reviewers. 

 SSCPR Chair appoints KPU faculty member to the panel. 

September 
2022 

 External review site visit, with participation of Program faculty, 
students, alumni and PAC members, takes place. 

EXTERNAL 
REVIEW 
REPORT  

October 2022  External reviewers submit External Review Report. 

October 2022  Program Review Team is provided with draft External Review Report 
to start developing the Quality Assurance Plan. 

November 
2022 

 SSCPR reviews External Review Report at the November 2022 
meeting. 

 Approved External Review Report is sent to Program Review Team 
and Dean. 

PHASE 6 Month/Year Tasks 

QUALITY 
ASSURANCE 
PLAN 
DEVELOPMENT 

November 
2022 

 Program Review Team beings writing Quality Assurance Plan in 
consultation with the Dean. 

January 2023  Program Review Team and Dean meets with the Provost to discuss the 
Quality Assurance Plan. 

February 2023  Program Review Team submits Quality Assurance Plan to the SSCPR.  

February 2023  SSCPR reviews Quality Assurance Plan at the February 2023 meeting. 

 Approved Quality Assurance Plan along with the Annual Follow-Up 
template and guide are sent to the Program Review Team. 

PHASE 7  Month/Year Tasks 

ANNUAL 
FOLLOW-UP 
REPORTING 

February 2024  Program Review Team submits Annual Follow-Up Report. 

 SSCPR reviews Annual Follow-Up Report and decides whether the 
annual follow-up reporting should continue the following year. 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 5.1 

Meeting Date: June 23, 2021 
Presenter: Sharon Leitch, Sharmen Lee 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item HCAP Quality Assurance Plan 

  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
HCAP Quality Assurance Plan as attached.  

  

Senate Standing 
Committee Report 

For Senate Office Use Only   

  

  

Attachments HCAP Quality Assurance Plan 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted May 31,  2021 

 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

1 

 

 

 
 
 

Date submitted to SSCPR: June 2, 2021 
 

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: February 24, 2021 
 

Date of External Review: December 9-10, 2020 
 

SSR =Self Study Report  

ER = External Report 

SUMMARY 

The Health Care Assistant Program (HCAP) is a full-time vocational certificate program offered over two semesters. The program is designed to provide 

students with the opportunity to develop the knowledge, skills, and values necessary to function as front-line caregivers in a variety of healthcare settings. 

After completing the KPU Program Review process it was evident that KPU’s HCAP has experienced a flux of changes for the past 5+ years, with changes to 

curriculum, admission requirements, faculty, and leadership. Participating in a Program Review as part of an Appreciative Inquiry into how to move the 

program forward the HCAP faculty have been given an opportunity to reflect on the many strengths of the program and to evaluate areas that we are able to 

strengthen. 

 
The external review team was able to substantiate the written report and endorse the conclusions and recommendations identified by the faculty, students, and 

the discipline sector. They also provided the HCAP faculty with several recommendations to further improve KPUs HCA Program. This quality assurance plan 

outlines how the HCAP faculty plan to move forward on the recommendations identified in the Program Review and ones proposed by the external review team. 

Based on the review, the Health Care Assistant 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

2 

 

 

 

 

Program recognizes the significance of the recommendations that have been suggested. For example, ways to improve our connection with the discipline 

sector and alumni, ways to entice new students through post-secondary market uniqueness, organizational attractiveness, future educational opportunities 

and competitive and strategic recruitment and retention techniques. 

 
Although the HCAP curriculum is strictly governed by the BC HCAP Provincial Curriculum and the BC Care Aide & Community Health Worker Registry (CACHWR), 

changes to instructional design, program deliverance and continued educational support and opportunities are more adaptable. HCAP Faculty are passionate 

about supporting the development of competent, holistic, critical thinking, caregivers that are role models and change agents for best practice, person 

centered and culturally safe care. We aspire for our graduates to model the moral and ethical foundation of caregiving. It is within our philosophy that our 

program is aligned with the KPU strategic academic plan. Our goal is to continue to evaluate our program to ensure that our program is unique, current, and 

strategic in its recruitment and retention techniques. We aspire to offer post certificate opportunities for lifelong learning and professional and career 

development. Our goal is to analyze our research findings and initiate any changes necessary, as well as validate current practices and curriculum. We recognize 

that these recommendations are necessary to sustain a program that reflects and meets the overall needs for student success and discipline sector/workplace 

demands. 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

3 

 

 

QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS 
 

List the program’s Quality Assurance Goals (broad statements about what the program intends to accomplish to ensure program quality). Identify the 

Recommendation(s) – drawn from the Self-Study Report and External Review Report - each Goal addresses. Provide a brief Rationale for each Goal (see the 

Quality Assurance Plan Guidelines for instructions). Add or remove rows, as necessary. 

 
GOAL 1: Improve KPU’s connection with the discipline sector. 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: To build a stronger collaboration and understanding of the student, staff and faculty roles for student and graduate success. 

 

 
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses 

 
Report (page number) 

 
HCAP Chair/designate to continue membership with BCCAT’s HCAP Articulation Committee 

 
Page 18 SSR 

 
Continue to build Integrated Program Advisory Committee (IPAC) membership (Complex care. Assisted Living, Home 

Support, Acute Care, Hospital Employees Union, CACHWR and practicing alumni)  

 
Page 18 SSR 

 
Continue to build contacts/relationships at placement agencies and professional associations. Faculty members to be 

involved with external associations (i.e. GNABC) to maintain connections, support and growth of the discipline/profession. 

 
Pg. 58 SSR 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

4 

 

 

 

 
Consistently placing instructors on the same units to provide stability of the program. “This speaks to 

program/instructional stability and quality as location of care can reflect content/skills students are applying. 

 
Pg. 7 ER 

 

GOAL 2: To improve HCAP enrollment numbers. 
 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Growth and stabilization of the Health Care Assistant (HCA) workforce. 

 

 
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses 

 
Report (page number) 

 
Explore offering HCAP at satellite campus(es) for a face-to-face delivery of program. 

 
ER pg. 2 

 
Offering HCA Program as online/blended, full-time, or part-time. This will attract those students that are working and 

unable to attend face to face classes. 

 
ER Page 2 

 
Offer Dual Credit Program (partnership with Surrey School Board, offering program to students in their final year of 

grade 12. Students graduate with grade 12 Diploma and HCAP certificate and are ready for the workforce. 

 
SSR Pg. 23 

 
3 seats reserved in the BSN & BPN programs for students interested in pursuing higher education at KPU. 

 
SSR pg. 20 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

5 

 

 

 
 

GOAL 3: Improve KPU’s connection with alumni. 

 
RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: To support ongoing connections, lifelong learning and research opportunities for alumni and faculty. 

 

 
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses 

 
Report (page number) 

 
Invite alumni to a yearly BCs Health Care Assistant appreciation date (October). Explore opportunities for continuing 
professional studies. Invite Alumni to sit on IPAC. Guest Speakers in HCAP 1236 – Introduction to Practice 
 
 

 
SSR pg. 22 

 
ER pg. 5, 6 

 
GOAL 4: Delivering the Provincial Curriculum utilizing unique opportunities in a    creative, current, and relevant format. 

 

 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL:   

Students are current and proficient in use of multiple learning modalities and adaptive to changing health care needs in diverse care environments  

 

 
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses 

 
Report (page number) 

Continue teaching strategies that address multiple learning styles, contain motivational and inspiring learning activities, and 

have a fair and collaborative evaluation process that are essential to the curriculum delivery of the program. 

 
SSR pg. 52 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

6 

 

 

 
Continue offering the acute care practice experience on Nephrology at Surrey Memorial Hospital and a special care 

observation experience with people living with dementia at Czorny Alzheimer Centre. 

 
SSR pg. 22 

 
ER pg. 4 

 
Provide students more opportunities to develop problem solving and critical thinking skills as well as providing more 

laddering opportunities for further education. 

 
SSR pg. 34 

 
ER pg. 2,5 

Explore options such as advanced certificate offerings, laddering options, and different modalities of delivery. For example, 

online. 

 
SSR pg. 46 and 53 

 
ER pg. 2,4, 5, 6, 7 

Improving and updating lab equipment, online skill video access to Elsevier and increasing practice space availability on 

campus and with community partners. 

 
SSR pg. 50 

 
ER pg. 2,4, 8, 9 

Assist students with theory to practice gaps.  
SSR pg. 54 

 
ER pg. 2 

Incorporating more simulated learning activities.  
SSR pg. 54 

 
ER pg. 2 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

7 

 

 

GOAL 5: Recruit and maintain qualified gerontology experienced faculty. 
 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Retention and succession planning. 

 

 
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses 

 
Report (page number) 

 
New Faculty member mentorship to retain and recruit (succession planning). 

 
SSR pg.46, 56, 57, 58 

 
To provide support to experienced faculty that are called upon to mentor new faculty (workload release). 

 
SSR pg. 46, 56, 57, 58 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

8 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 
 

List the Recommendations from the Self-Study and External Review this Plan does not address. Provide a brief rationale for why these Recommendations 

cannot be addressed. Add or remove rows, as necessary. 

 

 
Recommendations 

 
Report (page number) 

 
Rationale 

 
Missing Skills (ventilator and advanced acute care training). 

 
ER pg. 2 

 
Not within the HCAP Provincial 

Curriculum. This is workplace 

training. 

 
Difficulties for International students without Permanent Residence status 

to apply for the program. 

 
ER pg. 2 

 
Beyond the scope of HCAP review. 

 
Low pay scales make the Certification unattractive for potential 

students. 

 
ER pg. 2 

 
Currently under Health Ministry review due 
to COVID pandemic 
 

 
Invite doctors to provide learning opportunities for students and staff 

at Care Facilities. 

 
ER pg. 2 

 
Beyond the scope of HCAP review. 

 
Has not considered establishing partnerships with local long-term care 

facilities within Vancouver Coastal Health  

 
ER pg. 4 

 
Partnerships not currently considered 

within Vancouver Coastal Health as KPU 

HCAP in partnership with Fraser Health 

Pathways program. Wil be revisited in 

2023 

 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

9 

 

 

opening additional learning spaces if learning spaces at KPU campus is 

limited. 

  

 
Has not considered other innovative delivery of classes i.e., virtual 

classrooms or blended delivery, virtual sessions with clinical skills lab on 

site at other health care or community center facilities,  

 
ER pg. 4 

 
Online and part-time program developed 
and currently delivered. Have sufficient lab 
space at KPU at this current time 

 
Limited strategic plan around international recruitment and 

opportunities for international students to enroll in a blended curriculum 

that will meet student entry into KPU health care programs under a 

student visa program. 

 
ER pg. 4 

 
Beyond the scope of HCAP review. 
 
 

 
Limited use of technology in practical demo or lack of partnerships with 

health authorities in providing clinical hands-on practice for HCAP 

students through a shared use of Clinical Skills Lab for practical/demo 

classes. 

 
Limited Acute Care Experience for students. 

 
ER pg. 4 

 
We do have Final Practicum placement in 
Surrey Memorial Nephrology Unit. 

 
Setting up virtual classrooms or blended delivery, virtual sessions with 

skills lab on site at designated health care or community centers and 

other public shared facilities. 

 
ER pg. 4 

 
Not applicable to HCAP needs or goals.  

Expansion of Labs at KPU under review 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

10 

 

 

 
Increase hours of students to a minimum of 80 hrs. in a Dementia 

Care Unit coupled with volunteer work with the Alzheimer’s Society. 

 
ER pg. 5 

 
Hours are not in line with the Provincial 

Curriculum or semester timeline. 

 
Include completion of the GPA course as an option before they 

graduate to help them build up on additional skills and prepare them to 

work in BSTN facilities. 

 
ER pg. 5 

 
Not in line with the Provincial 

Curriculum. 

 
Limited strategic plan around international recruitment and opportunities 

for international students to enroll in a blended curriculum that will help 

support their student visa application and entry into KPU health care 

programs under a student visa program. 

 
Create partnership with international private or public academic 

institutions in other countries, 

 
e.g., Philippines, Middle East (e.g., Saudi Arabia & Dubai), Hongkong, 

Singapore where there is huge potential of recruiting and to attract 

overseas foreign workers people who are interested to study and migrate 

to Canada through a Student Visa Program through a bundled course such 

as HCA & LPN or HCA & RN Program that will qualify them to apply for a 

Student Visa to Canada. 

 
ER pg. 5 

 
Beyond the scope of HCAP review. 
 
Rare to have an International student as a 
diploma certificate is required to obtain a 
student work visa 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

11 

 

 

 

 
Provide on-line courses for foreign students with clinical placements 

with other international academic health care academic partners. 

  

 
Refreshers are needed for Mental Health labs. 

 
ER pg. 8 

 
Not in line with the Provincial 

Curriculum. 

 
No data in the reports for this 

recommendation. 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

12 

 

 

QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 
 

Describe the Quality Assurance Strategies (specific plans of action) the program must achieve to attain its Goal over the next five year. Detail the steps the 

program will take to achieve each Strategy. Add or remove Strategies and tables, as necessary. 

 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: April, 2021 

 
STRATEGY 1: Increase admissions and enrollments to the HCAP. 

 
GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 2 and Goal 4 

 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 

 
To be Led by 

 
To Start on 

(M/YY) 

 
To be Completed By 

(M/YY) 

 
 

 
Notes 

 
Explore offering some HCAP courses at satellite 

campus(es) for a face-to-face delivery of 

program. 

 
HCAP Chair 

 
Post Covid 

 
05/2025  

 
Ongoing 

 
Offering HCA Program as online/blended, 

full-time, or part-time. 

 
HCAP Faculty 

 
09/2021 

 
Ongoing 

 
Ongoing 

 
Offer Dual Credit Program 

 
HCAP Chair 

 
Post Covid 

 
Post Covid 

 
Post Covid/Health Career 

Access Program 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

13 

 

 

 
Continue with 3 seats reserved in the BSN and 

BPN program for KPU HCAP graduates with the 

new admission requirements in the respective 

programs. 

 
HCAP Chair 

 
04/2020 

 
09/2021 

 

Continue teaching strategies that address 

multiple learning styles, contain motivational and 

inspiring learning activities, and have a fair and 

collaborative evaluation process. 

 
HCAP Faculty 

 
04/2021 

 
Ongoing 

 
 

 
Continue offering the acute care clinical 

practicum and the observation experience with 

people living with Dementia. 

 
HCAP Faculty 

 
01/2022 

 
Ongoing 

 

 
Provide students more opportunities to 

develop problem solving and critical thinking 

skills. Through simulation and increased critical 

thinking forums and assignments. 

 
HCAP Faculty 

 
04/2021 

 
Ongoing 

 
 

Offer advanced certificates (Medication 

Administration & Mental Health Certificate) 

 
HCAP Faculty, T & L and 

Professional Studies 

 
04/2022 

 
04/2024 

 
Industry & student need 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

14 

 

 

 

Improving and updating lab equipment.  
Dean’s office, HCAP 

Faculty & Lab 

Educators 

 
04/2021 

 
04/2023 

 
Continue to put forth 

requests at the end of 

each fiscal year 

Online skill video access to Elsevier  
HCAP Faculty & Dean’s 

office, T & L 

 
03/2020 

 
02/2021 

 

Incorporating more simulated learning 

activities. 

 
HCAP Faculty, Lab 

Educators 

 
09/2021 

 
09/2022 

 

HCAP to LPN laddering options.  
Dean's office, HCAP 

Faculty & Ministry of 

Advanced Ed. Skills & 

Training 

 
09/2021 

 
04/2025 

 
Industry and student need & 

priority 

 
 

 
Resource Implications (if applicable) 

 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? Marketing, FSO, Information sessions, KPU Career Day participation, online and part time curriculum 

development, continued relationships with external stakeholders such as, PAH, LMH, CLF, Delta Mountainview Manor, Evergreen Campus of Care, Augustine 

House, Connect Homes, Come Share, SMH, Czorny 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

15 

 

 

 

Alzheimer’s Centre and Home support. 

 Increased lab space, updated equipment e.g. sit-to-stand lifts, ceiling lifts. Student lab kits and increased SIM Support. Ministry of Advanced Ed. Skills & Training 

 

 

 
When are these resources required? September 2021 and ongoing 

 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Support from the Dean’s office, CACHWR, T & L, OER development support, Professional Studies, FSO, 

Marketing, HCAP Faculty, Lab educators, continued discussions with Surrey School Board for Dual Credit, collaboration with all programs within FOH, 

 
 
  



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

16 

 

 

 

STRATEGY 2: HCAP faculty to develop “specific” Health Authority contacts and supports for faculty and students in clinical practice to support student success 

and collaborate shared resources. 

 
GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 1 

 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 

 
To be Led by 

 
To Start on 

(M/YY) 

 
To be 

Completed 

 
By (M/YY) 

 
 
 

Notes 

 
Increase IPAC memberships to educators, RCC’s, 

LPN’s, HCA mentors and KPU HCAP Alumni & 

Current students and possibly GNABC 

representation 

 
HCAP Chair 

 
09/2021 

 
09/2023 

 
Strengthen relationships and collaborative 

communication b/t PSI and HA’s at the unit 

level. 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

17 

 

 

 
 

Develop a stronger connection with Alumni by 

having a yearly HCAP appreciation day celebration 

with current students and alumni. 

 
HCAP Chair, 

Faculty and 

Program Adm. 

 
10/2021 

 
Ongoing 

 

 
Consistently placing instructors on the same 

units to provide stability of the program. 

 
HCAP Chair & 

Dean’s office 

 
09/2021 

 
Ongoing 

 

 
 
 

 
Resource Implications (if applicable) 

 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? Incentives to join & attend IPAC, specifically for FH employees, students, and alumni. 

 
When are these resources required? January 2022 

 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Dean’s office, Admin Assistant support, HCAP Faculty 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

18 

 

 

 
 

STRATEGY 3: The HCAP faculty will continue to deliver current and relevant curriculum through regular Appreciative Inquiry to ensure our graduates meet and 

exceed entry-level competencies for health care assistants and have a strong healthcare foundation they can continue to build upon. 

 
GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 1,2,3, 4 and 5. 

 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 

 
To be Led by 

 
To Start on 

(M/YY) 

 
To be 

Completed 

 
By (M/YY) 

 
 

 
Notes 

 
End of Semester faculty workdays to discuss 

program delivery, program evaluations, individual 

course feedback forms completed by students, 

relevance of content and to make changes to 

program/courses if applicable. 

 
HCAP Chair 

 
04/2021 

 
Ongoing 

 

 
 

 

 
Resource Implications (if applicable) 

 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? HCAP faculty accountable time. 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

19 

 

 

 
 

When are these resources required? Ongoing 

 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? T & L, Technology, HCAP faculty, administrative support 

 

 

STRATEGY 4: New Faculty member hiring, mentoring and succession planning. 
 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 5 

 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 

 
To be Led by 

 
To Start on 

(M/YY) 

 
To be 

Completed 

 
By (M/YY) 

 
 

 
Notes 

 
Review new faculty qualifications to ensure they 

align with HCAP requirements (faculty with 

gerontology experience). 

 
HCAP Faculty, 

Dean’s Office & 

Search Committee 

 
04/2021 

 
ongoing 

Requirements are updated in policy if they 
are changed 

 
Develop process for mentoring & succession 

planning (recruitment/retainment plan) HCAP 

faculty to teach each course within the 

curriculum at least twice to become familiar 

with content. 

 
HCAP Chair, 

HCAP Faculty & 

Program Adm. 

 
04/2012 

 
09/2021 

 
Accountable time 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

20 

 

 

 
     

 
Each semester, ensure Moodle sites are updated in 

their entirety with new additions as necessary & 

ready for next semester apart from date changes. 

 
HCAP Chair, 

HCAP Faculty & 

Program Adm. 

 
04/2021 

 
09/2021 

 
Accountable time 

 
Develop a mentoring schedule for each 

semester 

 
HCAP Chair, 

HCAP Faculty & 

Program Adm. 

 
04/2021 

 
09/2021 

 
Accountable time 

 
Develop HCAP specific orientation checklist 

with active links for new hires 

 
HCAP Chair, HCAP 

Faculty, HCAP 

Mentor, & 

Program Adm. 

 
04/2021 

 
09/2021 

 
Accountable time. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

21 

 

 

 
Resource Implications (if applicable) 

 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? HCAP and FOH Mentor Accountable time. 

 
When are these resources required? Summer 2021 & onwards 

 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? HCAP Chair, HCAP Faculty, Program Admin. 

 

PLAN SUPPORTED BY: 
 

 

 

Provost’s Name Provost Signature Date 

 

  
 
 

  

    
 

Dean’s Name Dean’s Signature Date 

shlee
Typewritten Text
Sharmen Lee

shlee
Typewritten Text

shlee
Typewritten Text
May 27, 2021

dhagan
Typewritten Text
Sandy Vanderburgh

dhagan
Typewritten Text
May 31, 2021



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
             Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

1 
 

 PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  Health Care Assistant Program 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure the Quality Assurance Plan does the following: 

o address all the recommendations in the Self-Study and External Review reports (or provide a clear 
rationale when a recommendation is not addressed); 

o provide clear, realistic plan of actions that are within the department’s purview; 
o clearly articulate how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-

Year Follow-Up Report. 
OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Quality Assurance Plan under review and an overall recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: I feel that important threads from the Self-Study Report are carried through in this QA plan. I 
notice Strategy 4 is completely devoted to faculty hiring and mentoring. This partially addresses my greatest 
concerns from the Self Study Report, specifically the strong dissatisfaction and concerning descriptions of 
poor faculty conduct noted in some student comments in the Instructional Design chapter.  I trust that 
appropriate investigation, reflection, and corrective action was taken in response to these comments, and I 
am grateful that the QA Plan contains a strategy that seems designed to address these concerns. At the same 
time, I want to note that some threads from the Self-Study Report are not carried through to the QA Plan. For 
example, I would like to see an emphasis on training in addition to the emphasis on hiring qualified faculty 
and mentoring – such as the development of a training and orientation plan for new hires if one is not already 
in place, or perhaps a review of any existing plans to ensure they are adequate  
However, not being privy to the operation of the department and lacking any knowledge other than what is 
contained in these reports, I don’t feel I can ask for specific changes or make specific recommendations. I do 
urge the program to consider this input though and consider whether anything could be added to the QA Plan 
to strengthen its ability to address these student concerns.  
I also want to note that there are a number of recommendations that appear in the Self-Study report that are 
not contained in either the QA Plan strategies or the list of recommendations that had been excluded. The list 
of recommendations that were excluded from the QA Plan are all recommendations from the ERT Report, but 
none from the Self Study. I happened to notice that a number of the recommendations in the Self Study 
section “Services, Resources, and Facilities” (page 54) did not make it into the QA Plan or the list of excluded 
recommendations..  I think that it’s always valuable to examine how to better support students and there is 
always room for improvement in any program’s relationship with student support services, so I’m 
disappointed that the fourth recommendation in that section is not addressed in the QA Plan, “It is 
recommended that HCAP faculty evaluate if there is a way Counselling, Early Alert, The Learning Center and 
Library could better support our HCAP studentsdo feel strongly that some steps around this should be 
included in the QA Plan, possibly in Strategy 1, “Increase Admissions and enrollments to the HCAP” alongside 
the steps relating to teaching strategies, providing students opportunities to practice problem solving and 
thinking skills, etc. However, I leave it up to the program to decide on what’s necessary.  
 
Reviewer #2: Throughout the whole Quality Assurance process, Faculty of Health faculty members have been 
diligent in addressing the needs of students, colleagues and community/industry as identified through the 
External Review.  The brevity of responses in this one-year follow-up update might be further detailed to 
better inform program reviewers – hence the suggested actions/questions below. However, all in all, the 
HCAP team continues its good work in ensuring a quality program. 
 
Reviewer #3: This document addresses the goals in a succinct manner and presents achievable solutions.  The 
lack of completion dates in some of the tasks will be problematic as this plan moves further through the 
system. 

  

Lorraine Guild
By the time the report came out after a Covid delay many of these issues were resolved.  Many due to changes within the FOH. There was a new Deans office, new faculty hired, we no longer have the HF Program etc. The previous Deans office had hired faculty in contrary to HCAP faculty input and did not hire from the QFL.  Subsequently this produced poor student evaluations and faculty feedback on the SSR.  We have since revised two training manuals ‘How to get started’ and ‘A Clinical Teaching Guide’ capturing the philosophical foundations of the HCAP program.

Lorraine Guild
Already resolved or in self-study Conclusions and Recommendations.

Lorraine Guild
We have the highest usage of EA in FOH, we use our  SSL for clinical support, the  LC come to our classes, we walk our student to counselling, students go to library for supports . Since COVID students have completed online badges and all Moodle sites have links to all KPU student supports. In the Fall we will be introducing the student to the new indigenous resources by indigenous authors/voices in library.  

Lorraine Guild
Updated with track changes in QAP.



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
             Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

2 
 

The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☒          Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒          Reviewer #2 & 3: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan: 

a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately 
addressed. 

b) Goals, Strategies, Steps and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly. 
c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-Year 

Follow-Up Report. 
Issue (page #) Suggested Action 
p.8 Any consideration of partnerships with First 
Nations Health – or do these connections occur 
through FHA? 

 

p.9 strategic plan around international recruitment 
and opportunities for international students to enroll 
in a blended curriculum that will meet student entry 
into KPU health care programs under a student visa 
program.  

Maybe out of scope, but in our interests to consider – 
any thoughts on this anyway? 

p.9 Limited use of technology in practical demo or 
lack of partnerships with health authorities in 
providing clinical hands-on practice for HCAP  
p.9 Limited Acute Care Experience for students.  
 
 

Any additional ideas beyond the Nephrology Unit at 
Surrey Memorial? 
 

p.10 International recruitment – blended programs 
beyond diploma? 

 

p.11 Mental health No data – but top of mind in the community… Would 
this not be a good thing to include? More assets and 
employability for students?  

Pages 12 to 19 All of the end dates that show “ongoing” will be 
questioned when the Quality Assurance Plan is 
reviewed by the Provincial Government. I understand 
that some of the items will be ongoing changes of 
continuous improvement.  Where possible there 
should be a measurable outcome determined and a 
completion date given.  I have no suggestions as to 
how this could be accomplished.  

p.12 “Ongoing” – seeking more specific actions and 
timelines to achieve this strategy.  

Seek meetings with local communities 
(municipal/school districts etc.) where satellite 
programs might be viable – eg Maple Ridge, White 
Rock, Ladner/Tsawwassen… 
Show timelines. Start and annual milestones? What 
are indicators of progress?.   

p.12 Is HCAP offered on-line now and so probably Expand the possibility of HCAP for online, and hyflex 

Lorraine Guild
Sharon to speak to this.

Lorraine Guild
Sharon to speak to this. Students require a diploma to receive student visa status. We are a certificate program.

Lorraine Guild
This concern was due to COVID restrictions only. 

Lorraine Guild
CareLife and Langley PATH UNIT (Patient Assessment and Transition to Home)Explore new Foundations Lodge at PAH - PATH

Lorraine Guild
Sharon to speak to.

Lorraine Guild
Exploring thru CPS currently.

Lorraine Guild
Changes made on QAP.With track changes.

Lorraine Guild
Online and part time programming completed. Creativity completed through Online programming initiative. Sharon to speak to this. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
             Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

3 
 

already available versus ‘ongoing’  learning. Maybe though weekend and more 
compressed scheduling? 

p.12 Dual Credit – as a part of the above two areas Are meetings with school districts arranged to follow 
up? 

p. 13 More detail on actions being taken. How, when, who… 
  
p.13 Industry & student need  
 

Not sure what this means.  

p.14 lab requests Is there a plan for what requests will be made for 
what purposes? Should this be made at the start of 
the budget cycle versus end of fiscal?  

Wondering if some of the steps for Goal 1 could be 
combined into similar actions… 

eg Simulations, problem solving, critical thinking, 
multiple learning styles etc.  
Are there any training needs here for faculty?  

p. 15 should there be more specificity for resource 
needs re Goal 1 Strategy 1 

 

P. 17 connection with Alumni - yearly HCAP appreciation 
day celebration 

Any other ideas re connections with HCAP alumni? 
Is there a marketing opportunity in recruitment?  

p.18 End of Semester faculty workdays to discuss… 
etc. 

Seeking a little more detail on what will happen 
during this end of term discussion.  

p.20 Good strategies – in combination, these will help 
achieve the goal 

Maybe more detail in the Notes column re FOH 
Mentor accountable time 

  
 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

• Space – line #1 “The program is designed to provide…” (other similar spacing issues later in the 
summary) 

• Bottom of page 1: KPU’s HCA Program - apostrophe 
• Summary: some spacing issues throughout – this might be due to the pdf conversion. 
• P.12 Describe the Quality Assurance Strategies (specific plans of action) the program must achieve to 

attain its Goal over the next five years.  
 
Formatting in the table makes it look like there are missing spaces between words See pages 8 and 9 in left 
hand column for examples “Permanent Residence”, “for potential”, etc. 

 

Lorraine Guild
Dates updated on QAP.

Lorraine Guild
Noted on track changes.

Lorraine Guild
Ask every fiscal year for new equipment. Developed new Lab kits for students. Updated on QAP.

Lorraine Guild
Updated on QAP

Lorraine Guild
Budget dependent. Sharon to speak to this

Lorraine Guild
Updated on QAP



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

1 

 

 

 

 

 
Date submitted to SSCPR: June 2, 2021 

 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: February 24, 2021 

Date of External Review: December 9-10, 2020 

SSR =Self Study Report 

ER = External Report 

SUMMARY 

The Health Care Assistant Program (HCAP) is a full-time vocational certificate program offered over two semesters. The program is designed to provide 

students with the opportunity to develop the knowledge, skills, and values necessary to function as front-line caregivers in a variety of healthcare settings. 

After completing the KPU Program Review process it was evident that KPU’s HCAP has experienced a flux of changes for the past 5+ years, with changes to 

curriculum, admission requirements, faculty, and leadership. Participating in a Program Review as part of an Appreciative Inquiry into how to move the 

program forward the HCAP faculty have been given an opportunity to reflect on the many strengths of the program and to evaluate areas that we are able to 

strengthen. 

 
The external review team was able to substantiate the written report and endorse the conclusions and recommendations identified by the faculty, students, and 

the discipline sector. They also provided the HCAP faculty with several recommendations to further improve KPUs HCA Program. This quality assurance plan 

outlines how the HCAP faculty plan to move forward on the recommendations identified in the Program Review and ones proposed by the external review team. 

Based on the review, the HealthCare Assistant 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

2 

 

 

 

 

Program recognizes the significance of the recommendations that have been suggested. For example, ways to improve our connection with the discipline 

sector and alumni, ways to entice new students through post-secondary market uniqueness, organizational attractiveness, future educational opportunities 

and competitive and strategic recruitment and retention techniques. 

 
Although the HCAP curriculum is strictly governed by the BC HCAP Provincial Curriculum and the BC Care Aide & Community Health Worker Registry (CACHWR), 

changes to instructional design, program deliverance and continued educational support and opportunities are more adaptable. HCAP Faculty are passionate 

about supporting the development of competent, holistic, critical thinking, caregivers that are role models and change agents for best practice, person    

centered and culturally safe care. We aspire for our graduates to model the moral and ethical foundation of caregiving. It is within our philosophy that our 

program is aligned with the KPU strategic academic plan. Our goal is to continue to evaluate our program to ensure that our program is unique, current, and 

strategic in its recruitment and retention techniques. We aspire to offer post certificate opportunities for lifelong learning and professional and career 

development. Our goal is to analyze our research findings and initiate any changes necessary, as well as validate current practices and curriculum. We recognize 

that these recommendations are necessary to sustain a program that reflects and meets the overall needs for student success and discipline sector/workplace 

demands. 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

3 

 

 

QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS 
 

List the program’s Quality Assurance Goals (broad statements about what the program intends to accomplish to ensure program quality). Identify the 

Recommendation(s) – drawn from the Self-Study Report and External Review Report - each Goal addresses. Provides a brief Rationale for each Goal (see the 

Quality Assurance Plan Guidelines for instructions). Add or remove rows, as necessary. 

 
GOAL 1: Improve KPU’s connection with the discipline sector. 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: To build a stronger collaboration and understanding of the student, staff and faculty roles for student and graduate success. 

 
 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses 
 

Report (page number) 

 
HCAP Chair/designate to continue membership with BCCAT’s HCAP Articulation Committee 

 
Page 18 SSR 

 
Continue to build Integrated Program Advisory Committee (IPAC) membership (Complex care. Assisted Living, Home 

Support, Acute Care, Hospital Employees Union, CACHWR and practicing alumni) 

 
Page 18 SSR 

 
Continue to build contacts/relationships at placement agencies and professional associations. Faculty members to be 

involved with external associations (i.e. GNABC) to maintain connections, support and growth of the discipline/profession. 

 
Pg. 58 SSR 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

4 

 

 

 

 
 

GOAL 2: To improve HCAP enrollment numbers. 
 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Growth and stabilization of the Health Care Assistant (HCA) workforce. 

 

 
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses 

 
Report (page number) 

 
Explore offering HCAP at satellite campus(es) for a face-to-face delivery of program. 

 
ER pg. 2 

 
Offering HCA Program as online/blended, full-time, or part-time. This will attract those students that are working and 

unable to attend face to face classes. 

 
ER Page 2 

 
Offer Dual Credit Program (partnership with Surrey School Board, offering program to students in their final year of 

grade 12. Students graduate with grade 12 Diploma and HCAP certificate and are ready for the workforce. 

 
SSR Pg. 23 

 
3 seats reserved in the BSN & BPN programs for students interested in pursuing higher education at KPU. 

 
SSR pg. 20 

Consistently placing instructors on the same units to provide stability of the program. “This speaks to 

program/instructional stability and quality as location of care can reflect content/skills students are applying. 

Pg. 7 ER 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

5 

 

 

 

 

GOAL 3: Improve KPU’s connection with alumni. 

 
RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: To support ongoing connections, lifelong learning and research opportunities for alumni and faculty. 

 

 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses 
 

Report (page number) 

 
Invite alumni to a yearly BCs Health Care Assistant appreciation date (October). Explore opportunities for continuing 
professional studies. Invite Alumni to sit on IPAC. Guest Speakers in HCAP 1236 – Introduction to Practice 

 
SSR pg. 22 

 

ER pg. 5, 6 

 

GOAL 4: Delivering the Provincial Curriculum utilizing unique opportunities in a creative, current, and relevant format. 
 

 
RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: 

Students are current and proficient in use of multiple learning modalities and adaptive to changing health care needs in diverse care environments 

 
 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses 
 

Report (page number) 

Continue teaching strategies that address multiple learning styles, contain motivational and inspiring learning activities, and 

have a fair and collaborative evaluation process that are essential to the curriculum delivery of the program. 

 
SSR pg. 52 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

6 

 

 

 

 
Continue offering the acute care practice experience on Nephrology at Surrey Memorial Hospital and a special care 

observation experience with people living with dementia at Czorny Alzheimer Centre. 

 
SSR pg. 22 

 

ER pg. 4 

 
Provide students more opportunities to develop problem solving and critical thinking skills as well as providing more 

laddering opportunities for further education. 

 
SSR pg. 34 

 

ER pg. 2,5 

Explore options such as advanced certificate offerings, laddering options, and different modalities of delivery. For example, 

online. 

 

SSR pg. 46 and 53 
 

ER pg. 2,4, 5, 6, 7 

Improving and updating lab equipment, online skill video access to Elsevier and increasing practice space availability on 

campus and with community partners. 

 

SSR pg. 50 
 

ER pg. 2,4, 8, 9 

Assist students with theory to practice gaps.  

SSR pg. 54 

 

ER pg. 2 

Incorporating more simulated learning activities.  
SSR pg. 54 

 

ER pg. 2 



[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

7 

 

 

GOAL 5: Recruit and maintain qualified gerontology experienced faculty. 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Retention and succession planning. 

 
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses 

 
Report (page number) 

 
New Faculty member mentorship to retain and recruit (succession planning). 

 
SSR pg.46, 56, 57, 58 

 
To provide support to experienced faculty that are called upon to mentor new faculty (workload release). 

 
SSR pg. 46, 56, 57, 58 



8 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 

 

List the Recommendations from the Self-Study and External Review this Plan does not address. Provide a brief rationale for why these Recommendations 

cannot be addressed. Add or remove rows, as necessary. 

 

 

Recommendations 
 

Report (page number) 
 

Rationale 

 
Missing Skills (ventilator and advanced acute care training). 

 
ER pg. 2 

 
Not within the HCAP Provincial 

Curriculum. This is workplace 

training. 

 
Difficulties for International students without Permanent Residence status 

to apply for the program. 

 
ER pg. 2 

 
Beyond the scope of HCAP review. 

 
Low pay scales make the Certification unattractive for potential 

students. 

 
ER pg. 2 

 
Currently under Health Ministry review due 
to COVID pandemic 

 
Invite doctors to provide learning opportunities for students and staff 

at Care Facilities. 

 
ER pg. 2 

 
Beyond the scope of HCAP review. 

 
Has not considered establishing partnerships with local long-termcare 

facilities within Vancouver Coastal Health 

 
ER pg. 4 

 
Partnerships not currently considered 

within Vancouver Coastal Health as KPU 

HCAP in partnership with Fraser Health 

Pathways program. Wil be revisited in 

2023 



9 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

 

opening additional learning spaces if learning spaces at KPU campus is 

limited. 

  

 

Has not considered other innovative delivery of classes i.e .,virtual 

classrooms or blended delivery, virtual sessions with clinical skills lab on 

site at other health care or community center facilities, 

 

ER pg. 4 
 

Online and part-time program developed 
and currently delivered. Have sufficient lab 
space at KPU at this current time 

 

Limited strategic plan around international recruitment and 

opportunities for international students to enroll in a blended curriculum 

that will meet student entry into KPU health care programs under a 

student visa program. 

 

ER pg. 4 
 

Beyond the scope of HCAP review. 

 

Limited use of technology in practical demo or lack of partnerships with 

health authorities in providing clinical hands-on practice for HCAP 

students through a shared use of Clinical Skills Lab for practical/demo 

classes. 

 
Limited Acute Care Experience for students. 

 

ER pg. 4 
 

We do have Final Practicum placement in 
Surrey Memorial Nephrology Unit. Have 
previously pursued placement 
opportunities for students in PATH 
(Patient Assessment and Transition to 
Home) units at Peace Arch Hospital to no 
avail. Will revisit this possibility in Spring 
2022 

 
Setting up virtual classrooms or blended delivery, virtual sessions with 

skills lab on site at designated health care or community centers and 

other public shared facilities. 

 
ER pg. 4 

 
Not applicable to HCAP needs or goals. 

Expansion of Labs at KPU under review 



10 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

 

 
Increase hours of students to a minimum of 80 hrs. in a Dementia 

Care Unit coupled with volunteer work with the Alzheimer’s Society. 

 
ER pg. 5 

 
Hours are not in line with the Provincial 

Curriculum or semestertsemester 

imeline. 

 
Include completion of the GPA course as an option before they 

graduate to help them build up on additional skills and prepare them to 

work in BSTN facilities. 

 
ER pg. 5 

 
Not in line with the Provincial 

Curriculum. 

 

Limited strategic plan around international recruitment and opportunities 

for international students to enroll in a blended curriculum that will help 

support their student visa application and entry into KPU health care 

programs under a student visa program. 

 
Create partnership with international private or public academic 

institutions in other countries, 

 

e.g., Philippines, Middle East (e.g., Saudi Arabia & Dubai), Hongkong, 

Singapore where there is huge potential of recruiting and to attract 

overseas foreign workers people who are interested to study and migrate 

to Canada through a Student Visa Program through a bundled course such 

as HCA & LPN or HCA & RN Program that will qualify them to apply for a 

Student Visa to Canada. 

 

ER pg. 5 
 

Beyond the scope of HCAP review. 
 

Rare to have an International student as a 
diploma certificate is required to obtain a 
student work visa 



11 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

 

 
Provide on-line courses for foreign students with clinical placements 

with other international academic health care academic partners. 

  

 
Refreshers are needed for Mental Health labs. 

 
ER pg. 8 

 
Not in line with the Provincial 

Curriculum. 

 
No data in the reports for this 

recommendation. 



12 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 
 

Describe the Quality Assurance Strategies (specific plans of action) the program must achieve to attain its Goal over the next fiveyearfive years. Detail the steps 

the program will take to achieve each Strategy. Add or remove Strategies and tables, as necessary. 

 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: April, 2021 

 
STRATEGY 1: Increase admissions and enrollments to the HCAP. 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS:  Goal 2 and Goal 4 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve thisStrategy 

 
To be Ledby 

 
To Start on 

(M/YY) 

 
To be CompletedBy 

(M/YY) 

 
 
 

Notes 

 
Explore offering some HCAP courses at satellite 

campus(es) for a face-to-face delivery of 

program. 

 
HCAP Chair 

 
Post Covid 

 
05/2025 

 
Ongoing 

 
Offering HCA Program as online/blended, 

full-time, or part-time. 

 
HCAP Faculty 

 
09/20212020 

 
Ongoing 
04/2022 

 
Ongoing 

 
Offer Dual Credit Program 

 
HCAP Chair 

 
Post Covid 

 
Post Covid 

 
Post Covid/Health Career 

Access Program 



13 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

 

 
Continue with 3 seats reserved in the BSN and 

BPN program for KPU HCAP graduates with the 

new admission requirements in the respective 

programs. 

 
HCAP Chair 

 
04/2020 

 
09/2021 

 

Continue teaching strategies that address 

multiple learning styles, contain motivational and 

inspiring learning activities, and have a fair and 

collaborative evaluation process. 

 
HCAP Faculty 

 
04/2021 
09/2020 

 
Ongoing 
09/2022 

Completed with online and 
blended programming but will 
be updated as necessary as we 
receive student feedback 

 

Continue offering the acute care clinical 

practicum and the observation experience with 

people living with Dementia in addition to 

looking at placements at Care life, Langley 

Memorial and PAH’s PATH Units. 

 

HCAP Faculty 
 

01/2022 
 

Ongoing 
01/2024 
 

Ongoing for SMH but will seek 
out new opportunities 

 

Provide students more opportunities to 

develop problem solving and critical thinking 

skills. Through simulation and increased critical 

thinking forums and assignments. 

 

HCAP Faculty 
 

04/2021 
09/2020 

 

Ongoing 
09/2023 

Completed with online and 
blended programming but will 
be updated as necessary as we 
receive student feedback 

Offer advanced certificates (Medication 

Administration & Mental Health Certificate) 

 

HCAP Faculty, T &L and 

ProfessionalStudies 

 

04/2022 
 

04/2024 
 

Industry -Health Authorities, 
Community partners  & student 
needs 



14 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

 

Improving and updating lab equipment.  

Dean’s office, HCAP 

Faculty &Lab 

Educators 

 

04/2021 
 

04/2023 
 

Continue to put forth 

requests at the end of 

each fiscal yearstart of 

new budget cycle. 

Developed new lab 

kits  ycle Developed 

new lab kits  
Online skill video access to Elsevier  

HCAP Faculty & Dean’s 

office, T & L 

 

03/2020 
 

02/2021 
 

Incorporating more simulated learning 

activities. 

 

HCAP Faculty, Lab 

Educators 

 

09/2021 
 

09/2022 
 

HCAP to LPN laddering options.  

Dean's office, HCAP 

Faculty & Ministry of 

Advanced Ed. Skills& 

Training 

 

09/2021 
 

04/2025 
 

Health Authorities, 

Community partners  & 

student needs Industry and 

student need & priority 

 

 

 

 
Resource Implications (if applicable) 

 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? Marketing, FSO, Information sessions, KPU Career Day participation, online and part time curriculum

development, continued relationships with external stakeholders such as, PAH, LMH,CLF, Delta Mountainview Manor, Evergreen Campus of Care, Augustine

House, Connect Homes, Come Share, SMH, Czorny 



15 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

 

Alzheimer’s Centre and Home support. 

Increased lab space, updated equipment e.g. sit-to-stand lifts, ceiling lifts. Student lab kits and increased SIM Support. Ministry ofAdvanced Ed. Skills & Training 

 

When are these resources required? September 2021 and ongoing 

 

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Support from the Dean’s office, CACHWR, T & L, OER development support, Professional Studies, FSO, 

Marketing, HCAP Faculty, Lab educators, continued discussions with Surrey School Board for Dual Credit, collaboration with all programs within FOH, 



16 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

 

STRATEGY 2: HCAP faculty to develop “specific” Health Authority contacts and supports for faculty and students in clinical practiceto support student success 

and collaborate shared resources. 

 
GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 1 

 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 

 
To be Ledby 

 
To Start on 

(M/YY) 

 
To be 

Completed 

 
By (M/YY) 

 
 
 

Notes 

 
Increase IPAC memberships to educators,RCC’s, 

LPN’s, HCA mentors and KPU HCAP Alumni & 

Current students and possibly GNABC 

representation 

 
HCAP Chair 

 
09/2021 

 
09/2023 

 
Strengthen relationships and collaborative 

communication b/t PSI and HA’s at the unit 

level. 



17 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

 

 

Develop a stronger connection with Alumni by 

having a yearly HCAP appreciation day celebration 

with current students and alumni. 

 

HCAP Chair, 

Faculty and 

Program Adm. 

 

10/2021 
 

Ongoing 
10/2023 

Will reassess success in 2023 and make 
changes as needed. 

 

Consistently placing instructors on the same 

units to provide stability of the program. 

 

HCAP Chair & 

Dean’s office 

 

09/20212020 
 

Ongoing 
09/2023 

Have made note for future scheduling 
currently  in progress.  

 

 

 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? Incentives to join & attend IPAC, specifically for FH employees, students, and alumni. 

 

When are these resources required? January 2022 

 

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Dean’s office, Admin Assistant support, HCAP Faculty 



18 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

 

 

STRATEGY 3: The HCAP faculty will continue to deliver current and relevant curriculum through regular Appreciative Inquiry to ensure our graduates meet and 

exceed entry-level competencies for health care assistants and have a strong healthcare foundationthey can continue to build upon. 

 
GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS:  Goal 1,2,3, 4 and 5. 

 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve thisStrategy 

 
To be Ledby 

 
To Start on 

(M/YY) 

 
To be 

Completed 

 
By (M/YY) 

 
 
 

Notes 

 
End of Semester faculty workdays to discuss 

program delivery, program evaluations, individual 

course feedback forms completed by students, 

relevance of content and to make changes to 

program/courses if applicable. 

 
HCAP Chair 

 
04/2021 
09/2019 

 
Ongoing 

 

 
 
 

 

 
Resource Implications (if applicable) 

 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? HCAP faculty accountable time.  



19 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

 

 
 

 

STRATEGY 4:  New Faculty member hiring, training, mentoring and succession 

planning. GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS:  Goal 5 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 

 
To be Led by 

 
To Start on 

(M/YY) 

 
To be 

Completed 

 
By (M/YY) 

 
 

 
Notes 

 
Review new faculty qualifications to ensure they 

align with HCAP requirements (faculty with 

gerontology experience). 

 
HCAP Faculty, 

Dean’s Office & 

Search Committee 

 
04/2021 

 
ongoing 

Requirements are updated in policy if they 
are changed 

 
Develop process for mentoring & succession 

planning (recruitment/retainment plan) HCAP 

faculty to teach each course within the 

curriculum at least twice to become familiar 

with content. 

 
HCAP Chair, 

HCAP Faculty& 

Program Adm. 

 
04/2012 

 
09/2021 

 
Accountable time 
Assign in collaboration amongst faculty at 
beginning of semester 

 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? T & L, Technology, HCAP faculty, administrative support  

When are these resources required? Ongoing  



20 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

 

     

 

Each semester, ensure Moodle sites are updated in 

their entirety with new additions as necessary & 

ready for next semester apart from date changes. 

 

HCAP Chair, 

HCAP Faculty& 

Program Adm. 

 

04/2021 
 

09/2021 
 

Accountable time 

 

Develop a mentoring schedule for each 

semester 

 

HCAP Chair, 

HCAP Faculty& 

Program Adm. 

 

04/2021 
 

09/2021 
 

Accountable time 

 

Develop HCAP specific orientation checklist 

with active links for new hires 

 

HCAP Chair, HCAP 

Faculty, HCAP 

Mentor, & 

Program Adm. 

 

04/2021 
 

09/2021 
 

Accountable time. 



21 

[HCAP] Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? HCAP and FOH Mentor Accountable time. Tasks and deliverables will be agreed upon and assigned 
collaboratively amongst HCAP faculty members at the beginning of each non-teaching semester 

 

When are these resources required? Summer 2021 & onwards 

 

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? HCAP Chair, HCAP Faculty, Program Admin. 

 

 

PLAN SUPPORTED BY: 

Digitally signed by Sandy 

Vanderburgh 

DN: cn=Sandy Vanderburgh, o, ou, 

email=sandy.vanderburgh@kpu.ca, 

c=CA 

Date: 2021.05.31 15:41:15 -07'00' 

 
  

 

Provost’s Name Provost Signature Date 
 

 
 

Sharmen Lee 

Digitally signed by Sharmen Lee 

DN: cn=Sharmen Lee, o=KPU, 

ou, email=Sharmen.Lee@kpu.ca,   

c=CA Date: 2021.05.27 17:16:19 -

07'00' 

 
May 27, 2021 

 
   

 

Dean’s Name Dean’s Signature Date 

Sharmen 
Lee 

mailto:email%3Dsandy.vanderburgh@kpu.ca
mailto:email%3Dsandy.vanderburgh@kpu.ca
mailto:email%3DSharmen.Lee@kpu.ca


SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 5.2 

Meeting Date: June 23, 2021 
Presenter: Heather Clark, Andhra Goundrey 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Fashion and Technology Self-Study Report 

  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Fashion and Technology Self-Study Report as attached.  

  

Senate Standing 
Committee Report 

For Senate Office Use Only   

  

  

Attachments 
Fashion and Technology Self-Study Report 

Fashion and Technology Self-Study Report Appendices 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted May 31,  2021 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

WILSON SCHOOL OF DESIGN 
 

FASHION AND TECHNOLOGY PROGRAM 

SELF-STUDY REPORT 

JUNE 2021 
 

Program Review Team Members: 
Heather Clark, Lesley Pollard, Mary Androsiuk, Jessica Bayntun, Michael Pope, Alex Diaz, 

Sharon Greeno, Eleanor Hannan, Evelyn May, Shirley Thompson, Stephanie Phillips 
  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 1 

 

Table of Contents 

 Program Overview .................................................................................................. 3 

Program Description ................................................................................................................... 3 

Brief History of the Program ....................................................................................................... 4 

External Accreditation ................................................................................................................. 5 

Scope of the Review .................................................................................................................... 5 

 Program Currency and Connections ........................................................................ 7 

Competitive Context ................................................................................................................... 7 

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board ........................................................................... 10 

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector ...................................................................... 11 

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units ............................................................. 13 

Program’s Articulation and Credential Recognition Processes ................................................. 13 

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach ......................................................... 14 

Student Demand for the Program ............................................................................................. 15 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 18 

 Quality of Curriculum Design ................................................................................ 21 

Assessment of the Curriculum .................................................................................................. 21 

Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum ................................................................................. 30 

Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum .................................................................................. 32 

Career/Further Education Preparedness .................................................................................. 33 

Curriculum Development and Review Processes ...................................................................... 39 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 41 

 Quality of Instructional Design .............................................................................. 43 

Delivery Modes ......................................................................................................................... 43 

Assessment Methods ................................................................................................................ 46 

Student Experience ................................................................................................................... 46 

Faculty Experience .................................................................................................................... 51 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 52 

 Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities .......................................................... 54 

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities ....................................................... 54 

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ..................................... 57 

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ...................................... 57 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 58 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 2 

 

 Conclusions and Recommendations ...................................................................... 59 

Summary of Conclusions ........................................................................................................... 59 

List of Recommendations .......................................................................................................... 61 

 Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean ............................................................ 68 

Program Overview..................................................................................................................... 68 

External Connections and Support ............................................................................................ 72 

Final Comments ......................................................................................................................... 73 

 Appendices for Self-Study Report .......................................................................... 74 

 

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 3 

 

 

 Program Overview 

Program Description  

The Fashion and Technology program within the Chip and Shannon Wilson School of Design 
(WSD) at Kwantlen Polytechnic University (KPU) is one of three fashion degree granting 
programs in Canada.  In 2019, the program was awarded best in long term value, best in 
learning experience, and best overall in the undergraduate fashion school rankings for the 
Business of Fashion, and we are the only Canadian fashion school to be highlighted at the 
undergraduate level.  The Business of Fashion site is a globally recognized, industry led 
news source on the global fashion industry.   
 
Program content delivers a balance of hands-on learning, industry focused experience, and 
academic rigor.  Our students experience unique programming, in an undergraduate 
fashion focused degree that is recognized for preparing graduating students to successfully 
enter the apparel and fashion industry.  Alumni hold roles in the local, national, and global 
industry, with many in leadership, technical and management positions across a range of 
company structures. 
 
Programming and course curriculum ensures that students develop industry ready, 
relevant, and current skills in creative and technical areas, with design concepts being 
developed through practice-led research and hands-on experience.  Current program 
strengths include industry focused outcomes, and design and production technology to 
ensure student and graduate skills are current to the rapidly changing local industry.  
Industry connections are fostered through guest speakers and industry field trips which are 
integrated into all four years of the degree program, and practicum placements where our 
third year students engage with industry mentors.  These industry experiences allow 
students to participate, connect, and link their skills and knowledge with the practical 
application of learning in the workplace.   
 
The Wilson School of Design (WSD), with seven design programs, enables students to 
collaborate in an interdisciplinary manner as they work in shared spaces. It is not 
uncommon to see students at multiple levels of programming grappling with opportunities 
and challenges as they share, collaborate, and discuss their work during the iterative design 
process.  WSD courses, including those in the Fashion and Technology program all take 
place at the WSD campus located in Richmond, BC.  The WSD campus is connected to the 
main KPU Richmond campus, where some students might choose to take non-fashion 
courses to meet the elective requirements for the credential. 
 
The Fashion and Technology program is a selective entry program with an intake of 22 
students every fall in a cohort model.  The admissions process to the program includes an 
English requirement set by KPU, and a portfolio submission with requirements set by 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 4 

 

program faculty.  The program itself has 29 core fashion courses which students are 
required to complete to meet degree requirements, as well as 3 required non-fashion 
courses and 15 required elective credits. 
 
See Appendix 1 for the program model, Appendix 2 for the calendar description of the 
program, and Appendix 3 for calendar descriptions of the required courses.  For additional 
program context, see Appendix 4 for program admissions requirements and policies, 
Appendix 5 for credential completion requirements, and Appendix 6 for the Business of 
Fashion awards. 
 
The following program mission statement, while set in 2014 still holds true today. This 
mission to provide a well-rounded education for students pursuing a career in the fashion 
industry is often cited by both industry and students alike as a strength of the program and 
is often referred to as a core reason for applying for the program, and for hiring alumni 
from the program. 
 
“Kwantlen’s industry-focused curriculum integrates creative, technical, and leadership skills 
to develop graduates for meaningful careers in the global apparel industry. Our graduates 
demonstrate an awareness of the importance of marketability in design, possess the 
technical knowledge essential to their professions, and value ethical choice.”  

Fashion and Technology Program Mission Statement, 2014 
 
The program has 11 instructor-faculty members, the majority of whom also teach in other 
Wilson School of Design programs.  As of writing this report (May 2021), there are currently 
only two full time faculty members who only have workload in the Fashion and Technology 
program. We have one part-time program assistant who splits her time between the 
Fashion and Technology program and another Wilson School of Design program, and a 
program chair who has a 50% time-release for this role.  Students and faculty are also 
supported by a full time divisional lab coordinator, and two divisional lab technicians who 
support spaces and equipment required for the hands-on and experiential learning 
components of program curriculum.   Program initiatives are also supported by the Wilson 
School of Design dean’s office as needed. 

Brief History of the Program 

The Fashion and Technology degree program has its initial roots with Douglas College as a 
fashion diploma program.  In 1981, it merged and became Kwantlen College.  The degree 
program was launched in 1999.  Since the inception of the degree, most students have 
graduated with a degree, with a minority of students opting to exit the program upon the 
completion of their diploma.  With the inception of the degree program, promotion of the 
diploma was significantly reduced.  
 
The program last went through a program review starting in 2014, with updated curriculum 
being implemented in Fall 2017. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 5 

 

 
In Fall 2019, the program shifted to a single cohort intake with a maximum of 22 students.  
While writing this self-study, both the first, and second-year cohort is full.  Our third and 
fourth year of the program currently has two cohorts in each year, and in the coming 
academic year, it will be reduced to a single cohort from years one through three.  This 
cohort reduction was part of an institutional initiative to avoid a potential deficit budget. 
 
The program covers a variety of skills and knowledge including drawing and design, pattern 
drafting, textiles, apparel construction, product development, manufacturing 
methodology, computer aided design, professional practices, professional promotion, the 
apparel industry, sustainability concepts, and much more. Students explore their personal 
values, refine their vision, and purpose, and develop ethical, sustainable, and global 
business practices as they discover their place in the local and global industry. 
 
With the last program review, the main curricular changes included implementing new 
courses: FASN 2215 Textiles and Technology 2 focusing on print design (2nd year), FASN 
3900 a Special Topics course with content changing on an annual basis (3rd year), and FASN 
4120 Innovative Pattern Cutting (4th year).  Credit and content clean up were also 
addressed across the program. 

External Accreditation 

The Fashion and Technology program is not currently accredited by any external 
associations or organizations as there are no governing bodies at this time that might 
provide accreditation within Canada. 
 
There is a Textile and Apparel Program Accreditation Commission based in the USA.  We 
would seek accreditation with this organization if deemed to be beneficial by our program 
advisory committee, and if it is possible for a Canadian program to be part of this.  As of 
writing this report, seeking accreditation has not been mentioned as needed or necessary 
by industry partners, or advisory committee members. 

Scope of the Review 

The results of the last program review, and the curricular updates that resulted took effect 
in September 2017.  Since the last updates took effect, the program was mandated to shift 
to a single cohort program, and we are currently navigating a global pandemic.  There have 
been many shifts and changes in both the program, on how it is taught and experienced, 
as well as changes within our local industry.  This program review aims to assess the 
competitive advantage of the program, currency of curriculum and instructional design, 
relevance to the local and global fashion industry, and provide recommendations for 
further program updates and enhancements. 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 6 

 

While the outcome of the last program review and the resulting action plan items informed 
updates to program curriculum to address challenges that were raised, some other issues 
were revealed upon implementation of the recommended solutions.  We therefore seek 
to address these highlighted challenges throughout this current review process.  Themes 
in the 2015 action plan touched on curriculum, applicants, faculty resources, faculty 
workload and mentoring, industry support and connections, and the need for additional 
learning supports in the form of lab assistants, and other dedicated positions.   
 
Some of the action points from 2015 were dependent on external partners and their ability 
to support student learning activities such as international internship exchanges and/or 
field trip visits to locations where factories are available for production process work-study, 
additional industry based training opportunities, and further develop industry connections 
(FASN Action Plan One-Year Follow UP, 2016).  Many of the action items from our previous 
program review were addressed with the move into our current WSD campus, while some 
such as the plan for on-going events and opportunities to network with others alumni, 
industry and current students, increasing initiative and participation to connect with 
potential applicants, and work on continuing studies initiative among others will require 
ongoing work.   
 
A shift that occurred after our last program review was moving from computer aided 
pattern drafting (CAD) software Gerber Accumark to Optitex.  This shift was made with the 
need to work with a cloud based CAD technology to better facilitate student learning. 
 
While many of the 2015 action items were initially addressed and supported by KPU, the 
Wilson School of Design, and the Fashion and Technology team, some of these items had 
funding or support removed, or priorities have shifted.  Through the 2021 program review 
self-study, we seek to touch on those shifting priorities, and curriculum challenges that 
were created through addressing prior challenges.  While the 2017 curriculum updates 
aimed to align content, student course load, and learning activities, questions have been 
raised since implementation about content timing and placement in the program to best 
support students. This continued work is conducted with the goal to ensure we can 
continue offering the best possible program, and longest running fashion program in 
Western Canada, while ensuring that graduates continue to be industry ready.  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 7 

 

 Program Currency and Connections 

Competitive Context 

The Bachelor of Design, Fashion and Technology is one of three fashion degree granting 
programs offered in Canada.  The other two-degree fashion programs in Canada include 
the fashion program offered by Ryerson University, located in Toronto, ON, and the fashion 
design program offered by LaSalle Vancouver which was opened for intake in Spring 2020. 
 
Within Vancouver, there are an assortment of certificate and diploma fashion programs.  
These programs have coexisted with the KPU fashion program for several years with some 
of the students from these programs seeking advanced entry to the KPU program to 
achieve a bachelor's degree with a focus on fashion.  Across Canada there are also other 
certificate and diploma fashion programs offered; these programs are offered by 
educational institutions such as George Brown College (ON), Fanshawe College (ON), 
Seneca College (ON), MC College (AB), Humber College (ON), among others. 
 
Since the previous program review, the fashion programs with Lethbridge College and Olds 
College, both located in Alberta, have discontinued. 
 
There are many other fashion undergraduate degree programs offered in the United States 
and in Europe.  Many of the programs appear to have a conceptual design and theoretical 
focus, with students choosing to attend these programs based on their chosen area of 
interest in the fashion field. 
 
Our main competitor is the fashion program at Ryerson University which is the longest 
running fashion degree granting program in Canada and has national recognition.   
 
Ryerson University – Fashion (BDes) 
Fashion programing offered by Ryerson University was established in 1948.  The vision 
shared for the Ryerson fashion program touches on sustainable design, production 
practices, questions around decolonizing the fashion industry, and considering the impact 
of the industry for many years to come.  New for students admitted in Fall 2020 or later, 
Ryerson offers five options for concentrations in their undergraduate program:  

 Fashion Communication 

 Fashion Design 

 Design Leadership 

 Textiles and Material Practices 

 Fashion Studies 
 
In November 2020, the Suzanne Rogers Fashion Institute, recommitted to support the 
fashion institute program for an additional five years.  This institute program provides 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 8 

 

support for the transition from education to career for both undergraduate students and 
alumni of the Ryerson fashion program.  
 
While some applicants to the KPU fashion program might also apply to Ryerson, they often 
decide on what program to attend based on long term career goals and career aspirations.  
Those willing to relocate for post-secondary and with the financial means will often 
prioritize the Ryerson program for its national recognition, and specialization options 
within their fashion program. 
 
A program model for the Ryerson program may be found in Appendix 7a. 
 
LaSalle College Vancouver – Bachelor of Design in Fashion Design 
The Bachelor of Design in Fashion Design offered by LaSalle College, Vancouver took in the 
first cohort in January 2020.  This program aims to provide skills and training for students 
so that they might gain a successful career in the fashion industry.  Program content 
includes sustainable design concepts, technical and technology skills, business 
development and a practicum placement. 
 
A key developer of this Bachelor of Design in Fashion Design program was also integral in 
the development of the KPU Bachelor of Design, Fashion and Technology program.  The 
result is that both programs have similar foundations and tenants at present. 
 
As this fashion program has yet to graduate a degree cohort, the overall impact on the 
industry, and how it may be felt by graduating students from KPU has yet to be felt.  
Approval for this program to move ahead by the Ministry of Education was granted while 
the KPU fashion program was still accepting an intake of 44 students per year.  Currently 
we have not felt an overall impact on applicant numbers to the KPU fashion program. 
 
A program plan for the Bachelor of Design in Fashion Design offered by LaSalle College, 
Vancouver may be found in the self-study report, Appendix 7b. 

 
*NOTE: LaSalle College Vancouver is a private institution 

 
The University of Alberta – Bachelor of Science in Fashion Business Management 
The University of Alberta in Edmonton offers a Bachelor of Science in Fashion Business 
Management, which is four-year undergraduate degree. The program, administered by the 
department of human ecology and the Alberta school of business, offers co-op and 
internship opportunities to prepare students for a management career in the fashion 
industry.  The school also offers a Bachelor of Science in Human Ecology, with a Major in 
Clothing, Textiles and Material Culture.   
 
While there are some overlapping themes with the programs offered by the University of 
Alberta and the KPU Fashion and Technology program, we have not felt an overall impact 
on our applicant numbers. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 9 

 

 

Vancouver Area non-degree granting fashion programs: 
Vancouver Community College 

Programs Offered: Fashion Design & Production (Certificate or Diploma option) & 
Fashion Merchandising (Certificate) 
The Fashion Design & Production program is geared toward developing skills, 
creative and technical, for the fashion and apparel industry.  The program features 
a 120-hour practicum, along with other industry geared skills and knowledge, and 
has the same admission requirements as the KPU Fashion and Technology program.  
Courses include pattern drafting, sewing, illustration and design, draping, fashion 
history, textiles, and features ‘fashion cycle’ courses in which students work in 
groups to apply knowledge and skills on potentially industry linked projects. 

JCI Institute 
Programs Offered: Fashion Design & Fashion Business   
The Fashion Design program is 26 weeks long (6 months) covering both theory and 
practical hands-on knowledge with the goal of students showcasing garments in a 
fashion show.  The Fashion Business program runs for 47 weeks and is focused on 
preparing students for a range of career roles by developing skills and knowledge.   

Vancouver College of Art and Design (VCAD) 
Programs Offered: Fashion Design Diploma 
Program duration is 60 weeks, taking place over five, twelve-week terms.  Content 
covered in the program includes theoretical, design and technical skills, while also 
developing an understanding of the roles and responsibilities of positions 
throughout the fashion industry. 
Also offered by VCAD is the Fashion Design program with a specialization in 
marketing.  This specialization offers knowledge in marketing, promotion, and 
event planning and runs for an additional two, twelve-week terms. 

Blanche MacDonald 
Programs Offered: Global Fashion Marketing, Fashion Design, and International 
Fashion Marketing. 
The global fashion marketing program is a one-year program, aiming to provide 
skills and knowledge to students to prepare them for potential careers as: stylists, 
buyers, entrepreneurs, brand specialist, social media influencers, bloggers, PR 
executives, events coordinators and other.  The International Fashion Marketing 
program has many of the same goals as the Global Fashion Marketing program, in 
addition to seeking to improve students' English skills.   
The Fashion Design program, also a year in length covers skills such as illustration, 
fashion history, garment construction, pattern making, and career preparation. 

The Cut Fashion Design Academy 
Relatively new to the Vancouver fashion education community, this academy offers 
courses in flexible schedules with a diploma in Fashion Design + Creative Arts, and 
an array of certificate programs both in person and online.  Certificates range in 
content from design and technical skills to production and manufacturing 
knowledge. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 10 

 

 
*NOTE: Apart from Vancouver Community College, the above Vancouver area non-degree 
granting fashion programs are through schools that are private institutions. 

 

The Wilson School of Design also offers a two-year diploma in Fashion Marketing.  This 
program ladders into a Bachelor of Business Administration program at KPU should 
students wish to pursue that route.  The KPU Fashion Marketing program serves to fulfill 
learner interest in pursuing fashion studies from a buyer, social media, merchandiser, and 
marketing perspective.  Depending on student interest, and timetabling, some Fashion and 
Technology students might opt to inquire about taking select Fashion Marketing courses 
toward program electives. 

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board  

The Fashion and Technology program advisory board currently meets approximately twice 
a year, once in the fall and once in the spring.  With the current program review work, we 
are looking to increase the meetings of the program advisory board to approximately three 
times a year, and to build on and increase their connection to the program and with 
students. 
 
Current advisory committee member bios may be found in the Appendix 8, and recent 
advisory board meeting minutes may be found in Appendix 9. 
 
An advisory committee meeting is usually scheduled on the same evening as a designer 
spotlight program event, last taking place in February 2020 pre-pandemic.  At this event, 
fourth year fashion students display thesis collection work, and advisory members were 
encouraged to attend and engage with students to gain an updated understanding of 
current student skills, knowledge, and abilities.   Members would share feedback at the 
advisory committee meeting taking place after this event.  Due to the global pandemic, this 
event did not take place in Spring 2021. 
 
In Spring 2021, with the need for the Fashion and Technology program to shift away from 
an in-person year-end event celebration, our advisory board members, and industry 
partners were called upon to support students via virtual mentorship meetings.   Feedback 
sessions between our fourth-year students and advisory board members, allowed for 
students to receive valuable feedback and industry insights.  During these sessions, 
advisory board members gained further understanding of the breadth of student's skills, 
abilities, knowledge, and content covered in the program.  Through these conversations, 
students made valuable contacts, and in some cases, this opportunity has led to offers of 
employment. 
 
Many of the advisory board committee members have been part of this committee since it 
was established.  To align with KPU Advisory committee policy, and maintain membership 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 11 

 

enthusiasm, and industry relevancy, committee membership will be shifting to a 3-year 
term, and we will be welcoming new members in Fall 2021.   
 
During the February 2021 meeting, committee members shared valuable feedback 
regarding the Fashion and Technology program.  Topic suggestions for further inclusion 
touched on sustainability and circular design, the need for greater fabric technology, ethical 
production practices, avenues for students to specialize in skills and knowledge 
development, trend research, working with body sizes and shapes outside of industry 
standard sizes, and business writing and communication skills.   

A breakdown of this feedback may be found in advisory committee minutes in Appendix 
9c.  Committee feedback is addressed in Chapter 3, Curriculum Design. 

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector  

Throughout the Fashion and Technology program, faculty regularly invite guest speakers 
into the classroom, organize industry-based field trips (when possible), and when the 
opportunity presents, have students take part in industry-led projects.  Many of these guest 
speakers, field trip hosts, and practicum supervisors are alumni of the program.  These 
opportunities not only provide direct industry connections and experiences for students, 
but also provide relevant industry connections for the program and faculty.  Through these 
connections, we aim to ensure that students have an appropriate understanding of current 
industry practices and gain greater understanding of the variety of roles that alumni hold 
in the local community. 
 
Alumni play a large role in supporting current students in the program and often take on 
mentorship type roles to help coach and guide students regarding career opportunities, 
speaking to their experience in industry roles, and providing direct feedback to students.   
There is a Wilson School of Design alumni chapter, and graduating students are encouraged 
to get in touch with alumni chapter leads.  There is great opportunity to work with the WSD 
alumni chapter and program alumni to develop and share information about career 
positions and future opportunities. 
 
Faculty are asked by industry to consult on a variety of initiatives such as implementing 
internship programs and participate in corporate professional development workshops, 
while also being relied on to sponsor and support local fashion industry initiatives such as 
Apparel Camp. 
 
The Wilson School of Design is a member of The BC Apparel and Gear Association.  The 
association is relatively newly established, the first meeting to engage potential members 
took place in October 2019.  The current program chair, regularly takes part in discussions 
with the other Vancouver fashion programs chairs, directors, and coordinators so that as a 
group they can provide feedback to the association from an educational perspective.  As 
the association continues with its mandate, it will be important to continue to foster 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 12 

 

connections with this group and support their continued work and initiatives.  A description 
of the BC Apparel and Gear Association may be found in Appendix 10a. 
 
The Apparel Affinity Group (AAG) holds an annual conference in June, typically in locations 
across Canada; for 2021 this conference will be held virtually.  A description of this group 
may be found in Appendix 10b, and consists of post-secondary fashion educators, and the 
conference provides an opportunity for cross Canada fashion post-secondary educators to 
discuss common questions, explore current practices, and share resources.  Faculty of the 
Fashion and Technology program have regularly attended this annual conference, with 
faculty member, Heather Clark, sitting on the coordination committee to represent schools 
in the BC and Yukon.  Heather has been leading the planning for the conference this year, 
the first virtual conference for the group, and has been working to coordinate guest 
speakers and to plan an engaging schedule. 
 
The Fashion and Technology program also has membership with the BC Society for the 
Museum of Original Costume (SMOC).  Through this membership, students have access to 
a regular newsletter.  Students often access information and regular speaking engagement 
events supported by this society to support their work in fashion history courses.  A 
description for this society may be found in Appendix 10c. 
 
As a program, we aim to support our local secondary teachers working in clothing, textile 
and fashion classrooms.  At the annual THESA (Teachers of Home Economics Specialist 
Association) conference, we aim to ensure presence with an informational exhibit and offer 
a fashion themed workshop.  This participation and connection with teachers often lead to 
faculty and students being asked to guest speak in secondary school classrooms.  Follow up 
opportunities have enabled us to provide additional support and resources to secondary 
school teachers, while also promoting the Fashion and Technology program to potential 
applicants.  A description for THESA may be found in Appendix 10d.  While guest speaking 
opportunities have been minimal this year due to the global pandemic, we seek to increase 
these connections, guest speaking and leading workshops both virtually and in person 
when possible, and to lead onsite workshops for students and secondary school classes. 
 
Generally, industry has a positive perception of the Fashion and Technology program with 
42% being moderately familiar and 31% very familiar with the program (Discipline Sector 
survey, Q7).  The main characteristics that come to mind regarding the program for industry 
partners are: 

 Technical 

 Technology 

 Industry Relevant & Focused 

 Creative 

 Innovative 

 Practical 
(Discipline/Sector Survey, Q8) 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 13 

 

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units 

The Wilson School of Design regularly encourages students to access other KPU 
departments for support, including the Learning Centre, Counselling Services, and 
connecting with Nick Bransford, the academic advisor for the Wilson School of Design.  
Within the Fashion and Technology program, we regularly share resources and lab spaces 
with the Product Design program and the Technical Apparel Post Baccalaureate program 
as some foundational concepts overlap.  There may be some greater overlaps formed 
between these three programs with a common practicum course or co-op option which 
may streamline both industry connections and contacts, and processes for securing student 
placements. 
 
Our third and fourth year students are introduced and encouraged to access KPU Career 
Services, including seeking career focused workshops.  The learning center is also regularly 
recommended to students for learning support.  Students accessing learning center 
supports often do so for time management skill building, and for assistance in writing.  
While many of the skills and knowledge that students gain in the Fashion and Technology 
program is highly specialized, students seeking support for this type of learning (sewing, 
pattern making, technology skills such as Adobe Creative Cloud, and Optitex) are often 
paired with a peer-mentor within the program for additional support when needed. 
 
Students in the Fashion and Technology program are required to take several electives to 
meet their degree requirements.  Students opt to enroll in courses through the School of 
Business, or in the Fine Arts Department and also take CADD courses through the Trades 
and Technology faculty.  A popular instructor that many students take courses with is 
Dorothy Barenscott in the Fine Arts program, who is a modern and contemporary art 
historian.  For years, Dorothy has planned the Fine Arts Field School that takes place 
biannually and many Fashion and Technology students choose to participate.  The last field 
school that Dorothy led in the 2019 Summer semester included London and Venice and 
had two fashion students in the group.  When planning for the 2019 field school, the KPU 
Fine Arts faculty involved expressed interest in co-planning and co-leading this or 
subsequent field schools with Fashion and Technology faculty team members.  Should an 
opportunity arise for this collaboration post-pandemic, this would be an ideal opportunity 
to support cross curricular student learning.    

Program’s Articulation and Credential Recognition Processes 

Due to the unique nature of fashion education, and the wide variety of courses that 
educational institutes offer, the Fashion and Technology program at KPU does not currently 
have any formal articulation agreements in place.  There are some courses from other 
institutions that are recorded as direct transfer credits, assessed as Prior Learning 
Assessment and Recognition (PLAR) with KPU, that have comparable learning outcomes in 
current program curriculum.  For an applicant to be successful in receiving credit for prior 
learning in the Fashion and Technology program, they must have successfully completed 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 14 

 

these comparable courses, share portfolio items that demonstrate an applicant’s skill, 
experience and capabilities, and have a successful interview with faculty. 
 
Those seeking to step into the Fashion and Technology program have typically completed 
a certificate or diploma at another institution and are looking to complete a bachelor’s 
degree in Fashion and Technology.  When accepting advanced entry students, the priority 
is to ensure that students will find success in their learning at KPU at the point in which 
they step into the program.  To help further support advanced entry applicants we will be 
revising previous work done toward formalizing articulation agreements with select 
schools and programs and determining if these are still a match. 
 
Once accepted into the KPU Fashion and Technology program, students will very rarely 
choose to step out of the program to continue their fashion education elsewhere.  There 
may be further exploration of pathways to support those students interested in pursuing 
further education and graduate studies.  

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach 

The Fashion and Technology program at KPU strives to maintain strong connections with 
home economics teachers and local textile classrooms.  We regularly attend the annual 
THESA Conference, having both an exhibitor booth and leading workshops, as well as 
annually hosting teachers in a fashion education themed excursion and/or workshops with 
the annual Surrey Teachers Association Convention taking place in early May.  Both 
students and faculty are regular guest speakers in secondary school classrooms (in person 
and virtually), sharing information about the programs offered by the Wilson School of 
Design, discussing the Fashion and Technology program specifically, and sharing general 
entrance portfolio examples and suggestions for success.  When possible, we host school 
groups on-site for tours.  When we are again able to welcome visitors on-site, we are aiming 
to welcome an increased number of high school classes for field trips to participate in a 
school tour with the opportunity to create, make, and learn techniques during workshops. 
 
A career path that some of our students choose is to pursue home economics education.  
To support students in this, KPU and UBC have created a pathway for students so that upon 
completion of their Fashion and Technology degree and select prerequisite courses 
students might gain entry to the Bachelor of Education program with UBC.  Through this 
pathway, students then enter a career as an educator, teaching home economics at the 
middle school or secondary school level.  This connection also extends to our Continuing 
Professional Studies (CPS) courses.  Teachers seeking a diploma or certificate in Home 
Economics education from UBC who successfully complete fashion focused KPU CPS 
courses, may then pursue credit through UBC. 
 
For many years, we have offered fashion focused Continuing Professional Studies Courses 
(CPS).  These courses have been geared toward high school students, to build interest, 
introduce mentors from our team, and act as a marketing tool for the Fashion and 
Technology program.  Courses have also been offered for those interested in general 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 15 

 

studies, and teachers seeking a home economics education designation as mentioned 
above.  Course titles and descriptions for CPS courses that we have offered over the years 
are included in Appendix 11.  In the past, we have invited international masters to deliver 
short, intensive ‘masters’ courses that explore an area of specialist knowledge.  Zero Waste, 
Subtraction Cutting, Transformational Reconstruction and pleating were course topics 
presented before they became embedded components in curriculum.  These master 
courses also served as a form of program promotion.  There is desire within the Fashion 
and Technology team to restart these master courses to promote the Wilson School of 
Design and the Fashion and Technology program to industry, partners, and attract 
applicants, as well as empower the team in new skills and areas of professional 
development. 
 
The Wilson School of Design has social media presence through Instagram, Facebook, 
LinkedIn, and a regular blog, The Design Loop, to share updates from the Wilson School of 
Design.  All messaging through social medial channels goes through the Wilson School of 
Design Communications coordinator, student assistants, and the Fashion and Technology 
program assistant.  To continue to attract a high caliber of student and access the greatest 
number of applicants, continued and increased program promotion through social media 
channels is needed. Further details about these social media channels may be found in 
Appendix 12. 

Student Demand for the Program 

Since the implementation of the previous program review, there has been a shift in the 
overall number of applicants to the program. This appears to reflect the decrease in funding 
and support for clothing, fashion and textile classrooms at the secondary school level, 
which in turn has brought a reduced awareness of the KPU fashion program. There is also 
often a misconception regarding employment opportunities within the fashion industry. 
 
There is a growing group of diverse and socially aware applicants who relate as climate 
activists and hope to make less of an impact on the earth and are looking at ways of how 
this might be addressed through fashion education.  These applicants with a greater 
awareness and desire to critically assess an industry in which they would like to pursue a 
career are on the constant hunt for information.  Through open-sourced resources, 
applicants are more likely to be self-taught in a variety of skills upon starting the Fashion 
and Technology program.  We acknowledge that this is the ‘new learner’ that is entering 
our program and will be mindful of this when revising program curriculum.  
 
Students choose to pursue fashion education for a broad range of reasons.  Hodges and 
Karpova (2009) in their study on this topic found that the “opportunity to use a college 
education to expand or elaborate on fashion-related interests was critical to participants’ 
decisions to enroll in the major” (p. 51).  When talking with applicants to the fashion and 
technology program at KPU in their entrance interview, they often cite pursuing entrance 
to the program to support altruistic aims such as addressing the pollution and 
environmental impact of the fashion industry, a passion to pursue and express themselves 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 16 

 

through creative means, a love for textiles, making and creating, and much more.  We all 
wear clothing and interact with clothing on a daily basis, and applicants are often looking 
the further understand the decisions and processes that are involved in garment 
production.  Something that Hodges and Karpova (2009) also found was that many of those 
pursuing fashion education found themselves having to defend their choice of study and 
focus on fashion.  This is something that still holds true today.  There are many 
misconceptions about what it means to pursue fashion education, and what a job in the 
industry might mean.  A project that we aim to work on post program review is developing 
a resource that might be used by current students, applicants, and even potential students 
at the secondary level is an Open Education Resource (OER) focusing on the many jobs 
available in the fashion industry including descriptions, tasks, company structures, and 
salary ranges. 
 
Applications have remained steady for the program over the past years, as shown through 
the below chart, and we have a varying number of applicants on the waitlist.  Generally, 
those who are offered a seat in the program accept and enter the program the following 
fall semester.  Applicants remaining on the waitlist are encouraged to accept a general 
studies seat at KPU and start to work on non- fashion courses and to reapply for the 
program the following year. 
 

Entry Year Number 
of 

Applicants 

Number of Applicants 
Interviewed/Completed 

SlideRoom Portfolio 

Number of First 
Year Applicants 

Accepted 

Fall 2021 93 61 22 

Fall 2020 106 56 22 

Fall 2019* 99 51 22 

Fall 2018 105 69 39 

Fall 2017 107 66 44 

NOTE:  

 Slideroom was introduced for Fall 2018 intake to manage applicant portfolios 

 *Starting Fall 2019 first year intake was reduced to 22 with a removal of a 
program cohort 

 
A further breakdown of this table, including advanced entry applicant numbers may be 
found in Appendix 13. 
 
The majority of our applicants are from the Vancouver and greater Vancouver area and this 
seems to reflect where marketing efforts are focused.  While the majority of our students 
continue to be young women, since our last program review, we have begun to see an 
increase in young men applying to, and coming into the program.  For the 2015/2016 
academic year 95% of students identified as female, and for the 2019/2020 year this 
percentage has shifted to 87% (Admin Data Report, Exhibit 5, Appendix p. 170).  This adds 
to the diversity of the pool of applicants, and those coming into the program.  The general 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 17 

 

age group and number of international students in the program has remained steady 
throughout 2015/2016 to the current academic year.   
 
Until recently KPU has captured 100% of students wishing to pursue a Bachelor-level 
credential in Fashion education in BC (Admin Data Report, Exhibit 4, Appendix p. 170), and 
this is reflective of the fact that until January 2019 KPU offered one of only two degree 
granting fashion programs in Canada and was the only program in western Canada.  With 
the implementation of the fashion degree program with LaSalle Vancouver, with some 
similar tenants and themes, it will be important to continue to assess the competitive 
market as students begin to graduate from this program and to see if the KPU Fashion and 
Technology program needs to reassess for further distinction of its unique value 
propositions.  Increasing program promotion and marketing efforts across Canada would 
be beneficial.  Another factor to explore that may contribute to the type of applicant we 
receive is the high cost of living in the Vancouver area, and the lack of KPU supported 
student housing. 
 
Within the first year of the program is where we see the greatest attrition, however this is 
typically low.  Drop, fail, withdraw data, and repeat rates, found in Exhibit 11 of the Admin 
Data Report (p. 173) are in line with the other WSD programming.  Students in first year 
who find learning challenges have often graduated from the spring prior to starting the 
program and struggle with time management and accountability, as opposed to curriculum 
itself.  Through a requested portfolio and interview process that all applicants go through 
faculty look to assess for applicant suitability and readiness for the program to ensure 
success is met.  Some students opt to exit the fashion program during or after first year due 
to a desire to change their program of study. 
 
It was noted that during Fall 2020, for which there is no KPU supported data, we had a 
greater than typical number of first year students struggle and opt to step out of the 
program.  Generally, this is felt by the faculty team that it was due to the combination of 
starting a post-secondary program in the midst of a global pandemic, and having a very 
hands-on program being taught in a virtual setting.  While the situation of the past year has 
not been ideal, it has given the faculty team a greater understanding of where in the 
program there may be opportunities for virtual learning, and when students will need to 
be in person to be best supported in their learning. 
 
The attrition rate for the progression of students in the program after first year is minimal.  
While this question was not posed in surveys, the below student stated rationales for 
departure from the program have been shared anecdotally with faculty over the years.  

 Desire to exit the program with a diploma at the end of second year 

 Change in discipline or area of study to reflect a student’s change of interest 

 Challenges with school/work/life balance 

 Break from school - often these students will return after a year or two to complete 
their degree 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 18 

 

Any extra space available in the program in second year is often filled with advanced entry 
students, or international exchange students.  Available seats in third or fourth year, are 
challenging to fill in a selective entry program.  When possible we aim to fill these seats 
with students seeking to step back into the program to complete their degree when 
possible, or to consider approving general interest students who are deemed to be 
successful in their learning. 
 
Advanced entry students often seek acceptance into the program from a range of fashion 
programs across Canada and internationally.  These advanced entry students have typically 
completed all or part of another fashion program and are looking to complete a degree in 
fashion.  Students who have sought advanced entry have completed programs with LaSalle 
Vancouver, George Brown College, Olds College, Fanshawe College, LaSalle Montreal, 
Vancouver Community College, the Art institute and others.  Accepting advanced entry 
students is dependent on space available in the program, something that has become more 
challenging with the program reduction to a single cohort.  For Fall 2020 we accepted five 
advanced entry students, for Fall 2021 we are looking at accepting seven advanced entry 
students, some of who will be stepping right into second year and some who have been 
accepted into first year to take an assortment of first and second year courses. 

Summary and Recommendations 

The multi-disciplinary nature of our industry requires flexibility to continually evolve in real 
time.  The ability to respond in an effective and timely manner requires a strategic 
implementation plan with adequate and prioritization of funding resources.  When making 
decisions to ensure program currency, we continually seek to work with industry partners, 
alumni, students, and other community partners. 
 
The Fashion and Technology program is flexible enough to attract advanced entry students 
seeking to complete their degree, while also supporting entrepreneurial minded students 
looking to exit the program with a diploma, as well as those pursuing a Bachelor of Design.  
Being a publicly funded university, the Fashion and Technology program provides a fiscally 
responsible option for students pursuing fashion education.  
 

 Shift the advisory committee membership to three-year terms to ensure there is 
regular turnover allowing for a variety of insight and perspective 

o This shift will align with coming updates to KPU Policy AC1 

 Seek relevant, ongoing, and dedicated support from the KPU Office of Advancement 
for program awards and grants for student recruitment and support 

 Increase competitive edge of fashion and technology program through:  
o Restructuring program to include specialization paths  
o Increase industry linked projects throughout the program 
o Create additional links between program content and curriculum for 

enhanced understanding 
o Integrate a co-op option for students 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 19 

 

o Incorporate additional out of province or global travel and learning 
opportunities for students 

o Inquire into possibility to create links between the fashion program, and the 
School of Business Entrepreneurial Leadership program so that those 
looking to gain greater knowledge in an entrepreneurship career path might 
do so. 

 Increase student recruitment efforts both locally and across Canada 
o Seek out opportunities to promote the program internationally, highlighting 

the unique position that Vancouver holds in the global apparel industry and 
the many global brands based here. 

o Additional KPU marketing support for promoting the program, and/or 
faculty time release for specialized and focused program promotional 
activities  

o Increase community engagement by welcoming secondary school textile 
classes on campus when possible, to work in the labs and gain an 
introduction to the Wilson School of Design.    

o Develop detailed program information to share via WSD website, social 
media and info handouts on career possibilities and salary ranges for the 
apparel industry. 

o Regularly update program website for information on alumni, students, 
faculty, and program initiatives, projects and activities. 

o Increase social media presence, including regularly creating posts that 
feature students, their work, and program initiatives 

o Increased KPU support for domestic student housing  

 Increase strategic promotion of the Fashion and Technology diploma 

 Continue to develop and add to Continuing Studies Course offerings 
o Develop courses that appeal to industry professionals (through industry 

consultation) as industry upgrades, home economics teachers, general 
interest, and future potential students. 

o Build and plan a 12 month Continuing Professional Studies calendar with a 
range of in-person (when possible) and virtual courses. 

o Re-implement masterclasses  

 Develop formalized articulation agreements with post-secondary fashion programs 
in both the Vancouver area and across Canada.   

o  Proposed schools for formal articulation agreements: 
 Fanshawe College – London, ONT 
 George Brown College – Toronto, ONT 
 Seneca College - ONT 
 Vancouver Community College – Vancouver, BC 
 JCI Institute - Vancouver, BC  
 University of Alberta – Edmonton, AB 

o Create pathways for advanced entry students at KPU in the Wilson School 
of Design, as design students, if there is not room available in the Fashion 
and Technology program to accommodate them for the coming year 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 20 

 

 Establish a path into the program (ex. Dual Credit) to support secondary school 
students 

 Advocate for more robust alumni engagement 
o Develop supports for those pursuing entrepreneurship 
o Seek additional institutional supports for the Wilson School of Design alumni 

chapter  
 Additional supports may be required of our KPU Career Services 

Department 
 

  

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 21 

 

 Quality of Curriculum Design 

Assessment of the Curriculum 

Overview of the Program 

The Fashion and Technology program curriculum aims to be practical and relevant, 
ensuring that graduates have developed a well-rounded set of industry ready skills and 
knowledge.  Courses, and content are structured in a way in which students might build on 
a foundation of knowledge, while gaining greater understanding.  Through field trips, guest 
speakers, industry linked projects, and an industry-based work experience practicum, 
students gain greater perspective and knowledge of how the skills they have gained in an 
educational setting might be applied in a workplace setting.  The foundation of this 
program goal is at the center of the student focused goal of the KPU 2023 Academic Plan, 
Enhance Student Success.  The Fashion and Technology program, while rigorous in content, 
aims to support student success through a variety of experiential learning opportunities, a 
range of learning modes that speak to the many ways our students learn, encouraging 
students to put prior and current learning into context. Details of the KPU 2023 Academic 
Plan may be found in the appendix. 
 
For an overview of current courses and planning across the four years offered in the 
program, please see the program model and course descriptions in Appendix 1 and 3.    The 
Fashion and Technology program consists of 29 required fashion courses which include 
topics such as: illustration and design, pattern drafting and sewing, fashion history, textiles, 
manufacturing methodology, professional practices, and technology. The first year of the 
program focuses on fundamental knowledge to ensure students have a well-developed 
foundation on which to build through subsequent years.   
In respect to teaching excellence, the program has significant alignment to the KPU 2023 
Academic Plan in that “students partake [in] vibrant KPU classroom environments 
conducive to developing the skills needed to become lifelong, independent and self-
regulated learners.”  Faculty bring wide array of perspectives to the classroom, to enhance 
and support course learning outcomes.  These personal aspects that often accompany 
taught curriculum might shift learning from a space of transmission to a space of lived and 
experienced learning. Teaching in this space may be less about “doing” or the finished 
“product” (curriculum as planned) but experiencing and learning as students work together 
(curriculum as lived) (Akoi, 2005).  
 
Fashion education programs often have core foundational knowledge and understanding 
which provides context for subsequent learning.   Some of the core tenants of fashion 
programs are pattern drafting and sewing/construction knowledge.  In the Fall of 2020, 
faculty member Heather Clark received funding through KPU for a Sewing OER (Open 
Education Resource) project which is being worked on in collaboration with secondary 
school clothing and textiles teacher Catherine Hay.  One of the goals of this project is to 
support students at multiple levels of education and to increase collaboration and credible 
virtual resources that might be used for educational purposes.  This initiative supports Goal 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 22 

 

6 of Vision 2023, and Open Education research and practices supporting student learning.  
As the Fashion and Technology program works toward becoming a Zero Textbook Cost 
(ZTC) program, we seek to become a leader in developing OER resources for fashion 
education and by adopting existing OERs into the program. 
 
While we are aware that there are further actions needed within the Fashion and 
Technology program to support additional goals, and their supporting strategies in the 
Vision 2023 plan, we feel that we are currently working in a positive direction.  We envision 
program changes and additions that may be made through this program review process 
will not only support the goals in Vision 2023 but will also enable us to better plan for the 
coming future. 

Program Competencies 

The core competencies that a student may experience, develop, and be able to 
demonstrate successfully upon completion of the Fashion and Technology program 
include, but are not limited to the following: 

 Problem Solving & Adaptability 
o Concept development 
o Trial and Error 
o Prototyping 
o Body Type Inclusivity 
o Skill Transferability 

 Technical Skills 
o Technological Skills 
o Making and Creating 

 Global Awareness 
o Global Design History 
o Global Interconnectedness 
o Social and Environmental Understanding 
o Variety of Business Models 

 Curiosity 
o Desire to Build on Pre-existing Skills 
o Understanding Application of textiles 
o Anthropometry 
o On Site Work Experience & Industry Application of Skills 
o Equity of Access 

 Initiative 
o Advocacy 
o Working with Networks and Contacts 
o Sharing and Present Ideas 

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 23 

 

Essential Skills 

The Fashion and Technology program provides ample opportunities for students to gain a 
number of essential skills.  This includes those that are core to the fashion industry, and 
those that that are essential for the 21st century, including those that the Ministry of 
Advanced Education has deemed essential.

 
Fashion Industry Core Competencies: 

 Problem Solving & Trouble 
Shooting 

 Resiliency 

 Adobe Creative Suite & Microsoft 
Office 

 Design Communication 

 Intercultural Capacity & 
Emotional Intelligence 

 Flexible & Adaptable 

 Current Knowledge 

 Diverse Skill Set 

 Operationalize Innovation 

 Systems Thinking 

21st Century Core Competencies: 

 Critical Thinking 

 Creativity 

 Collaboration 

 Communication 

 Information Literacy 

 Media Literacy 

 Technology Literacy 

 Flexibility 

 Initiative 

 Leadership 

 Productivity 

 Social Skills 

 
Ministry of Advanced Education Essential Skills & the Fashion and Technology Program: 

 Written Communication – Students create written reports reflecting and analyzing 
projects, report on research, communicate with industry members and faculty 
members. 

 Oral Communication – Speak to and share work, take part in peer critique activities, 
share thoughts and perspectives, and communicate questions 

 Group Collaboration – Students often collaborate with peers to build on and gain 
further understanding, while also working in formal teams in certain courses to 
collaborate and work collectively toward a goal 

 Critical Analysis – Students are regularly asked to reflect on work (taking the form 
of written or spoken) to assess their learning and form conclusions, analyzing their 
path through the design process. 

 Problem Resolution – Students are regularly immersed in the design process across 
the program.  They are often asked to ‘solve’ problems with by selecting 
appropriate textiles for end uses, by meeting the needs (through design) of an 
underserviced target market, or even by adapting to a new way of learning in a 
hands-on program  

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 24 

 

 

 Learn on your own – Students are regularly asked to individually apply skills that 
they have gained by using acquired resources.  While students may initially start 
work on their own, they often will ask for input and feedback from peers or faculty 
when applying their knowledge.  For example, a student may individually design a 
garment that meets a specific brief, but yet ask a peer for input on certain design 
elements or textile option.  This individual knowledge, supported by sought out 
peer and faculty feedback and input when appropriate often sets up students for 
success upon entering the workplace. 

 Reading and Comprehension – Throughout courses in the program students are 
often asked to read shared resources or find resources and report on those.   

 
Many fashion course projects and assignments are designed to build upon multiple skills 
on multiple fronts.  Having course work structured in a multi-faceted way ensures that 
students have multiple opportunities to build on essential skills and ensures that they have 
a solid foundation and understanding of use and application. 

Learning Outcomes 

Upon successful completion of the Fashion and Technology program, students will be able 
to: 

 Demonstrate use of current industry technology (ex. CAD software such as Optitex, 
Adobe Creative Cloud, 3D modelling and augmented reality) 

 Develop an adaptable and innovative mind set   
o Learn future and aspirational industry led technology  
o Recognizing the need to be flexible  
o Strategic foresight, including backcasting and forecasting   
o Gaining an understanding of appropriate equipment, systems, design 

futures/speculative design 

o Develop a growth mindset, a willingness to ‘unlearn’ and re-learn  

 Apply design and product development methodology and processes 

o Experiment with Design concepts through a prototype process  
o Gain market analysis and research skills, and understand how to integrate 

throughout the design process 

o Understanding human centered design, and end user needs through 
research 

o Source data, techniques, software, raw materials and supply chain resources 
as needed  

 Develop and practice professional communication skills, interpersonal and 
intrapersonal skills  

o Engage and collaborate with industry community members in meaningful 
ways such as through practicum, volunteering (citizenship), work 
experiences 

o Participate in industry events and maintain relationships with the Wilson 
School of Design as students, and in post-graduation 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 25 

 

 

 Collaborate effectively with others and practice leadership   
o Building team trust and cross functional efficiencies 

 Apply critical thinking through iterative prototyping to develop design concepts 

 Explore sustainable and ethical concepts and how they relate to design with a social 
innovation perspective  

o Concepts may include, but are not limited to: 
 Responsibility and Sustainability  
 Accountability 
 Social Innovation 
 Sustainable Solutions 
 Uncover values, discover voice and confidence to advocate and sell 

ideas to innovate, create and implement for growth and positive 
change, social innovation  

 Understand interconnectedness of global to local apparel industry  
 Inclusivity and Diversity: developing an understanding and gaining 

context and background   

Credential-Level Specifications 

The Fashion and Technology, Bachelor of Design program consist of 29 unique fashion 
courses and requires that students also enroll in an additional 5 electives (15 credits) and 
take three mandatory non-fashion courses. Elective courses should include a minimum of 
two general education courses, a minimum of one course from the school of Business, and 
a minimum of two electives from any area of study.  The electives from any area of study 
may include fashion courses such as FASN 3900, Special Topics with content that shifts 
every year, or FASN 4250 which is a Self-Directed Study. 
The Fashion and Technology, Diploma program consists of all required courses of the 
Bachelor of Design program from the first two years.  This includes 16 unique fashion 
courses, and three required non-fashion courses.   
 
See program model, Appendix 1, for a program ‘map’ of courses. 
 
Students graduating from the Fashion and Technology program are held to a high standard 
throughout courses.  Through regular interactions with industry members as guest 
speakers, project feedback, and critiques, students develop an understanding of workplace 
standards to ensure they might find success in their future career. Learners are required to 
meet a KPU standard of 60% or more in any course that act as pre-requisites.  Graduates 
from the program are recognized for being industry ready with a strong and diverse skill 
set.  To maintain this industry recognized reputation we encourage students to engage in 
the learning process, ensuring that their skills and knowledge are well developed, and well-
rounded. 
 
Learning outcomes in the program are laddered to ensure that students gain a solid 
foundation in first year, while in second year, students continue to gain skills and 
knowledge and begin to understand how to apply this in different ways.  In third year, 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 26 

 

 

students begin to work further with industry partners and engage in a practicum placement 
to develop an understanding of skills used in industry settings, and in fourth year the focus 
is on applying gained knowledge as students also discover where their personal direction 
might lead them. 

Degree-Level Standards  

Throughout their four years in the Bachelor of Design, Fashion and Technology program, 
students gain significant knowledge in a range of topics.  As a program, we maintain close 
links with industry partners to ensure students are gaining a depth of comprehension and 
understanding.  After gaining foundational knowledge in their first year, students continue 
to build on this learning during the remainder of the program.  Throughout the program 
students are provided with opportunities through which they might apply, in practical 
ways, learning they have gained to then further build on their understanding.   
 
Industry partners are often welcomed into the classroom to speak to their specific area of 
expertise, and also provide direct feedback to students from an industry perspective.  
These connections often provide students with a greater understanding of ‘real world’ 
application of their acquired classroom learning.  
 
Within curriculum, there are often spaces for students to apply their personal perspective 
and further their understanding of an area of interest in the fashion industry.  An example 
of this is most clear in the directions students choose to go in their fourth, and final year in 
the program, and the directions that their thesis collections take. Examples of this work 
may be found in our Wilson School of Design grad website at thisiswilson.design and 
highlights graduating student work from all seven design programs.  For this thesis project, 
which spans both the Fall and Spring semester, fourth year students engage in research, 
apply a breadth of knowledge when determining designs and making construction 
decisions, communicate with industry members and faculty to present concepts, and 
determine where they might need to gain additional learning or understanding to bring 
their vision to reality. 
 
Quality Assessment Board degree-level standards: 

 Depth and breadth of knowledge 
o Throughout the program, students learn about a wide variety of careers 

available in the industry and the specialist knowledge that may be required 
for success.  Students gain knowledge in a range of areas (see course 
descriptions and program model in appendix) through which they form 
personal career goals and directions.  Students also gain greater 
understanding of skills within the discipline that may be transferable (critical 
things, analysist, communication, etc.).  Students are continually 
encouraged to gather, review, evaluate and interpret information so that 
they may gain greater context and bring renewed understanding to their 
studies. 

 Knowledge and methodologies and research 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 27 

 

 

o Students continually apply critical thinking and creative problem solving as 
they engage in the design process.  They evaluate a range of approaches 
through this process, including assessing potential design solutions or 
construction methods. 

 Application of Knowledge 
o  Students regularly partake in steps of the design process whereby they 

ideate and conceptualize to solve a ‘problem’.  This process typically 
involves a potential solution for a design challenge, with a prototype process 
that supports students in applying knowledge to make informed decisions.  
Engagement with this process may result in a final ‘product’ or it may result 
in a concept in which students have engaged with and practiced applying 
their learning. 

 Communication Skills 
o Students are regularly asked to share their ideas, concepts and work with 

peers and faculty.  While some students find these critiques and 
presentations initially uncomfortable as the focus is on them and their work, 
they often grow to appreciate the supportive and constructive feedback that 
is shared in these safe learning spaces.  Through industry connections and 
contact opportunities such as guest speakers, field trips, practicum 
placements and more, students are provided platforms in which to practice 
professionally and engage with industry relevant language that may take 
both oral and written forms. 

 Awareness of Limits of Knowledge 
o Students pursuing design education are trained and support to become 

comfortable with a degree of ambiguity and uncertainty in their work.  Often 
in this space students will seek to identify and gain what knowledge they 
may need or seek to make connections with someone who might bring this 
unique skill set to the project being worked on.  The Fashion and Technology 
students generally are curious while they may recognize their limits of 
knowledge, will seek out ways to overcome limits when needed. 

 Professional Capacity/Autonomy 
o Understanding the transferability of skills within the fashion industry, and 

well as in a greater context is a main focus of the professional practices 
course and a theme throughout the program.  Students are regularly asked 
to apply their skills and knowledge in a range of ways, while also working 
and collaborating with peers. 

 
To be in compliance with KPU policy AC14 updates, we will need to identify courses for 
students to meet a writing-intensive (WI) requirement, and a quantitative requirement 
(QUAN).  Once program curriculum has been addressed to maintain currency and 
relevancy, we may seek approval of FASN courses to meet these requirements.  The 
program currently meets the University Writing Instruction requirement with all fashion 
students being required to take course ENGL 1100 Introduction to University Writing by 
their second year.  Additional wording will also need to be shared with students to ensure 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 28 

 

 

that they are able to meet the breadth requirement of baccalaureate degree programs 
within the elective credit requirements. 

Admissions and Prerequisites 

Admission to this selective entry program requires that applicants meet KPU requirements, 
as well as submit an entrance portfolio.  Applicants upload their portfolio items initially in 
SlideRoom, a portfolio assessment platform that is used by all programs in the Wilson 
School of Design and many art and design schools across North America, and then take part 
in an interview before they are ranked and recommended for a seat in the program.  An 
overview of SlideRoom may be found in Appendix 14.   
 
Prior to the global pandemic, once applicants had submitted a completed portfolio through 
SlideRoom, they were then invited to campus for a portfolio assessment and in-person 
interview.  This assessment and interview was conducted by two faculty members and 
resulted in a score which was used to rank applicants.  Starting in March 2020, applicant 
portfolios were assessed in SlideRoom by two or three faculty members, and then a virtual 
interview was scheduled with the program chair.  During this interview, the program chair 
and applicant had a conversation around the portfolio items that were submitted, and why 
the applicant felt that the Fashion and Technology program was the correct fit for them.  
After an interview, all applicants are ranked based on portfolio scores and interviews and 
recommendations are submitted to KPU Admissions for seat offers to the program 
accordingly.   
 
For Fall 2021, intake applicant portfolios were assessed by three faculty members within 
SlideRoom, with a virtual interview taking place with the program chair.  We are continuing 
to assess what this process may look like in the future when we are able to be on-site and 
welcome visitors, and applicants, back to campus. 
 

The requested applicant entry portfolio consists of: 

 Statement of Interest (Please see Appendix 4a for the questions applicants 
are asked to address) 

o For Fall 2021 intake, this shifted from a general ‘share your interest 
in the fashion program’ to a more form-based format.  This shift in 
format has resulted in applicants sharing greater depth and clarity 
on their interests in pursing fashion education with KPU. 

 A current CV/Resume 

 Two References – It is asked that one reference be academic and the other 
be personal.  (Please see Appendix 4b for the questions references are asked 
to address regarding the applicant) 

o For Fall 2021 intake, this shifted from a request for reference letters, 
to a form-based format that references complete through 
SlideRoom.  This shift in format has resulted in more in-depth 
feedback and information shared regarding applicants and their 
perceived ability to be successful in the program. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 29 

 

 

 Two Art or Design Examples – These are to be accompanied by rationale and 
analysis, touching on why the applicant chose to include the components, 
and the thought behind creating the components.  These examples might 
include paintings, sculpture, jewelry, garments, and more.   

 Sketchbook – 8-10 pages are requested for SlideRoom upload.  It is asked 
that these pages are current and show a frequency of work. 

  Two Sewn Garments - One of these garments is a specified classic collared 
shirt, and the other is a garment of the applicant’s choice.   

o The specified collared shirt allows the fashion faculty to have a 
common garment to assess applicants on.  For many applicants this 
is the first shirt of this nature that they have ever sewn before and 
for some applicants this is the first garment that they have sewn. 

o For the second garment, applicants are encouraged to demonstrate 
their technical skills, and it is suggested they include components 
such as zippers, pockets, lining, and other finishing details.  

 
While the majority of applicants have no concerns meeting the bulk of these requirements, 
since the implementation of the SlideRoom platform, we are noticing that we have 
approximately a 50% conversion rate of those who apply to the program and those who 
actually submit a portfolio.  The program assistant and KPU Future Students’ Office follow 
up with applicants several times to share instructions and provide reminders and support 
if needed.  Despite following up with these applicants, we have yet to fully understand why 
they may have chosen to abandon their application. 
 
 The most common portfolio challenge for select applicants at this time appears to be the 
sewn components.  For some applicants, these are the first garments that they have ever 
sewn, and this seems to be connected to a reduced number of clothing and fashion courses 
offered at the secondary level, and students opting to register for these courses.  To help 
support applicants in developing foundational technical skills before entry into the 
program, it is recommended that KPU provide additional learning opportunities in the form 
of introductory Wilson School of Design courses, potentially including sewing, design, and 
pattern drafting, as either DESN designated courses, as CPS courses, or as Micro 
Credentials. 
 
Applicants seeking advanced entry to the program are asked for similar, and additional 
portfolio items then those seeking first year entry.  As those seeking advanced entry are 
currently assessed in a PLAR model when entering KPU, we ask to see portfolio items that 
align with course outcomes for courses they are seeking credit for.  Assessing these 
portfolio items, as well as a student’s transcript if they have completed foundational course 
work elsewhere, and an interview all build together to create an understanding of where 
the applicant might step into the program and find the most success in their learning. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 30 

 

 

Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum 

Students concur that they are developing prescribed learning outcomes, from a moderate 
to large extent, with potential for some areas of improvement needed in body-type 
inclusivity, machinery knowledge, digital file optimization, business model varieties, 
anthropometry, on-site work application of skills, working with networks and contacts, and 
numeracy.  53% of students are very satisfied, and 41% somewhat satisfied with program 
curriculum (Student Survey Q28). 
 
Strengths of the program were cited as being: 

 Classmates and faculty 

 Industry relevant projects and connections to the industry 

 Guest speakers 

 Learning links between program courses 

 Variety of skills learned and gained 

 International exchange opportunities 

 Small class sizes (program has a cohort of 22 students) and the resulting supportive 
learning atmosphere 

(Student Survey, Q29) 
 
Diversity of course topics was rated as adequate to excellent by students.  Specific student 
comments are very diverse and typically reflect the individual interests of students, thus 
supporting the notion of the generalist degree.  These comments vary from more 
technology to more surface design therefore they are not easily grouped into categories.  
Currently 53% of students have cited the program having an adequate offering of topics, 
and 47% report there being an excellent diversity of course topics (Student Survey Q16).  
Balancing the needs of all students in meeting entry level requirements for a variety of 
positions throughout the various sectors of the industry may be addressed through a 
specialization opportunity in upper-level courses, to better support students in making 
choices that support their professional aspirations. 
 
In reference to the Fashion and Technology program as a whole, students shared the 
following levels of satisfaction in regard to the following aspects (Q15 of student survey): 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 31 

 

 

 
 
When asked what students would like to see more of in the fashion program the 
following was shared: 

 Wearable technology 

 Sustainable design frameworks including circular design 

 Enhanced creative design opportunities, creative growth 

 Business and entrepreneurship 

 3D rendering and design 

 Design and drafting for diverse body types (ex. Plus Size) fashion futures 

 More of a global approach and focus to fashion 

 Couture – design and making concepts 

 Digital communication 

 Lingerie 
(Student Survey, Q18) 

 
The above list echoes many of the suggested areas for improvement cited by students: 

 Increased diversity in body types, sizes, and genders 

 Enhanced areas for artistic and creative exploration 

 Introduction of a co-op option for work experience 

 Additional digital communication topics and 3D rendering and design 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 32 

 

 

 Additional guest speakers and industry involvement 

 Fashion focused elective courses where students might personalize their 
education 

 Less emphasis on technical aspects, and more opportunities for creative design 

 Greater opportunities to collaborate with other students across KPU 

 Further exploration of sustainability, low environmental impact design and 
manufacturing processes 

(Student Survey, Q17) 
 
The list is not exhaustive of what students would like to see more of in the degree program, 
and this list is much longer than the few comments about what they would like to see less 
of.  This is consistent with feedback from our industry.  This feedback suggests that the 
development of paths for specialization within the degree, and further investigating a 
Master in Design, are well-supported pursuits for KPU to support the apparel industry. 

Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum 

Faculty concur that students are developing prescribed learning outcomes with potential 
for some areas of improvement in adaptability, sustainability and ethics, and body-type 
inclusivity concepts.  This is shown through the following survey results in answer to the 
question, to what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping students develop 
the following learning outcomes (Faculty Survey, Q1): 
 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 33 

 

 

 
Faculty agree that they are somewhat to very satisfied (totaling 92%) with current program 
curriculum (Faculty Survey Q38). Although varied, faculty recommendations include a 
variety of technologies be added into the curriculum such as 3D, more CAD, and wearable 
technologies.    
  
Areas for improvement in the curriculum are widely varied based on individual comments, 
and echo many of the same areas mentioned by students.  Suggestions include: 

 Increased incorporation of indigenous content  

 Increased technology and software (3D and virtual Reality technologies)  

 Iterative design and prototyping opportunities, rather than finished packaged 
project outcomes 

 More practice with technical drawing 

 Enhanced industry collaboration 

 Options for specialization in the program 

 Visual communication 

 Advanced drawing skills 

 e-Commerce 

 Enhanced diversity in global fashion history 

 Working with an increased array of body types and sizes 

 Increased work with digital pattern making 

 Design futures 

 Sustainable design practices, garment life cycles 

 Enhanced knowledge in menswear and knitwear 

 Fashion & Design entrepreneurship 

 Find Handcraft skills 
(Faculty Survey Q40) 

 
The majority of the Fashion and Technology faculty team have been part of the program 
for a number of years and have been present through various program iterations.  This 
wealth of experience lends added perspective and background to the changes that have 
taken place and why, and the changes that might take place through the next iteration.   

Career/Further Education Preparedness  

Career Pathways 

Upon graduating from the Fashion and Technology program, alumni often seek 
employment in the local Vancouver area apparel industry, while some alumni also gain 
employment internationally.  In the Vancouver, and greater Vancouver area we have many 
globally recognized brands based here that alumni work with: Arc’teryx, lululemon, and 
Mustang Survival are just a few.  Alumni also may be found in more locally recognized 
brands, or be founders of growing brands such as Noctex, Revol Undies, and FORTIV.  Roles 
that alumni hold in the industry may be found in Appendix 15a, with some of the alumni 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 34 

 

 

founded companies listed in Appendix 15b.  While we have done our best to capture the 
range in roles and companies neither of these lists are exhaustive of the many positions 
that alumni hold. 
 
Job titles that alumni hold include but are not limited to:  

 Design Assistant 

 Designer  

 Technical Designer 

 Entrepreneur/Founder 

 Technical (Product) Developer 

 Design Manager 

 Pattern Maker 

 Production Assistant 

 Stylist 

 Supervisor 

 Sale Representative 

 Sourcing Coordinator 

 Assistant Print Developer 

 Product Assembly Specialist 

 Project Manager 

 Associate Manager (Retail) 

 Product Developer 

 Associate Designer 

 Virtual Image Creation Engineer 

 Educator 

 Product Integrity Associate 

 Developer Content Creator 
 
With the education gained in the Fashion & Technology program, the majority of students 
are able to gain entry level positions upon graduation. 
 
In some instances, alumni seek to pursue a career in education, applying for the UBC 
Bachelor of Education program and becoming a home economics teacher.  KPU Fashion 
and Technology alumni who have pursued this pathway work in a number of the 
Vancouver, greater Vancouver, and BC based school districts including Delta School District, 
Chilliwack School District, and Coquitlam School District.  To support this career path KPU 
and UBC have a pathway in place, a document providing an overview of this pathway may 
be found in Appendix 16, so that current students may take electives to meet both KPU 
Fashion and Technology program requirements, and UBC Bachelor of Education entrance 
requirements.  

Alumni Preparedness for Work/Further Education  

Alumni responses ranged between strongly agree to strongly disagree in reference for how 

prepared students were based on the education that they received.  Many answers given 

in response to preparedness did fall within strongly agree to somewhat agree as seen in 

the below chart.  Over all 35% of alumni are very satisfied that the KPU Fashion & 

Technology program prepared them for work and/or further education with 45% being 

somewhat satisfied.  The responses shared for strongly disagree in preparedness merit 

additional attention to better understand and address in curricular updates. 

# Question 
Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither 
agree nor 

disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree 

Total 

1 
The program prepared me for the 

career I wanted 
8% 12% 14% 39% 27% 49 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 35 

 

 

2 
The program prepared me for 

further education 
6% 10% 24% 29% 31% 49 

3 
The time I invested in my Fashion 
& Technology education was well 

spent 
6% 6% 6% 27% 55% 49 

4 
The money I invested in my 

Fashion & Technology education 
was well spent 

8% 8% 10% 43% 31% 49 

5 

The program provided me with 
opportunities to develop 

connections with 
industry/potential employers 

10% 16% 10% 35% 29% 49 

(Alumni Survey Q19) 

Upon graduation and entry into the industry many alumni stay in regular contact with 

faculty and are often relied on as guest speakers and to mentor fourth year students as 

they look toward and plan for graduation.  73% of alumni respondents are currently 

employed, with 74% in a full-time regular position (Alumni Survey, Q23, Q24).  

 

Alumni who have gained employment within the fashion industry hold the following roles.  

Note that this list is not exhaustive of all alumni roles:  

 Assistant technical developer 

 Product Developer 

 Apparel Product Developer 

 Junior Product Developer 

 Technical Developer 

 Entrepreneur 

 Head Designer 

 Independent Designer 

 Design Director 

 Pattern Grader 

 Pattern Designer 

 Brand Manager 

 Production Manager 

 Visual Specialist 

 Design Assistant 

 Technical Designer 

 Production Assistant 

 Costume Designer 

 Product Assembly Lead 

 R&D Designer 

 Pattern Engineer 

 

65% of alumni are employed in the local Vancouver apparel industry.  Companies that 

they work with, include, but are not limited to:

 Lululemon 

 CYC Design Corp. 

 Gentle Fawn 

 Davie & Chiyo 

 Brunette the Label 

 Spanx 

 Revol Girl Lingerie Inc  

 Made Apparel Inc. 

 Arc’teryx 

 Play On Trading 

 Aritzia 

 Apparel Mark 

 Noel Asmar Group 

 Econic Appare 

 Warner Bros. & Netflix 

 Mustang Survival 

 Aqua Lung 

(Alumni Survey, Q26) 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 36 

 

 

Only 20% of alumni respondents have pursued further education post-graduation (Alumni 

Survey, Q30).  With 57% of alumni earning a diploma since their completion of the fashion 

program (Alumni Survey, Q23).   

Areas of further education studies included: 

 General Business Studies 

 Justice Institute of BC (Police Academy) 

 UX Design 

 Administration 

 Psychology 

 Leadership 

 MBA 

 Bachelor of Education 

(Alumni Survey, Q31) 

 

While there were a range of answers shared in relation to preparedness and development 

of program competencies, the majority of answers were focused in feeling prepared to a 

large extent or a moderate extent (Alumni Survey, Q20).  The areas cited for further 

competency preparedness by alumni include:  

 Technological Skills (13% cited being prepared by a small extent with 48% cited 

being prepared a moderate extent) 

 Apparel Production Knowledge (22% cited being prepared by a small extent) 

 Global Awareness (33% cited being prepared by a small extent with 33% cited being 

prepared a moderate extent) 

(Alumni Survey, Q3, Q4) 

Alumni also shared a range of answers for how the program assists in developing essential 

skills.  Answers, and their ranges are shared in the below table.  What is interesting to note 

is that despite students engaging in hands on pattern drafting methodology and with CAD 

software, requiring that they work with measurements, equations, and numeracy, is that 

19% of respondents shared that they didn’t feel the program aided in developing essential 

numeracy skills.  Another interesting result is that That 15% of respondents shared that 

they don’t feel the program helped to develop reading comprehension.  With the 

implementation of the current curriculum in 2017 additional written components were 

integrated into courses with students being asked to write formal academic essays in parts 

of the program, and where appropriate to conduct research to support projects, 

assignments, and work.  As both numeracy skills and reading comprehension results are 

notable, they have provided cause for pause, and to further reflect on current activities 

within.  We feel that they merit further investigation to understand why alumni might feel 

this way. Based on the answers shared we will look for ways to enhance reading 

comprehension and numeracy skills in curriculum revisions, while also exploring ways to 

enhance the other essential skills. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 37 

 

 

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 2% 24% 37% 37% 54 

2 Written communication 4% 30% 41% 26% 54 

3 Reading comprehension 15% 35% 31% 19% 54 

4 Group collaboration 2% 13% 35% 50% 54 

5 Critical analysis 4% 13% 33% 50% 54 

6 Leadership skills 6% 22% 44% 28% 54 

7 Numeracy skills 19% 45% 25% 11% 53 

(Alumni Survey, Q5) 

 

While some of the alumni surveyed have experienced curriculum updates that took effect 

in Fall 2017, others may have graduated in advance of this.  28% of alumni reported 

‘excellent’ in regard to diversity of program topics, 59% noted there was adequate offerings 

and 13% reporting there were inadequate topics (Alumni Survey, Q6).  To appropriately 

address this feedback, learning streams within the fashion program are suggested to 

enable students to have personalization options in their education and ultimately in their 

career direction.  Topics and areas that alumni currently feel that are missing from the 

current program include: 

 Knit Garments (Fully Fashioned and Seamless) 

 Sustainable practices and Materials, environmental awareness 

 In Depth textile science knowledge 

 Design entrepreneurship 

 Sourcing 

 Raw material 

 Quality Control 

 Working with factories and mills for textile and garment production  

 Communicating with overseas vendors, manufacturing overseas 

 Development and standards for industry ready technical specification packages 

 Fashion sketching 

 Business of Fashion 

 Freelancing and consulting work 

 Gerber 

 3D Rending and Design 

 Social & Cultural Conversations and their relation to fashion 

 Traditional manufacturing techniques such as couture and hand tailoring 

(Alumni Survey, Q7) 

Topics that were mentioned multiple times include the concept of sustainability and 

environmental awareness, knowledge covering 3D design, and practicum.  Alumni would 

like the industry work experience to be longer to enable students to have a greater in-depth 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 38 

 

 

experience (Alumni Survey, Q12).  The current practicum of 120 hours aligns with the 3-

credit course in which it currently sits.  To best meet alumni demand, we envision this work 

experience shifting to a co-op, paid experience where students might have longer 

placements that potentially occur over summer semesters. 

Alumni in the survey were asked about having a travel component integrated into the 

program.  Prior to implementation of the updated curriculum in 2017, we offered a trip to 

New York for students that took place every second year after the completion of the spring 

semester.  This trip was not for credit, but rather students enthusiastically signed up and 

participated as an option to travel with peers and explore a fashion capital of the world.  

Alumni were somewhat split on integrating a mandatory travel component (Alumni Survey, 

Q9), a question also posed to students (Student Survey, Q25) and industry members 

(Discipline/Sector Survey, Q13).  While the response rates across the groups surveyed were 

similar, something that speaks to further investigation needed, there were also financial 

concerns highlighted with making this a mandatory component of the program.  Overall 

the responses shared that it is strongly felt that integrating optional travel opportunities 

into the program would be a benefit for students.  Integrating additional travel 

opportunities for students may also touch on global awareness skills and provide greater 

understanding of the fashion industry in a global context, while broadening classroom 

learning. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 39 

 

 

Discipline/Sector Feedback 

Many of the skills and knowledge that industry members shared regarding an entry-level 
applicant having in order to be hired are currently touched on in current program 
curriculum.  Most of what industry members have shared might be categorized as ‘soft’ 
skills: attention to detail, engagement, a willingness to try, presentation skills, curiosity, 
creative problem solving, resiliency, self-advocate and be self-motivated, be willing to 
adapt, have confidence, flexible, and have an open mind (Discipline/Sector Survey, Q2, Q3, 
Q4).  While these skills are integrated in multiple ways throughout courses, students often 
gain an enhanced understanding of the importance of these skills once they have taken 
part in work experiences. 

In regard to the current practicum placement, industry respondents, many who may have 
been or be involved in the practicum program, suggest that this work experience might 
take place in the last year of the degree program (Discipline/Sector Survey Q16), and this 
is also something that was echoed by alumni as well so that it creates a seamless entry into 
a post-graduation job (Alumni Survey Q13). 

The idea of providing students with program learning streams to personalize their 
education is supported by 94% of industry respondents (Discipline/Sector Survey Q17).  
When asked the same question, alumni responded with 84% in favor of this shift (Alumni 
Survey, Q14). 

Curriculum Development and Review Processes 

This Spring 2021 semester, we had our first graduating group who has gone through the 
entire program with the updated curriculum that was a result of the previous program 
review.  After the initial changes were implemented in 2017, there were a few immediate 
minor curriculum edits that addressed some initial learning activity and course content 
challenges that became obvious.  Since that time, faculty have continued with curriculum 
as is, regularly asking students and advisory committee members for feedback, noting 
where further changes may be needed that might be addressed through this program 
review.  
 
Through biannual meetings with our advisory committee, guest speakers, field trips, and 
industry connections, we ensure that program curriculum currency and relevancy is 
maintained.  Faculty members regularly attend industry-based events, both virtual and in 
person.  Through connections forged at these events, and maintained beyond, we hear of 
industry updates, shifts and changes. When shared, information about these industry 
shifts, and changes further inform revisions to programming as a way to enhance student 
awareness and knowledge. 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 40 

 

 

A valuable piece involved in curriculum development, and maintaining currency and 
relevancy is the workplace practicum placements which currently takes place in the third 
year of the program.  We have worked with many of these companies for several years and 
many of these companies have hired alumni of the program.  Having students working with 
local companies provides them with practical career application of knowledge gained, and 
it also provides companies with a sense of the many skills, abilities and knowledge gained 
throughout students’ education to date.  Awareness of this skill set, along with direct 
connection with faculty allow industry to share relevant and current feedback if students 
need further skill development in specific areas. 
 
Industry members shared the following for what may be ‘missing’ from the program, and 
in turn, what may be added: 

 focus should be more on communicating design ideas, managing production and 
growing a business and less on pattern making and sewing. 

 workshops where students of all levels can work on, and work through projects, and 
share in a collaborative environment. 

 commercial aspects of how to cost garments - understanding the costs, timings and 
minimums involved with development and production and how to come up with 
the end retail price of a garments. 

 More focus on overseas production and truly understanding full product lifecycles. 

 More focus for students who want to work either as an entrepreneur or for big 
companies. An option of courses specializing in these areas depending on their 
focus. 

 Sustainability and sustainable manufacturing processes 

 conceptual thinking within the design process for those students that want to 
become designers 

 Materials development 

 Longer practicum hours 

 Increased textiles knowledge including wash and dye processes 

 Ethical sourcing and social compliance, supply chain control, transparency, and 
traceability 

 3D design (CLO3D or Browzewear) 
(Discipline/Sector Survey, Q9, Q10) 

 
While much feedback has been shared by industry members and alumni of what should be 
added to the program, the most common response to what might be reduced or removed 
is ‘nothing’ (Disciple/Sector Survey Q11).  These responses put us as faculty, when 
considering how program curriculum might shift, in an interesting position.  The challenge 
is then to determine the most effective way that students might have additional options 
for gaining fashion focused learning, yet not miss out on anything to ensure their industry 
readiness. 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 41 

 

 

Since the onset of the global pandemic, sweeping changes have taken place in just about 
every industry since March 2020.  The fashion industry itself has seen a number of changes, 
both locally and globally.  Through regular check-ins with local industry partners, updates 
shared from the BC Apparel and Gear Association, and attending virtual webinars and 
conferences with international perspectives, we feel that we have a good sense on the 
direction that this fluid industry may be heading in post-pandemic.  We are now in need of 
the flexibility to move quickly enough to adapt and ensure our graduates continue to gain 
the skills and knowledge needed to find success. 

Summary and Recommendations 

The list of what students and industry partners would like to see more of in the program is 
much longer than suggested items for removal.  Many responses to these questions return 
with an exhaustive list of additional topics for inclusion and the response that there should 
be nothing removed.  These suggestions are supportive of introducing streams of learning 
specialization in the fashion program, and calls for further research into a potential 
Master’s program to support these learners and the local industry needs. 
 
Throughout all survey feedback, it was also quite clear that there is demand for a longer 
practicum, or even the introduction of a co-op to further support students in their learning 
and education.  Main themes for additional topics to be included in the program include 
greater exploration of sustainability in reference to environmental concerns, and 3D 
design.  It was also strongly supported that students have additional travel options that are 
fashion focused during their education.  
 
Based off feedback shared through surveys, and anecdotally throughout program activities, 
the below list of recommendations serve to address shifts that we might initiate and further 
investigate to ensure the program’s relevancy and graduates readiness for industry roles. 
 

 Create additional opportunities for applicants to gain foundational knowledge in 
design and construction to find success when assembling an entry portfolio 

 Identify FASN courses or KPU courses part of the Fashion and Technology Program 
to meet the Writing-Intensive Requirement and Quantitative Requirement for 
compliance with Policy AC 14. 

o As of writing this report a writing-intensive definition, and designation 
requirements has yet to be approved by KPU Senate. 

 Enhance reading comprehension and numeracy skills within program 

 Implement additional 3D modeling technology into curriculum and provide 
opportunities for students to work with software such as CLO3D 

 Inclusion of additional knowledge spaces (design, production, etc.) for students to 
explore body type inclusivity, diversity and equity (ex. non-binary, plus size, 
transgender) 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 42 

 

 

 Increase opportunities for students to explore iterative design and prototyping, 
along with finished packages.  

 Decolonize curriculum, while fostering Indigenous design practices to better align 
with goals set out in KPU Vision 2023 (Appendix 17) 

o Include indigenous consultation while planning curriculum updates that 
touch on this knowledge area 

o Include Indigenous guest speakers or guest lecturers  

 Create an OER exploring the many different career pathways available in the fashion 
industry and job descriptions for student reference.  

 Continue work on Sewing focused OER (this project was started Fall 2020) 

 Start work on a pattern drafting focused OER 

 Integrate additional travel opportunities into the program for students 

 With the shift to embrace Optitex as KPU’s CAD software, some companies have 
cited concerns over the lack of students receiving Gerber training.  Seek to create 
partnerships with industry companies so that Gerber training might be supported.   

 Research feasibility of Master of Design: Fashion & Technology  

 Build on current practicum program by increasing work experience opportunities 
within the program through: 

o (Paid) Internships with industry partners 
o KPU Co-op supported placements  

 Develop a DESN course for students transitioning to post-secondary education  
o Similar to KPU 101, but in design focused and in a credit bearing, required 

course (see reference course from North Carolina in Appendix 18) 
 

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 43 

 

 

 Quality of Instructional Design 

Delivery Modes 

Many courses in the Fashion and Technology program are a mix of lab and lecture.  This 
course structure allows us to engage in content with students while allowing them space 
to explore hands-on learning.  With much content in the Fashion and Technology program 
having a tactile aspect, students regularly engage with learning in hands-on and 
interdisciplinary ways that are faculty supported.  While faculty members may not engage 
often in lecturing in a traditional way, the time, effort and degree of depth of planning and 
learning that is incorporated within lab components is significant.   
 
With the requirements to alter and shift teaching modes and delivery this past year as a 
result of the global pandemic, faculty are currently assessing the most suitable assortment 
for online, blended, and in-person courses to best support learning experiences.  59% of 
students shared that the prefer courses that are a combination of face-to-face and online, 
with 47% preferring face-to-face only delivery (Student Survey, Q32).  Students also shared 
that if engaging in an online course, 91% prefer a combination of synchronous and 
asynchronous content (Student Survey, Q33).  A highlight of learning this past year that was 
echoed by many, when most courses were shifted online, was the flexibility that this type 
of learning provided; flexibility in managing a schedule, ability to re-watching lectures, 
deadlines not being tied to specific course times.  Outside of curriculum or course content 
and learning activities, the main highlights mentioned were the lack of travel and transit 
needed to get to campus to learn, and the course kits that were put together by faculty and 
mailed to students in advance of the semester to support their learning (Student Survey, 
Q34). 
 
The shift to online learning also brought challenges for students and faculty alike.  The main 
challenge cited was learning in a virtual setting for a hands-on program.  This included lack 
of access to campus, lack of access to machinery, the inability to pose questions to faculty 
in real time and face-to-face settings and adapting to an online and virtual setting with very 
little time to plan (Student Survey, Q35).  While this past year was a challenge for all, we 
believe that the forced shifts have answered many questions about what type of content 
might shift to virtual settings most effectively, while gaining additional understanding 
about possibilities as we look to plan for the future. 
 
The Fashion & Technology program has a foundation of experiential learning, where all 
courses have components of learning by doing and learning through doing. Experiential 
learning, as a form of transformative pedagogy, provides a platform for learning to occur 
both within and outside of the classroom, and is a platform for students to learn through 
trial and error (Dewey, 1930). Through experiential learning activities, students may gain 
further understanding of real-life application of classroom content while further 
understanding the context of knowledge in everyday life. Experiential learning activities 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 44 

 

 

might consist of work or practicum placements, guest speakers, and hands-on work where 
students are provided opportunities to be active participants through firsthand learning, 
all of which are currently incorporated into the program. 
 
The diverse nature of design education allows for students with a range of learning styles 
to find success.  While we do have students who work with the KPU Learning Centre to 
receive learning accommodations which are then confidentially shared with faculty, being 
able to support students with these accommodations is manageable.  Where there is 
greater need to manage accommodations is through clearer lines of communication 
required by learning strategists to develop accommodations with faculty consultation; 
often these accommodations are focused on a traditionally ‘academic’ classroom and do 
not always align with the activities taking place within the WSD.  This feedback was not 
gathered through survey data, but rather anecdotally through faculty conversations, 
meetings and general conversations about how best to support those with learning 
accommodations. 
 
While physical safety is of concern within our lab spaces, appropriate machinery and 
equipment training is required of all students.  The majority of this training occurs within 
the classroom, with ad-hoc training for use of machinery such as working with the laser 
cutter that takes place outside of scheduled courses.  Having more formalized training set 
up for all machines outside of course times, in addition to virtual how-to resources would 
be a benefit for students, ensuring that they are receiving consistent training, while also 
shifting the focus in the classroom back to curriculum.   
 
Faculty are very aware of the emotional safety of our students.  Being located within the 
WSD, and working within the design field, we find that our students are incredibly invested 
in their work and often have strong emotional ties to what they are working on.  When the 
situation calls for it, faculty will fill out / file an Early Alert for a student or refer them to 
KPU counselling services.  Early Alert is a KPU supported system that serves to provide 
students with additional supports as needed to help them find learning success.  Referring 
a student to Early Alert and KPU counseling are met with varying degrees of success 
depending on the student.   
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 45 

 

 

When asked, students shared the following responses regarding their satisfaction with 
program delivery (Student Survey, Q31): 

 

Where there appears to be the most room for improvement is in the ability to 
accommodate diverse learning styles.  With this answer we acknowledge that it is hard to 
evaluate this response fully without additional context.  Including additional student 
feedback and insight during the curriculum update process may be of benefit to ensure 
that the student perspective is maintained. 

When faculty were asked to share their satisfaction in how the program is delivered, the 
following answers were shared (Faculty Survey, Q5): 
 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 46 

 

 

 
Similar to student responses, faculty also feel that there is greater need to accommodate 
diverse learning styles.  An area highlighted for further investigation is that 17% of faculty 
are somewhat dissatisfied with current opportunities for experiential learning. (Faculty 
Survey, Q5).  When proceeding to curriculum updates in the program review process we 
aim to further understand what this response may mean and how additional opportunities 
might be integrated into the program to best serve learners. 

Assessment Methods 

Many assignments in the program take the form of projects, allowing students to 
demonstrate their depth of understanding course content.  Our small class size (max. 22) 
allows faculty to provide ample feedback for students, through both formative and 
summative assessment.  These projects are typically supported by rubrics with detailed 
criteria, assessment tables with requirements, and/or guidelines for assignment 
requirements.  As the program and curriculum has evolved over time, we have shifted 
toward assessing students for process and understanding, as opposed to final project 
completion.  Faculty members regularly have one-on-ones set up with students to support 
the learning process, and share direct, student specific feedback.  During this past year with 
much learning taking place online some faculty worked with students in small peer groups 
or breakout rooms to provide students with project and learning specific feedback.   
 
Within the Fashion and Technology program courses we also regularly have Learner 
Contribution as an assessment item.  Assessment for this line item often takes the form of 
how engaged a student might be in their learning; are they regularly on-time and present 
in class, are they prepared to learn with all resources, if a student is given a responsibility 
such as lab duties at the end of class is it completed, and how focused a student might have 
been during class time. 

Student Experience 

Grade Distribution 

The tables below share grade distribution across the program throughout the Fall (top) and 
Spring (bottom) semester (Admin Data Report).  This chart includes grade distribution from 
the 2016/2017 academic year through to the Fall 2020/2021 semester.  Note that as of 
writing this report data for the Spring 2021 semester is not yet available.  Grade distribution 
is based on all unique FASN courses.  Faculty do their very best to work with students who 
may be having challenges to provide support and connect them with other areas of the 
university when needed so that they might achieve learning success. Students are required 
to have a minimum of 60% in courses that might be classified as a prerequisite for the next 
level. 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 47 

 

 

This grade distribution is considered an accurate representation of students’ skills and 
abilities and is appropriate for the program.  Typically, those who encounter the most 
challenges in their learning are first year students and this is often a reflection of 
underdeveloped time management, and project management skills.  Faculty, when 
working with a student who is struggling will offer multiple ways to support these learners. 

 

 
 

Drop, fail, withdrawal (DFW) rates are low in this selective entry program, and we believe 
that this is a result of the required portfolio and interview process required of applicants, 
in addition to meeting general KPU requirements.  The data below spans from the 
2016/2017 academic year to the current one.  

It has been noted that the withdrawal rate in Fall 2020 does jump up slightly to 6% and this 
is understood to reflect the learning challenges that came with the shift to remote learning 
as a result of the global pandemic.  It should also be noted that with the onset of the global 
pandemic the withdrawal date was shifted to the last day of the semester and continues 
to remain at that point as of writing this report.  With this continued shift we may continue 
to see an increase in withdrawal rates vs. ‘fail’ grades as student opt to receive a ‘W’ instead 
of a grade below 60%.  In general, the students who withdrew from Fall 2020 Fashion and 
Technology courses citing global pandemic challenges are planning to retake these courses 
in the Fall 2021 semester. 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 48 

 

 

 

Based on student feedback collected through the surveys, there are greater improvements 
to be made in the areas of clarifying how students will be evaluated (19% are somewhat 
dissatisfied, with 48% somewhat satisfied), the consistency of assessment standards 
throughout the program (13% are somewhat dissatisfied and neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied), and the feedback that is provided (10% somewhat dissatisfied with 13% 
neither satisfied nor dissatisfied) (Student Survey, Q37). 

Retention and Graduation Rates 

Retention for the Fashion and Technology program is high beyond first year as mentioned 
earlier in this report.  This high retention rate is most likely due to the application process 
and inclusion of a specific program focused portfolio.  Through the application, portfolio, 
and interview process, faculty aim to ensure that all students who receive an offer to the 
program are a good fit and have a realistic understanding of the education they will be 
receiving. 
 
The program also has a capped intake and maximum class size of 22.  This small class size 
enables students to build community amongst themselves, often forming life-long 
friendships, while also allowing for faculty to spend time with students to check for 
understanding and provide formative feedback on the learning process when needed. 
 
As the Fashion and Technology courses are only offered once per year, if a student finds 
they are not initially successful, they are required to wait a year before reattempting the 
course.  This does hold students back, and for some, this may cause a significant amount 
of stress as it adds time and expense to their expected education path.  Typically, when a 
student finds themselves in this position, it is recommended that they focus their energies 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 49 

 

 

in the interim on taking non-fashion courses to meet program elective requirements to fill 
their academic schedule. 
 
When students were asked how satisfied they were in regard to frequency and availability 
of core courses, and availability of electives, responses ranged from somewhat dissatisfied 
to very satisfied. This data leads us to believe that at this time, there is not a clear point of 
concern that needs to be addressed (Student Survey, Q38). 
 

 
 
Periodically a course that students seem to hit a bit of a roadblock is with ENGL 1100, 
Introduction to University Writing, in obtaining the minimum required grade of 60%.  It is 
suggested that students take this course in the fall semester of their second year, as it is a 
prerequisite for a course that they take in the Spring of their second year.  To give students 
additional time if they find that they are struggling with this course, it may be 
recommended that they aim to take the course during their first year of studies so that 
their program progression is not impacted. 
 
With the mandate to reduce the program to a single cohort, there will potentially be a class 
size barrier for program re-entry and completion for any students who chose to temporarily 
step out of the program   The reduction to a single cohort will also limit our ability to accept 
advanced entry students into the program, something which could potentially affect how 
the program is viewed by other educational institutions, and ultimately by the industry. 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 50 

 

 

Generally, all of the students who progress to fourth year then graduate the following 
Spring.  Those students who take slightly longer than their peers to graduate often aren’t 
held up by fashion courses, but rather have opted to take elective courses in semesters 
without fashion courses, for example over the summer.  The choice to take electives over 
the summer semester allows students to focus on core fashion courses during fall and 
spring semesters. 
 
Student Outcomes 
 
Students entering the Fashion and Technology program often aspire to work in the local 
apparel and fashion industry with an existing company, or to start their own business.  85% 
of students shared that the career prospects and earning potential influenced their 
decision to enroll in the program, with 61% sharing that the ability to obtain a fashion 
degree credential in Canada influencing their decision (Student Survey, Q4).   
 
Many of our students receive offers of employment upon completion of their practicum 
work experience, or from the contacts that they have gained leading up to graduation.  
Students, have received offers of employment from local companies, including Ten Tree, 
lululemon, Gentle Fawn, Westcomb, Arc’teryx, Paper Label, Hershel Supply Co., Aritzia, and 
many others.   
 
Local industry partners often get in touch with faculty members, sharing job posting 
requests for students or alumni recommendations, or specify the posting be shared with a 
certain group.  If alumni are encountering challenges finding employment, they are 
encouraged to keep in touch with faculty who are more than happy to provide support as 
needed, and also forward industry job postings as they are shared. 
 
Student Satisfaction with Instruction 
 
In reference to the quality and relevancy of course content, students shared that 39% are 
very satisfied, and 52% are somewhat satisfied (Student Survey, Q39).  In reference to the 
program as a whole, 58% are very satisfied with only 29% somewhat satisfied (Student 
Survey, Q40). 
 
Strengths of the program that were cited by students include: 

 Quality of instructors/faculty 

 Small class sizes (22 students) allowing for more personalized learning experiences 

 Able to communicate with faculty, and faculty availability 

 Industry engagement 

 Access to production labs (pre-COVID) 

 Video lectures and resources for reference 
(Student Survey, Q41) 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 51 

 

 

When asked to share suggested areas for improvement, student recommendations 
included: 

 Enhanced faculty-to-faculty communication regarding due dates 

 Enhanced clarity of project descriptions and expectations  

 Additional fashion focused elective courses 

 An increased diversity of faculty members 
(Student Survey, Q42) 

 
Some feedback for areas of improvement are KPU specific and reflective of the global 
pandemic shifts from this past academic year such as technical glitches with Moodle, and 
the ability to save videos from previous courses to then use as future references.  Other 
feedback highlighted is actionable within the program and may be addressed through WSD 
channels, such as additional access to production labs, or through program curricular 
updates. 

Faculty Experience 

Expertise and Qualifications 

Faculty bring with them a range of experiences, strengths, and qualifications.  The Fashion 
and Technology faculty team consists of the following member.  Full faculty team bios may 
be found in Appendix 19. 

 Alex Diaz 

 Eleanor Hannan 

 Evelyn May 

 Heather Clark 

 Jessica Bayntun 

 Lesley Pollard 

 Mary Androsiuk 

 Michael Pope 

 Sharon Greeno 

 Shirley Thompson 

 Stephanie Phillips 

 
When working with students, faculty bring with them their industry backgrounds, 
experiences, knowledge, and skill sets.  Faculty members have a range of education 
including Master of Education, Design and Textile Futures, with several of the team 
members also being alumni of the program.  This experience from being alumni of the 
Fashion and Technology program is often a strength as there is a common perspective and 
understanding shared of student outcomes and industry connections. 
 
While faculty member experiences and knowledge areas vary, the team shares a consistent 
drive and passion to provide students with supportive learning experiences to meet 
program outcomes, and their career goals. 
 
The faculty is supported with a 50% time-release for a program chair role, currently filled 
by Heather Clark (term August 2019 – August 2022), and program assistant, Blair 
MacDonald who splits her time between the Fashion and Technology program and the 
Fashion Marketing program.  Blair is also alumni of the program, has a wealth of industry 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 51 

 

 

experience and provides institutional and program support to both students and 
applicants.  Faculty and students are also supported by a Divisional Lab Coordinator, and 
two Divisional Lab Technicians with one of these technicians focusing their time on the 
production lab spaces, and the other technician focusing on the workshop space. The lab 
coordinator and technicians are essential to WSD learning activities, by ensuring that 
everything is in working order, and materials are well stocked.  Our Divisional Lab 
Coordinator has been spending the past year ensuring campus spaces have appropriate 
signage, and that supplies are well stocked to ensure cleanliness and safety of learning 
spaces, while also planning for an increased return to campus in the coming fall semester. 
 
Through professional development activities, faculty members self-select activities on 
which to build on and further their skills and knowledge.  As the fashion industry continues 
to rapidly evolve and shift, faculty members strive to ensure that their skill set maintains a 
level of currency and relevancy with the integration of new technology, and materials and 
process.  Faculty are supported in these activities through institutional PD funding 
opportunities. 
 
Faculty Satisfaction with Instruction 
 
When asked about satisfaction of instruction delivery across the program, faculty are 73% 
‘somewhat satisfied’.  This is consistent with faculty being generally ‘somewhat satisfied’ 
with instructional delivery as seen in the chart below in reference to specific categories.  
There is the greatest room for improvement with instructional methods that facilitate 
student learning with 18% of faculty ‘somewhat dissatisfied’. (Faculty Survey, Q7) 

 
 
 
Highlights of instructional delivery across the program faculty include the following: 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 52 

 

 

 Teamwork and communication 

 Connecting with industry members and include them within the classroom 

 Student driven and focused  

 Projects developed with a focus on understanding the process (vs. final finished 
product) 

 Hand-on learning 
(Faculty Survey, Q9) 

Areas for improvement that were suggested include: 

 Further connections and alignment between learning activities with course 
objectives and outcomes 

 More focus place on the iterative design process  

 Additional industry connected projects 

 Enhanced communication between faculty 

 Creating further clarity in assignment criteria 

 Maintaining faculty member currency with industry standard software 

 Additional field trips to enhance learning opportunities 

 Collaboratively scheduling course due dates 
(Faculty Survey, Q10) 

Summary and Recommendations 

The foundation and core of the Fashion and Technology program is experiential learning 
and learning in hands-on ways.  Further context may be gained through experiences, while 
also adding to someone’s prior understanding and background by providing a lens through 
which they view the world.  Experiences can aid in building student engagement with 
course content as they become further connected to their learning through personal 
experiences (Dewey, 1930; van Manen, 1977; Middlecamp, 2005).  While this past year was 
challenging for all involved with the shifts brought about by the global pandemic, significant 
learning has also taken place.  Through student feedback, and faculty experience, we have 
gained further understanding of what program knowledge might be taught in a blended or 
online format, and also identified that there may be learning ‘mode’ labels currently 
missing at an institutional level. 
 
What has come through clearly through student and faculty feedback is the need to further 
define project criteria so that all involved have a common understanding of expectations, 
while also ensuring that course learning activities align with course specific learning 
outcomes.  The fashion industry is a quickly moving one so it may be of benefit to students 
and their learning to seek out ways in which members of our local industry might be invited 
into courses as short-term contract faculty as their schedule allows to teach certain 
components of a course. 
 
Recommendations highlighted below touch on themes found within this chapter, while 
also seeking to maintain the core themes and tenets of the Fashion and Technology 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 53 

 

 

program.  These recommendations are supported through feedback shared in surveys, as 
well as insights gained while working with students and noting further areas for program 
improvement. 
 

 Ensure students continue to receive current quality of instruction and project 
specific personalized feedback.    

o This entails ensuring students remail supported as they learn haptic skills 
while understanding how to apply skills, knowledge, and information  

 Explore a wider variety of delivery mode options to meet the needs of the 21st 
century learner (lab, lecture, studio, in person, online, hybrid, etc.) 

 Shift recommendation to take ENGL 1100 to first year to provide students additional 
time if needed achieve the minimum grade (60%). 

 Students who struggle in first year courses typically do so with the hands-on 
technique driven courses such as pattern drafting and sewing due to limited 
experience in this area prior to starting the program. To address this, it is 
recommended that:  

o Further CPS courses or Micro Credential/Courses be developed so that 
potential applicants might take these courses to build on their skills and 
knowledge prior to entering the program so that they might find greater 
success once accepted 

o Have a formal peer to peer mentorship program set up within the program 
so that students having course content challenges might seek out peer 
support 

 Assess for additional sections of program specific courses to support the 
investigation of the possible inclusion of specialization streams  

 Increase lab access hours and support 
o Increase access and training to specialized machinery for students outside 

of class time 
o Increase hours that are supported by (paid) peer mentors and/or lab 

technicians for open lab access  
o Increase digital references (ex. A virtual library) of foundational skills in 

sewing, pattern drafting, and production knowledge to build on student 
learning in courses 

 A sewing focused OER is being worked on but needs a faculty time 
release for greater focused and dedicated work 

 Include industry members as course faculty in specific relevant courses 

 Build on collection of dress forms that reflect body inclusivity (gender and sizes)  

 Form a program student committee to provide feedback on proposed curriculum 
changes 

o This may be re-instating the WSD student experience committee 

 Explore what courses might shift to a EXP or MAS grading format to allow for greater 
spread of assignments throughout the semester, and allow for more focus on 
learning process vs. final product 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 54 

 

 

 Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

With the opening of the Wilson School of Design building on the Richmond Campus in 
January 2018, many fashion and apparel specific resources have been created for the 
growth of the students’ access to industry level production capabilities.  Housed primarily 
on the third floor of the Wilson School of Design, specialized machinery allows students to 
construct and prototype at an incredibly high level.  Alongside traditional sewing machines, 
we have increased our capabilities in the emerging production methods including laser 
cutting, ultrasonic welding and a collection of machinery that adheres fabric together with 
adhesives (Seam Sealers, Adhesive Laydown, and Seam-Tape edge binding machines). 
 
Further to the apparel specific manufacturing capabilities, students have access to a suite 
of textile testing machinery to establish the quality properties of their textiles, as well as 
the facilities of a Textile Dye and Print lab for the creation of surface design on existing 
textiles. 
 
There are 7 main lab spaces for apparel production in the Wilson School of Design building, 
and these spaces are shared with other design programming offered: 

0960 – Textile Dye & Print Lab 
0961 – Material Testing  
1910 – CAD computer lab with Pattern Plotter 
2980 – Resource Library and Photo Studio 
3920 – Patternmaking and Sewing Lab 
3960 – Patternmaking and Sewing Lab 
3980 - Specialty Apparel Production Lab 

 
There are several other spaces that are set-up for student use for apparel production, 
including an open studio area 3940, and open space appropriate for pattern drafting in 
0910.  A complete list of specialized machinery on campus is included in Appendix 21. 
 
Alongside the machinery that is maintained for student use with an in-house technician, 
students have access to a variety of textiles that are free to use.  These are donated from 
a variety of local industry partners, primarily from the technical apparel industry, and 
consist of high-quality performance textiles, materials and accessories. While not supplied 
by KPU, there is significant co-ordination necessary to receive, store and organize these 
supplies. 
 
Alongside the apparel specific resources, there are many general design resources students 
have access to including: 3D Printing, large scale color printing, design relevant software, a 
hard-goods workshop and spray booth. 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 55 

 

 

KPU resources outside of the Wilson School of Design come specifically from Career 
Services, Library, Advising, Counseling, IT, Finances and tutoring services/learning 
strategists. All students also have the full support and services of the Kwantlen Student 
Association (KSA). These services are provided to all students at KPU and are not specific to 
our area of teaching. 
 
Library 
With the support of the KPU library, the collection of apparel specific books has been 
curated by Denise Dale, librarian responsible for the WSD, and via faculty requests.  
Students have access to a fashion focused library guide through the KPU library website.  
There is a well-developed hard copy book collection that is regularly accessed by students, 
as well as journals and other resources that are available electronically.   
 
Denise welcomes book or resource requests and will do her best to procure items.  Course 
references have been compiled with faculty consultation into topics that fall under course 
specific names. 
 
Degree Advising 
With the support of Nick Bransford, our students have access to the services of Degree 
Advising with a design focused advisor.  Degree advising is quite important in this cohort 
program and is particularly critical to students that need to create an alternative program 
plan based on individual experience.  The services provided are that of a ½ time advisor 
(Nick Bransford) who also works as an advisor on behalf of the Faculty of Science and 
Horticulture, and the web portal ‘My Action Plan’. 
 
In the past few years, we have had an increase of students with individualized program 
plans due to varied student success in this single cohort program as well as an increase in 
advanced placement students.  A table highlighting this increase may be found in Appendix 
22.  These program plans are often quite complex and require more assistance from the 
office of Degree Advising.   
 
Counseling 
Counseling services offered by KPU for students are primarily individual counseling services 
for concerns as listed below or others, which are often ongoing and affect academics, sleep, 
or motivation: 

 Adjusting to university life and studies 

 Stress 

 Anxiety  

 Sadness 

 Feeling overwhelmed 

 Relationship troubles 

 Family issues 

 Loss and/or grief 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 56 

 

 

 Past experience of physical, sexual, or emotional violence 

 Other mental health challenges 

 Referrals from Early Alert 
 
KPU Counselors may also make referrals for specialized help if needed or provide referrals 
to external counseling support should students require ongoing support when choosing to 
step away from their studies or when they graduate.  KPU students also have access to a 
larger network of counselors through the services provided by Keepme.SAFE’s My SSP.  
“[This service] provides all KPU students with 24/7 access to a large, diverse network of 
professional counsellors to match your unique circumstances with a counsellor who 
understands these experiences, in your preferred language and culture. Counsellors can 
provide immediate support and referral to address a range of concerns.”  
(Retrieved from https://www.kpu.ca/counselling) 
 
Learning Centre 
The Learning Center and the support of Learning Strategists assist students with essential 
skills for university success. Students are regularly referred to learning strategists to gain 
additional support in time management, project planning, and learning supports.  Students 
upon accessing these resources often find great support and are very appreciative of the 
learning strategist team. 
 

From the KPU Learning Centre: Our mission is to provide students with a range of 
skills and strategies that encourage learning excellence and promote holistic 
development. This is achieved through outstanding programming and exceptional 
services based on general, complementary, integrated, and embedded supports to 
foster student success, program completion and a desire for continuous lifelong 
learning. 
 
For students, the four Kwantlen Learning Centres are facilities where any Kwantlen 
student can find individualized learning assistance and assessments, help with study 
skills and learning strategies, and free one-to-one and small group tutoring in a 
range of writing, math, and content areas. Our online tutoring program offers 
students academic writing help from home, work, or school. Print and electronic 
resources are also available.” 
(Retrieved from https://www.kpu.ca/learningcentres/mission) 

 
KSA 
The Kwantlen Student Association states as its mission as being: 

The Kwantlen Student Association (KSA) supports its members during their time of 
study by ensuring adequate provision for their welfare, activities, political, and social 
needs. Through its democratic procedures, the KSA represents and reflects the 
concerns and priorities of its membership to the university and beyond, and strives 
to uphold the rights of each of its members.  
(Retrieved from http://www.kusa.ca/aboutus.html) 

https://www.kpu.ca/earlyalert/student
https://www.kpu.ca/learningcentres/mission


Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 57 

 

 

 

The KSA supports an annual student award in the program, while also providing a number 
of on-site student supports such as REBOOT for computer servicing.  

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Student satisfaction with the resources offered by the Wilson School of Design and Fashion 
and Technology Program is positive overall with 84% of students being either satisfied or 
extremely satisfied with the resources from the survey conducted (Student Survey, Q45). 
The areas highlighted for improvement and growth were directly tied to the results of Q17 
(Student Survey) about topics missing from our curriculum. Primarily the students focused 
on the adoption of new technologies for patternmaking and drafting (3D patternmaking), 
fully fashioned knitwear and advances in wearable technology.   These areas for enhancing 
the program services were supported by the alumni in their response to the question: 
“Considering where the fashion industry is moving, suggest a course topic/theme that 
might be the next ‘thing’ in the fashion industry” (Alumni Survey, Q37).  12 of 32 non-
directed comments reference 3-Dimensional patternmaking software, and that adoption is 
accelerating due to the pandemic and the changes in the manner of the ways people are 
working. These areas of growth would need some investment in the machinery and 
technology to move these topic areas forward.  
 
An area of comment by the students that bears mentioning is the complexity and variety 
of the available machinery is not always easily maintainable within our current structure, 
and this opens further discussion and opportunity for innovation and training. 
 
The remainder of the data from the survey gave quite mixed results, with negating 
comments regarding the services provided regarding the library primarily. 

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Faculty satisfaction with the resources offered within the Wilson School of Design are 
excellent with 81% either Somewhat Satisfied or Extremely Satisfied with the lab and 
building spaces on offer for student learning (Faculty Survey, Q11). 
 
The areas where the faculty sees room for growth is primarily regarding Counselling 
services with 54% of faculty either ‘Dissatisfied’ or ‘Extremely Dissatisfied’, and 45% of 
respondents as ambivalent.  This is highlighted in the comments of this data point that this 
assessment is not based on the quality of the counselling services, but in the lack of access 
for students in crisis requiring immediate attention (Faculty Survey, Q11).   
 
An area for further development that the faculty has identified is that of Career Services 
(27% Dissatisfied, 64% Neither Satisfied or Dissatisfied) (Faculty Survey, Q11).  Further 
investigation may be needed to better understand this answer, and how better 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 58 

 

 

collaboration and communication may be facilitated between the program, Wilson School 
of Design, and Career Services.  
 
The suggestions coming from faculty focus on increased access to mental health services 
and resources for students, greater accessibility and hours of campus and the specialty 
labs, and increased technician assistance.  A comment of note that speaks not to the 
resources specifically, but to the necessity to compete with private institutions, is that 
marketing services need to be augmented to further enhance our brand awareness to a 
general and wider audience (Faculty Survey, Q15). 
 
The faculty overall was incredibly pleased with the Library resources, and specifically with 
the Librarian support.  We would like to highlight the exemplary service provided by the 
Library for the faculty, and share our great appreciation for their work.  While the faculty 
is incredibly pleased, the space they would like to see growth in the library offerings are 
directly related to the ebook collection, as it has been observed that students are doing a 
significant amount of their research online (Faculty Survey, Q12). 

Summary and Recommendations 

Student Health and Wellness Resources 

 Integrate resiliency training (for students) into Fall start up orientation 
o Request that there might be a resiliency training ‘badge’ that then may be 

required as part of a foundational level FASN program course 

 Enhance student accessibility to counseling both in-person (when possible) and 
virtually 

o Request that counseling develop and share additional resources to support 
and manage student anxiety 

Learning & Career Development Aids and Tools 

 Develop a Wilson School of Design or Fashion and Technology formal peer-to-peer 
mentoring program for increased program support 

 Continue with the WSD Career Expo in either an in-person or virtual format to 
provide graduating students and alumni further career support 

o KPU Career Services and WSD Deans Office support will be required for this 
initiative 

 Promote Learning Centre student peer tutor positions to current FASN students  
o Peer tutors to provide support with content covered and explored in the 

FASN program 
WSD Resources 

 Develop and acquire more industry relevant technologies and technological 
interfaces that that can be used increase the students’ skills in 3Dimensional 
Patternmaking and Wearable Technology. 

 Enhance the lab experience with greater hours and additional technician support  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 59 

 

 

 Conclusions and Recommendations 

Summary of Conclusions 

McKinsey and The Business of Fashion, an industry recognized news reporting platform, 
shared several themes in their annual state of fashion report.  In May 2020, through the 
Canadian Apparel Federation, McKinsey shared Canadian and Global perspectives on this 
report through a webinar.  Industry themes shared in this presentation as we look toward 
post pandemic include circular economy and sustainability, a continued and increased shift 
to digital retail and marketplace selling and retailing, further exploration and integration of 
on-demand manufacturing, and additional implementation of advanced analytics and 
Artificial Intelligence (AI).  While these are themes within the fashion industry both 
nationally and globally, many of these themes are evident in the feedback shared through 
surveys for this program review process and through informal industry conversations that 
have taken place both inside and outside of the classroom.  The global pandemic has 
proven to be a challenge for the fashion industry, just as it has been a challenge for 
educational institutions.  While there have been many challenges, the past year has 
allowed for space and time to reflect on past practices and future possibilities. 
 
As highlighted in the report, the list of what students and industry partners would like to 
see more of in the program is much longer than what is suggested might be removed from 
the program.  The challenge with this feedback is then to determine the most effective way 
to implement. The goal with curriculum updates, and any program changes, will be to 
ensure that graduates remain industry ready.  Main feedback themes shared by students, 
industry partners, and alumni for what might be included and/or enhanced in curriculum 
updates comprise of focused environmental and sustainability concepts within the fashion 
industry, and increased exploration and use of 3D modelling software.  Overall there was 
enthusiastic support for program learning streams which will enable students to 
personalize their education and career direction in the fashion industry.  Many of the 
themes mentioned through survey and verbal feedback are also supported through 
literature focusing on fashion education.  In the words of Timo Rissanen (2017), “one of the 
challenges facing fashion educators is training fashion designers for a difficult-to-imagine 
future” (p. 533).  With the many shifts and changes that resulted from the global pandemic 
within not only the education sector, but also the apparel industry, this statement holds 
great truth as we look navigate the many unknowns a post-pandemic future may bring for 
all. 
 
In 2017, Rissanen, an assistant professor with the School of Fashion at Parsons School of 
Design, The New School, published a manifesto titled: Possibility in Fashion Design 
Education.  Rissanen (2017) highlights the many environmental concerns regarding the 
fashion industry and proposes that in addition to educating students in how to design 
clothing that addresses environmental concerns, we might also encourage students to take 
a broader perspective and look to redesign the current processes and supply chains in 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 60 

 

 

place.  He then goes on to explore the inclusive nature, or lack of, of the fashion industry, 
stating that he is defining inclusion beyond size, shape, age, etc., to also touch on “inclusion 
as a way to critique and transform colonialist power structures designed to hide much of 
the fashion system” (Rissanen, 2017, p. 541).  These are powerful thoughts and concepts, 
with the potential to effect great changes in how fashion education is traditionally taught.  
As we proceed through the program review process, and ultimately look to how program 
content and curriculum might shift and change, we aim to keep these concepts in mind to 
ensure we are looking to prepare students for the future. 
 
Continuing with the concept of inclusion, there is a call in the survey feedback and well as 
through classroom activities and work with learners, that we shift toward addressing design 
and making for a wider variety of body types.  Amanda Scriver (2020) in a discussion on 
inclusion states that “if we want to truly break the societal norms in the fashion industry, 
we need to start in the classroom first where tomorrow’s designers can learn to design for 
all bodies” (para 1).  While there has always been room in the fashion and technology 
program for students to explore design for body types beyond a standard size 8 female, we 
believe that we can do better.  By further incorporating inclusive concepts throughout the 
program, and spaces for students to explore fashion from this perspective, students might 
be better able to understand and apply knowledge.  As mentioned by Scriver (2020) and 
Rissanen (2017), inclusivity from a designing for diverse bodies perspective, as well as 
designing and planning for inclusivity throughout the global fashion supply chain might be 
further incorporated into the program.  As we look to incorporate this type of perspective, 
we acknowledge that at times we may be slow moving.   Building an inclusive and diverse 
dress form collection takes financial support, and we may only be able to add a physical 
single dress form to our collection each year budget depending.  Curriculum updates also 
take time to ensure that appropriate Senate procedures are followed.  While making these 
changes to take time, and identifying financial priorities, we do see this as a worthy area 
for further development and work.  
 
Sustainability, especially this past year, has been mentioned more and more by KPU 
students, Vancouver apparel industry members, and has been a common topic in the 
Fashion and Technology program advisory meetings.  As Pasricha and Kadolph (2009) 
succinctly put it, “sustainability is a buzzword, a trend, a cultural movement zeitgeist” (p. 
119).  Sustainability is often overused and generalized, but it is top of mind for many in the 
fashion industry.  Some students and industry members use sustainability in reference to 
the environment, others use it in reference to systems, processes, and consumption.  While 
we may use sustainability in differing ways, one aspect that we all agree on is the need for 
the fashion industry as a whole to become more sustainable, and much of the foundation 
for that might take place within the classroom.  Pasricha and Kadolph (2009) observe that 
“environmental, social and economic sustainability should be interwoven throughout all 
courses in a fashion-related program of study” (p. 121), and this is something that we aimed 
to do with our 2017 curriculum update.  While we addressed this at the time, there are 
calls for more.  Local industry partners are calling for more knowledge, exploration and 
understanding of sustainability in multiple contexts as well as touching on concepts such 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 61 

 

 

as circular design.  Many of these concepts and themes are also mentioned by applicants 
during portfolio interviews in citing their interest for pursuing fashion education.  The call 
for ‘more’ sustainability is something that we seek to address during curriculum updates 
resulting from this program review process through further authentic and applied 
integration and perhaps through specific content focusing on this topic itself while also 
looking to the future. 
 
One aspect of the program that was not asked about in surveys, that has played a crucial 
role in recruitment for the program was our annual fashion show.  This event is often a 
sold-out event with multiple showings taking place over a day.  We were proceeding with 
planning for the event to take place again in April 2020, acknowledging that it would most 
likely be our last live traditional fashion show event, but feeling unsure of what might come 
next.  The onset of the global caused our 2020 event to be cancelled, and this pause has 
served to provide some space for the faculty to critically reflect on the fashion show event 
itself.  This pause has allowed us to explore the purpose of the event, and how the valuable 
aspects of the event for graduating students and program promotion might continue in 
creative ways.  During the global pandemic, many brands, companies and fashion weeks 
have explored alternative events and promotional activities.  We have been watching these 
events closely to better understand what works, and what might shift into an educational 
setting.  Something that many in the industry seem to agree on is that while virtual events 
are wonderful, there is a personal aspect that is missing that might only be found with in-
person events.  As the global pandemic continues and we look to plan for an unknown 
future, we will continue to consider how best to support graduating students in a final end 
of program event. 
 
There are a number of local, national and international fashion programs vying for 
applicants.  Many of these programs have overlapping themes, courses, and learning 
activities.  The Fashion and Technology program, with the Wilson School of Design at KPU 
is in a unique location being based in Vancouver, BC and being the longest running degree 
granting fashion program in Western Canada.  Vancouver has a thriving apparel industry 
with many globally known brands.  Our local industry are champions of the program, of our 
alumni and graduates, and of our students; industry regularly guest speak, are willing to 
host field trips, and involved in mentoring practicum students.  The foundation and core of 
the Fashion and Technology program is experiential learning and learning in hands-on 
ways.  The multi-disciplinary nature of our industry requires flexibility to continually evolve 
in real time.  The ability to respond effectively and timely may be constrained due to time, 
KPU provided budget, and a strategic implementation plan.   
 
“Education is about the students, so industry and education do indeed need to practice the 
fine art of compromise” (Gale, 2011, p. 29).  As a post-secondary education program, we 
often feel that at times we are caught in the middle as we strive to address expectations of 
both industry and our students.  Industry would like graduates to have certain skills set and 
knowledge, while the students stepping into the program many need enhanced 
foundational knowledge prior to them successfully understanding and applying higher level 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 62 

 

 

concepts in their education and a career setting.  As faculty in the fashion and technology 
program at KPU we seek to balance these two sides by having open conversations with 
clothing and textile teachers who are working with future applicants, and industry 
members to bring further understanding to all involved.  Colin Gale (2011), in The Future of 
Fashion Education: An Opinion, shares that “the subject of fashion today, with its industrial, 
cultural and academic character, is consequently very broad, involving practical, 
professional and intellectual dimensions with a growing repertoire of qualifications that 
reflect the different communities that have a stake in its future” (p. 30).  While this paper 
was published ten year ago, this is something that we feel has not changed, if anything the 
fashion industry has broadened as more awareness and understanding is brought to certain 
aspects.  This broadening may be seen through the conversations that take place during 
the program advisory committee meeting conversations, and in the thoughts and 
perspectives that students bring with them to the classroom.  
 
The future of the fashion industry, and the future of fashion education may be cyclical in 
the way that they are tied together.  The fashion industry may serve as inspiration for those 
pursuing fashion education, and who in turn will be the future of the fashion industry.  
These future leaders gain knowledge, skills and understanding through their education. In 
the Fashion and Technology program at KPU, we are uniquely positioned in a thriving local 
industry to provide a well -rounded education that might help shape future of the fashion 
industry through the work our graduates will do. 

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 63 

 

 

List of Recommendations 

Short Term (less than 6 months) 

Curriculum 

 Implement additional 3D modeling technology into curriculum and provide 
opportunities for students to work with software such as CLO3D 

 Ensure students continue to receive current quality of instruction and project 
specific personalized feedback and support to learn haptic skills and applying skills, 
knowledge and information  

o  Maintain current class size caps (22 students) related to recruitment and 
retention as this is mentioned as a highlight, benefit by current students, 
alumni, industry and potential students 

 
Program Activities 
Shift the advisory committee membership to three-year terms to align with KPU Policy AC1 

 Continue work on Sewing focused OER (this project was started Fall 2020) 
 
WSD/KPU Activities 

 Increase student recruitment efforts both locally and across Canada 
o Seek out opportunities to promote the program internationally, highlighting 

the unique position that Vancouver holds in the global apparel industry and 
the many global brands based here. 

o Additional KPU marketing support for promoting the program, and/or 
faculty time release for specialized and focused program promotional 
activities  

o Increase community engagement by welcoming secondary school textile 
classes on campus when possible to work in the labs and gain an 
introduction to the Wilson School of Design.    

o Develop detailed program information to share via WSD website, social 
media and info handouts on career possibilities and salary ranges for the 
apparel industry. 

o Regularly update program website for information on alumni, students, 
faculty, and program initiatives, projects and activities. 

o Increase social media presence, including regularly creating posts that 
feature students, their work, and program initiatives 

o Increased KPU support for domestic student housing  

 Create additional opportunities for applicants to gain foundational knowledge in 
design and construction to find success when assembling an entry portfolio 

 
 
 
Student Health and Wellness Resources 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 64 

 

 

 Integrate resiliency training (for students) into Fall start up orientation 
o Request that there might be a resiliency training ‘badge’ that then may be 

required as part of a foundational level FASN program course 

 Enhance student accessibility to counseling both in-person (when possible) and 
virtually 

o Request that counseling develop and share additional resources to support 
and manage student anxiety 

 
Learning & Career Development Aids and Tools 

 Develop a Wilson School of Design or Fashion and Technology formal peer-to-peer 
mentoring program for increased program support 

 Continue with the WSD Career Expo in either an in-person or virtual format to 
provide graduating students and alumni further career support 

o KPU Career Services and WSD Deans Office support will be required for this 
initiative 

 Promote Learning Centre student peer tutor positions to current FASN students  
o Peer tutors to provide support with content covered and explored in the 

FASN program 

Medium Term (6 months to 2 years) 

Curriculum 

 Identify FASN courses or KPU courses part of the Fashion and Technology Program 
to meet the Writing-Intensive Requirement and Quantitative Requirement 

o As of writing this report a writing-intensive definition, and designation 
requirements has yet to be approved by KPU Senate. 

 Enhance reading comprehension and numeracy skills within program 

 Inclusion of additional knowledge spaces (design, production, etc.) for students to 
explore body type inclusivity, diversity, and equity (ex. non-binary, plus size, 
transgender) 

 Increase opportunities for students to explore iterative design and prototyping, 
along with finished packages.  

 Decolonize curriculum, while fostering Indigenous design practices to better align 
with KPU Vision 2023 (Appendix 17) 

o Include indigenous consultation while planning curriculum updates that 
touch on this knowledge area 

o Include Indigenous guest speakers or guest lecturers  

 Build on current practicum program by increasing work experience opportunities 
within the program through: 

o (Paid) Internships with industry partners 

 KPU Co-op supported placements through the Wilson School of Design 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 65 

 

 

 Shift recommendation to take ENGL 1100 to first year so if students need to take 
the course a second time to achieve the minimum grade (60%) to move on they 
have additional time to do so. 

 Explore what courses might shift to a EXP or MAS grading format to allow for greater 
spread of assignments throughout the semester, and allow for more focus on 
learning process vs. final product 

 
Program Activities 

 Increase competitive edge of fashion and technology program through:  
o Restructuring program to include specialization paths  
o Increase industry linked projects throughout the program 
o Create additional links between program content and curriculum for 

enhanced understanding 
o Integrate a co-op option for students 
o Incorporate additional travel opportunities for students 
o Inquire into possibility to create links between the fashion program, and the 

School of Business Entrepreneurial Leadership program so that those 
looking to gain greater knowledge in an entrepreneurship career path might 
do so. 

 Develop formalized articulation agreements with post-secondary fashion programs 
in both the Vancouver area and across Canada.   

o  Proposed schools for formal articulation agreements: 
 Fanshawe College – London, ONT 
 George Brown College – Toronto, ONT 
 Seneca College - ONT 
 Vancouver Community College – Vancouver, BC 
 JCI Institute - Vancouver, BC  
 University of Alberta – Edmonton, AB 

o Create pathways for advanced entry students at KPU in the Wilson School 
of Design, as design students, if there is not room available in the Fashion 
and Technology program to accommodate them for the coming year 

 Start work on a pattern drafting focused OER 

 With the shift to embrace Optitex as KPU’s CAD software, some companies have 
cited a concerns over the lack of Gerber training.  Seek to create partnerships with 
industry companies so that Gerber training might be supported.   

 Assess for additional sections of program specific courses to support the 
investigation of the possible inclusion of specialization streams  

 Form a program student committee to provide feedback on proposed curriculum 
changes 

 
WSD/KPU Activities 

 Seek relevant, ongoing, and dedicated support from the KPU Office of Advancement 
for program awards and grants for student recruitment and support 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 66 

 

 

 Continue to develop and add to Continuing Studies Course offerings 
o Develop courses that appeal to industry professional (through industry 

consultation), home economics teachers, general interest, and future 
potential students. 

o Build and plan a 12 month Continuing Professional Studies calendar with a 
range of in-person (when possible) and virtual courses. 

o Re-implement masterclasses  

 Advocate for more robust alumni engagement 
o Develop supports for those pursuing entrepreneurship 
o Seek additional institutional supports for the Wilson School of Design alumni 

chapter  
 Additional supports may be required of our KPU Career Services 

Department  

 Explore a wider variety of delivery mode options to meet the needs of the 21st 
century learner (lab, lecture, studio, in person, online, hybrid, etc.) 

 Students who struggle in first year courses typically do so with the hands-on 
technique driven courses such as pattern drafting and sewing due to limited 
experience in this area prior to starting the program. To address this, it is 
recommended that:  

o Further CPS courses and/or Micro Credential/Courses be developed so that 
potential applicants might take these courses to build on their skills and 
knowledge prior to entering the program so that they might find greater 
success once accepted 

o Have a formal peer to peer mentorship program set up within the program 
so that she students are having course content challenges they might seek 
out peer support 

 Increase lab access hours and support 
o Increase access and training to specialized machinery for students outside 

of class time 
o Increase hours that are supported by (paid) peer mentors and/or lab 

technicians for open lab access  
o Increase digital references (ex. A virtual library) of foundational skills in 

sewing, pattern drafting, and production knowledge to build on student 
learning in courses 

 A sewing focused OER is being worked on but needs a faculty time 
release for greater focused and dedicated work 

 Development of resources will need videography and development 
funding and support 

WSD Resources 

 Develop and acquire more industry relevant technologies and technological 
interfaces that that can be used increase the students’ skills in 3Dimensional 
Patternmaking and Wearable Technology. 

 Enhance the lab experience with greater hours and additional technician support 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 67 

 

 

Longer Term (over 2 years) 

Curriculum 

 Integrate additional travel opportunities into the program for students 

 Include industry members as course faculty in specific relevant courses 
 
Program Activities 

 Establish a path into the program (ex. Dual Credit or trades certification for the 
Youth Training in Trades program) to support secondary school students 

 Create an OER exploring the many different career pathways available in the fashion 
industry and job descriptions for student reference.  

 
WSD/KPU Activities 

 Research feasibility of Masters of Design: Fashion & Technology  

 Develop a DESN course for students transitioning to post-secondary education  
o Similar to KPU 101, but in design focused and in a credit bearing, required 

course (see reference course from North Carolina in Appendix 18) 

 Build on collection of dress forms that reflect body inclusivity (gender and sizes)  
o This activity might start now but due to the cost of these resources, it may 

take some time to develop a range of sizes and genders 

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 68 

 

 

 Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean 

Program Overview 

What do you see as the program’s greatest accomplishments over the last 5 years?   
 
The Fashion and Technology program is well established and recognized as the longest 
running apparel degree program in Western Canada. It has since received global 
acknowledgement from the Business of Fashion in 2019 as the only Canadian fashion 
school to be highlighted at the undergraduate level, earning awards for categories for long 
term value, best in learning experience, and best overall in the undergraduate fashion 
school rankings. 
 
The program maintains strong connections with industry through collaborative projects, 
site visits, guest speakers, critiques and practicum placements to provide further alignment 
with our polytechnic, experiential approach to learning.  The program is supported by a 
team of passionate and dedicated faculty with diverse professional and academic 
backgrounds, working closely with an actively engaged Advisory Committee that further 
contributes to the depth and relevancy of the curriculum.  Alumni of the program are 
successfully working and advancing in a range of local, national and global apparel 
companies, with many who remain in close contact with the program as Advisory 
Committee members, practicum supervisors, guest speakers and faculty. 
 
Does the program adequately fulfill the purpose for which it was intended? If not, how 
can it be improved? 
 
The program continues to prepare students with a well-rounded, generalist approach to 
immerse them into a range of experiences and skills that balances the technical, creative 
and marketability of the apparel industry. The ability to remain nimble and responsive to 
the rapidly evolving needs of the industry is an essential component to provide graduates 
who are capable to perform in this environment. Recent industry reports and feedback 
from members from the discipline highlight the need for employees who possess an 
adaptable, innovative mindset with effective abilities in critical thinking, collaboration and 
communications.  The current global health pandemic has further heightened the adoption 
of advanced technology and shifts in consumer decision making and purchasing practices.  
This in turn, has a direct impact on the design, product development and production 
processes. 
 
The program is now considering the most effective strategy to address the need to cover 
all of the necessary technical and theoretically knowledge while incorporating the less 
tangible, yet highly valuable ‘soft skills’ at a depth required to be fully prepared to 
immediately engage as a contributing industry member. Therefore, areas for further 
investigation will then need to include a review of the existing program framework to 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 69 

 

 

assess for potential areas of efficiencies and to possibly investigate the viability of curricular 
streams for specialization in key areas. 
 
How does the program’s curriculum support the following: 

 graduates’ pursuit of meaningful employment and further education 

 the viability and continued development of the program 
 
The survey results and continued connection with alumni, indicate a high percentage of 
full-time employment amongst a range of companies within the apparel industry from well-
established global brands to local, entrepreneurial pursuits.  The type of roles supports all 
areas of the design, production and marketing cycle with many alumni evolving into 
leadership positions.  The noted areas of strengths of the graduates include attributes such 
as design methodology, communications skills, with continued area of focus including 
problem solving, critical thinking and collaboration. 
 
There is indication of some alumni who have continued to pursue further education, 
particularly in the areas of business and secondary education and the program will continue 
to engage in further discussion with industry to determine the value of an enhanced 
credential.  Other considerations include the investigation of potential pathways to pursue 
post graduate work at other institutions and to collaborate with the other degree programs 
within the Wilson School of Design to determine the viability of a Master of Design rather 
than one that is discipline specific. 
 
The apparel industry is a major player within the global economy and there is continued 
growth in demand for well-prepared and well-rounded graduates who can immediately 
integrate their skillset within an organization.  As the industry evolves, continued active 
engagement with members indicate the support for continued enhancement of the 
program curriculum.  It is essential to build in the flexibility to adapt to emerging trends 
and practices within the global economy and the program is prepared to proactively 
respond to these shifting needs.  
 
The program has now started to witness the impact of the curriculum revisions 
implemented in 2017 as per the results from the last Program Review.  The timeliness of 
this review process will provide the opportunity to assess the outcomes to date and will 
incorporate the current rationale to move forward with additional revisions and identify 
other institutional support required to remain current and relevant.  Areas of particular 
focus will address enhancement in technology, sustainability and exploration for curricular 
streams of specialization.   

What challenges and opportunities for growth should the program consider based on the 
following? 

 student demand (past, present and future) 

 comparable programs at competing institutions 

 trends and changing contexts in the discipline/sector 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 70 

 

 

 

Since the phased in reduction of the 2nd cohort starting in 2019, the program has 

maintained a full intake of 22 students with some applicants on the waitlist.  Some 

applicants are recommended to the Foundations in Design program to work on the 

development of their portfolios skills, while others shift into the School of Business or the 

Faculty of Arts to work on elective courses and prepare for another application attempt the 

following year.  As per the recent Program Review for the Foundations in Design program, 

the WSD will be investigating the viability of the potential to attract more students to 

remain within general studies at the WSD if an open intake program is considered.  This 

will also allow for more opportunity for pathway and potential dual credit students.   

The program is committed to ongoing analysis on strategic enrolment planning to monitor 

student numbers and to assess for opportunities to support applicants with the current 

portfolio requirements.  On-going collaboration with the Future Students’ Office (FSO) 

Team will also assist to assess plans to strategically connect with suitable markets and to 

explore additional opportunities for engagement such as high school workshops and 

alumni testimonials. 

The program continues to observe the institutional direction and effectiveness of its closest 

competitors and in particular, the recent entry of the second degree program in Western 

Canada with LaSalle College.  The program also has the opportunity to leverage a 

competitive advantage with its unique value proposition with further investigation to 

differentiate itself from other degree offerings in fashion and apparel.  Other areas of 

opportunity also include the enhanced alignment with certificate and diploma programs 

from other institutions to ladder into degree completion and other transitions into 

graduate programs such as the Technical Apparel Program and the SUMAS partnership and 

entrepreneurial courses within the School of Business 

As previously noted, it is essential that the team maintains a nimble and flexible approach 

to address future trends and drivers for change that impact the industry. Some of these 

areas include innovative technologies such as 3D prototyping, advanced analytics, artificial 

intelligence and e-commerce that have a significant impact on all design, production and 

marketing processes.  There are also considerations pertaining to sustainability, the circular 

economy and diversity in body sizing.  Consumers are more intentional with their 

purchasing power and they are seeking more value in performance, quality and a 

transparent understanding of the story behind the product.  The global health pandemic 

has also increased opportunity for the development of personal protection equipment 

(PPE) and a renewed development in local and national production. 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 71 

 

 

What plans (departmental, faculty and institutional) are in place for program growth and 
development? 
 
The program will move forward with strategic curriculum revisions to address currently 
identified gaps in graduate outcomes and to enhance student and faculty experience. As 
noted in previous sections, the program plans to further investigate its competitive 
advantage to elevate its distinct value proposition within the apparel education market.  
This will include the exploration of possible specialization in the upper levels as well as 
formalizing pathways for advanced entry of other certificate and diploma programs from 
other institutions.  As also mentioned, the program will further investigate opportunities 
for graduate education either through articulation with existing programming or the 
development of a WSD Master of Design or one that is more specialized for apparel. 
 
Additional areas include the enhanced development of Continuing and Professional Studies 
(CPS) courses and workshops for potential applicants, high school teachers and general 
interest.  The program piloted a few online courses during the pandemic that included a 
blend of asynchronous sessions with training videos and resources as well as optional drop-
in sessions as needed.  The program seeks to expand a larger range of offerings into micro-
credentials and develop other training sessions for student badges for such topics on lab 
safety and specialized operation of equipment and technology. 
 
Further highlights include the support for enhanced connections with industry and 
increased involvement with the Advisory Committee through site visits, guest lectures, 
linked projects and practicum placements.  This will also include the inquiry into the 
development of a possible WSD co-op program that may serve all programs.  There will 
also be increased promotional efforts to highlight the program’s value proposition and to 
continue to build the brand and reputation of WSD and KPU.   
 
What resources, institutional support, and/or external support would help address the 
program’s plans for growth and development? 
 
The proposed program and curricular changes will require administrative support for 
program and course outline revisions through the Curriculum Committee approval process. 
This will include both the Faculty and Senate level committees and the Provost Office for 
Ministry related approvals.  The proposed consideration for specialization streams is a new 
concept for the program and this will require extra attention to confirm appropriate 
procedures.  Additional support from the Teaching and Learning Commons for curriculum 
mapping, course design and assessment tools may also be necessary.   
 
On-going feedback from the Advisory Committee will be critical to maintain currency, 
relevancy and connections for experiential learning opportunities. Additional 
communication with external organizations such as the Apparel Affinity Group, the 
Canadian Apparel Federation and the BC Apparel and Gear Association with also be 
essential. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 72 

 

 

For recruitment, this includes continued collaboration with the FSO team to connect with 
high schools and target markets to increase awareness of the program and associated 
career opportunities.  This will also require the support of the Marketing team as well as a 
dedicated budget for strategic promotional initiatives via social media, virtual information 
sessions, tours, promotional video and highlights of success stories of students, alumni, 
faculty and Advisory Committee members. 
 
Collectively, what qualifications and other human resources are required so the program 
will be able to make the changes required to improve and remain current? 
 
In addition to the resources noted in the section above, faculty will need continued support 
for professional development and opportunities to enhance teaching practices and to 
continue to build upon the program’s strengths and new opportunities.  Some of the areas 
of focus include support for curriculum development specific to program specialization and 
advanced technology training in 3D, virtual reality and other automated systems. 
 
As the overall usage of lab/testing spaces, specialized equipment and technology increases 
for all students within the WSD, the need for additional support and training for qualified 
technicians is also required.  The current team of one Divisional Lab Coordinator and two 
Lab Technicians may also need to be supplemented with dedicated budget for fully trained 
student assistants. 

 

What areas should the program focus on for the short range (< 6 months), mid-range (6 
mo. – 2 years), and long range (>2 years) program directions and improvement? 
 
We are in full support of the program’s recommendations as described in Chapter 6 in this 
study.  Some of the proposed areas of improvement may span over all three-time 
categories due to the nature of the curriculum process and the approval timelines.  Some 
initiatives may need to be further prioritized or assessed for scope of viability based on the 
allocations for budget and human resources as the action plan progresses. 

External Connections and Support 

How could the program improve its connections with external groups (e.g. the 
discipline/sector, high schools, alumni, professional associations, other institutions)? 
 
As noted in a previous section above, the support to continue a strong connection with the 
Advisory Committee and other industry partners is a major factor in the program’s success.  
The program will also continue strategic alignment with the associations noted above and 
seek alliances with additional organizations such as the Sustainable Apparel Coalition and 
other global networks. 
Additional support is needed through the KPU Alumni Association, the growth of the WSD 
Alumni Chapter and other events to further engage with alumni and prospective applicants. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 73 

 

 

Further collaboration will continue with FSO to connect with high schools and the 
community via visits and workshops along with other promotional tools as previously 
described.  The finalization of KPU’s CPS Business Plan and implementation of its micro 
credential policy will also further support the connection with high school teachers and 
industry for upskilling and training opportunities. 

Final Comments 

What else do you think is important to add about the program that is not covered in the 
previous questions?   

We commend the Fashion and Technology team members for their continuous efforts to 
support successful graduates and to elevate the program, WSD and KPU.  

 
 

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 74 

 

 

 References for Self-Study Report 

NOTE: Appendices are provided in a separate document. 
 
References 
Amed, I., Balchandani, A., Jensen, J. E., Berg, A., Hedrich, S., Young, R., Peng, A., & Rolkens, 

F. (2021). The state of fashion 2021. Business of Fashion & McKinsey & Company. 

https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/retail/our-insights/state-of-fashion 

Aoki, T. T. (2005). Chapter 27: Spinning inspirited images in the midst of planned and live(d) 

curricula.  FINE: Journal of the Fine Arts Council of the Alberta Teachers’ Association, 

413-423. 

Dewey, J. (1930). Democracy and education: An introduction to the philosophy of 

education. New York, NY: The Macmillan company. 

Gale, C. (2011). The future of fashion education: An opinion. Fine Arts International Journal, 

15(1), 29-33. 

Hodges, N., & Karpova, E. (2009). Making a major decision: An exploration of why student 

enroll in fashion programs. International Journal of Fashion Design, Technology and 

Education, 2(3), 47-57. 

Middlecamp, C. (2005). The art of engagement. Peer Review, 7(2), 17-20. 

Pasricha, A., & Kadolph, S. J. (2009). Millennial generation and fashion education: A 

discussion on agents of change. International Journal of Fashion Design, Technology 

an Education, 2(3), 119-126. 

Rissanen, T. (2017). Possibility in fashion design education – A manifesto. Utopian Studies, 

28(3), 528-546. 

Scriver, A. (2020). Why the fight for inclusivity in fashion education is more important than 

ever. This Magazine. https://this.org/2020/09/16/why-the-fight-for-inclusivity-in-

fashion-education-is-more-important-than-ever/ 

van Manen, M. (1977). Linking ways of knowing with ways of being practical. Curriculum 

Inquiry, 6(3), 205-228. 



WILSON SCHOOL OF DESIGN 

FASHION AND TECHNOLOGY PROGRAM REVIEW 

SELF-STUDY REPORT APPENDICES 

JUNE 2021 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           1 

Table of Contents 
 Program Overview ........................................................................................................................ 2 

Appendix 1. FASN Program Model....................................................................................................................... 2 

Appendix 2: Calendar Description of Program .................................................................................................... 3 

Appendix 3: Calendar Description of Program Courses ....................................................................................... 5 

Appendix 4: Program Admissions Requirements and Policies .......................................................................... 15 

Appendix 5: Credential completion requirements and standards .................................................................... 19 

Appendix 6: Business of Fashion Awards for KPU Fashion & Technology Program .......................................... 20 

 Program Currency and Connections ............................................................................................. 21 

Appendix 7: Competitor Program Models ......................................................................................................... 21 

Appendix 8: Advisory Committee Biographies .................................................................................................. 27 

Appendix 9: Recent Advisory Board Meeting Minutes ...................................................................................... 31 

Appendix 10: Membership Association Descriptions ........................................................................................ 39 

Appendix 11: Continuing Professional Studies (CPS) Courses ........................................................................... 41 

Appendix 12: Wilson School of Design Social Media Platforms ........................................................................ 47 

Appendix 13: Student Demand for the Program ............................................................................................... 50 

 Quality of Curriculum Design ....................................................................................................... 51 

Appendix 14: SlideRoom Overview .................................................................................................................... 51 

Appendix 15: Career Pathways .......................................................................................................................... 52 

Appendix 16: UBC x KPU Pathway to BEd .......................................................................................................... 55 

Appendix 17: KPU Vision 2023 ........................................................................................................................... 57 

Appendix 18: Intro to University Course Example ............................................................................................. 60 

 Quality of Instructional Design ..................................................................................................... 63 

Appendix 19: Faculty Bios .................................................................................................................................. 63 

Appendix 20: BC Labor Sector Report: Apparel ................................................................................................. 67 

 Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities ................................................................................. 70 

Appendix 21: Production Machinery Available in Wilson School of Design ...................................................... 70 

Appendix 22: Specialized Program Plans ........................................................................................................... 71 

 Survey Results ............................................................................................................................. 72 

Appendix 23: Student Survey Results ................................................................................................................ 72 

Appendix 24: Alumni Survey Results ............................................................................................................... 109 

Appendix 25: Discipline/Sector Survey Results................................................................................................ 132 

Appendix 26: Faculty Survey Results ............................................................................................................... 145 

Appendix 27: Administrative Data ................................................................................................................... 168 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           2 

 Program Overview

Appendix 1. FASN Program Model 
KPU Fashion & Technology-Program Plan 

Revised FASN Program Prerequisite (min C grade) Co-requisite 

SE
M

ES
TE

R 
1 

FASN 1100 Fundamentals of Fashion Design 3 cr 

FASN 1116 The Apparel Industry 3 cr 

FASN 1121 Fundamentals of Apparel Pattern Drafting 3 cr FASN 1130 

FASN 1130 Fundamentals of Apparel Construction 3 cr FASN 1121 

CMNS 1140 Introduction to Professional Communications 3 cr 

SE
M

ES
TE

R 
2 

FASN 1205 Fundamentals of Digital Communication 3 cr 

FASN 1215 Textiles & Technology I 3 cr FASN 1116 

FASN 1225 Fundamentals of Apparel Production 3 cr FASN 1121 and 1130 

FASN 1231 Fundamentals of Fashion Drawing 3 cr 

MRKT 1199 Introduction to Marketing 3 cr 

SE
M

ES
TE

R 
3 

FASN 2100 Fashion Design Theory & Process I 3 cr All of (a) FASN 1100 and (b) FASN (1230 or 1231) and (c) 
MRKT 1199 

FASN 2121 

FASN 2116 Fashion History I 3 cr FASN 1115 or 1116 

FASN 2121 Style Production I 3 cr FASN 1220 or 1225 FASN 2100 

FASN 2215 Textiles & Technology II 3 cr FASN 1215 

ENGL 1100 Introduction to University Writing 3 cr 

SE
M

ES
TE

R 
4 

FASN 2201 Fashion Design Theory & Process II 3 cr FASN 2100 FASN 2221 

FASN 2221 Style Production II 6 cr FASN 2121 FASN 2201 

FASN 2241 CAD Drafting Methodology 3 cr FASN 1205 and 2121 

FASN 2216 Fashion History II 3 cr ENGL 1100 and FASN 2116 

SE
M

ES
TE

R 
5 

FASN 3100 Surface Design 3 cr FASN 2215 

FASN 3101 Apparel Product Development 3 cr Both: (a) FASN (2200 or 2201) and (b) FASN 2216 

FASN 3110 Advanced Technical Apparel Design & 
Production 

3 cr Both: (a) FASN (2220 or 2221) and (b) FASN (2240 or 
2241) 

FASN 3151 Professional Practices 3 cr All of (a) CMNS 1140 and (b) FASN (2200 or 2201) and (c) 
FASN (2220 or 2221) 

ELECTIVE 3 cr 

SE
M

ES
TE

R 
6 

FASN 3121 Manufacturing Methodology 3 cr FASN 3101 and 3110 

FASN 3131 Draping Methodology 3 cr FASN 2220 or 2221 

FASN 3250 Professional Practicum 3 cr FASN 3151 

ELECTIVE 3 cr 

ELECTIVE 3 cr 

FASN 3900 Special Topics in Fashion Design & 
Technology (Summer) OPTIONAL ELECTIVE (3 cr) 

48 credits from courses in FASN at the 1100 level or 
higher 

SE
M

ES
TE

R 
7 

FASN 4101 Collection: Design Development 6 cr FASN 3200 or 3101 FASN 4151 

FASN 4120 Innovative Pattern Cutting 3 cr FASN 3130 or 3131 

FASN 4151 Apparel in the Global Economy 3 cr FASN 3120 or 3121 FASN 4101 

ELECTIVE 3 cr 

FASN 4250 Self-directed Study OPTIONAL ELECTIVE (3 cr) FASN 3250 

SE
M

ES
TE

R 
8 

FASN 4130 Advanced Digital Communication 3 cr FASN 4101 FASN 4211 and 4221 

FASN 4211 Professional Promotion 3 cr FASN 4101 FASN 4130 and 4221 

FASN 4221 Collection Production 6 cr FASN 4120 FASN 4130 and 4211 

ELECTIVE 3 cr 

Total Credits 
This document is provided to you by the FASN Program as a program 
planning tool only.  Please make an appointment with an Academic 
Advisor to review your plan and final approval must be in compliance 
with the Graduation Office. 

120 The 5 elective courses (15 credits) must include: 
• A minimum of two courses (6 credits) numbered 1100 or higher from non-fashion areas of 
study that develop a breadth of knowledge and integrate with learning acquired in the program. 
• A minimum of one course (3 credits) numbered 1100 or higher from the School of Business
• A minimum of two other courses (6 credits) numbered 1100 or higher from any area of study.
FASN 3900, Special Topics, and FASN 4250, Self-Directed Study, are recommended.) 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           3 

Appendix 2: Calendar Description of Program 

To many, it's a piece of fabric. To you, it's a blank canvas just waiting to be brought to life. Make your 
mark in the world of fashion with the only four-year degree program of its kind in Western Canada. 

KPU's Bachelor of Design, Fashion and Technology program has an international reputation for building 
tomorrow's fashion leaders. Our unique, industry-focused curriculum gives students the design skills, 
business acumen and marketing savvy they need to compete in the global fashion marketplace. 

Upon graduation from the four-year degree program, our alumni have been placed in innovative and 
leading positions in the local apparel and design industry, often beginning their post-graduate careers as 
soon as a week after completion of the year end event. 

What makes our program so special? 

• Our teachers are industry leaders who are plugged into the global fashion scene.
• Our program simulates a professional working environment and constantly adapts to reflect the

changing marketplace.
• Our classrooms are equipped with cutting-edge technology used by industry.
• Our workplace practicum program opens the doors to top local companies such as lululemon,

Arc'teryx, Oak + Fort, and Manuel Mendoza.
• Our international exchange program prepares students to become global fashion leaders.
• Our students study at fashion schools in London, Melbourne, Berlin, Helsinki, Monterrey, Horsens

and Taipei.
• Our many inspiring guest speakers and presentations invite students to take their learning outside of

the classroom and participate in the vibrant local design community.
• Our students launch their careers by showcasing their final collections in our renowned fashion show,

which is attended by over 2,000 people, including industry leaders and the media.

Who Studies Fashion and Technology? 

Most people who apply to the program have a passionate, lifelong interest in fashion with an aptitude 
for creative design, technical construction and an appreciation for fabric, prints, colours and trend 
forecasting. They are recent high school graduates, transfer students from other institutions, mature 
individuals returning to the profession or making a career change, or industry personnel seeking an 
upgrade in skills. 

KPU boasts student exchange agreements with fashion schools in London, England; Helsinki, Finland; 
Taipei, Taiwan; Melbourne, Australia; and Berlin, Germany and is developing further exchange 
opportunities to broaden global experiences. 

Applicants with previous experience in the fashion industry may gain credits through Prior Learning 
Assessment (PLA). Graduates from a two-year fashion program who wish to pursue a degree will be 
assessed on an individual basis for potential advanced entry. 

Industry personnel who wish to take a specific course or courses on a part-time basis to complement 
their job skills may do so based on seat availability and with permission from the Program Coordinator. 
Some course prerequisites may be waived based on work experience. 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           4 

Career Opportunities 

With over 300 apparel companies in the Lower Mainland, the well-established B.C. fashion industry 
offers many career choices. Graduates work in the design, marketing and production departments for 
vibrant Lower Mainland companies such as Arc'teryx, Aritzia, International Fashions, ivivva, Karma, 
Kensie, Kit and Ace, lululemon, Mountain Equipment Co-op, Mustang Survival, Oak and Fort, Peekaboo 
Beans, Plenty and Sugoi Performance Apparel. Similar opportunities are available worldwide with 
graduates currently at Nike, Abercrombie & Fitch, Nordstrom, and Volcom in the U.S. and Chloe in Paris, 
France. 

Depending upon capabilities and interests, students work for large companies as members of design, 
production or marketing teams, for smaller design houses, working in all aspects of the business, engage 
in entrepreneurial (examples include Allison Wonderland, TrunkShow, Flaming Angels, Osei-Duro, Jolie 
Couture and Taylor Hart Designs) or freelance endeavors. In all instances, graduates need to be well 
versed in all three aspects of the business (design, production and marketing) to fully contribute as a 
team player. Emerging designers prosper best if they have a solid background and experience in 
production and marketing. 

Fashion students interested in a career as a high school teacher of clothing and textiles may be eligible 
for entry to UBC's Bachelor of Education program in Home Economics upon completion of KPU's fashion 
degree, including a combination 18 credits of English, Sociology, Psychology and Family Studies courses. 
Family Studies courses may be taken at UBC as either a visiting student at UBC while completing KPU's 
fashion program (using these courses as electives towards the completion of the fashion degree) or as a 
UBC student following graduation from KPU's fashion program. 

Faculty's website: kpu.ca/design 
Department's website: kpu.ca/fashion 

http://www.kpu.ca/design
http://www.kpu.ca/fashion


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           5 

Appendix 3: Calendar Description of Program Courses 

FASN 1100 - 3 credits   
Fundamentals of Fashion Design  
Students will examine the foundational elements and principles of design and their application in the 
creation of apparel. They will develop their ability to experiment with design in two- and three-
dimensions through exploration of creative methodologies. Students will formulate solutions to basic 
fashion design problems, considering the human form, colour theory, and material application. 

Level: UG 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 1116 - 3 credits  
The Apparel Industry  
Students will examine the local, national, and global apparel industry through retail environment and 
brand positioning field analysis. They will acquire an awareness of the historical and current contextual 
developments affecting the industry. Students will identify the organization of the industry from raw 
materials through to design, production, marketing, and retail sectors specific to segmented target 
markets and apparel products. 

Level: UG 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 1121 - 3 credits   
Fundamentals of Apparel Pattern Drafting  
Students will practice the fundamental techniques of apparel pattern drafting. They will investigate the 
correlation between 2D patterns and their application to 3D human form. They will manually draft flat 
patterns for basic garments and apparel components using industry standard drafting tools and 
techniques. 

Level: UG 
Co-requisite(s): FASN 1130 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 1130 - 3 credits   
Fundamentals of Apparel Construction  
Students will practise the fundamental techniques of apparel construction utilizing basic industrial 
sewing and finishing equipment. They will apply construction techniques and develop their machine 
operating skills to create basic garments and apparel components. They will apply industry standards in 
apparel construction, including equipment protocols and quality assurance practices. 

Level: UG 
Co-requisite(s): FASN 1121 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 1205 - 3 credits   
Fundamentals of Digital Communication  
Students will examine computer applications and digital communication utilized in the fashion industry. 
They will develop solutions for apparel business activities including formatting of data, visuals, and 
presentations. Students will explore the capabilities of industry-standard multimedia technology 
applications such as Adobe Illustrator and Photoshop to design and build print-ready digital fashion files. 

https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%201130
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%201121
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           6 

Level: UG 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 1215 - 3 credits   
Textiles & Technology I  
Students will explore the textile industry and inherent technologies specific to apparel applications. They 
will gain an introductory understanding of fabric science through the study of fibre and yarn properties, 
fabric characteristics and textiles production. They will explore industry-related issues in the production 
of textiles and their impact on design, manufacturing and marketing of apparel. They will analyze fibre 
and fabric property performance using textile testing technology. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 1116 
Cross-listing: FMRK 1215 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 1225 - 3 credits   
Fundamentals of Apparel Production  
Students will practice the fundamental techniques of apparel production and utilize industry standards 
of selecting and manipulating block patterns to create prototype garments for new style development. 
They will create basic technical production specification documents that communicate fabric selection, 
style details, and garment measurements. Students will construct garments applying basic apparel 
manufacturing processes while practicing industry standards, such as quality assurance and sustainable 
materials utilization. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 1121 and 1130 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 1231 - 3 credits   
Fundamentals of Fashion Drawing  
Students will explore a variety of free-hand and digital drawing methods and applications utilized in the 
apparel industry. They will study garment components and fashion terminology for design ideation 
sketching and technical flat drawing applications. They will experiment with drawing media and 
techniques to communicate a variety of human forms and fabric rendering solutions. Students will 
analyze and apply techniques used in historical and current fashion illustrations to communicate and 
market fashion designs. 

Level: UG 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 2100 - 3 credits   
Fashion Design Theory and Process I  
Students will engage in design process and documentation methods utilized in the apparel industry. They 
will investigate the balance of creativity and marketability required in style development. They will 
examine and interpret creative design theories and methods. Students will formulate design solutions 
for apparel products specific to target market segments while developing their individual creative 
process. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): Both: (a) FASN 1230 or FASN 1231 and (b) MRKT 1199 

https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%201116
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FMRK%201215
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%201121
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%201130
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%201231
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=MRKT%201199


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           7 

Co-requisite(s): FASN 2121 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 2116 - 3 credits  
Fashion History I   
Students will examine historic costume and the transformation of clothing to the end of the 19th century 
through analysis of decorative and fine art, and apparel artefacts. They will survey each historical era 
and the interrelatedness of social, economic, political, cultural and technological events and effects on 
dress at the time. Students will establish timelines and context for fashion as part of culture, interpret 
historical design references, and analyze the historical development of the apparel industry. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 1115 or 1116 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 2121 - 3 credits  
Style Production I   
Students will apply drafting and construction skills to create industry standard block patterns for apparel 
prototype style development. They will expand their skills in pattern manipulation, sewing operations, 
and industrial equipment use through experimentation with a variety of fabrications, including knits and 
technical textiles, and increasingly complex garment design. They will apply industry standard technical 
design skills through development of specification packages and the analysis of fit, quality assurance. 
and costing in style production. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 1220 or 1225 
Co-requisite(s): FASN 2100 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 2201 - 3 credits   
Fashion Design Theory and Process II  
Students will interpret the design and merchandising process utilized in the creation of apparel 
collections, expanding their knowledge of industry practices and design documentation. They will 
individually and collaboratively employ fashion design theories and processes in the formulation of 
design solutions for a range of target market segments. Students will identify production and 
sustainability considerations in the design process while continuing to explore individual creative 
practice. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 2100 
Co-requisite(s): FASN 2221 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 2215 - 3 credits   
Textiles & Technology II  
Students will integrate their knowledge of the textile industry and inherent technologies for specific 
apparel applications. They will investigate textile dyeing, printing, and finishing techniques and develop 
skills in colour management. Technological and environmental innovations and their applications in 
fashion and performance textiles will be critically examined. Students will apply aesthetic and 

https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202121
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%201116
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%201225
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202100
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202100
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202221
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           8 

technological properties of fabric development for apparel through the introduction of composite 
material and textile design. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 1215 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 2216 - 3 credits  
Fashion History II   
Students will examine historical fashion in the context of the 20th and 21st centuries. They will analyze 
contemporary history through the interrelatedness of social, economic, political, technological, and 
cultural events and their effects on dress and the apparel industry. Students will integrate the study of 
historical dress and cyclical consumer trend analysis to formulate apparel and textiles fashion forecasting 
presentations specific to target markets. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): ENGL 1100 and FASN 2116 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 2221 - 6 credits  
Style Production II   
Students will draft patterns and construct styles for specific markets to explore techniques working with 
a variety of production equipment and fabrications. They will expand technical design skills through the 
creation of industry standard specification packages that include detailed production analyses. Students 
will develop prototype analysis and evaluation techniques to critically assess fit, technical performance, 
quality, and sustainable practices. Students will utilize critical thinking skills to solve problems 
encountered through the style production process while employing industry techniques and standards. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 2121 
Co-requisite(s): FASN 2201 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 2241 - 3 credits   
CAD Drafting Methodologies  
Students will learn to operate computer-aided-design (CAD) technology to practise pattern manipulation 
techniques conforming to apparel industry standards. They will transfer manual pattern drafting skills 
and knowledge to computer-based pattern manipulation methods, with emphasis on creating and 
determining solutions for new style development. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 1205 and 2121 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 3100 - 3 credits  
Surface Design   
Students will create unique textiles through analysis of fabric traditions of various cultures and the 
exploration and application of surface design techniques. They will increase their knowledge of structural 
and sustainable surface design processes by producing textiles using a variety of contemporary media 
and techniques. Students will engage in creative exploration of surface design problems and prepare 

https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%201215
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=ENGL%201100
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202116
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202121
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202201
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%201205
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202121
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           9 

presentations of textile and fashion design solutions through tactile, visual, verbal and written 
communication. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 2215 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 3101 - 3 credits   
Apparel Product Development  
Students will analyze product development design and merchandising processes utilized in the global 
apparel industry. They will collaborate to formulate seasonal collection design solutions utilizing 
consumer analysis, strategic planning, and forecasting research. They will propose solutions that 
consider the balance of ethical, social, environmental, and economic interests throughout the line 
development process. Students will expand their knowledge and creative application of industry 
standard technology throughout the product development planning, communication, and presentation 
process. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): All of (a) FASN (2200 or 2201) and (b) FASN 2216 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 3110 - 3 credits   
Advanced Technical Apparel Design & Production  
Students will analyze design processes and manufacturing techniques required for technical and 
performance apparel production. They will study anthropometrics, ergonomics, and textiles technology 
to determine articulation, fit, and materials required for the design of performance garments. Students 
will assemble prototype apparel solutions for identified applications and environments with the use of 
specific industrial machinery, equipment, materials, and construction techniques. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): Both (a) FASN 2220 or 2221 and (b) FASN 2240 or 2241 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 3121 - 3 credits   
Manufacturing Methodology  
Students will interpret manufacturing methodologies and their applications for apparel production 
environments. They will apply the fundamentals of apparel engineering including productivity concepts, 
apparel production systems, and operation time studies. They will analyze costing and quality assurance 
processes in apparel manufacturing and examine domestic and global sustainable production sourcing 
strategies. Students will study manual and computer-aided- design (CAD) pattern grading and marker-
making systems for size range development and sustainable fabric utilization, as part of apparel 
manufacturing processes. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 3101 and 3110 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 3131 - 3 credits   
Draping Methodology   
Students will experiment with various methods of fabric draping utilized in apparel design. They will 
create draped three-dimensional (3D) prototypes and apparel components and analyze them for 

https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202215
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202216
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202221
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202241
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%203101
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%203110
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           10 

translation into flat patterns. They will explore innovative draped designs through interpretation of 
historical and current draping techniques used in fashion. Students will determine manufacturing 
solutions for complex draped garments using advanced pattern making and garment finishing 
techniques. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 2220 or 2221 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 3151 - 3 credits  
Professional Practices  
Students will develop skills in personal career assessment and professional practices to secure an apparel 
industry practicum placement with a design/manufacturing company. They will manage skills in resumé 
and cover letter writing, portfolio development, and interview techniques. They will analyze career 
opportunities within the local apparel industry and examine practicum procedures, human relations, and 
leadership principles for success in the workplace. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): All of: (a) CMNS 1140, (b) FASN 2200 or FASN 2201 and (c) FASN 2220 
or FASN 2221 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 3250 - 3 credits   
Professional Practicum  
Students will engage in professional industry practices through a workplace practicum with a 
design/manufacturing company in the apparel industry. They will practice applied skills, develop 
contacts in the industry, and identify opportunities for their place as future professionals in the field. 
They will utilize critical thinking and reflective practice to synthesize practical knowledge acquisition with 
prior learning. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 3151 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 4101 - 6 credits   
Collection: Design Development  
Students will integrate personal creative direction with industry practice through the identification, 
validation, and conceptualization of an apparel collection for a viable consumer market. They will refine 
verbal communication and visual presentation skills utilizing advanced technology applications in 
proposals of individual line concepts and multiple design solutions. Students will synthesize prior 
experience, education, knowledge, and skills while critically assessing the balance of creativity, 
marketability, and sustainability required for leadership in the profession. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 3200 or 3101 
Co-requisite(s): FASN 4151 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 4120 - 3 credits   
Innovative Pattern Cutting  

https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202221
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=CMNS%201140
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202201
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%202221
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%203151
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%203101
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%204151
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           11 

Students will explore contemporary and emergent sustainable apparel industry practices of innovative 
pattern cutting techniques. They will research the development of these practices and determine their 
applications for design, manual and computer-aided-design (CAD) pattern making, and manufacturing. 
Students will experiment with Zero Waste fashion design methods, specialized cutting techniques, three-
dimensional (3D) design applications, and material manipulations in the creation of apparel. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 3130 or 3131 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 4130 - 3 credits   
Advanced Digital Communication  
Students will synthesize their visual communication skills in fashion design, illustration, and print and 
media production integrating industry-standard applications to design and produce a professional digital 
portfolio. They will design and implement a fashion webpage as a marketing tool. Students will use 
animation software to create dynamic visual presentations, integrating computer-aided-design (CAD) 
skills to produce 2-dimensional (2D) to 3-dimensional (3D) garment simulations. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 4101 
Co-requisite(s): FASN 4211 and 4221 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 4151 - 3 credits   
Apparel in the Global Economy  
Students will critically analyze the apparel industry in relation to the global and local economy. Through 
study of the interrelatedness of consumer purchasing patterns, international trade regulations, and raw 
materials and production sourcing they will examine the global apparel supply chain. Students will 
manage manufacturing cost and quality analyses while evaluating the integration of ethical supply chain 
management in the development of a business scenario for an identified apparel collection. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 3120 or 3121 
Co-requisite(s): FASN 4101 
Attribute: DESN 

FASN 4211 - 3 credits   
Professional Promotion  
Students will present and promote their individual apparel design, production, marketing, and 
technological skills. They will develop a personal cohesive brand, and professional communication and 
leadership skills. Students will create marketing materials to promote an individually designed fashion 
portfolio of work for media and industry professionals, including buyers and potential employers. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 4101 
Co-requisite(s): FASN 4130 and 4221 
Attribute: DESN 

https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%203131
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%204101
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%204211
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%204221
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%203121
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%204101
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%204101
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%204130
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%204221
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           12 

FASN 4221 - 6 credits   
Collection: Production  
Students will synthesize production knowledge and technical design skills in the creation of a cohesive 
collection of constructed garments for an identified market. They will evaluate and apply appropriate 
industry standard pattern making, production, and finishing techniques. Students will create and 
produce complete specification packages for complex styles and critically evaluate and refine final 
apparel prototypes for quality, fit, performance, and promotion. 

Level: UG 
Prerequisite(s): FASN 4120 
Co-requisite(s): FASN 4130 and 4211 
Attribute: DESN 

Electives 
The 5 elective courses (15 credits) must include: 

• A minimum of two courses (6 credits) numbered 1100 or higher from non-fashion areas of study that
develop a breadth of knowledge and integrate with learning acquired in the program.

• A minimum of one course (3 credits) numbered 1100 or higher from the School of Business
• A minimum of two other courses (6 credits) numbered 1100 or higher from any area of

study.  FASN 3900, Special Topics, and FASN 4250, Self-Directed Study, are recommended.

Program Required Non-Fashion Courses 

CMNS 1140 - 3 credits   
Introduction to Professional Communication   
Students will learn how to analyze context and audience, determine purpose, message content, visual 
design and media in order to create written workplace messages that can be received, understood, used 
and retrieved with speed and accuracy. 

Level: UG 
Attributes: ASTR, BUSI 

MRKT 1199 - 3 credits   
Introduction to Marketing  
Students will learn the fundamentals of marketing and explore the relationships between companies, 
their customers and their competition. They will examine concepts that are integral to the field of 
marketing including marketing environment, customer behaviour, marketing research, product analysis, 
distribution, pricing strategies and promotion. They apply these concepts in solving marketing problems. 

Level: UG 
Attributes: ASTR, BUSI 

ENGL 1100 – 3 credits   
Introduction to University Writing   
In this introductory university writing course, students will develop their abilities in critical reading, 
analysis, critical thinking, and clear written expression. Through selected readings and a variety of media, 
students will explore, assess, and respond to arguments and issues from across disciplines and relevant 

https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%204120
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%204130
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%204211
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%203900
https://calendar.kpu.ca/search/?P=FASN%204250
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#astrtext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#astrtext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           13 

to contemporary cultures. This course will also introduce students to research methods, including 
finding, evaluating, integrating, and documenting sources. 

Level: UG 
Attributes: ASTR, ARTS, WRIT 

Appendix 3a: Course Descriptions for FASN 3900 Special Topics 

FASN 3900 
Special Topics in Fashion Design & Technology 
Credits: 3 
Students will critically engage in an intensive study of a special topic in fashion design and/or technology 
as selected by the instructor.  They will research and analyze the theory and application of a particular 
or emerging fashion topic.   

Costuming (2018) Students will be introduced to, and engage in, the process of costume design for 
theatrical production including script readings, character analysis, director perspective, and costume 
building techniques.  They will tour a working costume shop, interview professionals in the field, and 
attend a production with backstage access.  Students will collaborate to formulate and build costume 
design solutions for characters in a given play.  They will document, analyze, and present their costume 
design process through the development of a journal and resulting portfolio of work. 

Art of Mending (2019) Mending is a domestic chore, it is an art form, and it is a philosophy. It is the act 
of repairing your clothes to prolong their life and add beauty, meaning, and value. It is an antidote to 
fast-fashion and the disposable culture of cloth and clothing we currently inhabit. Mending is a skill of 
the hand, heart and mind. As a philosophy it redirects a ‘convenience’ mindset by shifting awareness to 
the intrinsic value of the clothing or cloth itself. Students will be practicing the art of mending as it exists 
in many cultures with focus on the outstanding visual, emotional, and design impact of the Japanese 
mending art of Boro. Students will be experimenting with ways of piecing, patching, stitching and 
embroidery and will be using various natural and chemical dyes to over dye for effect, design and 
coherence and as an alternative to repeated washings. The emphasis is on visible mending, obvious 
patching, stitching, embroidery as well as darning. Work will be done by hand rather than on the sewing 
machine. Students will be introduced to many types of stitching, embroidery and mending as well as 
mending implements. They will create a personal mending kit. Students will be creating a detailed 
sample book, a small group project ‘pieced quilt’ from old clothes and a ½ scale interpretation of a Boro 
(tattered or repaired) garment based on their own cultural clothing. The emphasis is on the re-use and 
repair of old clothes in. 

Canada by Design (2020) In Canada by Design we will investigate the diversity of the Canadian apparel 
industry. Through virtual museum and gallery visits, guest speakers, and exploration we will uncover 
how Canadian apparel industry entrepreneurs and artisans continue to thrive. Activities are designed to 
broaden networking, collaboration, and an understanding of the design industry. Assignments will 
include self-directed photo journaling, participating in hands-on activities, and engaging with course 
content. 

3D Futures (2021) Description:   Students will look at the impact technology can make on the future of 
design. Through researching three-dimensional visualization techniques, design theory, and the future 
of manufacturing learn how to propose designs conscious of their impact on the global environment. 
Through technologies of 3D scanning, augmented reality, and 3-dimensional illustration student will 

https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#astrtext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#courseattributestext
https://calendar.kpu.ca/courses-az/#writtext


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           14 

explore how we interact with clothing, how technology shapes us, and how to create a meaningful 
creative culture. By understanding current environmental, political, social and technological contexts of 
our time, students will create a proposal for a future fashion product that will be presented in a final 
showcase. 

Machinery (Planned for 2022) 
A Specialty Machinery Course focusing on working with knits and technical fabrics.  Through working 
with special technical machinery includes laser cutter, FRAMIS, Ultrasonic welder, seam sealer, etc. 
students will work through an assortment of projects such as a waterproof project, bag project, knit 
project as they work with machinery and gain a greater understanding of the fabrics that function best 
with the machinery. Projects may also include sew-free technologies and testing materials for 
waterproof, etc. Experimenting with applications externally vs internally, such as reflective tapes, velvet 
tapes, etc. This is a great way to see how fabrics work tangibly with the machine.  



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           15 

Appendix 4: Program Admissions Requirements and Policies 

Admission Requirements 
In addition to the Faculty's Admission Requirements, which consist of KPU's undergraduate English 
Proficiency Requirement, the following program admission requirements apply: 

• Portfolio Review and Orientation Session

Portfolio Review and Orientation Session 
Prospective students should consult with an Academic Advisor, or with the Chip and Shannon Wilson 
School of Design prior to applying. Faculty will review the eligibility of candidates based on the contents 
of their portfolio. For detailed information about the Fashion and Technology portfolio requirements 
and review process, visit the department's website at kpu.ca/design/portfolio 

Upper-Level Program Admission 
In addition to the program admission requirements, applicants may be eligible for advanced standing to 
the program at an upper level. An individual portfolio review is required. 

Continuance Requirements 
Seat availability is based on priority for students who continue in all courses as per the prescribed 
program plan. Students who are unable to meet course requirements to continue with the program plan 
or who decide to take a break from their studies, may be removed from program. Re-admission into the 
program will be based on seat availability and approval by the program. 

https://calendar.kpu.ca/admissions/english-proficiency-requirements/
https://calendar.kpu.ca/admissions/english-proficiency-requirements/
http://www.kpu.ca/design/portfolio


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           16 

Appendix 4a: Statement of Interest Form 

FASHION + TECHNOLOGY  
Applicant Statement of Interest: First Year Entry 

Applicant Name: 

Provide rationale for a pursuit of fashion education: 

What is your background interest in fashion and creative pursuits? 

Describe your goals and aspirations for a career in the apparel industry: 

Why have you decided to apply to the Fashion and Technology program at the Wilson School of Design 
at KPU? 

If you aren’t from the Vancouver area, why are you hoping to study fashion here? 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           17 

Appendix 4b: Applicant Reference Form 

FASHION + TECHNOLOGY 
Applicant Reference Form 

Please complete the following information about the applicant. If assistance is needed, please 
email: fashiondesign@kpu.ca 

Completed references are needed before an applicant may be interviewed for a seat in the 
program.  If you are unable to complete this reference in a timely manner, please contact the 
applicant so that they might ask an alternate. 

If you are unable to complete any questions, feel free to leave them blank. 

Thank you for your time and support of this applicant. 

Applicant Name: 

Name of Referee: 

Referee Title & Contact Information (phone & email): 

In what capacity do you know the applicant? 

Describe the applicant’s work ethic and professionalism, including dependability and reliability: 

Describe the applicant’s leadership skills (ability to plan, lead, and support others): 

Describe the applicant’s problem-solving skills and their ability to stay on task: 

How does the applicant adapt to changing circumstances, and cope with stressful situations? 

mailto:fashiondesign@kpu.ca


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           18 

Does the applicant receive feedback and respond to suggestions well? 

Based on your observations and work with the applicant, please comment on their suitability for the 
Fashion and Technology program at KPU: 

I feel this applicant’s main talents and abilities are: 

Please comment or elaborate on any areas that you have reservations concerning the applicant’s 
suitability for admission to the Fashion and Technology program: 

Please rank the applicant on their verbal communication and comprehension: 

Please rank the applicant on their writing skills: 

Please recommend the applicant for the Fashion and Technology program by choosing from one of the 
following: 

Is there any other information you would like to provide? 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           19 

Appendix 5: Credential completion requirements and standards 

Upon successful completion of this program, students are eligible to receive a Bachelor of Design, 
Fashion and Technology. 

Completion of the program includes successfully completing: 
• 29 unique Fashion and Technology Program Courses
• ENGL 1100, Introduction to University Writing
• CMNS 1140, Introduction to Professional Communications
• MRKT 1199, Introduction to Marketing
• 15 Elective Credits

o The 5 electives (15 credits) must include:
 Minimum of two general education courses (non-fashion electives)
 Minimum of one course from the Faculty of Business
 Minimum of two other electives from any area of study.

• FASN Electives available:
o FASN 3900 - Special Topics in Fashion Design & Technology
o FASN 4250 - Self Directed Study.

Upon successful completion of the requirements for Years 1 and 2 (courses identified in program model), 
students are eligible to exit the program and receive a Diploma in Fashion and Technology. 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           20 

Appendix 6: Business of Fashion Awards for KPU Fashion & Technology Program 

Undergraduate fashion school rankings for the Business of Fashion 
The KPU Fashion and Technology program is the only Canadian fashion school to be highlighted at the 
undergraduate level.  The Business of Fashion site is a globally recognized, industry led news source on 
the global fashion industry.  

About Business of Fashion: 
The Business of Fashion is recognised around the world for its authoritative, analytical point of view on 
the $2.5 trillion global fashion industry. Our mission is simple: build fashion’s global membership 
community to open, inform and connect the industry. 

Serving members in more than 125 countries, BoF combines independent, agenda-setting journalism 
with practical business advice, online learning, career-building tools and immersive events and 
experiences, powering positive change in fashion and the wider world. 

Over time, this pioneering approach has made BoF the leading source of intelligence for the industry, 
and one of its most respected and influential voices, simply because you won’t find BoF’s original 
reporting and analysis anywhere else. 

Retrieved May 1, 2021 from https://www.businessoffashion.com/about 

https://www.businessoffashion.com/education/best-schools/undergraduate/fashion-design


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           21 

 Program Currency and Connections 

Appendix 7: Competitor Program Models 

Appendix 7a: Ryerson University – Fashion (BDes) 

The School of Fashion is launching a revised undergraduate curriculum for students admitted Fall 2020 
and after. The revised curriculum provides students the flexibility to gain an understanding of the range 
of opportunities available within the interdisciplinary field of fashion. Students will have the ability to 
shape their individual curricular pathways, supported by academic advising, a foundation of core and 
fundamentals courses, and the option to choose increasingly advanced electives from a range of 
concentration areas (listed below). 

Over the course of four years, students will be able to identify their areas of interest and develop 
specialized expertise in those areas all while establishing a breadth of knowledge in fashion theory and 
practice. Working closely with subject matter experts, students will develop creative, technical, and 
theoretical skills to advance in the interdisciplinary field of fashion. 

The revised curriculum is structured as follows: 

• Core courses form the backbone of the curriculum and bring together all fashion students
throughout the four-year degree.

• Table I courses introduce skills and knowledge that form the foundation of increasingly advanced
Table II and Table III electives.

• Liberal Studies courses and University Open electives ensure students gain breadth of knowledge
and experiences and provide opportunities for students to pursue Minors.

• Table II and Table III electives are grouped into Concentrations.

Concentrations (for students admitted Fall 2020 and after)  

Concentrations offer an opportunity for students to pursue a particular area in fashion. Concentrations 
are optional and not a degree requirement. Successful completion of 8 courses in a concentration area 
results in the concentration being listed on a student’s transcript. 

1. Fashion Communication: Creative, technical and theoretical approaches of promoting fashion to
audiences through multiple platforms.

2. Fashion Design: Creative and technical approaches to designing and producing clothing using
both traditional and computer-aided design techniques.

3. Fashion Studies: Examining the broader social, cultural and economic implications of the
production, promotion and consumption of fashion.

4. Design Leadership: Developing meaningful solutions to industry problems by ideating and
producing innovative products and/or with tangible social, cultural and/or economic value.

5. Textiles and Material Practices: Engaging with methods and critical approaches to design and
create original and innovative textiles and/or accessories while working in both digital and
analogue environments.

https://www.ryerson.ca/programs/undergraduate/fashion/


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           22 

Concentrations are offered continually and are not subject to availability. Courses for fulfilling a 
Concentration come from Table II and III, and while not every course may be running each year, there 
are sufficient alternatives to complete a Concentration, should you choose to. 

Internship 
Internships provide educational experiences in the workplace and opportunities for students to connect 
with employers. Between first and fourth year students’ complete 400 total hours of internship including 
a minimum of 250 hours of documented work experience related to the fashion and communication 
industries along with a series of University-led workshops. 

Liberal Studies 
Students must take three lower level liberal studies courses and three upper level liberal studies courses 
to graduate. Students must not choose courses that are restricted for their program or major. 

Core Required (13 courses) 
All students must take these courses. These courses bring together all fashion students. 

1st Year 
• FSN 121 Design Literacy I
• FSN 105 Fashion Systems
• FSN 223 Fashion Theory
• FSN 221 Design Literacy II
• FSN 205 Fashion Systems II
• FSN 224 Refashioning History

2nd Year 
• FSN 203 History of Design
• FSN 303 Design Thinking, Process and Methods

https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2020-2021/liberal-studies/table_a.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2020-2021/liberal-studies/table_b.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/105.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/223.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/221.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/205.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/224.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/203.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/303.html


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           23 

3rd Year 
• FSN 503 Critical Issues in Design
• FSN 707 Research Methods

4th Year 
• FSN 709 Professional Aspects of Fashion
• FSN 90A/B Capstone A
• FSN 90A/B Capstone B

Core Elective Table I (Choose 5) 
These courses introduce skills and knowledge. They are prerequisites for concentration-specific 
courses in Table II and Table III. 

• FSN 101 Discovering Textiles
• FSN 124 Illustration: Fundamentals of Figure Drawing
• FDL 140 Managing Fashion Enterprises
• FDL 150 Fashion Project Management
• FFC 100 Image Making and Media
• FFC 303 Communication Design I
• FFS 102 Dress, The Body and Identity
• FFS 110 Art and Historical Change
• FMF 130 Material Sensibilities
• FFD 113 Fashion Design I

https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/503.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/707.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/709.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/90A.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/90A.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/101.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FSN/124.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion---design-leadership/FDL/140.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion---design-leadership/FDL/150.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FFC/100.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FFC/303.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion---fashion-studies/FFS/102.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion---fashion-studies/FFS/110.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion---material-and-fabrication/FMF/130.html
https://www.ryerson.ca/content/ryerson/calendar/2021-2022/courses/fashion/FFD/113.html


Appendix 7b: LaSalle College Vancouver – Bachelor of Design in Fashion Design 

Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices             June 2021   24

https://www.lasallecollegevancouver.com/fashion-school/fashion-design-bachelor


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           25 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           26 



Appendix 8: Advisory Committee Biographies 

Lisa MacCarthy, Advisory Committee: Chair (Fall 2018 – Spring 2021) 
Lisa MacCarthy is a graduate of the KPU Fashion Design Degree program with over 15 years of experience 
in the apparel industry working for large corporations like Gap Inc and lululemon as well as start up 
fashion brands.  Lisa has built a career by streamlining business operations to enable teams to build 
beautiful product. Working in roles from product development to sourcing, cost engineering to design 
operations, Lisa is passionate about the business side of the fashion industry and is an advocate for 
growing the BC apparel industry. In her current role as the Founder + Creative Director of All Sorts 
Creative, Lisa works with a network of talented independent contractors, suppliers and manufacturers 
to bring her client's vision for a clothing line to life.  

Advisory Committee: Industry Members 

Brad McCann Founder, Platform Product Solutions 
Brad is a vision-driven entrepreneur with a 28-year history in the apparel industry.  Guiding and teaching 
skiing in Whistler in the late 1980’s, Brad saw a new and exciting sport emerging on the hills.  Brad 
founded the pioneering snowboarding apparel brand, Concept Snowboard Clothing in 1989, building the 
brand into a global market-leader. In 2003, Brad launched Platform Product Solutions, a full-service 
design and development company specializing in performance apparel solutions for snow sports, cycling, 
outdoor, running, training, yoga, football, fishing, hunting, climbing, industrial, medical, law 
enforcement, and military.  Platform works with a diverse group of global clients ranging from the 
world's leading brands and retailers to emerging brands of the future. 

Kemp Edwards President and CEO, Ethical Profiling Ltd. (EP) 
A Canadian based company that consults, designs, sources and produces high quality, ethical, 
sustainable products for private label partners as well as the retail and corporate sectors. EP focuses on 
domestic manufacturing, Fair Trade practices, and proven social and environmental compliance. Outside 
of the many private label programs EP produces, the Company markets two independent brands; 
ECONIC Apparel and National Team Collective.  

Notable projects undertaken by the Company include corporate uniforming programs and general 
merchandise for the 2018 FIFA World Cup, the 2016 World Expo in Milan, the 2015 PanAm Games, the 
Sochi 2014 Olympics, and the Vancouver 2010 Olympics. ECONIC produces ethical apparel and 
merchandise for leading corporations including but not limited to Coca-Cola, Telus, LUSH, WWF, DSF, 
The UNEP, Pepsi, RBC and ME to WE.   

The National Team Collective brand was most recently launched to streamline and focus the work that 
the company has been doing with NSOs such as Swimming Canada.  

Beyond domestic production, EP works with third party audited international suppliers to ensure social 
and environmental compliance in manufacturing and to create ways to minimize environmental impact 
through innovative product design and production methods.  

Prior to launching EP in 2009, Mr. Edwards worked with several companies to develop and manage sales 
and production channels both in North America and International markets. His previous experience 
includes Corporate Olympic Sales Management for the Hudson’s Bay Company, Brand Management and 

Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices                   June 2021                                                  27 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           28 

International Sales for Global Collective Design, International and National Sales Management for A. 
Mordo and Son Ltd., and In-house sales and HR Management for Option-NFA Inc.  

Mr. Edwards has a proven track record of taking brands from their inception to multi-million dollar 
enterprises within a short period of time. He regularly consults the United Nations, Coca-Cola, RBC, Telus 
and other corporations on Ethical Sourcing matters and Corporate Social Responsibility.  

Jennifer Johnson Vice Principle, Surrey School Board 
Jennifer Johnson is currently teaching Home Economics at the brand new high school in Surrey.  Previous 
to that she was an Adjunct Professor working with the teacher candidates in the Bachelor of Education 
program at UBC in Home Economics Education.  Jennifer has been teaching since 2001 and has been the 
department head, helping teacher and Summer School Vice Principal.  Jennifer has taught courses at 
UBC in Assessment and Evaluation, Curriculum and Instruction and Inquiry to the Home Economics 
teacher candidates and at Ecole Salish Secondary teaches Food Studies, Textile Studies and Design.  She 
hopes to encourage students to explore the area of Home Economics, especially textiles and to 
encourage students to work and design with their hands. 

Kathy Bolton Founder, Threshold Design Studio 
Kathy Bolton has been involved in the garment industry for over 25 years.  After graduating with a Design 
Diploma, she started her career in the outerwear industry in Winnipeg.  She has worked for several 
Canadian companies including many years at Far West Industries.   She mastered her skills as a technical 
pattern maker/grader, Goretex specialist, and manager. In 2002 she became an entrepreneur with her 
own CAD business, Dimensions In Measure. She worked with various clients across Western Canada as 
a pattern technician, designer, CAD trainer and consultant. In 2008 she relocated to Vancouver and 
contracted for the Sympli label and then transitioned to Senior Designer with successful company growth 
over 10 years. In 2018 she decided to focus her energies back to her own business, Threshold Design 
Studio.  Her expertise covers trend/colour forecasting, sourcing, creative techniques, product 
development/design, fit analysis and consulting.  She teaches classes in creative pattern manipulation 
and is working towards creating her own label. 

Marcus Ewert-Johns Chair, BC Alliance for Manufacturing 
Marcus is the Chair of the BC Alliance for Manufacturing, a coalition of 22 industry groups that develops 
policies and programs to strengthen BC’s manufacturing industry. The Alliance delivers technical skills 
training, human resource capacity and immigration services to help small and medium sized business 
succeed. 

The Alliance championed and completed a comprehensive labour market study on the province’s large 
apparel industry to identify and build strategies so the industry has the critical skills it needs to succeed. 
Marcus has also been the catalyst to restart a provincial apparel association, BC Apparel and Gear.  
Marcus is also a Director of Peak Apparel, a local apparel manufacturer. 

Sue Jennings Home Economics Teacher, Burnaby school district 
Sue Jennings has been teaching Home Economics since graduating from UBC in 1998. She has developed 
and taught the Sewing and Textiles courses for high school students at Burnaby South Secondary for the 
last ten years. Out of personal interest and for professional development, Sue continues to take a variety 
of courses to expand and enrich her textiles knowledge and sewing experience. This has helped to 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           29 

provide her students with current information on post-secondary education options and career 
opportunities in the fashion industry.  

Tara Zeidler Director of Design, Gentle Fawn 
Hailing from Vancouver, Tara Zeidler is a graduate of Kwantlen’s Fashion and Technology program. She 
is a highly experienced designer and development team manager, working for a number of brands in 
Vancouver. She is passionate about the Vancouver Fashion industry, and loves opportunities to meet, 
mentor, share and collaborate with like minded professionals. She is currently working as the Director 
of Design at Gentle Fawn. 

Joe Tong Teacher, Richmond School District & Adjunct Professor, UBC 
An adjunct professor for Home Economics at the University of British Columbia’s Bachelor of Education 
program. As an Apple Distinguished Educator, Joe holds keen interests in design thinking and meaningful 
digital technology integration. In his spare time, Joe (with his partner Jake) leads a community children’s 
choir in Downtown Vancouver and provides cuddles for his fur baby Jethro (@theonlyjethro).  

Maryanne Mathias Co-founder of Osei-Duro Clothing 
Osei-Duro clothing is an ecommerce driven brand based in Accra, Ghana and Los Angeles. Born out of 
the designers’ shared interest in discourse between different fashion systems, Osei-Duro began as and 
still remains an experiment. Having pioneered the use of West African batik on fabrics like silk and rayon, 
Osei-Duro continues to focus on developing new and hybrid materials. They prioritize social 
responsibility and transparency in their projects, preferring to work collaboratively with a wide range of 
artisans, designers and fine artists. Sewing is done in small workshops in Ghana where they have direct 
relationships with the sewers and can ensure that their pay is well above the minimum wage. Beyond 
her work at Osei-Duro Maryanne has consulted on social enterprise projects in Vancouver’s Downtown 
Eastside 

Adam Dickson Sr Manager Creative Management, Aritzia 
A 2005 Alumni from Kwantlen's Fashion Design and Technology Program.  Adam has years of experience 
with Aritzia under the Wilfred Design Team and stayed connected to Kwantlen Students and 
Teachers.  Later at Oak + Fort he developed Design and Manufacturing chains and continued to support 
the learning and advancement of Kwantlen students with an intensive mentoring program. He he's had 
the privilege to take on a leadership role at Aritzia where he manages, mentors and grows strong teams 
to lead the Creative and Technical Design Departments. He is a proud to continue to see Kwantlen 
students grow into opportunities within the industry.  

The following individuals are also active members of the Fashion and Technology Program Advisory 
Committee: 

Lindsay Walsh: Senior Manager of Go-To-Market Management, lululemon
Toby Russell: Development Team Manager, Arc'teryx Equipment
Olivia Bickerstaff: Pattern Maker at Designer Apparel Services; Founder AKOYA Swimwear 
Seanna Schmuland: Technical Developer, lululemon
Irina McKenzie: Founder, FABCYCLE
Sally Dickson: Development Team Manager, Arc'teryx Equipment



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           30 

All current advisory committee members have completed three or more years and are out going.  We 
are looking at welcoming new advisory committee members during Fall 2021. 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           31 

Appendix 9: Recent Advisory Board Meeting Minutes 

Appendix 9a: Advisory Meeting Minutes February 27th, 2019 

MINUTES 
Fashion + Technology Advisory Committee 

Wednesday, February 27, 2019, 6-8pm, Room 4900/1950, Wilson School of Design 
1. (6:00-7:00) Room 4900 - Designer Spotlight Attendance: wander at leisure talking to the 4th year

students about their niche market collections while looking at their portfolios and some early samples –
a prelude to the upcoming fashion show/event that takes place at the end of the semester.

2. (7:00-8:00) Room 1950 - Welcome to Advisory Committee
3. Call Meeting to Order
4. Approval of Agenda, October Minutes, Review Action Items

Agenda and October minutes approved
5. Introduction of New Members

a. Joe Tong (UBC)
b. Irina McKenzie (FabCycle)
c. Sally Dickson (Arc’Teryx)

6. Industry Report/Update
Brad (Platform Product Solutions) – Was in China for 4-5 months, finished a contract. There is a new up
and coming generation of China who want original designs, not knock offs. Lululemon has been doing
well in China, there is lots of opportunity. It’s hyper competitive, both physical stores and digital.
Lindsay (lululemon) – Lululemon has been working on sizing for the Asian market and extending size
range. Also working on how to reduce protyping waste.
Shirley (Faculty) – New curriculum that includes more focus on sustainability. The students are
implementing their learning into their projects. Students are pushing the learning and changes forward.
Alex (Faculty) – Opitex version 17 is being taught to the students, the next version, version 18 has good
things to come and opportunities for students.
Maryanne (Osei Duro) – Wants to move the LA office to Vancouver eventually. Introducing in larger
sizes (2XL). Artist residency to use the scrapes left over from production. Finding that people want the
story behind the company and the clothes. The sales are driving the cool and interesting things.
Sue (Burnaby South Secondary) – High schools are becoming more conscious of their textile scrapes.
More focus on design in the new curriculum
Kathy (Threshold Design Studio) – Working with a startup that makes sustainable hats made out of
hockey bags. Seeing sustainability across the board. More artist and handmade, opposite of tech.
Sally (Arc’teryx) – Sustainability. Arc-teryx knows their fabrics are not eco. How to minimize their use
and make them more eco? Europe has a more eco approach. Manufacturing – more emphasis on
repairing. Have an excess of raw materials – how to utilize them? Limited runs? Etc. There has been
positivity around repairing, especially with dedicated customers. Large re-sale market and brand loyalty.
Toby (Arc’teryx/Our Social Fabric) – OSF KPU competition. Judging on March 7th, Submissions handed in
on February 25th. There will be a panel of judges including special guests, Tom from Native shoes and
Max Feldman. The competition was about zero waste design and textile waste. 8 entries (10 students in
total) lots of interesting ideas.
Irina (Fab-Cycle)– Fab-Cycle textile re-use space (Alex St.) Metro Vancouver to reduce textile waste.
Textile Exchange in September, international attendance.
Carolyn (Dean) – CPS courses happening this summer. KPU Budget changes happening, reductions
across the board. Low funding from government. International students are no longer the answer and
can cost more.



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021            32 

Heather (Faculty) – Denise to come in to talk to faculty about high school level curriculum changes as 
they pertain to textiles and Home Ec.  
Lesley (Faculty) – working with the fourth years to prepare them for their final collections. OSF 
completion on March 7th.  
Lisa (Private Consultant) – Digital Marketing is very big right now. Especially useful for students 
launching their brands. It’s all about how to get to their customers.  
Olivia (Akoya Swimwear)– learning more about new marketing. Social media is very competitive and 
can be difficult to get exposure. Struggling with the marketing side of things, it’s been a big shift in 
thinking.  
Jennifer (Surrey School District)– new school in Surrey. Most likely to have 1 or 2 textile classes.  
Mary (Faculty) – Optitex: the second and third year students have been doing well. With Optitex, they 
are 2 months ahead of where they would have been with Gerber.  
Jackie (Coordinator) – Vancouver seems to be the test ground for companies who want to make change. 
Joe (UBC)– Need more Fashion grads in the Home Ec. program at UBC. Design thinking is being 
introduced to schools.  

7. BC Alliance for Manufacturing: Apparel Industry Report Update – Marcus
Smaller and bigger companies need to come together.
Membership fees are based on company size. Government, academic, students are free. Need
volunteers in recruiting members.
Training programs – incubator – can’t train sewers fast enough. How to bring in more sewers? Talks with
the government for international labour unions. BC is trying to adopt Alberta’s programs.
Pathways out of High schools. Donate machinery to those who need it, colleges, etc.
Industry goal: to find talented employees. Bring in more people from Apparel. Need to influence the
government. The apparel companies need to work together to make a difference. Need to advocate to
the government.

Action: Marcus to give an update 

8. Thoughts on Designer Spotlight
Members enjoyed the Product corner at Design Spotlight
Students spoke well, had good stories and great concepts.
Sewing and pattern making lacking
Fabrics were great
Students explained their process well, professional speaking

9. Next Meeting and Wrap Up
October 9th, 6-8 

Appendix 9b: Advisory Meeting Minutes October 9th, 2019 

MINUTES 
Fashion + Technology Advisory Committee 

Wednesday, October 9th, 2019, 6pm-8pm, Room 4900, Wilson School of Design 

10. Welcome to the Advisory Committee! – Light Dinner
11. Call Meeting to Order – Lisa
12. Approval of Agenda, February Minutes, Review Action Items – Lisa
13. Interim Dean Introduction – Andhra
14. KPU Academic Plan Review – Sandy

KPU plan online – https://www.kpu.ca/vp-academic/academic-plan-2023 

https://www.kpu.ca/vp-academic/academic-plan-2023


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           33 

• Sandy is the new vice provost and works closely with Andhra and the other Deans of the
school

• Looking into sustainable enrollment planning council
• Understands the different enrollment needs for programs. Making sure deans, vice provost,

registration, and faculty are involved and going in the right direction.
• Making sure WSD is aligned with Polytechnic mandate
• Opportunities to change with the students. Reduce time on campus? Not sure if it will work

for WSD. Students looking for flexibility and sustainability.
• The university is feeling the pinch from government. No new funding has been provided.

There is a higher expectation to cover our shortcomings through KPU initiatives.
• Want to support technology heavy courses even though they’re a little pricier.
• Figure out budgeting (KPU wide)
• KPU has gone through a lot of change in a short amount of time. Its only has only been a

polytechnic university for 10 years
• WSD is a flagship space with unique programing.
• Andhra knows Sandy’s contact if there are those interested in contacting him
• Sandy spends time on all campuses to connect with faculty.

15. Review of Current FASN Curriculum –  Shirley
a. Rationale of changes from past review

• Program was a diploma until 2000, when the degree launched.
• 2014 – Most recent previous program review and re-vamp.

o Program review resulted in revisions and changes to courses including: structure,
timing, credit, and curriculum

• Shirley and Andhra spent a lot of time reworking the program. Resulting changes and
updates have been in place since fall 2017

• There was negotiating amongst the faculty and stakeholder feedback from a lot of different
people to make sure these were the right changes.

• Questions asked included: what are we doing to improve and update programing?
• Chart B: previous attachment – provides rationale for changes.
• Changes in the last program review looked at upgrading the program and avoiding revision

that would require it being sent to the ministry for approval.
• Advisory feedback welcome on current programing, and shifts for the future
• KPU senate to approve the final program review.
• 2017 changes had a focus on laddering learning and focus on solutions in sustainability (in

relating to apparel).
• Denise Dale in the library has great resources for the students.
• The Fashion & Technology degree is a generalist degree with students entering a

complicated industry
• We want to expose the students to the industry as much as possible, especially to factories

Field school: 
Action: let us know about industry contacts in the cities we’re visiting (Calgary, Banff, Toronto, 
Montreal) or send us suggestions of where we should visit 

• Tailoring the course by the students who sign up. Will be gone for 2 weeks (May 10th – 24th)
• International students and out of province students are strongly encouraged to join
• This is an opportunity to support Canadian made, designed, and inspired

16. Overview of FASN Program Review Process – Michael
a. 2020 Begin Date – See attachment



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           34 

• Pre-planning is not included in the process
• Advisory to provide feedback would be helpful – what are some themes in the industry,

what do graduates need to be prepared for?
• Students taught with the updated K-12 curriculum will be at the university level soon – how

do we best teach these students, and what knowledge will they reach university with?
• Ministry audit provides an external review of program review
• Process has been streamlined and Andhra Goundrey and David Burns can support with

being on KPU senate
• Other design programs are currently going through the program review process and are a

varying stages

Questions for upcoming program review: 
• Is there an opportunity for online courses for FASN? – Many of the courses are tactile, how

does this fit? 
• No KPU course programming is currently fully online
• There is lots to unpack in the classrooms that doesn’t always have to do with design/apparel

but some things could be streamlined to online. Partially online?  What might this look like?
• Some students work in the industry already – could online learning support this?
• Communication and presentation are important skills for learners
• 3 courses at KPU = full time

o FASN usually has 5 required courses per fall/spring semester
• Many of our students are taking (elective) courses in the summer, meaning no break

throughout the year.
• For future course planning could blended learning or block delivery for classes be further

explored?
• Students today seem to have lesser skills, grit and work ethic
• Student are in crisis across all universities.

o Student health and mental wellbeing is a huge priority
• Students aren’t always prepared for what they are getting into. Should there be more

offerings (student seats) in first year to act as a funneling system?

17. FASN Program Goals
Program review 2020 start – initial steps will begin in the new year.
Further developing our goals in December at our meeting
What does the Advisory think? What’s lacking? What goals would you like to see?

Advisory going forward: Lisa wants to see the success of the school and students in the industry. 
More clear goals: Lisa as an Advisory member wants to support and make these goals happen 
The program wants to be better prepared and Advisory to support. Attrition is a complex issue. 
Run more Continuing Education courses - Sandy looking into it 

WSD working to have a designated dean’s office staff member to help facilitate CPS and to support 
faculty.   

Questions: 
• Could students taking first year have a year of more discovery courses to determine what they

want to do? General courses? 
• We’re finding not all students want to do a 4-year degree – what does this mean for the future

of this degree program? 
• We must juggle what we want as a program vs. what students needs are



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           35 

• What are industry needs and wants vs. students needs and wants?
• Industry are looking for those open to opportunity and keeping up with the tech curve and

changes.
• KPU to move into the spaces that others aren’t – what are these?

o Micro credentials
• KPU is trying to be more nimble

18. Other Business
See attached slides from the Apparel and Gear Association meeting

https://www.bcapparelandgear.com/ 
• Reach out to industry to sign up for association
• Free for students to take part in
• Association trying to address training and lack of talent

o Co-ops, and industry taking the time to train
• Trying to fill the gaps in staffing needed with companies
• HR doesn’t always know what they are hiring for

19. Next Meeting and Wrap Up – Lisa
Next meeting: Wednesday, February 26th 6-8pm - First hour spent at Designer Spotlight 

Note: No advisory minutes exist from the February 26th, 2020 Advisory Meeting - Due to global pandemic 
there was no meeting held Fall 2020 

Appendix 9c: Advisory Meeting Minutes February 18th, 2021 
M I N U T E S 

Fashion + Technology Advisory 
6 – 7:30pm Thursday, February 18, 2021 (via Zoom) 

Item/ Discussion ACTION 
1. Call to Order – start time 6:00 pm

2. Approval of Agenda.

3. Approval of Minutes (February 2020)
3.1 No minutes exist from this meeting

4. Fashion and Technology Program Updates
4.1 Program Review feedback from survey

• Program Review has started for FASN program,
• Aim is for updated curriculum to be implemented Fall 2023
• Program review process to happen every 5 years
• Faculty currently working on the Self Study – surveys have been sent to current

students, 10 years of alumni, and industry members. Feedback gained will help to
inform potential program changes.

• Faculty are looking for specific industry input, such as what’s important in the industry,
what’s new, what’s no longer as important, what’s not working, etc.

• VERBAL FEEDBACK:
• Kathy: industry is moving towards sustainability. (especially in fabrics and business

practices.)

https://www.bcapparelandgear.com/


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           36 

 Thinking about fabric sustainability – dyes, carbon footprint, recycling
 Industry having conversations, hearing about this at the fabric trade shows
 Baking sustainability into all aspect of the program, but maybe consider making

that more transparent to the outside.
 How to apply sustainability to a business as a whole
 Allow students to specialize in the last two years, open up avenues to specialize

further – fabric innovation and knowledge is a trending asset.
• Olivia:
 More specialization could be helpful. But the degree is considered the all-

encompassing “overview” and a masters would allow for further specialization.
 Smaller classes allow for more one on one feedback and learning with instructors.

• Adam:
 Looking for grads with strong raw material knowledge, especially for dyes and

washes. Less focus on textile design.
 Aritzia has a specific ethics department and specifically hires for that job.
 Looking for grads who know how to research trends, have a marketing base, more

of a fashion focus.
 Is interested in larger graduating class sizes, but in regards to having more

students graduate, (an additional selection, as opposed to larger class sizes) so
more sections might be better.

• Maryanne:
 Looking for grads who have fashion and creativity
 Is grading and fit focusing on plus size touched on?
 Product life cycle should be considered in all aspects, shift towards zero waste

• Kemp:
 Think of things in a cycle system versus just “sustainability” as a whole
 End of life concepts into fabric being produced. Design adjustments to new

techniques coming through
• Tara:
 Some students seem to be missing the context of real life, like how things are

merchandised in a real store.
 At this point it seems like a lot is being asked from students, a lot of new stuff

being added in that can cause less depth in other things.
 Being open and transparent is important to customers and companies are moving

as fast as possible to make changes.
 The industry and students are facing similar issues

• Brad:
 Larger companies such as Canadian Tire are trying to ‘bake’ sustainability into their

products and the company.
 Making more of an effort to invest in Canada with made/designed in Canada

goods.
 Canadian factories focus and exploration

• Toby:
 Students should have more business writing and communications skills such as

writing a brief and having to stick to it.
 Knowing how to email mills, vendors, etc. is an important skill that requires

practice
 Looking into products and procedures that have the least environmental impact –

materials, finishing, chemistry, etc.
 Chemical impact, social compliance relationships

• Lisa:



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           37 

 Shift in the industry with small brands popping up and being successful. Looking
into onshore and local manufacturing. These companies are able to tell a story and
have the ability to have smaller quantities.

 Smaller brands = direct to customer
 The program has 2 choices: continue to be broad and knowledgeable about a lot or

specialize the last two years in 3 and 4 such as small business, raw materials, etc.

• GENERAL FEEDBACK:
• Most of the education seems to be focused on getting into the local industry
• Applicants are coming to the program inspired by the shift with influencers and

streetwear – big push with social media and digital marketing
• Foundational skills – key education. Andhra working hard to look into avenues for the

program
• Project management planning skills – scheduling, time, BOM, coordinating raw

materials, communicating with all people, see a project through until the end.
• Project life cycle – designers design product and know fabric and have a basic

understanding of marketing
• Fabric component missing/gap in understanding
• Experience with fabric – mentorships?
• Fabric has become more important than it used to be
• WSD/KPU still has the most well rounded grads
• Connecting the dots between things ex.) draping to pattern drafting
• Students to produce their clothing locally (factories), industry to support students in

this? Like a competition, or merit based?
• If there are ways for students to choose specialization pathways in 3rd and 4th year this

is recommended.

4.2 Remote teaching & learning 
• Students have a better understanding of certain learning with the shift online. They

have time to let things sink in better. Especially with the use of videos, students are 
able to work at their own speed.  

4.3 4th year one-on-ones – week of March 29th 
• No Designer Spotlight or fashion show events this year due to global pandemic.
• One-on-one activity an opportunity to give feedback to students on their final

collections and portfolios.
• Students will reach out for a meeting, Heather will be sharing contact info
• This will be a mentorship type role.

5. WSD Grad Website Updates
• Students will be sharing their final lines/collections and portfolios on a greater WSD

grad website along with the other programs.
• We will be sharing the link as soon as it’s live

6. Fashion Forecasting & WGSN
• Mixed results: Some of the larger companies such as Arc’teryx and Gentle Fawn use it,

but Adam at Artizia finds it to have too much content. Other members have used it



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           38 

and liked it, while others have never used it and find success in other sites such as 
Fashion Snoops, Tagwalk, etc.  

7. Class Size
• Advisory is interested in larger class sizes, but in regards to having more students

graduate, (an additional selection) so more sections might be better than having a
larger class size (increases from current 22) per section.

8. General Program Feedback & Insight

8.1 Industry Updates
• Refer to 4.1

8.2 Clothing, Fashion & Textiles at the Secondary Level Update
• Jennifer Johnson (now Vice Principle with Surrey School Board): Covid has made things

much more difficult for teaching and learning, especially for the hands on courses.
Currently schools are working on mixed hybrid approach of mornings in person, virtual
in afternoons, and alternating with an afternoon in person once a week. This format
can be a struggle depending on when specific courses are scheduled, such as if textiles
are scheduled in the afternoon versus morning.

9. Advisory Committee Term
• Membership will have a 3-year term. Those on a committee beyond a 3-year term, or

at a 3-year term this Spring will be thanked for their time so we can then welcome new
members.

10. Next Meeting: 6:00 – 7:30pm on Thursday, May 13th 2021



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           39 

Appendix 10: Membership Association Descriptions 

Appendix 10a:  BC Apparel and Gear Association  

Association Description: 
You are a professional (or aspiring professional) of British Columbia’s rich and diverse Apparel and Gear 
Industry.  In the past decade, British Columbia has made a name for itself on the global stage as a 
breeding ground for innovative, fashion forward, technical gear and apparel. Leading the way for us are 
globally recognized brands such as Arc’teryx and lululemon. But, as you know, the list of companies is 
exhaustive. But, no matter if you are a start-up entrepreneur, supplier, designer, student, all are 
welcome and we need to hear all voices. In fact, our industry is projected to support 11,350 BC jobs by 
2025. Isn’t that amazing? 

We need to band together to make our industry’s interests known and addressed at government levels; 
local, provincial and federal. Connecting industry with schools is also one of our mandates. We are a 
force, but it will take people to come together for that purpose. People like you! 

The BC Apparel & Gear Association is looking for voices to join together and become stronger together 

MEMBERSHIP ADVANTAGES 

N E T W O R K I N G  ( C O M M U N I T Y ,  I N T E R A C T I O N S ,  C O N N E C T I O N S )  

• Benefit from privileged access to a dynamic business network: designers, manufacturers,
wholesalers-distributors, retailers, sector-based associations, government authorities, investors,
education and research institutions, and many other corporations-organizations in the
ecosystem.

• Generate new business opportunities during exclusive networking activities.
• Participate in events, missions and activities on the national and international scenes.
• Take advantage of twinning, mentoring and coaching processes.

R E P R E S E N T A T I O N  ( V O I C E ,  B E  H E A R D )  

• Contribute to ongoing, active industry representation within public institutions and other
organizations.

• Contribute to the rise of the industry by participating in BCAG’s Strategic Areas of Focus, in
solutions development and concrete action plan implementation.

• Make your position known and express your concerns about main industry’s priority projects.
• Represent the Apparel and Gear industry during corporate activities and events.
• Business Intelligence
• Stay informed of best practices, trends, and obtain first access to news and innovations.
• Attend workshops, training programs, and conferences offered by renowned experts.

O U T R E A C H  ( D E V E L O P M E N T ,  P R O M O T I O N )  

• Distribute personal news and announcements through our communication and social media
platforms.

• Increase your visibility and advertise your services on BCAG’s new interactive website.
• Submit your nomination to BCAG Board of Directors.

https://www.bcapparelandgear.com/


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           40 

• Participate in the industry’s mobilizing movement aiming to associate and regroup sector players
around common outreach and activation strategies, promoting the know-how, creativity,
ingenuity and innovation of the industry.

Appendix 10b: Apparel Affinity Group (AAG) 

Group Description: 
Originally created by the Apparel Human Resources Council and now supported in part by the Canadian 
Apparel Federation (CAF), the Apparel Affinity Group (AAG) as a sub-committee of CAF serves the 
following mission: “… (to) provide teachers and administrators in Canadian fashion schools with a place 
and time to gather and work together to meet the challenges that await them, and carry out initiatives 
that will improve the design, production, and marketing curriculum of fashion and apparel training 
programs across Canada.” 

Since its inauguration in 2004, the AAG annual national conference has taken place on college and 
university campuses across Canada, hosted by member schools, to give all AAG members the 
opportunity to participate.  Each conference offers fashion instructors the chance to tour a thriving 
Canadian apparel industry destination in combination with sessions that include industry guests, 
colleagues, and graduates from a variety of post-secondary fashion programs offering courses in textiles, 
merchandising, design, marketing, and production. 

Appendix 10c: BC Society for the Museum of Original Costume (SMOC) 

Group Description: 
Originally named the Original Costume Museum Society – SMOC was founded in 1992 to collect historic 
fashion, traditional costume, and textiles to create a museum of historic fashion and fabric arts. 

We’re home to thousands of artifacts that date from circa 1800 to today. From glamour and glitz to 
everyday grit, we recreate the story of how people have adorned themselves in all walks of life for 
centuries. 

Appendix 10d: THESA (Teachers of Home Economics Specialist Association) 

Group Description: 
THESA is a provincial specialist association of the British Columbia Teachers Federation. Our members 
are Home Economics educators in British Columbia, Canada, collaborating together for the 
betterment of individuals, families, and communities! 

https://www.smoc.ca/
https://www.thesa.org/


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           41 

Appendix 11: Continuing Professional Studies (CPS) Courses 

CPS SUMMER 2017-FSDP COURSE DESCRIPTIONS 

TEACHERS/GENERAL INTEREST 
FSDP 9017 | Textile Techniques – Felting ($575) 
July 31-August 4, 2017  
Daily from 8:30am - 5:30pm, Richmond Campus 
This course will provide participants with a unique and enjoyable exploration of various textile 
treatments and techniques especially focusing on felting and silkscreen. These techniques will be taught 
with instructions that make the processes a learning experience not only for the craft itself but also for 
the history and cultural understanding of these processes and their relevance to the textile work and 
innovations of today. The emphasis will be on felting and silk-screening for fashion accessories. Although 
there are disparate practices through the work of this course, we will see them relate as 
teaching/creative motivators.  

FSDP 9012 | Beginner's Sewing ($550) 
August, 8-12, 2017 (Tuesday to Saturday) 
Daily from 8:30am - 5:30pm, Richmond Campus 
Learn the basics of sewing in a fun and inspired environment. Students will learn basic techniques such 
as seam finishes, zippers and pockets on industrial sewing machines.  Also included is the exploration 
and development of a personalized creative project. This course may be used for high school teachers 
to use as credit towards their Home Economics Certificate at UBC, however anyone with an interest in 
the rewarding pursuit of sewing is welcome. 

FSDP 9016 | Intermediate Sewing/Introduction to Pattern Drafting ($550) 
August 14-18, 2017  
Daily from 8:30am - 5:30pm, Richmond Campus 
Students will learn intermediate techniques such as garment finishing, pattern manipulation and several 
classroom adaptable projects on industrial sewing machines. They will create garment samples, patterns 
and lesson plans, producing a creative library of projects for the classroom.  This course may be used for 
high school teachers to use as credit towards their Home Economics Certificate at UBC, however anyone 
with an interest in the rewarding pursuit of sewing is welcome. 

TEEN SUMMER ACADEMY 
FSDP 9019| Textiles Techniques Academy ($250) 
August, 8-12, 2017 (Tuesday to Friday) 
Ages 14-18 
Daily from 9:00am to 3pm 
Ever wondered how the cool print designs on your favourite clothes are created? Come and explore 
some exciting ways of making fabrics with images and layouts that you have designed. You'll be 
introduced to various techniques to allow you to reproduce those images onto cloth. These will include 
simple silkscreen methods, as well as stamping and mono-printing with textile paints. You will be starting 
your project by learning all the steps to preparing and dyeing your own fabrics. You will be designing, 
dyeing and printing full yardages; creating original fabrics for your own garments.  You will make 2 
meters of fabric enough to allow you to make a skirt, top or bag.  You will also learn to further enhance 
the fabric with some surface embellishment such as foiling and stitching.  



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           42 

FSDP 9001 | Design Academy ($250) 
August 14-18, 2017 
Ages 14-18 
Daily from 9am to 3pm 
High school students will explore the fashion design process and discover opportunities in fashion 
careers. They will create themes and storyboards for inspiration, draw fashion figures and styles, drape 
fabrics for garment ideas, and practice digital drawing on the computer with Adobe Illustrator©. Each 
student will leave with a personalized fashion portfolio created during the session to encourage further 
learning and/or support an application into fashion design post-secondary programs.  This will also 
include a T-shirt with a custom designed graphic.  All supplies are included and no previous experience 
in drawing is necessary - just a passion for design and the curiosity to learn how to put creative ideas 
into action.   

FSDP 9002 | Sewing Academy ($250) 
August 21-25, 2017 
Ages 14-18 
Daily from 9:00am to 3pm 
This course if offered to high school students who would like to upgrade their sewing skills and gain 
experience using an industrial sewing machine.  Lessons include exploration with fabrics, stitches and 
seams, zippers, pockets and other garment details.  Each student will leave with a personalized, creative 
project developed during the session to encourage further learning and/or support an application into 
fashion design post-secondary programs.  Some previous experience using a domestic machine is highly 
recommended to gain the most benefit from this course. 

CPS SUMMER 2018-FSDP COURSE DESCRIPTIONS 

Summer Fashion Academy – KPU Richmond Campus 
Tuesday, August 7- Saturday, August 11 - FSDP 9020 | Textile Techniques Academy 
Ever wondered how the cool print designs on your favourite clothes are created? Come and explore 
some exciting ways of making fabrics with images and layouts that you have designed. You will be 
introduced to various techniques to allow you to reproduce those images onto cloth. These will include 
simple silkscreen methods, as well as stamping and mono-printing with textile paints. You will be starting 
your project by learning all the steps to preparing and dyeing your own fabrics. You will be designing, 
dyeing and printing full yardages; creating original fabrics for your own garments. You will make 2 meters 
of fabric enough to allow you to make a skirt, top or bag. you will also learn to further enhance the fabric 
with some surface embellishment such as foiling and stitching. 
Ages 14 - 18 
Non-credit course. 
Cost: $250.00 + GST CRN 70237 
Daily from 9:00 am to 3:00 pm 

Monday, July 30 - Friday, August 3 - FSDP 9001 | Summer Design Academy 
Students will explore the fashion design process.  They will create themes and storyboards, draw simple 
fashion figures, drape fabrics for garment ideas, and practice drawing on computer with Adobe 
Illustrator.  Each student will leave with a personalized fashion portfolio and lesson plans to bring back 
to the classroom.  No previous experience in drawing is necessary. 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           43 

Ages 14 - 18 
Non-credit course. 
Cost: $250.00 + GST CRN 70238 
Daily from 9am to 3pm 

Monday, August 13 - Friday, August 17 - FSDP 9002 | Summer Sewing Academy 
Students will learn basic techniques such as seam finishes, zippers and pockets on industrial sewing 
machines. They will create a personalized, creative project that encourages further learning and supports 
an application into fashion design post-secondary programs. 
Ages 14 - 18 
Non-credit course. 
Cost: $250.00 + GST CRN 70239 
Daily from 9:00am to 3pm 

Monday, August 20 - Friday, August 24 - FSDP 9018 | Summer Drafting Academy 
This course is offered to high school students who would like to gain and upgrade their pattern making 
skills.  Lessons include exploration of pattern drafting methods, tools and supplies and varying 
techniques. Each student will leave with a personalized, creative project developed during the session 
to encourage further learning and/or support an application into fashion design post-secondary 
programs.  Some previous experience using a domestic machine is highly recommended to gain the most 
benefit from this course. 
Ages 14 - 18 
Non-credit course. 
Cost: $250.00 + GST  
Daily from 9:00am to 3pm 

Monday, July 30 - Friday, August 3 - FSDP 9017 | Textile Techniques with Felting 
This course will provide participants with an unique and enjoyable exploration of various textile 
treatments and techniques especially focusing on felting and silkscreen. These techniques will be taught 
with instructions that make the processes a learning experience not only for the craft itself but also for 
the history and cultural understanding of these processes and their relevance to the textile work and 
innovations of today. The emphasis will be on felting and silk-screening for fashion accessories. Although 
disparate practices through the work of this course we will see them relate as teaching/creative 
motivators. 
Cost: $575.00 + GST CRN 70234 
8:30 am - 5:30 pm 

Tuesday, August 7 - Saturday, August 11 - FSDP 9012 | Beginner's Sewing 
Students will learn basic techniques such as seam finishes, zippers and pockets on industrial sewing 
machines. They will create a sample sewing book and lesson plans to be used in the classroom and 
produce a creative final project. 
Cost: $550.00 + GST CRN 70235 
8:30am - 5:30pm 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           44 

Monday, August 13 - Friday, August 17 - FSDP 9016 | Intermediate Sewing & Pattern Making 
Students will learn intermediate techniques such as garment finishing, pattern manipulation and several 
classroom adaptable projects on industrial sewing machines. They will create garment samples, patterns 
and lesson plans, producing a creative library of projects for the classroom. 
Cost: $550.00 + GST CRN 70236 
8:30 am - 5:30 pm 

Monday, August 20 - Friday, August 24 - FSDP 9015 | Reworking Commercial Patterns 
Students will learn pattern design and alteration techniques to easily learn and be able to teach 
manipulation of commercial patterns. They will learn the basics of pattern drafting and sew prototypes 
to assess fit and design.  Throughout the course participants will work with a range garment types and 
experiment with fit for different body types during group fittings. 
Cost: + GST CRN 70236 
8:30 am - 5:30 pm 

CPS SUMMER 2019-FSDP COURSE DESCRIPTIONS 

Design & Fashion Intensive Academy: FSDP 9025  
July 2nd – 5th, 4 days, 9am - 5pm 28 Hours total 
This course is for you if you are between the ages of 12 – 18 and have an interest in fashion.  Topics 
covered will include design theory and designing for fashion, sewing with an industrial sewing machine, 
exploring the local Vancouver apparel industry, and working with patterns. 

Fabrications: FSDP 9026 
July 8th – 12th, 5 days, 8:30am - 5:30pm 40 Hours total 
Working with a range of fabrications and textiles participants will cover a number of different skills such 
as how to properly work with, sew, finish, and care for a variety of different textiles.  Fabrications covered 
will include, but not be limited to: leather, lace, shear fabrics, technical fabrics, and implementing 
circuitry into textiles.  Throughout the course a number of small projects and samples will be created 
using a variety of textiles. 
*Note, additional course cost to cover materials used in course - $50 per person

Sewing and Fitting Pants: FSDP 9027 
July 15th – 19th, 5 days, 8:30am - 5:30pm 40 Hours total 
Starting with a pattern, participants will work through sewing a pair of pants.  Topics covered will include 
pattern manipulations, pattern and prototype fitting, and sewing finishing details.  General topics such 
as fitting, and how to fix fit issues will be explored.  Drafting a pant pattern with custom measurements 
will be discussed and time depending, samples for fitting will be created. 
*Note, you should have basic sewing skills to get the most out of this course
*Additional course fee ($100 per person) will cover all required supplies including fabric and notions to
make a finished pair of jeans 

Surface Design: FSDP 9028  
July 29th – August 2nd, 5 days, 8:30am - 5:30pm 40 Hours total 
Throughout the course participants will explore different methods of fabric dying and fabric printing, 
learning why, when, and how to use each method. Working with either chemical or natural dyes, 
participants will dye and then block print and/or silk screen 2-3 meters of fabric yardage.  Fabric at the 
end of the week will be ready for creating a garment with.  



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           45 

*Note, sewing will not be covered in this course
*Note, additional course cost to cover materials - $30 per person

Introductory Sewing: FSDP 9029  
August 6th – August 10th, 5 days,  8:30am - 5:30pm (Tuesday to Friday) 

8:30am – 4pm (Saturday) 40 Hours total 
An introduction to sewing, this course will cover beginning sewing skills such as threading the sewing 
machine, fabric, and pattern layout.  Participants, using industrial sewing machines, will work through 
sewing samples and techniques including seams, seam finishing, and zipper applications.  Projects will 
be discussed on the first day of the course and could include project such as pencil cases, tote, duffel, or 
simple backpack. 
A possible course field trip to a fabric store will be included. 
*Note, pattern drafting will not be covered in this course

Introduction to Pattern Drafting & Design: FSDP 9030  
August 12th – August 16th, 5 days, 8:30am - 5:30pm 40 Hours total 
Explore the prototyping process through pattern design and sample making.   
This course will discuss the differences between a block and a pattern, cover concepts such as dart 
manipulation, and work through measuring the body for pattern development.  Participants will draft a 
basic block with custom measurements, discuss fit through fitting a mockup of the block, and work 
through pattern manipulation to create a personal design. 
*Note, to get the most out of this course you should have basic sewing skills and have worked with
sewing patterns previously.   
Final work for the course may not be a completely finished garment. 

Apparel Design In Vancouver: FSDP 9031  
August 19th – August 23rd, 5 days, 8:30am - 5:30pm 40 Hours total 
This course will cover design from a number of different perspectives. Apparel design will be explored 
through field trips to local galleries and exhibitions, studios, and retails stores.  Guest speaker(s) will talk 
to their expertise and background.  Basic design principles will be covered; the concept of design thinking 
will also be explored and what it means for current education and conceptualization.  Through a self-
directed project (photo journal, journal/sketchbook, portfolio piece, etc.) participants will be able to 
further explore the local industry. 

Introduction: Sewing, Pattern Making & Design: FSDP 9032 
August 26th – August 27th, 2 days, 9am - 4pm 12 Hours total 
This course is for you if you are newly admitted to a Wilson School of Design, or considering applying to 
one of the design programs.  Topics covered will include an introduction and refresher for working with 
industrial sewing machines and sergers, basic pattern making knowledge and theory about pattern 
manipulation, and design conceptualization.  A predetermined project will be worked on throughout the 
workshop that will incorporate skills covered. 

*Note, skills and knowledge covered would be appropriate for students interested or entering the
fashion & technology program, the product design program, or the technical apparel program. 

Note: No CPS Fashion focused courses offered Summer 2020 as a result of the global pandemic. 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           46 

CPS SUMMER 2021-FSDP COURSE DESCRIPTIONS 

Introduction to Sewing: Sewing Collared Shirts 
This online course, taking place between May and August, covers foundational sewing knowledge 
including how to purchase fabrics and how to work with PDF sewing patterns. Lessons are a blend of 
pre-recorded video, multimedia, and optional face-to-face online discussion and check-ins. Throughout 
this course you will be constructing a unisex long-sleeve button-up utility shirt. Course content explores 
working with woven fabrics, and sewing collars, collar stands, button plackets, pockets, setting in sleeves 
and sleeve cuffs. All of the online video demonstration tutorials include clear directions and trouble-
shooting tips. With this self-paced format, students should expect to spend between two to four hours 
per week on course content and project work, on a total of 10 topics. Registration will remain open until 
mid-June. 

Course dates: Asynchronous and Self-Paced with optional instructor check-ins throughout the summer 
Course opens May 11th  

Canada by Design 
An exploration of Canadian fashion, apparel and textiles.  The Canadian apparel industry is diverse with 
each province, city, and community having its own distinct feel.  In Canada by Design we will investigate 
the diversity of design in Canada with a fashion, apparel and textile focus. Through readings, guest 
speakers, and inquiry we will uncover how the Canadian apparel industry and its many companies, 
entrepreneurs and artisans thrive. Course activities are designed to broaden your understanding of the 
Canadian design industry in exciting and creative ways.  This is an online, self-paced course taking place 
between May and August. You should expect to spend approximately 40 hours in total on this course to 
meet the learning outcomes. Registration will remain open until late July. 

Course dates: Asynchronous and Self-Paced with optional instructor check-ins throughout the summer 
Course opens May 11th 

Summer Design Foundation Academy 
Interested in learning more about what designers do? Learn from a range of design educators from the 
Wilson School of Design and create inspiration materials and illustrations, transform shapes into soft 
objects, and practice photo manipulation through computer programs like Adobe Photoshop.  Each day 
includes a different design area and projects done at home while working with your instructor 
online.  Each student will build a personalized design portfolio and projects that will be valuable for a 
future in design.  No previous experience needed ages 12+  Registration will remain open until late July. 
Course dates: August 3, 4, 5, 6, 2021 

https://www.kpu.ca/cps/design
https://www.kpu.ca/cps/design


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           47 

Appendix 12: Wilson School of Design Social Media Platforms 

Instagram - @wilsondesignkpu 

Facebook – Wilson School of Design at KPU 

LinkedIn – The Wilson School of Design at Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

https://www.instagram.com/wilsondesignkpu/?hl=en
https://www.facebook.com/WilsonDesignKPU
https://www.linkedin.com/school/kwantlen-polytechnic-university---wilson-school-of-design/mycompany/


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           48 

Twitter – Wilson School of Design at KPU 

https://twitter.com/WilsonDesignKPU?ref_src=twsrc%5Egoogle%7Ctwcamp%5Eserp%7Ctwgr%5Eauthor


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           49 

Design Loop 
A weekly newsletter from the Wilson School of Design 
"The newsletter was created as a tool to connect faculty, staff and students together and is an internal resource 
to share various activities and events across the school. It is also shared with key KPU staff across various 
departments such as Marketing, Communications, Major Events Team, Future Students' Office and 
International Recruiting. It launched in October 2020, and has been issued on a weekly basis since. The 27th 
issue was just released on April 28." 

https://www.smore.com/qxatw (links to previous editions at bottom of webpage) 

https://www.smore.com/qxatw


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           50 

Appendix 13: Student Demand for the Program 

Year Number 
of 

Applicants 

Number of Applicants 
Interviewed/Completed 

SlideRoom Portfolio 

Number of First 
Year Applicants 

Accepted 

Number of Advanced 
Entry Students 

Accepted 
Fall 2021 93 61 22 5 
Fall 2020 106 56 22 5 
Fall 2019* 99 51 22 3 
Fall 2018 105 69 39 2 
Fall 2017 107 66 44 3 

*NOTE:
• Slideroom was introduced for Fall 2018 intake to manage applicant portfolios
• Starting Fall 2019 first year intake was reduced to 22 with a removal of a program cohort
• We define advanced entry as an applicant entering the program at a point beyond first year fall,

however some applicants entering first year may receive limited credit for previously completed
course work.



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           51 

 Quality of Curriculum Design 

Appendix 14: SlideRoom Overview 
SlideRoom is a portfolio assessment platform that is used by all programs in the Wilson School of 
Design at KPU. 

https://www.slideroom.com/


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           52 

Appendix 15: Career Pathways 

Appendix 15a: Job titles that alumni of the fashion and technology program hold 

Note that this list is not exhaustive of career paths of alumni, ad excludes alumni roles outside of the 
fashion and apparel industry.  Note that many companies within the fashion and apparel industry 
may have their own unique names for roles that don’t always align with job tasks of the same role in 
another company.   

Many of our alumni also pursue entrepreneurship while completing the program, or upon 
graduation.  Alumni founded companies may be found in Appendix 15b.

• Designer
• Design Assistant
• Technical Designer
• Entrepreneur/Founder
• Technical (Product) Developer
• Design Manager
• Pattern Maker
• Production Assistant
• Stylist
• Supervisor
• Sale Representative
• Sourcing Coordinator
• Assistant Print Developer
• Product Assembly Specialist
• Project Manager
• Associate Manager (Retail)
• Product Developer
• Associate Designer
• Virtual Image Creation Engineer

• Educator
• Product Integrity Associate
• Developer Content Creator
• Print Designer & Developer
• Pattern and Production Manager
• Operations Manager
• Design Developer
• Development Team Assistant
• Freelancer
• Seamstress & Tailor
• Production Coordinator
• Costume Designer
• Brand Manager
• Technical Designer
• Technical Coordinator
• Graphic Designer
• Artist
• Virtual Image Creator Engineer

Appendix 15b: Entrepreneurship & Alumni Founded Companies 

MADE 
https://madeoutdoor.ca/ 
Alumni Cheryl LeBarr (2012) and Capri Phillip (2015) are co-founders of MADE, along with a third partner 
Dustin Butcher.  MADE, launching Fall 2021, aims to deliver gender inclusive outdoor technical apparel 
that fits each unique wearer by providing options for fit customizations. 

MADE soft launched this past spring with an Indigogo campaign that was fully funded in April 2021. 

NOCTEX 
https://www.shopnoctex.com/ 
Noctex, founded by alumni Negin Izad (2015) who came into the Fashion and Technology program with 
a foundation already established for her company.  Upon graduation Negin has continued to build her 

https://madeoutdoor.ca/
https://www.indiegogo.com/projects/made-custom-made-to-measure-shell-jacket#/
https://www.shopnoctex.com/


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           53 

company, using 90% deadstock fabrics to create designs that are androgynous and shape shifting layers. 
Production for the label is all done within the Vancouver, BC area. 
Since graduation Negin has continued to support the Fashion and Technology program by hosting 
practicum students. 

REVOL UNDIES 
https://revolundies.com/ 
Conceptualized by Sara Jonsdottir (2016) in her graduating thesis collection, Sara is the founder and CEO 
of Revol Undies, period proof underwear.  At REVOL they aim to ensure individuals feel protected during 
their cycle, while also feeling empowered.  Production for REVOL is done in house. 

Since making the shift to running REVOL UNIDES full time Sara has employed a number of Fashion and 
Technology students and alumni in production roles and more.  Sara has also hosted practicum students 
in the past 3 years. 

STITCH A SOTRY SEWING SCHOOL  
https://www.stitchastorysewingschool.com/ 
Founded by alumni Sarah Woodburne (2018) in 2015, Sarah offers sewing camps and classes to kids at 
her sewing school based in Delta BC. 

PURE MAGNOLIA 
https://puremagnolia.ca/ 
Conceptualized by Patricia Nayel (2009) in her graduating thesis collection, Patricia went on to found 
Pure Magnolia, a sustainable wedding gown company, post-graduation.  Patricia hosted practicum 
students during her time with the company, and went on to sell the company in Fall 2019. 

Pure Magnolia continues to function as a company and host practicum students when the right fit is 
found.  Patricia has moved on to working with Oremony Design Corp. and continues to support practicum 
students in her role there. 

FORTIV 
https://www.fortiv.ca/ 
Conceptualized by Michelle Larsen (2015) in her graduating thesis collection, Michelle circled back to 
this collection starting it as a business in winter 2018.  Michelle works out of her home based studio in 
Vancouver, BC, to create responsibly made clothing.   

AKOYA 
https://akoyaswimwear.com/ 
Conceptualized by Olivia Bickerstaff (2017) in her graduating thesis collection, Olivia has continued this 
brand post-graduation as she continues to work in full time positions in the local industry.  Akoya crates 
high quality swimwear for women in sizes XS to 4X.  Their mission is to enhance a woman’s natural curves 
and ensure they are confident and comfortable. 

Olivia has brought her industry experience to her role on the Fashion and Technology Program Advisory 
Committee. 

https://revolundies.com/
https://www.stitchastorysewingschool.com/
https://puremagnolia.ca/
https://www.fortiv.ca/
https://akoyaswimwear.com/


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           54 

JOSEPHINE CLARKE TEXTILES 
https://josephineclarketextiles.com/pages/about-page-2 
Upon her graduation Josie (2018) received an offer to be part of the Customs House Artisan Incubator in 
Cape Breton, NS and has used her time there to grow her business, Josephine Clarke Textiles, and to 
further develop her practice as an artist.    Josie was recently a recipient of a Canadian Council Grant and 
is in the process of opening her own studio. 

https://josephineclarketextiles.com/pages/about-page-2
https://capebretoncraft.com/artist-programs/customs-house/
https://canadacouncil.ca/funding/grants


Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           55 

Appendix 16: UBC x KPU Pathway to BEd 

TH E U N IV E R S ITY 0 F B R ITISH C 0 LU M B IA 

Teacher Education Office 
Faculty of Education 

UBC's Home Economics Program 

The Faculty of Education at the University of British Columbia (UBC) is the only 
university in BC that prepares Home Economics teachers for the secondary schools 
(grades 8-12) and middle schools (grades 6-9). Upon completion of our program, 
you will receive a Bachelor of Education (B.Ed.) and be a certified teacher. 

The Bachelor of Education program is a fulltime 11-month program (including 
practice teaching experiences), that is a post-degree program. 

To be eligible, students must present: 
• A bachelor's degree (completed prior to starting the B.Ed)
• 6 credits of English literature and composition (Communications and

Creative Writing courses are not eligible)
• 30 credits of Home Economics coursework (including senior level

coursework in 2 out of 3 main subject areas of Family Studies, Food Studies,
and/or Textiles)

What subject areas do Home Economics Teachers teach? 
• Food Studies
• Textiles
• Family Studies
• Interpersonal and Family Relationships
• Child Development and Caregiving
• Housing and Living Environments
• Career Preparation Programs of Fashion Design and

Technology, Hospitality and Tourism, Health Sciences,
Human Services and Cafeteria

Kwantlen (Fashion Design & Technology) + 
UBC (B.Ed.) 

In 2001, Kwantlen and UBC formed an alliance that allows Kwantlen students who 
are completing a Bachelor of Design in Fashion &Technology to access the UBC 
HMED program by taking the required Fashion & Technology program courses and 
18 credits referred to as bridging courses (see list on page 2) either at Kwantlen, or 
through distance education at UBC. 



Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           56 

Most of the bridging courses may be taken as either electives while completing 
the fashion degree at Kwantlen, or after graduating Kwantlen's fashion degree. 

As a result of this alliance, a number of Kwantlen fashion graduates have completed 
the UBC HMED program and many are currently working as Home Economics 
teachers in the Lower Mainland. 

If planning to take UBC's HOME EC EDUCATION, visit the UBC website www .teach.educ.ubc.ca

BRIDGING REQUIREMENTS CHECKLIST (18 credits): 

1. 3 credits English literature (in addition to ENGL 1100 taken in Kwantlen
Fashion program) - Kwantlen or any accredited university elsewhere

2. 3 credits introductory Sociology - Kwantlen or any accredited university
elsewhere

3. 3 credits introductory Psychology - Kwantlen or any accredited university or
elsewhere

4. 3 credits EDCP 493 Special Studies in Home Economics: Food Studies -
Distance Education UBC

5. 3 credits EDCP 494 Special Studies in Home Economics: Family Studies -
Distance Education UBC

6. 3 credits FMST 316 Human Sexuality - Distance Education UBC
(Prerequisite: one of SOCI 200, PSYC 100 or SOCI 240)

*Most fashion students start to take the UBC courses during the summer following 2nd year or
during 3rd year of their fashion degree program. 

To take the UBC bridging courses: EDCP 493, EDCP 494, and FMST 316, you will need to apply to UBC 
to gain admission as a 'visiting student'. For details go to 
http://teach.educ.ubc.ca/admissions/visiting-and-unclassi  fied-students. 

B.Ed. Admissions Requirements (deadline: January 31 of every year) 

http://teach.educ.ubc.ca/admissions/visiting-and-unclassi


Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           57  

Appendix 17: KPU Vision 2023 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           58  



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           59  



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           60  

Appendix 18: Intro to University Course Example 
NC State University: T 101 Intro to College Textiles, 1 Credit Course (fall semester of freshman year) 
https://oucc.dasa.ncsu.edu/tex-18ftdbs-18ftdfas-2198/  

https://oucc.dasa.ncsu.edu/tex-18ftdbs-18ftdfas-2198/


Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           61  



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           62  



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           63  

 Quality of Instructional Design 

Appendix 19: Faculty Bios 

Alex Diaz 
Alex Diaz has taught computer-aided design technology at the Wilson School of Design for the past 20 
years. He is an avid promoter of digital technologies and understands the importance of being up-to-
date with current print, web, and 3D technologies and trends. He specializes in the use of Adobe Creative 
Cloud digital communication tools, Optitex 3D and CLO3D, and Microsoft Office for fashion design. The 
design process in relation to the use of technology has always been an integral part of his teaching 
philosophy.  His current interests include the use of virtual reality (VR) platforms as a marketing tool. He 
completed his Fashion Design and Technology diploma at KPU in 1996, and in 2017 received his Bachelor 
of Design, Fashion and Technology degree. He has worked in the apparel industry as a designer, as well 
as a software-systems consultant in computer-aided design and manufacturing. 

Eleanor Hannan 
Eleanor Hannan received her Bachelor of Fine Arts from the University of Manitoba in Winnipeg, and has 
exhibited her art work in group and solo shows across Canada, the United States and Europe for over 
thirty-five years. Her visual art practice includes painting, drawing, fibre arts and mixed media: from 
embroidery to papier mache to traditional fresco painting, costume design for theatre and workshops 
for artists in Photoshop, her experience is extensive and she imparts her knowledge enthusiastically to 
her students. Eleanor has worked with inmates in BC prisons, as well as teaching at Capilano University, 
Emily Carr University of Art and Design, and University of the Fraser Valley – both Fine Arts and Fashion 
Design, Kwantlen Polytechnic University/ Wilson School of Design- Fashion Design and Technology and 
Maiwa School of Textiles. She has collaborated with other artists and writers, had her artwork featured 
in several publications, and received a Best in Show award at the Wearable Art Awards in 2006. 

Eleanor has received grants from the Manitoba Arts Council and the BC Arts Council. 
www.eleanorhannan.com 

Evelyn May 
Evelyn May is a hybrid thinker with the ability to strategically synthesize current research with future 
trends in technical apparel. A graduate of Thomas Jefferson University with an MBA in Strategic Design, 
her interests lie in applying innovation strategies to functional apparel design, using strategic design 
processes as a competitive advantage in order to build product distinction. She is a bridge builder to the 
creative side of strategy and helps a range of audiences understand and apply user-centered principles 
to their particular work. A strong student advocate, she has over 25 years of experience in higher 
education as the head of fashion design, fashion marketing and technical apparel programs and in the 
apparel industry as a designer, pattern maker, fit specialist, and production manager. Her research 
interests include strategic design and functional apparel. 

Heather Clark 
Heather Clark is a passionate lifelong learner as from a young age her curiosity combined with her innate 
joy in figuring things out led to an appreciation for making, creating and discovering purpose in craft. 
With a Bachelor of Design in Fashion and Technology, a Bachelor of Education, and a Master of Education 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           64  

in Home Economics, Heather has the tools, techniques and applied experience to develop and deliver 
engaging curriculum. She began her teaching career at the secondary level, fostering excitement in 
students in grades 8-12 about the possibilities in the clothing, textiles and fashion classroom, and as a 
professional and viable career option.  She joined the KPU fashion faculty in the Fall of 2014, and in 
addition to teaching and administrative roles, continues to advocate for secondary home economics 
teachers by leading workshops and sharing resources.  She is well respected in the industry and she 
supports alumni in her current role as Chair of the program. 

She regularly engages in learning opportunities and workshops to further her own skill set, with topics 
ranging from embroidery and leather work as a way to also engage with the making community and be 
able to bring knowledge and connections back to her students and colleagues. 

Jessica Bayntun 
Bio N/A 

Lesley Pollard 
Lesley Pollard has 14 years’ teaching experience with the Wilson School of Design at Kwantlen 
Polytechnic University in the areas of garment production, CAD and design. She has a particular passion 
for innovative pattern cutting, zero waste garment design and production, technical apparel and knits, 
and CAD design, CAD drafting and production. She loves the to support students through the process of 
puzzling together complicated zero waste pattern designs to open the door to a creative and more 
sustainable form of apparel design.  Lesley is a graduate of Kwantlen’s fashion program and Elizabeth 
Leslie College in fashion merchandising. She has had an extensive career in the fashion industry as a 
small business owner, fashion designer, pattern maker, fit specialist, consultant and retail management. 

Mary Androsiuk 
With a passion for technology and an interest in being hands-on, Mary Androsiuk feels design can be 
used to change the way we see things. Starting her own educational journey studying industrial pattern 
design fashion in Montreal and at Ryerson University in Toronto. Mary has also studied and later 
completed a Masters in Education Curriculum and Instruction, Education and Technology from Simon 
Fraser University. Her career, which includes roles in the apparel industry, pattern making, CAD 
production, raw materials management, textiles, technical apparel and production management, has 
culminated with her sharing her extensive knowledge with students. Beginning her teaching career at 
the Wilson School of Design 20 years ago. While she believes learning is a group experience, or 
partnership of sharing knowledge, Mary is an advocate of collaboration and utilizes the latest technology 
to engage with students, even going so far as to create a series of how-to videos her students could 
access anytime, anywhere, and using a platform they’re familiar with. Every challenge, she says, is an 
opportunity, and one she’s sure to seize. 

Michael Pope 
Education and other credentials: Bachelor of Applied Design 
KPU 2004 
Professional Experience:  

• 3 Years Freelance Illustrator
• 8 Years production/styling assistant with Tracey Pincott Productions
• 23 years of teaching in both private and public educational systems



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           65  

Recognition, rewards, research, Community engagement: 
• 4-time nominee for Industry Innovation in Teaching Award VFW
• CICE presentation and published research 2012
• 9 Years BC/Yukon representative for Apparel Affinity Group/Executive Committee

KPU Contributions 
• 16 Years full time Fashion Design faculty
• 3 years WSOD rep for SSCC
• 4 years Fashion Program representative on WSOD Curriculum Committee
• 4 Years as Chair of WSOD Curriculum Committee
• 1 Year as KFA representative for WSOD 2017-18
• Curriculum liaison for FASN Program Review 2015-17
• Facilitator/Liaison rep for all external competitions for Fashion Design & Technology students

2009-present

Sharon Greeno 
Sharon Greeno is an apparel marketing instructor who is as passionate about teaching as she is about 
learning her student's dreams and helping them pursue them. She was the first to graduate with a 
Cooperative Education designation as part of her Home Economics/Business Administration Degree 
from Mount Saint Vincent University. This is where her joy for experiential learning flourished and 
allowed her to find her career path. She completed an Associate Arts Diploma in Fashion Merchandising 
in California and built a thirty- year career in retail, customer service, marketing, human resources, sales 
training, buying, event planning, and community engagement. She has taught in the program for 24 
years and has a beginner mindset in staying relevant and curious to bring commitment to her students 
and career. Her practical nature and dedication to help each learner explore possibilities, find mentors, 
practice skills through practical experience, build emotional intelligence, and develop trustworthy and 
collaborative teams in and outside of the classroom are the values she instills in her work and students.  
She is a team player and passionate about nurturing relationships with grads and industry. Her natural 
inclination to build partnerships results in hosted “portable classroom field trips” in the industry that 
augment her curriculum. Her infectious enthusiasm develops curious learners in her work experience 
and apparel industry courses. Her recent upgrades include intercultural teaching and learning strategies 
and mental health/well-being workshops. 

Shirley Thompson 
Shirley Thompson is a 20-year faculty member with the Kwantlen Polytechnic University Wilson School 
of Design where she collaborates in the creation and delivery of curricula on topics such as apparel 
product development, fashion forecasting, design, and dress history.  She has an extensive career in the 
fashion industry, working in design and merchandising management roles for Kellwood Apparel exclusive 
brands and North American major retailer private label programs. Shirley holds a Master of Education in 
Curriculum and Instruction from Simon Fraser University integrating her research on the integral 
combination of creativity, collaboration, and critical thinking inquiry into all courses she has the pleasure 
of designing and facilitating.  Her research interests also include the cultural implications of dress 
throughout history and the transformative educational opportunity for sustainable reform of the apparel 
industry, which she has disseminated on at local, national, and international conferences. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           66  

Stephanie Phillips 
Stephanie Phillips graduated with a Masters of Art in Textile Futures from Central Saint Martins College 
& Design with the focus of material sustainability. Her design research practices focus on the 
development of functional composite textiles for a single waste stream, focusing on bio-derived material 
sources. Stephanie has been working in the field of Textile Design since 2003, and has been teaching 
Design since 2010, having taught at OCAD University prior to moving to Kwantlen Polytechnic University 
in 2014. Her work has been exhibited at Tent as part of London Design week, as well as The Munich Craft 
Council’s Exhibition on Craft & Innovation. She has worked as a trend forecaster with WGSN, and has 
run workshops with Subtle Technologies, IDEO and The University of Toronto. Her research interests 
include Biomaterials, Sustainability, Textiles, Functional Materials, Creativity and Innovation. 

Blair MacDonald, Program Assistant 
Blair graduated in 2015 from the Fashion & Technology program and worked in the local Vancouver 
industry until 2018 when she joined the KPU family and became a part of the Fashion & Technology 
team. Blair worked for various small local companies such as Noctex and as a design instructor for small 
after school/continuing school programs during her time in the industry. Blair is passionate about her 
work as a program assistant as it allows her to help her students, applicants, faculty, and coworkers 
achieve their goals through a cheerful attitude, a willingness to learn and listen, and to help in any way 
possible. Blair feels strongly about creating “new heirlooms” as a form of sustainability and can often be 
found making dresses out of bedsheets or mending to give new life back to old garments. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           67  

Appendix 20: BC Labor Sector Report: Apparel 
https://www.manufacturingbc.org/apparel-2 BC APPAREL SECTOR LMP | BC ALLIANCE FOR 
MANUFACTURING 
PURPOSE OF THE PROJECT 
The premium and performance apparel sector in BC is growing at exponential rates. The main goal of 
the BC Apparel Sector Labour Market Partnership (SLMP), formed between industry and government, is 
to address the significant skills shortages faced by apparel companies in British Columbia. 
Complementary work, in parallel to the LMP, is also being done by industry players on other topics such 
as innovation, supply chain and global branding. 

OVERVIEW 
Apparel is estimated to be the fourth largest component of the province’s manufacturing sector after 
food and beverage processing, value-added wood and paper manufacturing. This is the result of some 
keystone global brands, along with a thriving cluster of medium and boutique brands for high-end 
fashion, technical performance wear, athliesure wear and footwear. 
The sector is facing some barriers to further growth and industry players have come together to 
collaborate on finding solutions to common challenges. 
Labour Market Partnerships have five phases and the Apparel project has completed Phase 3 – Strategy 
Development. 

PHASE 3. STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY PLANNING 

The objectives of Phase 3 of the BC Apparel Labour Market Partnership were: 
• Identify best practices and potential strategies to address workforce issues
• Define and prioritize initiatives
• Develop strategy
• Establish success criteria for initiatives
• Create project sustainability plan

TIMING: 
FROM FEBRUARY 2017 TO AUGUST 2017 

WORKING GROUPS: 

Four working groups, one for each group of major themes identified in Phase 2, were established 
to  
develop strategies to mitigate workforce challenges and address barriers to growth: 

https://www.manufacturingbc.org/apparel-2


Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           68  

Group 1. The Role of Post-Secondary Training 

Group 2. Resolving Industrial Sewing Capacity 

Group 3. The Role of Immigration in Specialized Skills 

Group 4. Improving Youth Engagement and Diversity 

PHASE 3 REPORT: 

Phase 3: Labour Market Information Research Report 
August 2017 
File size – 2.0 MB 

BENEFITS FOR THE SECTOR 

Not counting those employed in retail positions, apparel businesses in British Columbia are reporting 
almost 9,000 anticipated vacancies by 2025. The LMP is an opportunity for apparel businesses to work 
together, with government support, to design and implement solutions to mitigate the skills shortages 
undermining the sector’s competitiveness. 

TO LEARN MORE PLEASE CONTACT: 

Marcus Ewert-Johns 
President & CEO 

SHORT CODE TO SHARE REPORT: 

mfgbc.org/apparel3 

https://www.manufacturingbc.org/wp-content/uploads/Manufacturing_BCAM-Workforce-Strategy_August-2017.pdf
https://www.manufacturingbc.org/wp-content/uploads/Manufacturing_BCAM-Workforce-Strategy_August-2017.pdf
https://www.manufacturingbc.org/wp-content/uploads/Manufacturing_BCAM-Workforce-Strategy_August-2017.pdf
https://www.manufacturingbc.org/wp-content/uploads/Manufacturing_BCAM-Workforce-Strategy_August-2017.pdf


Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           69  

T: +1 (604) 900-1980 x110 
M: +1 (778) 875-4889 
marcus[at]manufacturingbc.org 

Bernice Banguis 
Manager, Operations 
T: +1 (604) 900-1980 x111 
M: +1 (778) 846-3807 
bernice[at]manufacturingbc.org 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           70  

 Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 

Appendix 21: Production Machinery Available in Wilson School of Design 

Machine Type Quantity 
Bartack 1 
Blind Hem 1 
Button Hole 1 
Button Hole - Key Hole 1 
Cover Stitch 8 
Flat Lock 4 
Serger 3 Thread 1 
Serger 3 thread elastic serger 1 
Serger 3&4 Threads 2 
Serger 4 Thread 5 
Serger 5 Thread 2 
SN Chain Stitch 1 
SN Straight 55 
Walking Foot 7 
Zig Zag 2 
Heat Press 1 
Ultrasonic Welding Machine (Seam Master) 1 
Seam sealing 1 
Thermowelder 1 
Laser Cutter 2 
3D Printer 4 
Snap/Grommet Press (B) 1 
Seam Sealing 1 
Adhensive Lay Down 1 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           71  

Appendix 22: Specialized Program Plans 

Academic 
Year 

Number of Students 
in Program 

Number of 
Students with 

Specialized 
Program Plans 

% of Students on 
Specialized 

Program Plans 

2020/2021 102 26 25.4% 
2019/2020 119 27 22.6% 
2018/2019 129 23 17.8% 
2017/2018 134 19 14.1% 

NOTE:  
2019/2020 Academic year had a single cohort in first year 
2020/2021 Academic year had a single cohort in first and second year 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           72  

 Survey Results 

Appendix 23: Student Survey Results 

Fashion & Technology Program Review - Student Survey Results 

The student survey was sent to 101 Fashion & Technology students. A total of 33 students responded. 
The response rate is 33%.  
Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-
judgment editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with 
one exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to 
whether the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

Q1 - Which of the following describes your current standing in the program? 

# Percentage 

1 First year 15% 

2 Second year 21% 

3 Third year 30% 

4 Fourth year and beyond 33% 

Total 33 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           73  

Q2 - Which of the following sources of information did you use to learn about 
KPU's Fashion and Technology program? Please select all that apply. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           74  

Percentage 

1 BC Education Planner website 12% 

2 BC Transfer Guide website 12% 

3 Program advertising (including pamphlets) 21% 

4 Social media 27% 

5 KPU's Fashion & Technology website 52% 

6 Program Info Session 36% 

7 KPU's online Academic Calendar (with information about the Fashion & Technology program, courses, schedules, 
deadlines, etc.) 9% 

8 National Portfolio Day 18% 

9 KPU Fashion Show 42% 

10 KPU open house or events 36% 

11 KPU Educational Advising 3% 

12 Continuing Professional Studies Courses 9% 

13 My visit to KPU 33% 

14 Visit by KPU representative to my high school 24% 

15 Other contact with KPU representative(s), including faculty and students 33% 

16 High school teachers/counsellors 55% 

17 Other (Please specify) 18% 

Total 33 

Q2_Text 
alumni 

word of mouth 

I googled fashion schools which offer fashion design degree around Vancouver 

Family who has been in the program 

Friends 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           75  

Q3 - How useful were each of these sources of information? 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           76  

# Question Not at all 
useful 

Somewhat 
useful 

Very 
useful Essential Total 

1 BC Education Planner website 0% 0% 100% 0% 4 

2 BC Transfer Guide website 0% 25% 50% 25% 4 

3 Program advertising (including pamphlets) 0% 29% 29% 43% 7 

4 Social media 0% 44% 33% 22% 9 

5 KPU's Fashion & Technology website 0% 18% 35% 47% 17 

6 Program Info Session 0% 8% 42% 50% 12 

7 KPU's online Academic Calendar (with information about the 
Fashion & Technology program, courses, schedules, deadlines, etc.) 0% 0% 33% 67% 3 

8 National Portfolio Day 0% 33% 33% 33% 6 

9 KPU Fashion Show 0% 21% 29% 50% 14 

10 KPU open house or events 0% 25% 50% 25% 12 

11 KPU Educational Advising 0% 0% 0% 100% 1 

12 Continuing Professional Studies Courses 0% 0% 33% 67% 3 

13 My visit to KPU 0% 0% 45% 55% 11 

14 Visit by KPU representative to my high school 0% 0% 25% 75% 8 

15 Other contact with KPU representative(s), including faculty and 
students 0% 9% 64% 27% 11 

16 High school teachers/counsellors 0% 6% 33% 61% 18 

17 Other (Please specify) 0% 17% 50% 33% 6 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           77  

Q4 - Which of the following influenced your decision to enroll in KPU's Fashion and 
Technology program? Please select all that apply. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           78  

# Percentage 

1 Career prospects/earning potential 85% 

2 Ease of transfer from/into other institutions 15% 

3 Family/friends in the same program 15% 

4 Level of credential offered 45% 

5 Program admission requirements 21% 

6 Program’s connections to the discipline/sector 39% 

7 Hands-on design based learning with experiential activities 67% 

8 Potential to obtain a Fashion Degree credential in Canada 61% 

9 Qualifications for programs of advanced study 18% 

10 Range of program resources and services 24% 

11 Recommendations from family/friends 24% 

12 Recommendations from high school teachers 42% 

13 Recommendations from professionals in the discipline/sector 6% 

14 Reputation of instructors 6% 

15 Reputation of program 33% 

16 Small class size (22 students) 39% 

17 Success of program graduates 30% 

18 Other (Please specify) 3% 

Total 33 

Q4_Text 
I wanted to pursue a career in the fashion industry



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           79  

Q5 - How important was each of the following in your decision to enroll in KPU's 
Fashion and Technology program? 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           80  

# Question Not at all 
important 

Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important Essential Total 

1 Career prospects/earning potential 0% 0% 36% 64% 28 

2 Ease of transfer from/into other institutions 0% 40% 20% 40% 5 

3 Family/friends in the same program 20% 40% 20% 20% 5 

4 Level of credential offered 0% 13% 20% 67% 15 

5 Program admission requirements 0% 57% 43% 0% 7 

6 Program’s connections to the discipline/sector 0% 0% 54% 46% 13 

7 Hands-on design based learning with experiential 
activities 0% 0% 45% 55% 22 

8 Potential to obtain a Fashion Degree credential in 
Canada 0% 5% 10% 85% 20 

9 Qualifications for programs of advanced study 0% 17% 17% 67% 6 

10 Range of program resources and services 0% 25% 13% 63% 8 

11 Recommendations from family/friends 0% 38% 25% 38% 8 

12 Recommendations from high school teachers 7% 7% 36% 50% 14 

13 Recommendations from professionals in the 
discipline/sector 0% 0% 100% 0% 2 

14 Reputation of instructors 0% 50% 0% 50% 2 

15 Reputation of program 0% 18% 45% 36% 11 

16 Small class size (22 students) 0% 15% 62% 23% 13 

17 Success of program graduates 0% 20% 20% 60% 10 

18 Other (Please specify) 0% 0% 0% 100% 1 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           81  

Q6 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping you develop 
the following learning outcomes? 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Demonstrate use of current industry technology (CAD programing, 
Adobe Creative Cloud, 3D modelling and augmented reality, etc.) 0% 3% 39% 58% 33 

2 Apply design and product development methodology and processes 0% 0% 33% 67% 33 
3 Develop an adaptable and innovative mind set 3% 6% 39% 52% 33 
4 Apply critical thinking through iterative prototyping 0% 0% 48% 52% 33 

5 Explore sustainable and ethical concepts and how they relate to design 
with a social innovation perspective 0% 6% 27% 67% 33 

6 Develop and practice professional communication skills, interpersonal 
and intrapersonal skills 0% 9% 48% 42% 33 

7 Collaborate effectively with others and practice leadership 0% 6% 45% 48% 33 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021            82  

Q7 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping you develop 
the following competencies (related to problem solving & adaptability)? 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Concept development 0% 9% 45% 45% 33 

2 Trial and error 0% 12% 39% 48% 33 

3 Prototyping 0% 6% 39% 55% 33 

4 Body type inclusivity 15% 48% 21% 15% 33 

5 Skill transferability 0% 3% 64% 33% 33 
  



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           83  

Q8 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping you develop 
the following competencies (related to apparel productions skills)? 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Making & creating (Pattern making & construction) 0% 3% 30% 67% 33 

2 Advanced manufacturing techniques 3% 6% 33% 58% 33 

3 Verbal communication 0% 6% 55% 39% 33 

Q9 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping you develop 
the following competencies (related to apparel production knowledge)? 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Machinery knowledge 0% 22% 41% 38% 32 

2 Technical apparel knowledge 3% 9% 28% 59% 32 

3 TECH packs 0% 3% 13% 84% 32 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           84  

Q10 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping you develop 
the following competencies (related to technological skills)? 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Adobe Creative cloud 3% 0% 31% 66% 32 

2 Optitex (CAD Software) 3% 9% 38% 50% 32 

3 Microsoft Office 0% 22% 31% 47% 32 

4 Optimizing digital files – lighting, resolution, etc. 9% 31% 41% 19% 32 

5 Presentation Skills 0% 16% 44% 41% 32 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021            85  

Q11 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping you develop 
the following competencies (related to global awareness)? 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Global design history 6% 28% 50% 16% 32 

2 Global interconnectedness of apparel industry 6% 19% 44% 31% 32 

3 Social and environmental understanding 0% 13% 31% 56% 32 

4 Variety of business models 3% 34% 38% 25% 32 

  



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021            86  

Q12 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping you develop 
the following competencies (related to creative skills)? 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Desire to build on pre-existing skills 0% 3% 53% 44% 32 

2 Understanding the use of textiles 0% 3% 31% 66% 32 

3 Anthropometry –  body in relation to apparel 0% 25% 41% 34% 32 

4 On site work place application of skills 13% 13% 44% 31% 32 

5 Equity of access 3% 13% 61% 23% 31 

6 Visual communication 0% 10% 32% 58% 31 

  



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021            87  

Q13 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping you develop 
the following self-directed competencies? 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Advocacy & initiative 0% 17% 33% 50% 30 

2 Working with networks and contacts 7% 20% 17% 57% 30 

3 Delivering and presenting ideas to others 0% 7% 33% 60% 30 

 
  



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021            88  

Q14 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping you develop 
the following skills? 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 19% 44% 38% 32 

2 Written communication 0% 6% 50% 44% 32 

3 Reading comprehension 0% 22% 53% 25% 32 

4 Group collaboration 0% 3% 34% 63% 32 

5 Critical analysis 0% 0% 28% 72% 32 

6 Leadership skills 0% 19% 47% 34% 32 

7 Numeracy skills 3% 42% 35% 19% 31 

  



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           89  

Q15 - Thinking of KPU's Fashion and Technology program as a whole, how 
satisfied are you with the following? 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Relevance of program 
curriculum to my career goals 0% 0% 9% 41% 50% 32 

2 Prerequisites that prepare me for 
more advanced courses 0% 3% 3% 47% 47% 32 

3 Level of ability required to 
succeed in the program 0% 3% 6% 38% 53% 32 

4 Range of courses offered each 
term 0% 3% 6% 41% 50% 32 

5 The preparation I am receiving 
to achieve the career I want 0% 0% 13% 44% 44% 32 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           90  

Q16 - How would you rate the diversity of course topic offerings in KPU’s Fashion 
& Technology program? 

# Percentage 

1 Inadequate 0% 

4 Adequate 53% 

5 Excellent 47% 

Total 32 

Q17 - What topics, if any, are missing from the program? 
advance design development and an emphasis on creative development 

I would like to see more topics on wearable tech 
courses where we learn applicable sustainable design frameworks, we are often required to include sustainability aspects in design but 
don't have the background to make these decisions, design for humanities in the FIND program covers this well 
Working more on creativity and artistic side of designing in the first two years and switching to more technical skills the last two years 
of the program. 
We need more creative activities. 

none at this point 
Would like to learn more about the business aspect of entrepreneurship, or turning our collection into a successful business. Currently, 
we can only take business electives and the ones for entrepreneurship have many prerequisites   The 3rd year exchange I think is in the 
best place compared to other semesters, but it would be great if the draping class could be switched with something else, since that is the 
only one 
Advanced CAD usage. Enhanced 3D rendering. Articulation of apparel for fit and mobility in relation to pattern drafting. Large scale 
manufacturing knowledge. How to contact manufactures and buyers. 
Diversity in body types, such as teaching us how to draft according to a plus-size body More practical hands-on drafting skills that 
ensure we have the capabilities to create garments on our own 
I think it would be useful for students to become familiar with more adobe cloud programs earlier on in the degree. Maybe less focus on 
Excel in 1st year and jump right into pattern design on photoshop and learning to draw flats. I also think it would be interesting to 
incorporate a research class so students are more adept in the beginning. 
I'd like to have had more classes specific to new/ future fashion technologies. We had a hint of it in the [Course Name Redacted] class 
in which we were shown how to sew functional LED lights into a garment; in addition to a fashion technology we each picked to do 
research on for our final project. I'd also love if we ( Fashion Design & Tech) could collaborate on projects with KPU's Mechatronics 
and Advanced Manufacturing Technology and Creative Writing students 
I would like to see a larger emphasis on high fashion and in general, a broader range of aesthetics, design mentalities, and end-use 
discussions.  I would be pleased if there was more emphasis on the global fashion industry and market, as well as steps taken for 
preparing and exposing us to jobs outside of the Vancouver area and outside of technical apparel/activewear/etc. 
I would like to have some incorporation for styling clothing. 

None are missing. 
I feel like there needs to be more fashion related electives. I have learned a lot through the required courses but I would love the 
opportunity to go more in depth with certain topics. 
-dealing with the fit on more body types, this program focuses a lot on fitting on size 8 which is fine but that is a small percentage of the 
population. And size 8s don’t have a lot of fit issues where as a 12-16 has more to consider wit fit. 
Global history -Such as Asia/ Africa/ Europe   Feeding creativity -  Courses that help inspire and grow creativity without boundaries. I 
feel like we are so prepared for technical aspects of the industry, however,  lack courses that let us explore creativity. 
I would love KPU to offer a Fashion & Technology Co-op program! 
1.History of fashion design from a global perspective. More emphasis on innovators throughout fashion history.  2. Fashion in relation
to photography and art. 3. I would like there to be discussions about fashion shows and what is needed to put them together. 4. Couture. 
I would have liked to study more about fully fashioned knitwear, experiment more with weave construction and textile creation. It 
would also be helpful to include a more freeing and explorative design course that allows us to think more outside the box and create 
work that really speaks to an artistic understanding of fashion. 
Getting ready for practicum (with detailed ways of constructing portfolios) 
as we progress into an industry dominated by online platforms, more graphic design, 3D modelling and prototyping, and video editing 
and creation will need to be integrated into the course. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           91  

Q18 - What topics, if any, [that are currently covered in the program] would you 
prefer to see more of? 

Textiles, innovative design, and a stronger emphasis on fashion history. Fashion history is a very important topic for emerging designers 
to understand and should be in a lecture format rather than student-led. 
I would like to see more lingerie or foundational garments, perhaps as a special topics course 

I am not sure at this point 
For fashion history, its all focused on Europe and the western world instead of learning about "global fashion history".  Would also like 
to learn more about digital drawing and photographing our designs 
Use of 3D and CAD software and its relation to creating less waste in the sample/prototyping process 

Diversity in body types, and the inclusion of more cultural fashion conversations 

More emphasis on digital communication. 

HIstory of textiles it's self aside from fashion 

3D 

Drawing 

Classes with more of a focus on creative growth, design processes, and traditional fashion illustration. 

N/A 

No, I like the broad variety. 

lingerie, menswear, and surface design 

Surface design 

Design & Theory 

Draping and drafting, anything hands-on! 
Textiles is a 3 semester course but I would have enjoyed if along with fabric dyeing we could learn more about weave and knit creation 
by hand. 
Textiles + Prints 
anything stemming from apparel; it feels a bit restricting in terms of creativity as we don't practice our skills in much besides apparel 
fashion. one project had us recreate the work of a big fashion designer of our choice, but besides that project pretty much everything has 
been apparel-focused. there is more to "fashion" than this. 
I would like to see a follow up textiles class that would build on [Instructor Name Redacted] first year class- in 4th year or 3rd year 

Q19 - What topics, if any, [that are currently covered in the program] would you 
prefer to see less of? 

n/a 

I am not sure at this point 
I understand how design is the main aspect of our degree, but most of the 1st and 2nd year design classes are very similar classes, just 
with a different target market. I know they go hand in hand with other classes (like menswear design and tailoring production) but there 
could be less time spent on design es and ps and building our skills. Could be more condensed 
At least a bit less technical sewings and adding some evening wear or couture as well. 

I wouldn't suggest any of the topics be taught less, I think the topics that are present are fairly balanced and relevant. 

N/A 

No, I like the broad variety. 

None, I personally have found all of the work so far to be very enlightening and important 
I feel it's necessary to explore all areas of apparel design however I found the second history class (year 2) to not bring much value to 
my learning and it wasn't what I expected. I think the curriculum should be revised because it felt a little too self-directed. 
I feel all the topics learnt are necessary 

Professional promotion 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           92  

Q20 - How often do you use WGSN? 

# Percentage 

1 Never 0% 

4 Seldom 6% 

5 Sometimes 41% 

6 Often 53% 

Total 32 

Q21 - How useful do you find WGSN? 

Note that “not at all useful” and “somewhat useful” categories are excluded from the chart. Please use the frequency table 
below for the percentages for the “not at all useful” and “somewhat useful” categories.  

# Percentage 

1 Not at all useful 0% 

4 Somewhat useful 16% 

5 Very useful 19% 

6 Extremely useful 66% 

Total 32 

Q22 - Is the 3rd year exchange placed in the correct space in the program? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 88% 

2 No 13% 

Total 32 

Q23 - Please explain why 3rd year is not the correct space for exchange. 
We have practicum during 3rd year. 
In the third year we have practicum and everything has started to become more technical/professional which are essential to prepare and 
put us in the right mindset  to be able to use this great opportunity efficiently. 
I believe our courses are not flexible enough to be able to do exchange studies. Meaning that if we do exchange, we will fall a year 
behind. 
3rd year is the right year in the program for exchange, but I think there should be an option to go in the Fall. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           93  

Q24 - Courses are currently structured with lab and lecture combined into a single 
course block.  Would it be a benefit to have courses structured with lecture and lab 
separate, such as one might experience in sciences? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 19% 

2 No 81% 

Total 32 

Q25 - Should there be a mandatory field school for students in the program? A field 
school involves travel, often out of country, where students engage in learning 
activities outside of the classroom in a course that is for credit. 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 38% 

2 No 63% 

Total 32 

Q26 - Please include any additional comments you may have on field schools below. 
I think it would an amazing opportunity to travel and see the fashion industry in a different light. As weel we as a class are always 
hearing about the past trips to New York City and it would be amazing to be apart of that 
I'm sure a mandatory field school could be beneficial but many students move to Vancouver to attend KPU and chose it as a budget 
friendly school so this component could be less financially accessible. 
It would be a fabulous idea if it was realistic and affordable for most students. With student loans and cost of living, this kind of 
experience is not one all students could take part in. 
I don't think it should be mandatory, but it should be encouraged more. I think it should only be mandatory if the school can cover most 
of the costs since it may not be in most peoples budgets. However, it would be beneficial if there were more field school options. 
Students should not have to pay out of their own pocket for required travel that is out of the country or province. 
Having the opportunity to exchange and travel to other countries in 3rd year is a huge incentive when I was deciding on joining the 
program. I believe culture and fashion are interconnected and tightly woven, therefore having a field school experience would further 
enhance our ideas regarding how fashion, dress, and trends are interpreted from culture to culture. 
Important but shouldn't be mandatory unless there are more scholarships available for students - its also hard for some passport holders 
to travel so this would exclude them. 
I think a mandatory field school would be a great idea.  I would love if more global connections were made and more schools were 
added (both for field schools and schools compatible for exchange programs). 
Field schools are an amazing opportunity to learn and experience another country. They can be very pricy so having a mandatory one 
could deter some students who could be struggling financially 
I think it’s too much of a finical impact to make it needed to travel. 

It would be fun to travel to fashion capitals with the intention of learning! 
While field schools are a great opportunity, I don't believe it would be necessary for them to be mandatory as it may not be the right 
option for every single student that goes through the program. Instead, it would be good to provide more accessible information and 
opportunity to all students about these field schools, like bringing them up more in the regular classroom setting. As for the lab/lecture 
courses, I feel whichever method allows more lab time would be beneficial, as we can only learn so much from the lecture portion of 
these courses; many of the students lean more towards being kinaesthetic learners, so we learn much better when in action rather than 
reading a PowerPoint. (Also, 4 hour long lectures are absurd. Students should only be forced to endure a maximum of 2 hours at a time.) 
making it mandatory would be an extreme economic class barrier to students who could not afford travel expenses, cannot take time off 
work, or have dependants to care for. again, a mandatory field school would be irresponsible. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021            94  

Q27 - Please rate your level of interest for the following: 
# Question Not at all 

interested 
Somewhat 
interested 

Very 
interested Total 

1 Fashion & Technology Diploma option 44% 34% 22% 32 

2 Flexibility in enrolment status (i.e. full-time or part-time) 23% 32% 45% 31 

3 Industry connected/driven projects 0% 3% 97% 32 

4 Program areas for students to specialize in (e.g. production, 
design, etc.) 0% 6% 94% 32 

5 Taking further specialized knowledge courses through continuing 
studies courses 0% 16% 84% 32 

Q28 - Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU's Fashion & Technology program 
curriculum? 

# Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 6% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 41% 

5 Very satisfied 53% 

Total 32 

Q29 - Thinking of KPU’s Fashion & Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please highlight the strengths of the program. 

I love my classmates and my teachers. It is truly a pleasure to be around amazing people every day even if it's not in person 

Technical apparel, applicable industry skills, industry connections, creative projects that are also realistic to industry 
Learning Advanced digital programs Industry liked projects throughout the program Industry guest speakers invited in different courses 
related to the topics 
Integration of course material from one course to another (it is clear how everything fits together) Skills and experience of the 
professeurs  Access to industry level equipment and technologies 
Connection to the local fashion industry and learning practical and technical skills for a future career, 

labs and lectures are together. emails related to external opportunities. 

Great for personal development and gaining a general idea of how the industry works. 
The practicality of the knowledge we receive Instructors' and peers' positive support towards each other Useful information regarding 
textile science and fashion history 
Ahead of the game when it comes to adding new and innovative classes. 

In-depth courses, knowledgeable teachers, varied topics 

Connection to the real world fashion industry Sustainability Technical Fashion  Available Resources 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           95  

The relevance each class has to each other class. This interconnectivity enriches the curriculum. 

Great resources such as WGSN, BOF, etc.  Great learning skills that preamp are us for the industry. 

- variety of skills learned  - prepared you for industry - great teachers 
I love how diverse everything is. I find that we do learn a little bit of everything which definitely helps students, like myself, determine 
what they want to do post graduation 
Very welcoming and friendly community. 
I could not be prouder of being part of KPU's Fashion & Technology program. This program makes us fully ready for the industry. We 
are taught different aspects of the fashion industry which lets us choose what we would like to pursue as a career. 
A strength would be offering exchange and co-op programs. 

The small classes make it very easy to connect with your peers and instructors which creates a supportive learning atmosphere. 

Great use of technology and computer programs! 

Having a variety of courses is good. 
it’s great that the program has a lot of general overview for different positions in the fashion industry- design and production, as well as 
some marketing, colour theory, and forecasting to name a few. This allows us to transition into a number of entry level positions. 

Q30 - Thinking of KPU’s Fashion & Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please highlight three areas for improvement 

Recommendation #1 Recommendation #2 Recommendation #3 

Teachers need to communicate with eachother 
more without us having to relay information to 
them 
Artistic and creative projects for more self 
expression Design for different body types History, we learn a very narrow view 

Encourage first year students to focus on 
creativity and thinking outside the box. Creating 
clothes even without functionality factor in order 
to encourage original ideas 

Have instructors who have more 
industry experience 

Encourage students to focus on learning 
new skills rather than gaining marks 

More student support from teachers More equality and diversity in 
learning styles 

Reducing the course load so students are 
better able to meet deadlines 

Creative Activities Learning 3D programs 

increased industry involvement increased guest speakers specialized fields of study 

Paid practicums - many students are already short 
on time and money 

Keeping up with computer software 
used in industry, along with weaving 

and knitting technologies. 

More focus on low environmental impact 
design and manufacturing processes. 

I think we should be more inclusive and bring in 
diversity in body types and genders into the 
conversation. We should be breaking out of the 
gendered stereotypes, and be more educated on 
all body types rather than the standard size 8. 

More education focused on 
menswear, and have specialized 

electives focused on courses that we 
have the option to go more in-depth 

with, rather than having everyone 
taking the same classes. 

More digital comm classes 

More work space outside of labs More in-class industrial connections 
(textile sourcing etc.) Connect with other programs 

I am not sure exactly how this can be changed to 
a point if at all possible but overall I am not 
happy with the marking system. To my opinion, it 
takes a way from creativity and makes students 
think about the rubric and marks rather than the 
whole reason behind why they are doing that 
project 

Not everyone is interested or wants 
to work with technicals after 

graduations. I believe it is also 
important to have more creative 

sewing projects; not just technical 
sewings and samples 

I think we need to have at least one 
technology related course as well 

Broader range of areas within the fashion industry 
explored 

Greater focus on less technical, more 
creative design skills and processes 

Less hyper-focused on Vancouver market, 
activewear, technical apparel 

Last minute help with homework-being able to 
book faster than booking in advance. 

A style course where you can 
collaborate with other programs (ex. 

photographers) 

Teachers replying to emails faster would 
help 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           96  

N/A N/A N/A 
Teachers should communicate about their due 
dates so that they do not fall on the same days as 
other teachers. 

Have the sessions recorded for the 
missing students. 

More body inclusive, focus on more than size 8 
Explore gender neutral designs/ also 

more men’s wear/ add children’s 
wear 

Grading System needs more clarification. Feed creativity 

Co-op program expansion 

[Course Name Redacted] 

It would help if certain instructors are more 
understanding especially during trying times like 
the current pandemic. 

The student body for Wilson School 
of Design as a whole could be 

allowed more active involvement in 
decision making. 

More supportive faculty that are there to help you Better planning of the resources 
available to students (machinery) 

Booklist with textbooks we will actually 
use 

Faculty. More topics that push creativity. More consistent online learning system 
Justify lab fees and understand student financial 
constraints. Have more understanding for the fact 
that not every student can afford to buy a gaming 
PC, a serger and machine in addition to all the 
fabric and notions required.  Provide an accurate 
breakdown of where lab fees are going- I have 
been repeated told that I could only have one 
zipper, etc. despite paying $300 a term in lab fees. 

MORE CHAIRS AND TABLES IN 
THE WILSON SCHOOL OF 

DESIGN! I always have to fight 
for/reserve a space or work off 

campus cause there’s no room. This 
isn’t program specific obviously but 
I’m sure it would be appreciated by 

all. 

Professors need to fully understand the 
time it takes for students to complete 

assigned work. For example, a teacher that 
does not know how to create an in-depth 

indesign spread from scratch shouldn’t 
assign that without understanding how 

long it takes. The same goes for “quick” 
video editing projects 

Q31 - Thinking of how the program is delivered, how satisfied are you with the 
following? 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           97  

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
The range of modes (classroom, lab, 

online, practicum, etc.) used to deliver 
the program 

3% 6% 16% 34% 41% 32 

2 My instructors’ ability to 
accommodate diverse learning styles 0% 13% 13% 41% 34% 32 

3 Opportunities for experiential learning 
(i.e. learning by doing and reflecting) 0% 6% 9% 28% 56% 32 

4 
Processes for ensuring students’ 

emotional and physical safety in the 
learning environment 

0% 19% 6% 38% 38% 32 

Q32 - Which modes of delivery do you prefer? Select all that apply. 
# Percentage 

1 100% Face-to-Face, In person 47% 15 

4 Combined Face-to-Face/Online 59% 19 

5 100% Online 9% 3 

Total 32 

Q33 - Which modes of delivery do you prefer for online lecture content? 
Synchronous means you have to participate at a specific time. Asynchronous means 
you can participate when you want, provided you meet course deadlines 

# Percentage 

1 100% Synchronous 3% 

4 Combination of synchronous and asynchronous 91% 

5 100% Asynchronous 6% 

Total 32 

Q34 - Please think of your experience with remote learning in the Fashion & 
Technology program since March 2020. What have been some of the highlights? 

I have learned to work from home better, which has been amazing. 

transition of production and hands on courses from in person to online, course kits being mailed, synchronous sessions 

Remote learning helped us managing our time as a student 

More time to do assignments and more flexible dealines (midnight due dates). 

Improved flexibility of timing for working on course material (course work is done on my schedule, rather than at specific course times) 

Saving commute time to work on the projects. 
Working on my own schedule, able to dedicate mornings to my self. Class sessions can be shorter as digital communication means tend 
to make lessons more straightforward.  Regular synchronous sessions good for staying on track. All course content in digital format is 
easy to access and uses less paper. 
Since lectures are recorded, we have the ability to replay them when necessary, which is hugely beneficial because sometimes it takes 
more than one listen to grasp a difficult subject. 
Sense of community with students through online platforms. 

There are some classes that work as Asynchronous. 

Lack of travelling problems, asynchronous opportunities 

Getting more familiar with the computer applications Being able to watch the instructors' videos at anytime Better writing skills 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021            98  

Being able to work on assignments at your own time. Being able to go back and rematch videos/lectures to ensure you catch all the 
information. 
N/A 

I find that I do not feel like I am loosing information by being in an online course 

Being able to study on my own time. I have also realized some courses such as [Course Name Redacted], can be 100% online. 

Getting to work on things on my own time 
I don't have to travel to and from campus or carry my supplies to and from school. I can create my own schedule and work on things 
when I choose. I am usually less tired and can focus less on preparing to leave the house for a full day and more on my school work. 
Some instructors were very accommodating and kind when the sudden switch happened in March. The summer course kits were 
exciting. There have been kind messages sent by faculty during these times. 
No commuting back and forth.  More productive (I don’t get distracted easily) 
For some classes, especially the ones focused on digital skills such as Adobe Suite and CAD, it has been much easier to work online and 
on my own time instead of traveling to the campus just to work on the computer for a four hour period. 
Nice to not have to commute to the school, as well as have some electives offered on the weekend. 

Q35 - What have been some of the challenges? 
It is hard doing this course online, even though help is only an email away. Its still hard. 
courses that are completely asynchronous, lab fees without lab access, less face to face time than we would have in person- what we are 
getting doesn't feel equivalent to the teaching we would receive in person, unorganized moodle websites 
It is very difficult to get feedback from hands-on courses like production and often instructors are not as involved as they used to be in a 
fece-to-face class 
Different courses having the same due dates and the increase in course work. 
Delay in communication, especially when there is a specific question about a specific part of something (not being able to ask questions 
in real time during a demonstration, for example) 
Asking questions (Production class) 
All the classes were asynchronous, and for some classes, there were no meetings or videos to watch (because it was a "self directed" 
class) but it made it very difficult to get projects done efficiently when moodle is the only support we have.   If there were some 
synchronous lectures, its difficult when they're not recorded. I know some people will take advantage of recorded lectures and not 
participate, but neurodivergent people, like those with ADHD could find it hard to stay focused during a specific period of time 
Certain projects require additional digital aspects as deliverable, on top of physically producing things, this requires more time, not 
accounted for in course schedule.   Access to machinery is limited, some students may have advantage over others if they have the 
means to purchase machinery needed. May lead to unfair marking.  No printer access.  Lack of table space and storage for school 
supplies and projects at home.  Cutting fabrics at home leaves lots of dust and fine particulates, had to buy an air purifier.  Need to spend 
more $$ on things that were typically accessible at school (drafting paper, sample notions, reference fabrics, sample fabrics) in general 
lab fee's do not feel justified for what was given to students (few meters of drafting paper and 3x printed patterns). 
I find it particularly challenging when instructors do not update their criteria to accommodate for online learning format. I find some 
assignments and project outlines to be clearly outdated, therefore making it difficult to compete in an online learning environment. Also, 
the lack of detailed feedback can be really challenging for us as students to grow and learn from our mistakes. Oftentimes, a grade is 
assigned with minimal feedback, which left many of us confused as to why. 
Being in a Pandemic. 
I am a visual learner and a tactile learner so when it comes to sewing samples and understanding how it is done I would prefer to be able 
to have an up close view. 
Hands-on research/classes, clear learning of production and design content, atmosphere, lack of supplies, cost of supplies 

Doing the class work during its time, making sure not to stay behind Not having enough privacy at a time 

Doing work on your own. Submitting large files can take a long time. Getting in contact with the teacher through email. 

- Not having the teacher with you face to face to be able to help you 

Time management 
-online is hard for everyone during COVID. I was over all dissatisfied with the fall semester and the lack of communication within that 
semester and the lack of help. 
Lack of resources, machinery, and space for some courses. 
As an advanced transfer student, the biggest challenge would be not being able to meet my peers and teachers. Also, being unable to feel 
the campus life. 
Sewing samples and now being able to get instant feedback from instructors and peers. 
Sometimes it's better to be in a classroom environment because you get a lot more done; sometimes, it's hard to motivate yourself at 
home and get in the zone. I don't have the most stable internet connection at home, which h, as been a challenge since I rely on my 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           99  

computer a lot more now. I miss my friends at school and the support system we created, which also helped our general morale and 
well-being. My posture is destroyed because I'm always sitting in front of my computer. 
Lab access and the tuition fee have been the biggest challenges. It was difficult to work with such limited access. It was also saddening 
to see that a virtual fashion show was not being used as a replacement for the annual fashion show. Having spent 4 years working 
tirelessly day and nights it's a little heart breaking when the final semester just unravels and the support you need isn't provided. 
Little to no support from select faculty. Little lab access. Emails sent go unnoticed or have a delay on response. Confusing/ vague 
criteria’s.  We as Students have been trying our best during this pandemic, however most of the time it goes unnoticed. 
Motivation. It's hard to keep motivated when working from home, and the lack of access to the resources results in feelings of wasted 
tuition money (as there was no reduction in tuition even though all courses are being provided online and there is no access to the 
campus). It also feels like my education is not optimal as we receive a fraction of the instruction we would in class. For the more hands-
on learning courses it is especially difficult as I have to create a space for myself in my home (which may not be an easy option for all 
students) and it really makes me wish I could be in the labs on campus that were specifically designed for the program. 
Not sure why all professors weren’t instructed to use the same video chat service? It was very confusing having to use different apps. 
The moodle website is frankly terribly designed and an incredible pain to locate anything on. Same goes for the KPU OSS all associated 
pages. It’s confusing, I can’t tell what connects to what, and it’s not an effective tool for ease of learning. With absolutely no sarcasm, I 
recommend square space. 

Q36 - Indicate the extent the following contributed to your remote learning 
experience. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           100  

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Virtual synchronous sessions 0% 15% 41% 44% 27 

2 Online group work/critiques 7% 33% 33% 26% 27 

3 Videos 0% 7% 11% 81% 27 

4 Recorded information 0% 15% 7% 78% 27 

5 Course Moodles 0% 4% 11% 85% 27 

6 Email correspondence and updates 0% 7% 22% 70% 27 

Q37 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, how satisfied 
are you with the following? 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 The clarity of the information I 
receive on how I will be evaluated 0% 19% 13% 48% 19% 31 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           101  

2 
The range of assessments that let 

me demonstrate what I have 
learned 

0% 0% 13% 58% 29% 31 

3 The consistency of assessment 
standards throughout the program 0% 13% 13% 42% 32% 31 

4 The feedback my instructors 
provide 3% 10% 13% 55% 19% 31 

Q38 - Thinking of KPU's Fashion and Technology program as a whole, how 
satisfied are you with the following? 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Frequency with which course 
prerequisites are offered 3% 6% 19% 39% 32% 31 

2 Availability of program core courses 0% 7% 17% 30% 47% 30 

3 
Availability of mandatory electives 
(ENGL 1100, CMNS 1140, MRKT 

1199) 
3% 13% 16% 32% 35% 31 

4 Availability of electives 0% 13% 13% 48% 26% 31 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           102  

Q39 - Thinking of the instruction you have received throughout the program, how 
satisfied are you with the following? 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
Quality and relevancy of content 
presented with respect to course 

materials 
0% 3% 6% 52% 39% 31 

2 Information presented is up-to-date 
information on the subject matter 0% 3% 10% 42% 45% 31 

Q40 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's 
Fashion and Technology program? 

# Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 13% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 29% 

5 Very satisfied 58% 

Total 31 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           103  

Q41 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
highlight the strengths of the program. 

It is amazing the quality of instructors we have and the fact that they are all so knowledgeable is such a highlight. delivery for the most 
part is great teachers willing to spend extra time with students and contact them outside of class or office times is much appreciated. 
small class size allows us to have good relationships with instructors and more personal teaching styles- teachers accommodate to the 
classes needs 
Recording of lectures makes it easier to follow instruction and reduces to need to ask the eacher for clarification. 

Good communication between profs and their flexibility, a variety of delivery methods and learning activities 

none at this time 
Some instructors have clear project descriptions and marking rubric, while others do not. I wish all instructors are required to have a 
detailed and clear project description and a separate marking rubric. 
Knowledgeable instructors 

Moodle is great way to keep everything organized. 

Industry professionals 
I really enjoy demonstrations during production classes. Some of my instructors put together videos for us to follow along with which is 
really helpful and benefits my learning a lot. Access to production labs (pre covid). 
Course material aligns with the industry 
Some instructors are able to inspire students and motivate creativity in all students; you can tell when an instructor really loves what 
they do (whether it's the course subject or teaching in general) 
I think I already answered this? Refer back. 

Q42 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
highlight three areas for improvement. 

Recommendation #1 Recommendation #2 Recommendation #3 

We need more virtual class times. Never meeting 
or only meeting Once a semester is not enough. I 
feel like I don't know some of my teachers from 
the last year and they don't know me. 

It would be nice to save videos from previous 
classes to look back at as it sucks when you know 
you've done something before but can't do it again 
cause you don't remember and the video or lecture 

is gone. 

More one-on-ones with 
teachers both online and in 

person 

teacher collaboration, for my entire degree the 
teachers have known we have large projects all due 
in the same week and say it will never happen 
again and it always does 
please consider temporarily reducing the amount 
of assignments by 20% during the COVID 
pandemic until things are back to normal 
Some instructors have clear project descriptions 
and marking rubric, while others do not. I wish all 
instructors are required to have a detailed and clear 
project description and a separate marking rubric. 
Synced online and offline information 
To fix the connection that happens with moodle. 
Especially during the first day it tends to go down. 
Offer more elective options that focus on things 
briefly taught in other courses 
More communication Better marking sheets 
use of checklist on the moodle sites to keep track 
of assignment details. Only one of my instructors 
use this but it's really helpful in keeping me 
organized. 

Answer emails Be supportive and aware of how hard we try 
(especially during these uncertain times) 

Have clear criteria’s and 
tell us what our grades are 

after each project 
diversity in faculty - leads to serving the issue of 
bias 

evolving with the modern times; fashion, 
technology, and society are always developing, and 

clearer expectations for 
projects and assignments 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           104  

Recommendation #1 Recommendation #2 Recommendation #3 

not all instructors have proven to be able (or 
willing) to keep up with it. 

Q43 - How satisfied are you with the following as they apply to KPU's Fashion and 
Technology program? 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied 

Have 
not 

used 
Total 

1 
Availability of required 
texts and supplies at the 

KPU bookstore 
0% 16% 19% 32% 32% 0% 31 

2 Classroom space 0% 0% 16% 13% 61% 10% 31 

3 Lab space 0% 3% 13% 13% 61% 10% 31 

4 Computer space 0% 3% 16% 13% 55% 13% 31 

5 Places for students to do 
group or individual work 0% 13% 6% 23% 48% 10% 31 

6 IT services 6% 10% 26% 26% 13% 19% 31 

7 Advising services 0% 7% 33% 20% 33% 7% 30 

8 Counselling services 0% 3% 23% 3% 20% 50% 30 

9 Financial services 3% 10% 19% 13% 23% 32% 31 

10 Career services 3% 3% 30% 13% 13% 37% 30 

11 Accessibility services 0% 3% 20% 17% 13% 47% 30 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           105  

Q44 - How satisfied are you with the following library resources as they apply to 
KPU's Fashion and Technology program? 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied 

Have 
not 

used 
Total 

1 Availability of audio-visual 
and computer equipment 0% 3% 23% 19% 29% 26% 31 

2 Books 0% 6% 16% 23% 45% 10% 31 

3 DVDs/streaming video on 
program-related topics 0% 3% 16% 16% 23% 42% 31 

4 eBooks 0% 6% 10% 19% 42% 23% 31 

5 Librarian support for 
program-related research 3% 0% 13% 19% 55% 10% 31 

6 Library orientation 0% 0% 16% 26% 48% 10% 31 

7 Online resources -  journal 
articles, etc. 0% 3% 10% 27% 53% 7% 30 

8 Print periodicals, journals, 
etc. 0% 7% 20% 13% 40% 20% 30 

9 Study guides 0% 10% 20% 13% 30% 27% 30 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           106  

Q45 - How satisfied are you with the resources, services and facilities offered 
through KPU's Fashion and Technology program? 

# Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 3% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 13% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 29% 

5 Very satisfied 55% 

Total 31 

Q46 - Thinking of the program's resources, services and facilities, please highlight 
the strengths of the program. 

Resource Room is amazing I got lots of good stuff from there last year. The library also has a lot of great resources 

Surprisingly large amount of ressources available in the library 

design program has their own advisor. WGSN is available and other resources are free 
I really enjoyed our resource rooms filled with fabric swatches and vintage books. We also have large production labs for us to work on 
our sewing after class 
Access to various materials 

I have not had much if any exposure to these services.  N/A 

Online tutoring is a good resource to have. 

The amount of books we have in the library is amazing. I love that I can look at any book that could cover a topic I'm interested in 
The resource room is a great place to supplement your research and photograph your work in the studio. Our instructors have flexible 
office hours. There is always a technician around to make sure the machines are running. 
Everything I need is available 

There was a lot of resources when we had access to the campus. 
The labs are beautiful, and the machines work well and there’s lots of them. [Name Redacted] (I’m sorry, I don’t know how to spell his 
name) does not always know how to fix more complex machines (ex the flatlock) it would be nice to see more money invested into 
machine maintenance. 

Q47 - Thinking of the program's resources, services and facilities, please highlight 
three areas for improvement. 

Recommendation #1 Recommendation #2 Recommendation #3 

Could there be a vendor or place that sells healthier foods 
than the KPU food cafeteria? 

I wish we have more cutting mats 
available around production labs 

More online resources 

N/A N/A N/A 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           107  

Recommendation #1 Recommendation #2 Recommendation #3 

It would be nice to have a 24 hour campus one day! 

Advertise all resources available to us. 
Accessibility since COVID-19 has reduced to practically 
nothing; we have no access to the campus at all (labs, 
resource room, computers, library) yet we still pay for all 
of it. 

New, or even up-to-date resources in 
the library on topics relating to 

fashion/design are sparse. 

Some librarians appear to be 
biased against the students of the 

design school. 

Q48 - In general, how satisfied are you with your experience in KPU's Fashion and 
Technology program? 

# Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 6% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 32% 

5 Very satisfied 61% 

Total 31 

Q49 - Thinking of the program as a whole, please highlight the strengths of the 
program. 

Every day I get the opportunity to learn with peers and teachers who truly have a passion for what we do. It is an honour to be apart of 
this program! 
the program sets us very well if you want to work for a company in Vancouver, especially a technical company, I know this is not the 
dream for everyone so it would neat to see a broader sense of industry skills 
Give yoi the opportunity to learn and demonstrate your learnig in creative ways. 
Good integration of course material between courses (easy to see the big picture), creative projects designed to build a variety of skills, 
while still allowing a wide margin of personal variation 
Connection to the real world of the fashion industry. 

The amazing community between peers and instructors. Openmindedness from peers and instructors. 
Really kind instructors that also provide good critiques when it comes to assignments and work. The incorporation of current events in 
projects and assignments. 
Incorporation of local industry, practicum opportunities, knowledgeable instructors, hands on instructions, access to lab and machinery 

Please see my previous answer 

The courses teach you a lot about the industry and what to expect. 
I think I can’t say I’m fully happy because of COVID and not having a fashion show or a way to film a way to show with our collection 
has left me very unhappy and unsatisfied. The reason I chose this school was for the fashion show. 
Great use of technology and computer programs 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           108  

I have gained a good variety of skills and knowledge 
General overview of many topics within the industry, pretty good professors, beautiful building to work in. Great access to donated 
gore-tex/other speciality fabrics and notions (ex: waterproof zippers). The program will definitely need to invest in more technology like 
the plotter for 3D technology or the program will fall behind 

Q50 - Thinking of the program as a whole, please highlight three areas for 
improvement. 

Recommendation #1 Recommendation #2 Recommendation #3 

have opportunity to learn specialized skills networking and industry experience 
cross year interaction, especially during remote learning this is a 
challenge, I cherish my relationships with peers in years above and 
below, DEPD did a vertical studio project which was very successful 

more field trips and industry 
speakers 

The opportunity to take school part-time or have more flexibility on 
when to take certain courses, so it does not feel like you are a year 
behind if you dare to take fewer classes than the suggested course load. 

More specialized courses for 
students to chose and narrow down 

their profession. 
Teacher's should be more aware and accommodating of different 
learning styles and emotional and mental well-being 

Please see my previous answer Please see my previous answer Please see my 
previous answer 

More school-led industry related trips 

More diversity in sizing and learning how to make for different bodies. 
More communication between faculty and students. (Faculty that are 
easy to approach) 

Clear evaluations with specific 
letter grades given afterwards 

Faculty Diversity Creativity 
Clarity from teachers for instructions on the assignments. Steps to take 
to finish an assignment. 

Q51 - Please provide suggestions on how best to promote the program. Where 
should the program focus its promotional efforts? 

I know we do tours and stuff and I think that's great it would be good to do something more for students who have interests but don't 
necessarily live in an area that could come for a tour. So maybe reaching out to high school teachers and have them collect students that 
would be interested in the program and set them up with one student and one teacher or advisor so that they can ask questions and learn 
more about the program on a personal level, as that is why I came to the school. 
The show was what sold me, I attended with my high school every year and it was extremely inspiring and motivating 

Students sharing their experiences and being successful after graduation are the best ways to promote the program 

Bus ads 
In the high schools and with the textile teachers. Maybe site visits from KPU instructors into the high school textile classes or inviting 
them to the fashion shows. KPU hosting virtual online one day webinars through Eventbrite or short two day courses (as other fashion 
schools are doing this already such as FIDM & FIT)- these can be on topics such as fashion history, fashion illustration, current topics.... 
I think the program should focus its promotional efforts on high schools, as I decided on joining the program through high school 
recommendations. I was unaware of many of the job opportunities within the apparel/fashion industry prior to joining the program, and I 
received little to no information regarding that in highschool. I think it would be hugely beneficial if efforts were made to educate high 
schoolers who wish to pursue post-secondary education on the career opportunities of this program. 
Further local recognition-gaining.  Further global recognition-gaining. 

On Instagram and Facebook. On google search when people look up Fashion Schools in Vancouver BC 

Highschool visits 

???? With the students that are currently trying to get an education. This is a school, not a business. Don't ask me for marketing advice. 

social media, fabric stores (dressew, fabricana, etc), high schools 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021            109  

Appendix 24: Alumni Survey Results 

Fashion & Technology Program Review - Alumni Survey Results 

The alumni survey was sent to 330 Fashion & Technology alumni. A total of alumni 54 responded. The 
response rate is 18%1.  
Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-
judgment editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with 
one exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to 
whether the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

Q1 When did you complete this credential? 

# Percentage 

1 2020 22% 

2 2019 17% 

3 2018 7% 

4 2017 13% 

5 2016 13% 

8 2015 7% 

9 2014 2% 

10 2013 7% 

11 2012 7% 

12 2011 4% 

Total 54 

Q2 - What is the highest credential you have earned in KPU's Fashion & 
Technology Program? 

# Percentage 

1 Bachelor of Design in Fashion & Technology 98% 

2 Diploma in Fashion & Technology 2% 

Total 54 

1 27 emails bounced and 3 emails were duplicate. The RR is based on 300 invites. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           110  

Q3 - To what extent did KPU’s Fashion & Technology Program help you develop 
the following learning outcomes? 

Note that “negative” categories are excluded from the chart, leaving only the “positive” categories to enable quick comparisons between 
items. For items with low positive percentages, use the frequency table below to review the proportion of “negative” responses. 

# Question Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 
Demonstrate use of current industry technology (CAD programing 

(Gerber/Optitex), Adobe Creative Cloud, 3D modelling and augmented 
reality, etc.) 

4% 21% 42% 34% 53 

2 Apply design and product development methodology and processes 4% 15% 33% 48% 54 

3 Develop an adaptable and innovative mind set 4% 11% 43% 43% 54 

4 Apply critical thinking through iterative prototyping 4% 9% 28% 58% 53 

5 Explore sustainable and ethical concepts and how they relate to design 
with a social innovation perspective 13% 30% 26% 30% 53 

6 Develop and practice professional communication skills, interpersonal 
and intrapersonal skills 4% 22% 24% 50% 54 

7 Collaborate effectively with others and practice leadership 6% 17% 39% 39% 54 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           111  

Q4 - To what extent did KPU’s Fashion & Technology Program help you develop 
the following competencies? 

Note that “negative” categories are excluded from the chart, leaving only the “positive” categories to enable quick comparisons between 
items. For items with low positive percentages, use the frequency table below to review the proportion of “negative” responses. 

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Problem solving & adaptability skills 2% 15% 37% 46% 54 

2 Apparel production skills 4% 15% 33% 48% 54 

3 Apparel production knowledge 6% 22% 24% 48% 54 

4 Technological skills 2% 13% 48% 37% 54 

5 Global awareness skills 9% 33% 33% 24% 54 

6 Creative skills 4% 20% 46% 30% 54 

7 Self-directed skills 2% 15% 28% 56% 54 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           112  

Q5 - To what extent did KPU’s Fashion & Technology Program help you develop 
the following skills? 

Note that “negative” categories are excluded from the chart, leaving only the “positive” categories to enable quick comparisons between 
items. For items with low positive percentages, use the frequency table below to review the proportion of “negative” responses. 

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 2% 24% 37% 37% 54 

2 Written communication 4% 30% 41% 26% 54 

3 Reading comprehension 15% 35% 31% 19% 54 

4 Group collaboration 2% 13% 35% 50% 54 

5 Critical analysis 4% 13% 33% 50% 54 

6 Leadership skills 6% 22% 44% 28% 54 

7 Numeracy skills 19% 45% 25% 11% 53 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           113  

Q6 - How would you rate the diversity of course topic offerings (design, production, 
textiles, etc.) in KPU’s Fashion & Technology Program? Please note that the 
changes made from the last program review were implemented in September 2017.  
Some of these changes included new courses and shifts in course content.  If you are 
not familiar with these changes, please see the attached program model. 

# Percentage 

1 Inadequate 13% 

2 Adequate 59% 

3 Excellent 28% 

Total 54 

Q7 - If there were particular topics/areas that were missing from KPU's Fashion & 
Technology Program that would have helped you prepare for related work or 
further study, please tell us about them. 

It’s missing the part where they tell you that this program is useless and you don’t need it. I have spent my time since unlearning it. 
Thinking that a “bachelors degree” is a necessary thing is the only reason I took this program. Well, this is a career that doesn’t not 
require any degrees and people are better off learning specific technical skills and apprenticing for what they want to do. Universities are 
dying. Have fun competing with YouTube. 
Learning further about knit garments (sweater knits and seamless knits) would have been helpful to have a fuller base of knowledge/ 
A course related to sustainable practices and materials would be beneficial. Also, additional courses on textile science for a more in-
depth understanding. 
How to reduce our global impact on a large business and small business scale. More intense leadership training for both having different 
types of leaders you will interact with, as well as how to be a competent leader. The program also needs more programs on how to 
launch a small brand for those who wish to do so. There is also a huge lack in job search preparation for final year students. 
Internship program is useful to prepare for real industry experience. 

Sustainability, Factory auditing, sourcing, raw materials, quality control, pattern balancing 
I think production techniques are amazing but very rarely have I applied them in my career. I wish we had more learnings on working 
with factory’s and mills, learning how to communicate with people overseas etc. 
More information regarding mass manufacturing would be helpful, and more spread out. When I took the program it was crammed into 
one semester and it would be good to introduce it sooner (which I believe the newest changes to the curriculum do cover) 
Development / creation / and standards for technical packages   In depth knowledge of adobe illustrator for sketching , colouring , and 
technical work  Sketching as a whole , inside and out , technical views in addition to full body sketching   In depth understanding of 
machinery , stitching , and industry standard verbiage for all 
The business side of Fashion. Margins, suppliers, sourcing and manufacturing was discussed but never in-depth of how to actually 
seek/find them. As well including a [Name redacted] type of course would be helpful, regardless if the students plan on starting their 
own business, because many will work for smaller businesses where they will have to manage budgets and many other business related 
tasks. 
Information on Freelance and consulting cost structures would have been greatly beneficial. 

Could have used more classes focused on Gerber and 3D in order to become truly proficient with the software. 1 class isn't enough. 
Nothing missing, I just think there should be more focus on sewing/drafting skills and learning more about working with particular 
textiles, and fit for different bodies. Sociology should also be a suggested extra credit class. 
The single textiles class was not enough for industry. I believe every semester/production class/design class should have a textile 
element to it. More about working with factories and how negotiations work/ how to negotiate. 
the business side of the industry, sales, marketing, etc. there should be a course about meetings and professional communication. 
I think that students who are intending to start businesses would benefit from more academic guidance on business classes, introduction 
to resources, and if possible the ability to match with an alumni for mentorship. Exterior sources such as YCombiner and Futurepenuer 
have been essential to prepair me for my next role. 
Sustainability. Zero Waste. Environmental Awareness. Job Interview Prep. How the job market is. 
I feel student should had a longer course, where they get to do their  practicum for 3 month or longer to gain more of an 
experience/knowledge in the real world industry. 
Mass manufacturing in Asia Cost negotiation Lead time and international holidays 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           114  

The program is completely lacking in the area of e-commerce and running a realistic business in today’s industry. The program still 
insists on assuming a brick and mortar store is the typical route for a brand even though that is far from the truth. Unless the program 
starts to include online business practices as part of the curriculum, the program will very quickly be irrelevant, or at least missing out 
on a huge opportunity to prepare students for the reality of what the fashion industry is today. 
I would like a course solely on how to draft knits and calculate stretch 
Product Development in the type of Product Development relating to creating Tech Packs (accurate technical sketches to an actual 
garment, fabric legends, stitch type legends, cross secton diagrams showing detailed construction, detailed Bill of Materials, how to 
measure a garment with detailed points of measure, grading for different body shapes). 
There needs to be a greater focus on Technology, digital, and equipments 

Historical and cultural textiles studies and techniques  Entrepreneurship skills with focus on sustainable business practices 
Although the program provides a really good overview of the apparel industry, I think there is a lack of social/cultural conversations 
being taught and discussed. At times it feels like more emphasis is placed on the technical aspects and developing job-ready skills, and 
less on fostering more innovative and subversive ideas/approaches in fashion. I think including more forward-thinking perspectives 
would benefit the program in having a bigger influence locally and globally. An example of a course that I feel aids in this gap is the 4th 
year zero waste course - more of the design and production courses need this level of exploration and dialogue. 
Textile studies, specifically knits 

More focus on critical career planning and entering the industry, especially in year 4. 
Prior to the 2017 program update, more courses relating to textiles and fabrics would be helpful post-graduation. In the new program, 
more CAD/Adobe work should be introduced early on along with how to grade or even create grading tables for different garments. 
no instruction for someone who may not understand the way teachers are teaching due to small class size and teachers “rep”. lots of 
favouritism 
I did not feel like I learned enough about computer-aided drafting and pattern manipulations in Gerber Accumark or a similar program. 
Being able to work entirely in the digital realm would have prepared me more for specialized roles and made me more desirable to hire 
in product development, technical design, and manufacturing roles.   I also felt there wasn't enough opportunity to delve into more 
traditional manufacturing techniques like Couture sewing, Hand Tailoring etc. While this is not an area that everyone may want to learn 
I think there is enough of a need for it that there should be resources and opportunities available. 
Longer practicum period, fully-fashioned/3D knitting/knits design and development, more CAD pattern drafting courses - most KPU 
grads don't seem to have a very strong foundation in CAD. 
3D design 
Teach students the concept of sustainability at the first year of FASN. Let them do researches on how harmful and toxic fabrics and the 
procedures of creating fabrics are. The purpose is not to stop them from using textiles on making clothing; the purpose is to inspire them 
to think deeply about the process of creating a design and how to be more eco-friendly. Students should be encouraged to be creative 
when balancing innovative and sustainability during their design studies and future career. 
Technical textile science (laminations, coatings, DWR, polyurethanes) I work in a very technical industry. 

Q8 - Please list any emerging technologies KPU's Fashion & Technology Program 
should consider incorporating into the curriculum. 

People should consider studying these technologies on their own without an out of touch organization trying to figure itself out 
3D software: Clo and Browzwear are starting to be used by many companies. It would be extremely beneficial for students to be able to 
use these softwares. 
3D program 

3D patternmaking software, PLM systems and working cross functionally 

clo 3D 
1) Studying the inner workings of a large business vs a small business. 2) How society events affect fashion 3) How to handle/process
when someone doesn’t like your work. 
Even more focus on sustainable practices (not just zero waste but more in depth look at textiles and production practices). More time 
using technical apparel equipment (seam sealer, ultrasonic welder, etc) 
Chlo 

Ultra sonic welding, RF welding & Lamination techniques 

CLO 3D 

Broweswear and Vstitcher 

More textile / fabrication knowledge. Fully fashioned knitwear. 3D rendering earlier in the program. 
CAD or hard copy to PDF Printing/Scanning. I Leaned online because I can sell and share PDF files without expensive specialty 
equipment from my house or office. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           115  

3D Printing. Augmented Reality. Optitex. 

SAP and PLM programs 

E-commerce technology 
Incorporate drafting and sewing more knits to better understand the fabric. More in depth on other categories like menswear or 
children's wear 
Browzwear, an example of a Product line Management System (ePDM, Flex PLM etc), More focus on using Photoshop for Print and 
Graphic Design at a detailed level. Knowing how to make a repeating polka dot print isn't good enough. Ryerson has some great courses 
my colleagues took for Print and Graphic Design. 
global sustainability 
Definitely more implementation of 3D software in production courses. I think this would improve the workflow immensely. With this, I 
think size and gender inclusivity can also be addressed. 
Gerber, Photoshop 

3D work (how it can be used to create 2D patterns, create colours up, etc) 

Body Scanning and digital avatar creation and using scanned measurements to develop mass customization. 

Gerber, Browzwear, 3D design 
3D printing, bag design should be added to the curriculum. As being sustainable was mentioned, using 3D avatar to try the first 
prototype is the new trend for prototype fitting now. Students should learn manual pattern drafting and Optitex CAD at the beginning of 
the first semester, and try to draft patterns in both ways at the same time. Try to let them use Optitex 3D avatar more frequent to let them 
feel confident when using that program after they graduated from the program. 
Technical textile science, as stated above and more user centered design. 

Q9 - Should there be a mandatory field school for students in the program? A field 
school involves travel, often out of country, where students engage in learning 
activities outside of the classroom in a course that is for credit. 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 45% 

2 No 55% 

Total 51 

Q10 - Please include any additional comments you may have on mandatory field 
schools below. 

I went on an exchange to Lyon. The experience was  interesting, but the program was fluff. Just field trips and droning lectures. Would 
have loved something hands-on where I learned to do something concrete.  Does it need to be “mandatory””? No, nothing should be 
mandatory. But then again, I have a hard time recommending anything other than simply “don’t take this program” 
I feel like this could cause an issue for students that are currently struggling to pay for schooling as it is. It should be strongly 
recommended if students have the means to, but not mandatory. If the school is willing to subsidize and make it affordable/reasonable 
for students, then it would be a great experience. If it would be a field school within Vancouver and would be of low cost, that could 
also be an option. 
Going out to see how factories work is very good learning, so students can actually see what’s happening behind the scenes. Most 
companies will also require you to go “on site” to work with vendors so if possible to have some similar exposure to that would be a 
good way to learn. 
I went on a field school that was art history based outside of the fashion program and that broadened my experience by learning 
something I didn’t know anything about. I think a field study should go above and beyond and fulfill what an exchange study does. 
Definitely not, it is not a financial option for many students and while travel is an incredible experience, it should not limit the entire 
program for people that cannot commit to it. 
Would recommend more in depth industry work as intern 
This would be expensive, as a student this was an option, but I never would have been able to afford it, while other students were doing 
field studies, I secured two extra jobs which led to getting hired after school. Unless the field study includes practicum abroad where the 
benefit may be employment (which is unlikely as they are normally done in 3rd year so the student still needs to return to finish one 
more year, making them less desirable to employers.) Field studies may be helpful to some students to broaden their minds, however as 
majority of students will be looking for work locally, I think focusing more of making them hireable in the local job market will be more 
beneficial in the long run. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           116  

International travel to an overseas programw ith links to factories would be incredibly valuable. I know the Tech Design baccalaureate 
includes a factory visit and I believe this is something that is invaluable to everyones experience in the industry. 
It would be useful for students to experience how fashion is perceived/valued in different countries. To open them up to different 
cultures and class experiences. This will help to make them a more rounded employee as different schools/business focus on/value 
different skills and processes. 
Field schools are a huge financial burden on students and would prevent some students from even applying for the program. As 
someone who went on exchange, I don't believe it's necessary. 
It is unfair to require time abroad. 55% of my class was employed and some had family responsibilities. Feild schools are wonderful and 
the school should do it's best to make them accessible; however it could negatively impact some students. 
Mandatory Field Schools are great for students who CAN afford the program. Field School is a good experience and should only be 
mandated if fees are covered. 
more business courses outside of fashion communication and leadership 
This would be great as long as it’s included in the curriculum/tuition and not an extra thing that students are expected to pay for in 
addition to regular tuition and living expenses. 
Field Schools are a great option, and they should be available to everyone enrolled but not mandetory. Everyone has different needs 
regarding lifestyle, child care, pet care, working a job to support themselves through school that could be challenging emotionally and 
financially to also need to move away for some time. 
Not everyone can afford it! 
Personally, I absolutely loved the content of the course zero-waste pattern innovation, but felt like it was just the very tip of the iceberg. 
I also felt like it was introduced in the very last moments of my school experience and felt like I didn't have enough time to dive deeper 
and thoroughly practice the skills. I would have loved to be introduced to that topic at the very beginning of the program and have there 
be more emphasis on sustainable fashion. 
Field school would be a great idea! Referring back to my comments on more social/cultural-driven topics, a field school would be an 
immersive and direct way of engaging in such dialogues. I did a field school during my time at KPU and it had such a positive impact on 
my education. 
While field schools are valuable for increasing global awareness in the fashion industry, mandating them could A) place a financial 
burden on the student that they are not prepared to take on and B)some students may simply not be ready for an international field study 
experience in their life at this point. Living in a new country is a big undertaking, especially when added to the rigours of this program. 
Maybe not mandatory for all students, but should be highly recommended especially for students who are not going on exchange. 
Traveling could help give them a new perspective especially in how they tackle obstacles and even help figure out their niche for 4th 
year. 
have it so that exchange happens before industry involvement. loss of jobs due to being away at critical point has affect on employment 
post graduating 
The Vancouver/Canadian fashion industry is too small and doesn't provide a very global perspective. Field school will greatly help to 
evolve students' perspectives and improve global awareness of the program. 
If possible, mandatory factory visits? Like tech apparel goes to Maxport? 

Q11 - Please answer the following about the practicum component of KPU's Fashion 
& Technology Program: 

#  Yes No Total 

1 Is the length of practicum sufficient? 66% 34% 50 

2 Is the placement of practicum in the right place in the program? 82% 18% 49 

3 Do students need retail work experience before going into the practicum? 50% 50% 50 

Q12 - What should be the length of the practicum? 
I feel the time of doing Practicum can be longer than 120 hrs. 

One year 

2 semesters long, about 6 months. 

6 months in total; maybe not just one practicum, could do 2? 

I think a minimum of 120 hours or 15, 8-hour days would be beneficial. 

300 hours 
A full semester. Students will be able to see a product from the start to finish. It also allows them to build a strong relationship with the 
company and build trust to take on real tasks. In order for this to be effective the school also needs to work with student loans to get 
students more money to recoup the loss of not working. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           117  

The length of the practicum is short and should be more than 5 months to really get the feel of the environment. However, students 
should also be compensated for pay if their practicum is extended from their chosen companies. 
Three months, 2-3 days a week schedule dependant on the individual.   The interns we had at my company in 2019 didn't stay long 
enough to learn much. They were so curious and still learning things such as what is the different between flat lock and flat felled seams. 
I didn't think they were able to absorb much of the more complicated concepts of working in an apparel office. 
I think 3 months will be better, this way you can learn more and gain more experience from the company 

180-200 hours 

co-op 

I think it would be beneficial for the practicum to be 2-3 times the current length and span an entire semester. 

Around 200 hours so that the students come about 16 to 20 hours per week for 3 months. 

500 hours 

More hours 

Q13 - Where in the program practicum should be placed? 
Nursing students go into the hospital with patients on their first week. This program requires its students to do low-level demeaning 
work that has nothing to do with their goals and in such a slow pace. I can’t answer this question, because I don’t believe in the validity 
of this degree. 
Spring and Summer semester of 3rd year 

4th year to allow an easy transition into a full time role. 
I would place the Practicum after the fashion show as an entry into the industry. By the time 3rd and 4th year are over the practicum 
experience seems far removed and starts to fade. That said 10 years later and I still lean heavily on the experience and connections I 
made during my practicum in 3rd year 
over the whole 3rd year....co-op 

end of third year / early fourth yest 
I think having the practicum at the very end of the program right before you graduate would be better as many students get offered 
positions after completing the practicum which they often cannot accept because they have full-time studies for one more year. 
At the very end so that they can continue working in the industry. 

Q14 - When considering KPU's Fashion & Technology Program as a whole, would 
it be of value if the program structure were changed to include learning streams?  
With this change, the first two years of the program might have a more general and 
foundational focus (similar to what we currently have), that lead to learning streams 
(e.g. technical, design, etc.) in 3rd & 4th year where student might specialize their 
area knowledge. 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 84% 

2 No 16% 

Total 49 

Q15 - Which of the following is more relevant to the current and future local 
industry? 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           118  

Q15_TEXT 
Other - Text 

currently, Gerber is more common but with 3D becoming more prevalent, it could change. 

clo 3D 

Not sure 

Gerber but also learning how to draft on Adobe Illustrator 

Depends if your a designer or product developer. Designer = chlo , PD = Gerber and optitex 

3D vstitcher 

Not sure 

Optitex, though I do see manufacturers still using Gerber. 

Unless you’re a pattern maker you likely won’t be using any of these. 

Cloud 

Browswear 

any fondation is good 

Other than Optitex, software such as Clo would be really relevant 

Brownzwear, Clo 3D 

Q16 - Should KPU's Fashion & Technology Program consider online, or a hybrid 
(where a course might have some online, some in-person components) delivery for 
some courses as on option? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 68% 

2 No 32% 

Total 50 

Q17 - What courses and content could be delivered online? Or what components of 
courses might be taught online? 

Types of classes that are more theory-based/lecture-based and not needing collaboration. I think fashion history would be a good course 
for this with a blend of class meet-ups for any group projects or presentations. 
Theory based courses with textbook or computer work. Online classes should not take away any hands on learning yet rather give an 
opportunity for students to be more productive by cutting commute times. 
Textile sciences, sustainability, mass manufacturing, fashion history, events and promotion, and some design classes could be held 
online as well since most of it is independent work or drawings 
Anything that requires collaboration and sharing. With new companies positions product development and key milestones now on 
virtual programs this is going to be very beneficial. A bad virtual team player makes or breaks remote working. 
A lot of courses could be taught part time online but I feel Fashion History, Product development, & CAD pattern could be primarily 
online. 
Fashion history, business, any computer-focused work. 
The Apparel Industry, Fundamentals of Digital Communication, Fashion History.  However, I believe the instructors need to be taught 
how to deliver these classes digitally as I know that the current students find it extremely difficult because of the instructors lack of 
knowledge of digital communication. 
Courses that teach web design, CAD, Adobe programs. Some business classes could go partly online for lecture only days. 

Everything can be taught online except for production which I find it should be in person 

business-related communication  cost negotiation 
Fundamentals of Fashion Design, Fashion History, Apparel in the Global Economy, Introduction to Marketing, Introduction to 
Professional Communications 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           119  

Professional promotion could be delivered online 

Lecture courses 

theory like history, and computer courses 

Ethnics and global economy class by [Name Redacted] 

Sometimes there were weeks where the class was just a "work day/self-directed" these could be times when the class could be online. 

Fashion History I&II, Apparel in the Global Economy 

any history classes where you are not actually creating anything 
Marketing and Business courses could be either a combination or totally online.  Provided students have technology access then 
computer-aided drafting could be totally online with instructors available via screen share or with office hours in person.   
Fashion/Costume History could be online or a combination of in-person and online. 
FASN 1116, CMNS 1140, MRKT 1199, FASN 2116, ENGL 1100, FASN 2216, FASN 3151 

Textile science,  global apparel, history of costume, some of the fashion marketing courses to be a blend? 
Fashion history / forecasting, anything more textbook based 

Q18 - Please rank the following names for the program in terms of preference, with 
1 being the most preferred and 4 being the least preferred. 

# Question 1 2 3 4 Total 

1 Fashion & Technology 7% 20% 59% 15% 46 
2 Fashion Design 7% 2% 17% 74% 42 
3 Fashion Design & Technology 26% 60% 15% 0% 47 
4 Apparel Design & Technology 55% 17% 11% 17% 47 
5 Other: 57% 14% 14% 14% 7 

Q19 - Thinking of KPU's Fashion & Technology Program as a whole, to what extent 
would you agree with the following? 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021            120  

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 The program prepared me for the career I 
wanted 8% 12% 14% 39% 27% 49 

2 The program prepared me for further 
education 6% 10% 24% 29% 31% 49 

3 The time I invested in my Fashion & 
Technology education was well spent 6% 6% 6% 27% 55% 49 

4 The money I invested in my Fashion & 
Technology education was well spent 8% 8% 10% 43% 31% 49 

5 
The program provided me with opportunities 

to develop connections with industry/potential 
employers 

10% 16% 10% 35% 29% 49 

Q20 - Overall, how satisfied are you with how KPU's Fashion & Technology 
Program prepared you for work and/or further education? 

# Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 4% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 6% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 10% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 45% 

5 Very satisfied 35% 

Total 49 

Q21 - Thinking of KPU’s Fashion & Technology Program as a whole, please 
highlight the strengths of the program. 

Can’t think of any 

- technically driven - industry known - support network - adaptable - realistic settings/application 

Teaches professionalism and gives you the confidence to navigate the industry. 

The community, the room for exploration of ideas, the professors. 
Learning real industry based technologies and also got to explore some creative side of Fashion Design. Learned a lot about local 
apparel industry 
It does a good job of getting you all the basic information needed to start a small business but not necessarily all the specific details and 
tools for more specific jobs. 
technical part 

The focus on problem-solving, designing for a target market, taking criticism and creating spec packs. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           121  

Offers its students for a wide range of opportunities in different areas of the Apparel Industry.   Prepares students with a good base of 
wholistic knowledge to build upon with actual work experience. 
Independence, a sense of owning your on work, project creativity 
The industry connections has the be the biggest highlight. Not just the people you meet through school, but the amount of community 
partners you are exposed to during the program, the practicum, the Apparel Industry course, and all the employment opportunities that 
are lined up for you are amazing. 
Lacks technical and industry standards for technical work as a design assistant ( first job for many ) 

Critical thinking skills and designing with a production mindset is very helpful. The Practicum was very beneficial. 

Technical Skills 
KPU's program gives a great overall foundation. Having met with students from Parsons and Central Saint Martins that didn't know how 
to thread industrial machines in 4th year of university was surprising. Being able to understand your machines, tools, fabrics and the 
capabilities of each creates a solid foundation of what is possible. Thus helping the individual to design better products and solve 
problems when they arise. 
I really enjoyed the focus on sustainability in design, and what the fashion industry can do better moving forward 

Time management, how to handle a lot of things at once, large work loads, 

practicum 

The program improved my management skills, taught me how to research, and how to develop designs that meet consumers needs. 

The teachers are kind, and always create good interpersonal relationships with students. 

Variety of classes Internship 

Giving opportunities to practice practical skills. 
The internship during 3rd year gave me the knowledge of first hand industry experience which prepared me for jobs later. I would 
recommend the hours for 2016 for future years as well 
To work in Product Development, or Technical Design the 2 year diploma would have been enough of an education... however I learned 
most of what I needed in my career from my practicum, and working within the apparel business. 
It helps student to communicate better when you present your ideas 
The array of classes provided were astounding. I felt like there was a good balance between technical skills and creativity. I liked the 
amount of opportunity to work with others as well as solo. I really appreciated 4th year and the experiencing tons of feedback and the 
opportunities to showcase our ideas to the public. My communication skills and confidence and openness to feedback (good and bad) 
heightened significantly. 
The highlights for me would be how community-based the program is, the small intake, and its emphasis on industry. 

Technical skills (Adobe, Gerber), apparel manufacturing (construction methods, doc packs and industry language) 
1) High quality of instruction 2) Focus on industry connections 3) The structure of the program and how the courses were interconnected
4) Strong focus on interpersonal and creative problem-solving skills
Emphasis on drafting, sewing garments, and developing tech packs which has helped me in my role now in product development. Work 
with a variety of fabrics (wovens, knits, non-wovens, tech) throughout the 4 years. It really is a program where you "get what you put 
in" if students aren't willing to push and challenges themselves, they don't learn as much as they could. 
Technical Design and Product Development especially in regard to technical apparel (sports apparel etc.) 

Close community feeling between students and instructors, small class/program sizes, good local industry connections 

Design and production 

The new machines, fabrics, and building 

the faculty 

Amazing instructors and great support system to develop your own growth 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           122  

Q22 - If you were to improve KPU’s Fashion & Technology Program, what would 
be your top 3 recommendations? 

Recommendation #1 Recommendation #2 Recommendation #3 

Don’t go Don’t go Don’t go 

More time for creative design process 
More practicum time or industry 

volunteer hours (ie: for fashion shows, 
can be done during the year) 

More time looking into textiles and 
fabrics (this might be due to the lack of 

textiles classes when I was in the 
program) 

Introduce a course related to sustainability and 
the future of the industry. 
Add a 5th year, or an optional 5th year. Or at 
least ask students if they wanna stay and have a 
transition program to go to. 

Aid students who want to launch a brand 
right after graduation. 

Do more mental heath checks on the 
students. 

More lessons on fit and alterations opposed to 
creating a garment from scratch 
more practicum opportunities 

Fashion History 1 Fashion History 2 Apparel in the Global Economy 

More local field trips 

More education on technology (the technology 
courses need to be taught by experts) 

Bring back the longer practicum, the 
current model is way too short and make 
it hard for businesses to want to invest in 

interns, they end up doing just busy work. 

Tech pack creation In depth illustration for tech packs Industry level understanding of stitching 
and make 

Allow for more focused learning in 3rd/4th 
year. Choosing a minor/major in either design, 
patterning or even the manufacturing sides. 

More in-depth learning of grading and 
pattern making. It is one of the hardest 

positions to hire because there is a lack of 
candidates. 

Learn more about the processes of 
sourcing. How to go about sourcing 

locally, overseas and what certifications 
are important to ask for. Etc etc. 

A clearer understanding from the beginning of 
what kind of jobs this program will prepare you 
for 

More generalized first year with the 
possibility of exploring other areas of 

design/programs that WSD offers 

more classes dedicated to gerber more classes focused on new industry 
software, 3D 

keep focused on the intense 2 year 
foundation of fundamentals. Students 

will then be able to figure out almost any 
complicated design or process they 
encounter when starting out in the 

industry. 
More sewing/drafting/fit learning Less intense workload More online learning integration 
Textile lessons to build knowledge every 
semester Factory communication and negotiations Staff with current industry knowledge 

more focus on letting students specialize being able to pick their courses and not 
take general ones 

less emphasis and focus on actual 
sewing and production 

More focus on health because the pressure of 
the program damaged my health. 

Improve the resource library to house 
program textbooks to borrow, sewing 

samples to study, and donated resouces to 
acess for classes. 

Improve resources for students with 
entrepreneural goals. 

Focus on getting jobs for 4th years. Make sure 
there are jobs lined up for them while they're in 
the program. Or they already have a job while 
in the program. 

Creating a place of a toxic-free 
environment. 

Create a goal-oriented and community 
driven environment. 

Cad/gerber Production 

Have more industry connection More mass manufacturing education, not 
everyone wants to start their own brand 

Have fashion electives where you can 
tailor your degree to what you want 

More work experience More industry support More interview prep 

Add e-commerce training 
Consolidate resources (textbooks and 

papers take up way too much space and 
hardly end up being used) 

Do more practical application in courses 
like product development, less lecturing. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           123  

Recommendation #1 Recommendation #2 Recommendation #3 

Continue internship program at 120hrs Work more on website building More creative exploration in draping 
More courses with content relating to actual 
jobs offered in Apparel Businesses Longer, or more practicums offered Less Design focused, and more 

technology or production knowledge 

Don't lower your admission requirement 
More hands-on teaching style in class, 

instead of following the book and let 
student figure things out by them own 

Show students how to repair coverstitch 
and flat lock machines with basic 

knowledge. 

More production time 

More focus in some of the lecture 
courses. ex. is Fashion history needed, 

removal of the second year computer 
course, etc. 

I felt like textile science was lacking in depth 
and was not taken seriously. I consider textile 
knowledge to be very important, and 
personally, I didn't feel prepared. I wanted to 
learn more about the entire cycle of textiles, 
from origin to end-of-life. I also wanted to 
spend more time testing my knowledge and 
creatively relating to all types of textiles to 
understand their unique qualities. 

Especially in the setup of our new 
building, I can see so much potential in 

having more events which showcase 
student's process and products with a 

larger crowd (as well as intimate crowds), 
which include other programs as well! I 
believe this will build more connection 
between programs and perspectives, as 

well as prepare students for future 
collaborations and communication skills. 

What's most concerning to me is the lack 
of emphasis on sustainability throughout 
the courses. I believe this is the direction 

the world is going and needs to be 
going, especially as students of fashion 

design, I think it's high time to 
implement these thoughtforms and 

practices in some way in every course. 

Newer instructors with more current industry 
experience to provide more future-forward 
perspectives 

Implementation of learning streams Implementation of a field school 
component, or something similar 

More focus on textile-related studies, 
especially in knitwear More collaboration with other programs 

Longer duration for practicing 
placements, offer internship option as 

well 

Ease students into year 1- its really about 
starting self-discovery and foundational skills 

Stagger the introduction of new 
technology. Learning many new 

programs in 1 semester can be 
overwhelming. 

I like the idea of 2 streams in yrs 3&4. 
Allows students to specialize, if they 

know what they want to specialize in. 

More in-depth classes on fabrics and textiles 
development. 

If the program will be split into streams, 
maybe looking into having the 4th yr 

collections not be sewn by the students. 
Maybe just have the students sew 

samples/develop the tech packs 

More coursework on Adobe and Excel. 

Opportunity to specialize in areas of choice More business and marketing courses 
especially in regard to digital media 

required field studies to gain experience 
and knowledge outside Metro 

Vancouver 
More fit knowledge and how to look at fit on 
actually garment 

More learning of production on large 
scale 

More technical spec package 
development 

Global perspective/connections 
Longer practicum, develop into paid co-
op program for fairness to students and 

bring more value to industry 

Bring on more instructors with more 
recent industry experience/knowledge 

for most up-to-date perspectives 
More 3D design courses Improve fashion show 

Learn more about sustainability Other than Optitex, also need to learn 
Col3D and Brownzwear 

Find ways to let students build 
connections with instructors 

more cross contamination between programs more user centered design 

Possibility to specialize in a particular area More product development A bit more creative freedom 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           124  

Q23 - Are you currently employed? 
# Percentage 

1 Yes 73% 

2 No 27% 

Total 49 

Q24 - Which of the following best describes your current employment situation? 

# Percentage 

1 In a full-time regular position 74% 

2 In a part-time regular position 11% 

3 In a contract position 14% 

4 In a casual or temporary position 0% 

Total 35 

Q25 - What is your current position/role/job title? 
Wage slave 

Assistant Technical Developer 

Product Developer 

Apparel product developer 

Junior Product Developer 

Production Coordinator 

Technical Developer 

Police officer 

Head designer at Brunette the Label 

Independent Designer 

Design Director , Spanx 

Owner, Founder and Chief Operations Officer 

Co-Founder, Product Development & Operations 

Pattern Grader 

Brand Manager 

Part-time Consignment Picker/Pricer. Part-time Design-Assistant 

Production Manager 

Visual specialist 

Design assistant and digital designer 

Technical Designer 

Technical Developer 

technical developer 

Sales Advisor 

Production, sales and marketing assistant 

Costumer Design for Film and Television 

Jr. Technical developer 

Product Assembly Lead 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           125  

R&D designer and Pattern engineer 

Product development assistant 

Q26 - Could you specify the organization where you are currently employed? This 
information will help us better determine KPU graduates’ career trajectories. 

No 

lululemon 

CYC Design Corporation 

Gentle Fawn 

Davie & Chiyo 

Vancouver 

Brunette the Label 

Self-Employed 

Spanx - innovation shape wear / active 

Revol Girl Lingerie Inc. 

Made Apparel Inc. 

Arc'teryx 

Arc'teryx 

Play On Trading 

Consignment Store. Women's Clothing Brand. 

Aritzia 

Banana Republic 

Apparelmark 

Noel Asmar Group 

lululemon 

COS, a brand under the H&M Group 

Econic Apparel 

Warner Brothers and Netflix 

Lululemon 

Mustang Survival 

Aqua Lung 

lululemon 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           126  

Q27 - Where is the organization located? Please select all that apply. 

# Answer % Count 

10 Vancouver 65% 22 

11 Outside the Lower Mainland (Please specify where) 12% 4 

13 Outside of Canada (Please specify where) 6% 2 

6 North Vancouver/West Vancouver 6% 2 

8 Richmond 6% 2 

2 Burnaby/New Westminster 6% 2 

9 Surrey/South Surrey/Cloverdale/White Rock 3% 1 

5 Langley/Aldergrove 3% 1 

3 Coquitlam/Port Coquitlam/Port Moody 0% 0 

4 Delta (North Delta, Ladner, Tsawwassen) 0% 0 

12 Outside of BC (Please specify where) 0% 0 

1 Abbotsford/Mission/Chilliwack 0% 0 

7 Pitt Meadows/Maple Ridge 0% 0 

Total 100% 34 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           127  

Q27_TEXT - Outside the Lower Mainland. (Please specify where) 
Okanagan 

Also working from home most of the time 

Victoria 

Victoria 

Q28 - Were you previously employed? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 85% 

2 No 15% 

Total 13 

Q29 - What was your previous position/role/job title? 
Retail 

design and product development assistant 

Production assistant 

designer/ product developer 

Part-time stockperson 

Sewing Instructor 

Pattern-marker 
Working as an assistant for a local kids + moms clothing designer. Working as a tailor for a local indigenous owned clothing business. 
Freelancer for costume design, including 1 dance performance, 1 avant guarde solo theatre performance, 1 ongoing art instillation. 
Fabric Team 

Q30 - Have you pursued further education since completing KPU’s Fashion & 
Technology Program? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 20% 

2 No 80% 

Total 49 

Q31 - Please list the name of the program and the institution where you enrolled 
after completing KPU’s Fashion & Technology Program. 

General Business Studies at KPU 

Justice institute of British Columbia – Police Academy 

BrainStation - UX Design 

Administration 

Psychology 

BCIT - Statement of Completion, Leadership 

MBA at SFU 

Technical Apparel Design at KPU 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           128  

Q32 - What is the highest credential you have earned or are currently earning since 
completing KPU’s Fashion & Technology Program? 

#  Percentage 

1 Diploma 57% 

2 Associate’s Degree 0% 

3 Bachelor’s Degree 14% 

4 Professional designation (Please specify) 0% 

5 Other (Please specify) 14% 

6 Master's Degree 14% 

7 Doctorate 0% 

Total 7 

Q32_TEXT - Other (Please specify) 
Statement of Completion 

Q33 - Are you considering upgrading your skills? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 73% 

2 No 27% 

Total 49 

Q34 - What topics would you be interested in? 
furthering knowledge into software and/or sustainability and ethics 

Textile science, sustainability, and drafting/3D software. 
3D design, technical apparel, launching a start up brand, augmented design, optitex, textile development, virtual reality and how that 
will link to fashion. Incorporating technology into fashion design. 
More technology and software programs 

Zero waste patternmaking, grading, fit and alterations, balancing 

History, Costuming, Math, Fashion preservation and conservation 

Graphic design 

Dressmaking, Innovative Design, Sustainable Design 

Business ethics , sustainability , 3-D design 

3D pattern Drafting Ultra Sonic construction 

3D 

Textiles technology Entrepreneuralship Accessible design  Curve collections 

Sustainability Courses. Graphic Design Courses. 3D Modeling/Augmented Reality Courses. 

Communcation  HR people management leadership motivation 

Sustainability, systems development, 

More pattern drafting through cloud Draping 

Graphic Design, Print Design, Concept Development (Seasonal Strategies), Colour Design 

Not sure yet 

hand work: embellishment, embroidery, etc. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           129  

Traditional and cultural knowledge regarding self-sustainable dressmaking processes.  Textile art and natural dying techniques. Zero-
waste innovative pattern design. Ecology, circular economies, and sustainable societies Holistic wellness practices including colour 
therapy. 
Speculative design, gender neutral design, tailoring and draping 

Social media marketing, graphic design for apparel, fabric/raw material innovation 

Project management, marketing 

Master's degree in advanced pattern making, MBA 

Design 

3D printing, Laser cut machine 

ergonomics and product design, 3D CAD 

Want to possibly go into teaching 

Q35 - Which modes of delivery do you prefer? Select all that apply. 
# Percentage 

1 100% Face-to-Face, In person 34% 12 

4 Combined Face-to-Face/Online 77% 27 

5 100% Online 14% 5 

Total 35 
Note: The very bottom line presents the total number of respondents. The total number of answer choices for this question is greater than 
the number of respondents. Therefore, the total response percentages exceed 100%. 

Q36 - Would you be interested in micro credentials? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 89% 

2 No 11% 

Total 35 

Q37 - Considering where the fashion industry is moving, suggest a course 
topic/theme that might be the next ‘thing’ in the fashion industry. 

Not going to silly institutions like this 
3D: i can't stress enough how important 3D will be in the coming years. 3D can be used in so many applications and there are many 
softwares with different strengths. Being able to provide that for grads to have a class to learn and grow when their work may not 
provide licenses or have interest in that area, will be extremely beneficial and could also bring in people that aren't just design-centered. 
Sustainability. 

Augmented Design 

Ergonomics 

Sustainability/Sustainable fabrics Digital clothing 

regenerated fabrics from old ones 

Graphics, accessories, women in business 

Innovative design 

3-D design is what I look for in all new hires 
Fabric development - focused on creating, developing more sustainable fabrics. Locally made - there is a huge focus from consumers to 
"Buy Local" but how do you properly and cost effectively produce locally? Where are the production facilities that can make these 
products? How can you sustainably source fabrics from overseas? 
Made to Measure 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           130  

CLO 3D patterning and sewing. A great way to test fit without wasting time or money. 

Browswear  Vstitcher avatars 

Gender neutral clothing 

3D rendering is replacing our sampling process and all of the design team, PD and pattern will be using CLO 3D. 
Fibers technology: a course that explores specialty textiles development. See University of Ghent Textiles Engineering. Careers in 
research and development. product example Sheertex. 
Sustainability/Zero Waste. 3D Modeling/Augmented reality. Genderless clothing. 

Diversifying supply chain  Overseas production  Mass manufacturing optimization 

E-commerce. Sustainability, ethics. Circular economy development. 

Focus on sustainability, biodegradable 
3D imaging is very helpful in Covid times to quickly show what a garment might look like, and be able to be shared digitally. More 
sustainable dyes, fabrics and production techniques. 
Season-less, "timeless" clothing. Covid has shown us that there is much outside of our control and if shipping streams get disrupted, 
having goods that aren't trend based, is the easiest way to still make a profit to sell "old" goods. 
Sustainable Fashion design and business.  Zero-waste. Organic matters.  Ecology, circular economies, and sustainable societies (in 
regards to fashion design). 
Innovations in textiles and construction methods 

Sustainable sourcing, e-commerce, social media marketing and branding 

The "thrifting" and "borrowing" economy. 
Really digging deeper into sustainability, not the surface/greenwashing techniques. But in-depth analysis of how truly sustainable 
garments, fibers, manufacturing, the whole process from ideation to consumer to post-consumer. Especially now, consumers are 
continuously educating themselves and I think it's incredibly important for business and designers to be transparent and open to 
changing their businesses to be held more accountable. 
-Fashion and Digital Media - heavy on data analytics to provide consumer feedback and insights into trends -Manufacturing in Canada 
(Local Production) - How to rebuild manufacturing capacity closer to home for both business and environmental reasons 
On-demand manufacturing, microfactories, nearshoring, 3D software, microplastics 

3D design and prototyping More advanced pattern making skills 

Students need to know about the factories in Vancouver. Let them visit the factories of Arc'teryx and Mustang SUrvival. 

Ergonomics 

Q38 - How satisfied are you with the opportunities you have to stay connected to 
KPU’s Fashion & Technology Program? 

# Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 4% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 10% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 40% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 33% 

5 Very satisfied 13% 

Total 48 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           131  

Q39 - What can KPU’s Fashion & Technology Program and the Wilson School of 
Design Alumni Chapter do to build better connections with alumni? 

Pay them reparations. 

Create a bigger net in bringing in alumni of all backgrounds, however I'm aware it's in it's infancy 

More community events 

More events! 
More networking events with Alumni(post-covid), so that we can gain connection outside of the year that we graduated from. TedTalk 
type events, with mixers afterwards. 
I follow their Instagram account and would prefer to receive information about courses or events that way. 

Helping Alumni with no industry jobs get industry jobs. 

Have events 
Connect with alumni, work with the program and current students to strengthen connections. Consider a newsletter? Currently grads are 
far flung and other than within the program communication, there doesn't seem to be a real sense of connection within the alumni 
chapter. 
Provide meetup groups, discussion and feedback groups, and events. Showcase alumni and their journeys little more. Provide contact 
opportunities. 
I think what the program and alumni chapter do so well currently is checking in periodically with graduates, to see what they're up to - 
more of this would be great. This provides really valuable insight on life post-grad and various career streams. 
Virtual or in person networking events, workshops 
Special events would be great (of course, when we are able to do so). I think in the meantime, hosting webinars would be a great way to 
build better connections, especially for any grads who have lost their jobs. Even connecting with 3rd or 4th years to reach out to them, 
especially now and being a mentor. 
Plan events Send communication to touch base 

Events when possible 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           132  

Appendix 25: Discipline/Sector Survey Results 

Fashion & Technology Program Review - Discipline/Sector Survey Results 

The discipline/sector survey was sent to 63 Fashion & Technology discipline/sector representatives. A 
total of 28 representatives responded. The response rate is 44%.  
Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-
judgment editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with 
one exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to 
whether the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

Q1 - What is your current job title/role in the apparel/fashion industry? What is 
your current job title/role in the apparel/fashion industry? 

President & CEO - Domestic Apparel manufacturer 

Owner AYRTIGHT, Consultant KenDor and others 

Senior Manager of Go-To-Market Management 

Senior Product Developer/Product Manager 

Owner of a textile recycling company 

director of design 

Owner / Operator of Paper Label Apparel Ltd. 

fashion design consultant 

COO and Head of Product 

Founder / manager of Community Thrift & Vintage retail stores 

Multiple - Board member of BC Apparel & Gear, Materials Consultant and Editor of SSACHS.co 

Operations Manager: Oremony Design Corp 

Product Development Manager 
Aritzia - Sr. Manager of Creative Management: I manage a large group of Creative and Technical Designers, grow, mentor new and 
established talent. 
Designer / CEO /Business Owner 

Owner / Designer Manufacturer 

Owner/designer 

Chair of the Board of Directors, Our Social Fabric 

senior designer/design manager 

Owner 

Director of Osei-Duro 

Custom clothing designer/supervisor etc. 

Category Manager 

Design Director 

Owner Fabric wholesaler 

Project Manager 

President / CEO 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           133  

Q2 - Considering the needs and expectations of your organization, how important is 
it for an entry-level employee to be able to demonstrate the following? 

# Question Not at all 
important 

Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important Essential Total 

1 
Demonstrate use of current industry technology (CAD 

programing (eg. Gerber, Optitex), Adobe Creative Cloud, 3D 
modelling and augmented reality, etc.) 

25% 18% 43% 14% 28 

2 Apply design and product development methodology and 
processes 7% 7% 56% 30% 27 

3 Exhibit an adaptable and innovative mind set 0% 4% 21% 75% 28 

4 Apply critical thinking through iterative prototyping 4% 11% 36% 50% 28 

5 Explore sustainable and ethical concepts and how they relate to 
design with a social innovation perspective 0% 25% 32% 43% 28 

6 Practice professional communication skills, interpersonal and 
intrapersonal skills 0% 4% 39% 57% 28 

7 Collaborate effectively with others and practice leadership 0% 0% 43% 57% 28 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           134  

Q3 - Considering the needs and expectations of your organization, how important is 
it for an entry-level employee to be able to demonstrate the following skills? 

# Question Not at all important Somewhat important Very important Essential Total 

1 Problem solving & adaptability skills 0% 4% 37% 59% 27 

2 Apparel production skills 4% 37% 44% 15% 27 

3 Apparel production knowledge 0% 30% 56% 15% 27 

4 Technological skills 0% 37% 41% 22% 27 

5 Global awareness skills 0% 59% 30% 11% 27 

6 Creative skills 0% 26% 52% 22% 27 

7 Self-directed skills 0% 15% 41% 44% 27 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           135  

Q4 - Considering the needs and expectations of your organization, how important is 
it for an entry-level employee to be able to demonstrate the following skills? 

# Question Not at all important Somewhat important Very important Essential Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 0% 44% 56% 27 

2 Written communication 0% 11% 41% 48% 27 

3 Reading comprehension 0% 15% 31% 54% 26 

4 Group collaboration 0% 4% 44% 52% 27 

5 Critical analysis 0% 22% 48% 30% 27 

6 Leadership skills 4% 30% 52% 15% 27 

7 Numeracy skills 0% 22% 44% 33% 27 

Q5 - What other skills, training or knowledge should an entry-level applicant have 
to be hired into your organization? 

Some knowledge of materials and material development 
Sales and Marketing knowledge are critical at this point.   Adaptability and ownership of responsibilities are super important.  An 
eagerness to learn really helps.    We have little to no patience for large egos or entitlement (especially when they aren’t backed by 
significant experience). 
Fabric knowledge, construction knowledge and understanding how a garment is sewn together and drafted. 

attention to detail, engagement, striving for improvement. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           136  

Specifically a focus on adobe illustrator for tech packs and the ability to adjust fit of garments and communicate changes to production 
teams. 
They need be prepared to roll up their sleeves and try things - some roles will be boring, and maybe admin heavy. Presentation skills - 
use of video conferencing etc are becoming essential. Skills, knowledge and experience can be taught - having curiosity, creative 
problem solving and resilience is harder to cultivate. Entry level applicants need to be ready to self advocate, and self motivate. 
Confidence, Strong organizational skills, Creative thinking, Ability to prioritize. 

Actual industry working skills - via a program such as Industry Practicum Able to connect with the culture of our business 

Good attitude Open  Adaptable Flexible 

adaptability, confidence and an open mind. They need to be great team players and open to feedback from their peers 
Project man agreement. Entry level employees generally have to act as managers of projects where they set expectations, map out a 
project schedule and need to guide horizontal teams to meet deadlines. 
excel, pattern and prototyping skills. 

Time management skills 

Flexibility, willingness to help at all levels of the company when asked. Positive attitude 

Q6 - What are the emerging trends in the sector that KPU Fashion & Technology 
students should be prepared for? These trends might include technology, 
sustainability, and innovation.  Please be as specific as you are able to. 

Sustainability is number 1 
Sustainability is a continuing hot button.  Really learning the ins and outs and not just the catch phrases is important.  3D fitting seems to 
have some momentum. 
Along with Tech, sustainability and constant innovation. Time management is a large component, with work places and teams looking 
very different this year managing a flexible schedule while still being productive and having a work life balance is a trend that isn't 
going away. 
Technology is an emerging factor for efficiency and presentation within the fashion industry, especially using 3D to communicate ideas. 
However, there is still a large gap between creating a 3D garment that looks great digitally, and having that garment work as intended in 
the real world. Do not discount the skills of analog just yet but the relationship of how 3D can enhance analog such as drafting, iteration, 
sewing etc. 
The ability for people to set up online shops makes it easier for small business to launch their collection. With this employees have to be 
able to wear lots of hats not just in design or development but also in marketing and technology (setting up and Maintaining online 
shops, digital marketing, email marketing etc) 
Covid-19 has accelerated the use of technology in the design and development process. Remote working and less in person 
collaboration, will evolve post pandemic to a more hybrid version of the workplace. Designing with the end of life in mind is key. 
Sustainability is inclusive in everything - from performance to luxury, waste is now being viewed as a resource. With the need to find 
new resources eg biosynthetics, comes the need to be able to understand how commercially ready emerging technologies are, and the 
pros and cons of using them. 
Sourcing sustainable fabrics/production facilities. Complex spreadsheets and excel documents Zero waste pattern making 

Sustainability - knowledge of sustainable fabrics options and new innovations. technology- 3D prototyping, Digital measuring 

&gt;Sustainability of raw materials and trims &gt;3D modeling of garment on avatar 
The massive shift to online shopping due to COVID, Designing a clothing line geared to this shift and all the implications that comes 
with it. 
Sustainability 
Sustainability would be my nr 1. The fashion industry needs to change and the next generation can play a pivotal role in the change how 
fast fashion is currently designed and produced 
New types of textiles and wearable technology. International sourcing (merchandising) and purchasing of fabricated product (design and 
production) skills are also needed as global supply chains become more and more essential. 
corporate social responsibility. We need to get you a copy of the most recent  questionnaire from REI. It is a checklist for brands to do 
better on all levels. It's a great guide for companies. Students that understand what is in the questionnaire, will understand the impacts of 
the apparel industry. Please reach out and I'll send you a copy of the REI questionnaire. 
It bothers me that everything is so technology and innovation driven. Maybe it's just the students I've interviewed, but the illustration 
and art quality of the portfolios I've seen has just gone downhill. For our company, we don't need the focus on technology...we need 
someone who can get their point across by drawing - quickly & efficiently (and a bonus would be beautifully). 
Risk Management and logistics are paramount moving forward . On the sustainability end, end of life upcycling of garments will be 
important also... 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           137  

Q7 - How familiar are you with KPU’s Fashion & Technology program (ex. Courses 
and content)? 

Note that ‘Not at all familiar’ and ‘Slightly familiar’ categories are excluded from the chart. Use the frequency table below to 
review the proportion of ‘Not at all familiar’ versus ‘Slightly familiar’ responses. 

# How familiar are you with KPU’s Fashion & Technology program (ex. Courses and content)? Percentage 

5 Not at all familiar 0% 

9 Slightly familiar 27% 

10 Moderately familiar 42% 

11 Very familiar 31% 

Total 26 

Q8 - When you think about KPU’s Fashion & Technology program, what are the 
top three characteristics that come to mind? 

Characteristic #1 Characteristic #2 Characteristic #3 

broad supportive 

Lululemon Technology Development Centric 

Well rounded product education Pattern making Sewing 

Technical skills Job market readiness 

Locally relevant Innovative Practical 

Competent Technical Independent 

Well informed of the Industry Technically Articulate Experts at Multitasking 

enthusiasm technical creative 

technical production group projects 

Critical thinking Highly skilled Go-getter 

technology industry knowledge fashion 

Technical Industry focused Marketable 

consistent current comprehensive 

consumer centric design(niche) dedicated instructors that care about the students embraces technology 

Innovative Creative Condensed 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           138  

Q9 - What topics, if any, are missing from the program? 
I don't think there are topics that are missing from the program. I think it is depth, hands on experience, mistake making, and play that is 
missing. I do not think there is room to add these components as credit courses to the program. I imagine optional workshops where 
students of all levels can work on, and work through projects, and share in a collaborative environment. 
I’m not sure there is anything missing but I think the focus should be more on communicating design ideas, managing production and 
growing a business and less on pattern making and sewing. 
More on  the commercial aspects of how to cost garments - understanding the costs, timings and minimums involved with development 
and production and how to come up with the end retail price of a garments. 
More focus on overseas production and truly understanding full product lifecycles. 

More focus on Global Fashion Brands, Influencers and emerging brands that are influencing fashion 
More focus for students who want to work either as an entrepeneur or for big Companies. An option of courses specializing in these 
areas depending on their focus. 
Sustainabilty 

I always think that KPU can infuse more conceptual thinking within the design process for those students that want to become designers. 
fabric technology...there is a gap now that alberta's program is , but a fabric technology  course that is the next level up from the 1st year 
course would be great... 

Q10 - What topics, if any, you would like to see added to the curriculum? 
Problem solving, DIY exploration, a higher focus on fashion entrepreneurship and financing. 

Online shop creation for final collections. 

I wished that we learned drapery techniques 

More focus on Materials Development as a career choice. 
Sustainable manufacturing processes. Longer Internship/ practicum  program. Find the current # of hours to short to truly engage with 
all aspects of the product development cycle 
Industry Garment Wash/Dye processes Fully Fashioned Components 

Tailoring - more focus on garment fit perfection and custom fitting to individual bodies 

Sustainabilty 
Build out the sustainability curriculum on a regular basis as there are so many changes in the industry. Ethical sourcing and social 
compliance 
supply chain control, transparency and traceability 

Q11 - What topics, if any, you would like to see condensed or removed from the 
curriculum? 

Condensed sewing and pattern drafting. Definitely not removed. 
Less about PR / celebrity designers. Marketing is changing to authentic story telling - brand identity work is key, its now 50% 
product/50% story - community building. Ensure the students know the different requirements between building your own brand and 
working in house. 
All essential 

None 

Q12 - Please list any emerging technologies Fashion & Technology program should 
consider incorporating into the curriculum. 

Shopify platform for new designers. 
In my day we didn’t learn Illustrator or Photoshop, but I’m pretty sure it is now part of the curriculum? Both are pretty great programs to 
be able to use 
Digitization of fabrics - for prototyping and library purposes (using AI search parameters) Micro factories Seamfree garments - Santoni / 
Cifra 
3D pattern design (clo3D or Browzwear) 

Sustainability 

3d design will become more popular over the next few years 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           139  

biomimicry 

Q13 - Should there be a mandatory field school for students in the program? A field 
school involves travel, often out of country, where students engage in learning 
activities outside of the classroom in a course that is for credit. 

# . Percentage 

1 Yes 38% 

2 No 63% 

Total 16 

Q14 - Please answer the following about the practicum component of the Fashion & 
Technology program:  

# Question Yes No Total 

1 Is the length of practicum, 20 months, sufficient? 88% 13% 16 

2 Is the placement of practicum in the right place in the program? 88% 13% 16 

3 Do students need retail work experience before going into the practicum? 44% 56% 16 

Note: Please do not use the data in #1. The length of the practicum is incorrectly entered 20 months instead of 120 hours. 

Q15 - What should be the length of the practicum? 
in the last question, it says it is 20 MONTHS. I do not think that is correct? The current practicum length allows students to look around 
the company. It is too short to train and give the students projects that they can own, so they are given shorter tasks that are less critical. 
I appreciate that this was reduced to allow for other in class training, so I would lean on the information from Grads to reflect on their 
intern experiences and value. 
Ideally full-time for 1-2 months. If PT, a full semester long. 

Q16 - Where in the program practicum should be placed? 
At the very end of the program 

During the student's final year so they can seamlessly transition out of their practicum and into a full time job. 

Q17 - When considering the Fashion & Technology program as a whole, would it be 
of value if the program structure were changed to include learning streams?  With 
this change, the first two years of the program might have a more general and 
foundational focus (similar to what we currently have), that lead to learning streams 
(e.g. technical, design, etc.) in 3rd & 4th year where student might specialize their 
area knowledge. 

# . Percentage 

1 Yes 94% 

2 No 6% 

Total 16 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           140  

Q18 - Please suggest some learning streams and their area of focus. 
Entrepreneurship, product development, technical pattern making, production management and machine upkeep, sales 
Fashion business focusing on creating a business plan, funding, market analysis and launching your business   Textile engineering   
Pattern making  Sourcing and Production management 
Ooh that’s a great idea / change! 
Materials Development - how to source, develop and validate fabrics and trims Building a brand - how to build your own fashion brand 
Colour Management - colour science and how to approve lab dips / strike-offs and yarn dyes Sustainability - How to make products 
more sustainable, circularity, certification 3D Pattern Engineering 
Technical Couture/tailoring Zero waste/sustainability 

Product development /  technical design / pattern making Production  Design 

what it takes to be an entrepeneur, tailoring, launching a label, online marketing/selling, 

Sustainability Haute Couture 
technical design: To become an allround technical developer fashion design: to become a great conceptual designer pattern maker: the 
industry need more skilled pattern makers sustainability: from fabric sourcing to the company's sustainability report. 
More creative design focus 
yes and if a student stays to complete all learning streams , is it a masters?  here are some ideas/ brainstorms: Sustainable design,  fabric 
technology to pick up after the alberta program,  maybe tailoring/ couture..it's a lost art shoe making industrial design/tents/ packs and 
other softgoods Pattern making/(include 3D ) Product management ( tons of business electives) Textile art (dying science as well as 
textile design,) 

Q19 - Which of the following is more relevant to the current and future local 
industry? 

# Percentage 

1 Optitex 11% 

4 Gerber 50% 

5 Other 39% 

Total 18 

Q19_TEXT - Other 
I feel like most here use Gerber but as long as the files can be accurately transferred between systems, it doesn’t really matter 

we currently don't use either. 

Not sure 

Don’t know 

Clo 3D 

we don't use either 

Q20 - How often does your organization use WGSN? In the Fashion and Technology 
program we currently have students work with WGSN, a fashion forecasting 
service, in a range of our courses. 

# . Percentage 

1 Never 39% 

4 Seldom 26% 

5 Sometimes 26% 

6 Often 9% 

Total 23 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           141  

Q21 - What tool(s) are you using for forecasting? 
Magazines Pinterest and the subsequent rabbit holes it can take you down if you keep looking Other brands Instagram Interior design 
influences 
Fashion snoops and free WGSN previews. 

Social media (insert cringey face) 
As an editor at www.ssachs.co we have our own articles we write. I'm also a big believer in using your own research and insights for 
forecasting. The big trade shows also have great resources - eg Ispo, Performance Days 
Peclers 

None 

Apparel Magic 

none, too expensive. My company doesn't see value and doesn't budget for it. 
the cheap ones! We don't subscribe to WGSN, Stylesight, Fashion Snoops etc.  blogs, online magazines, actual magazines, vogue 
runway, people watching, paying attention to the social climate and historical trends and patterns...basically... our own eyes and ears and 
brains 
Reading all industry data possible. Sourcing journal, Eco Textile News, Canopy reports, National Retail Federation info, trade shows 

Q22 - Please rate your level of interest in industry connected/driven projects in the 
Fashion & Technology program and courses. 

# . Percentage 

1 Not at all interested 4% 

4 Somewhat interested 35% 

5 Very interested 61% 

Total 23 

Q23 - Please share any project ideas/types that you may have. 
Hackathons, community/student driven brands partnered with established industry partners 
Well, great timing! I just started a new company with the ragyard (place where used clothing is graded for export)I’ve been working 
with for several years, and would love to have a project where some bales of un-exportable un-saleable clothing is recycled / refashioned 
into awesome new pieces. HMU 
How to create a digital fabric library Creating climate positive garments 

Designing garments for one brand under the Aritzia list of private brands 

Design contests 

Joint automation facility to trial new machines and tech how to use 
Helping divert fabric and garment waste from landfills , through upcycling back into yarns to be turned into future materials and 
garments 

Q24 - Would your organization consider financially supporting (with materials, 
supplies, other) industry connected/driven projects for Fashion & Technology 
program students? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 73% 

2 No 27% 

Total 22 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           142  

Q25 - Please rank the following names for the program in terms of preference, with 
1 being the most preferred and 4 being the least preferred. 

# Question 1 2 3 4 Total 

1 Fashion & Technology 20% 15% 50% 15% 20 
2 Fashion Design 0% 5% 11% 84% 19 
3 Fashion Design & Technology 35% 55% 10% 0% 20 
4 Apparel Design & Technology 48% 24% 24% 5% 21 
5 Other: 0% 0% 100% 0% 1 

Q26 - How do you envision KPU’s Fashion & Technology program being the 
‘world’s best’ in Fashion education? 

The existing program is pretty great, the students are touching on a HUGE variety of topics and are able to leave with a basic level of 
understanding. I would like to see the students be more engaged and take on learning outside the classroom, through workshops to build 
their understanding. Two subjects immediately come to mind- 1. Fabrics & how they drape, feel, perform. 2. Attention to details in 
sketching and communicating design: fit, fabric, length on body, trims, trim functions, and trim placements. 
Invest further in lab settings and even build off campus labs partnered with industry for exploration. If Technology is to be considered 
inherent in the program, hold the importance of the lab to the same level a school like MIT would their facilities. You've already proven 
that at least some of the theory and learning can take place online... anyone can do that. What adds value to your program will be the 
machines procured and industry partnered initiatives. That is one thing Emily Carr is doing a lot of, using their lab facility to partner 
with industry business/entrepreneurs/innovators on collaborative projects that helps the local industry grow and give students exposure 
to real projects. Have it be collaborative with a school committee ideating and creating projects, not just reliance on industry to get the 
ball rolling. 
I can see it being the best a launching new brands. You do a great job at giving a well rounded education but by focusing tracks and then 
partnering different skills, there could be some incredible new brands that are launched from the program. 
Being on the west coast - I would leverage the local environment to focus on performance wear - athleisure and comfort in clothing. 
Vancouver is not London or Toronto, so leave the high fashion to them. We are close to silicon valley and have a huge gaming and 
digital animation industry, so how can we leverage that? Also from a sustainability point of view - we have some of the world's leading 
organizations - Canopy, Greenpeace, Plastic Oceans etc 
Larger enrolment size, more support for teachers and faculty. 

This question is too complex for this survey. 
If KPU wants to be the best in "fashion" education they need to change the program to be more art and conceptual driven. KPU 
currently does educate their student to be more technical trained which is unique and you are probably one of the better schools on this 
front. 
Copy the methodologies of other global school and build stronger ties to industry. Also, offer shorter modules that teach unique skills so 
people can sample a program or learn something specific to upgrade a skillset. 
Guest lecturers and guest teachers to conduct master classes. Latest tools and technology. students win design contests.  student field 
trips to asia, ny, london, even india to see how the world is connected. 
I think it's been an amazing program, but from what I've seen of student's portfolios technology has taken over somewhat from pure 
creativity. There certainly needs to be a balance. Art and pure creativity are still important aspects in design. It's not all performance 
fabrics and the latest technology. 
By being adaptive to changing needs in the industry. With the current move away from Bricks and Mortar, this could mean more 
Ecomm training, working more on domestic production that the offshore model. 

Q27 - Are you considering upgrading your skills? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 41% 

2 No 59% 

Total 22 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           143  

Q28 - What topics would you be interested in? 
fit sustainability ethics 

fashion e-commerce, apparel industry financing, grant writing 

Draping, 3D drafting, new production machinery. 

online marketing branding 

Pattern drafting - Specialty machines 

3D design Optitex/Gerber Sustainability 

Q29 - Which modes of delivery do you prefer? Select all that apply. 
# . Percentage 

1 100% Face-to-Face, In person 11% 1 

4 Combined Face-to-Face/Online 100% 9 

5 100% Online 11% 1 

Total 9 
Note: The very bottom line presents the total number of respondents. The total number of answer choices for this question is greater than 
the number of respondents. Therefore, the total response percentages exceed 100%. 

Q30 - Would you be interested in micro credentials? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 100% 

2 No 0% 

Total 9 

Q31 - Have you ever hosted, hired, or worked with KPU Fashion & Technology 
alumni and/or students? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 89% 

2 No 11% 

Total 9 

Q32 - Which of the following best describes your previous experience with students 
and/or alumni in KPU’s Fashion & Technology program? Please select all that 
apply. 

# . Percentage 

1 I have hosted KPU Fashion & Technology co-op, internship, mentorship or work experience students 75% 6 

2 I have hired KPU Fashion & Technology alumni to work in my organization 100% 8 

3 I have worked with KPU Fashion & Technology alumni 38% 3 

Total 8 

Note: The very bottom line presents the total number of respondents. The total number of answer choices for this question is greater than 
the number of respondents. Therefore, the total response percentages exceed 100%. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           144  

Q33 - Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Fashion & Technology 
alumni and/or students to work in your organization? 

Note that ‘Not at all prepared’ and ‘Somewhat prepared’ categories are excluded from the chart. Use the frequency table 
below to review the proportion of ‘Not at all prepared’ versus ‘Somewhat prepared’ responses. 

# Percentage 

1 Not at all prepared 0% 

2 Somewhat prepared 50% 

3 Very prepared 25% 

4 Extremely prepared 25% 

Total 8 

Q34 - Please comment on the alumni and/or students you hired or worked with. 
Please highlight any strengths you have observed. 

Problem solving and ability to adapt was by far the best traits. Whether that was learned or inherent I'm not sure. 
Always professional and eager to learn. The ones with work experience in the industry always have more confidence entering the 
workplace. 
Well rounded knowledge base in design. 

Professional and great to work with 

Q35 - Please comment on the alumni and/or students you hired or worked with. 
Please highlight any suggestions you have for improvement. 

Very enthusiastic, hard working, driven. 

None 

Q36 - What can KPU’s Fashion & Technology program do to build better 
connections with the discipline/sector? 

Increase institutional involvement in industry projects; whether that be instructor involvement or student involvement. 

I guess outreach? 

Carry on with the great work and engaging with the community. 

Keep inviting industry to participate together and in partnership with each other into the program and to engage with students. 

Reach out more often, host more events (after covid has passed) 
The outreaches, both formal like this and through your Educators are a great start. Helping re-energize domestic manufacturing will 
offer many new streams for students to find their future paths in our industry. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           145  

Appendix 26: Faculty Survey Results 

Fashion & Technology Program Review - Faculty Survey Report 

The faculty survey was sent to  Fashion & Technology 12 faculty members. A total of 12 faculty 
members responded. The response rate is 100%.  
Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-
judgment editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with 
one exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to 
whether the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

Q1 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping students 
develop the following learning outcomes? 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           146  

# Question Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Demonstrate use of current industry technology (CAD programing, 
Adobe Creative Cloud, 3D modelling and augmented reality, etc.) 0% 0% 75% 25% 12 

2 Apply design and product development methodology and processes 0% 0% 42% 58% 12 

3 Develop an adaptable and innovative mind set 0% 25% 33% 42% 12 

4 Apply critical thinking through iterative prototyping in all areas of 
the program 0% 0% 50% 50% 12 

5 Explore sustainable and ethical concepts and how they relate to 
design with a social innovation perspective 0% 25% 42% 33% 12 

6 Develop and practice professional communication skills, 
interpersonal and intrapersonal skills 0% 0% 42% 58% 12 

7 Collaborate effectively with others and practice leadership 0% 0% 33% 67% 12 

Q2 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping students 
develop the following competencies (related to problem solving & adaptability)? 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Concept development 0% 8% 33% 58% 12 

2 Trial and error 0% 8% 58% 33% 12 

3 Prototyping 0% 0% 42% 58% 12 

4 Body type inclusivity 0% 42% 50% 8% 12 

5 Skill transferability 0% 0% 50% 50% 12 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           147  

Q3 - How satisfied are you with the following aspects of the program’s curriculum? 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Its discipline/sector relevance 0% 0% 17% 67% 17% 12 

2 Its ability to adapt to 
discipline/sector changes 8% 25% 17% 42% 8% 12 

3 The use of prerequisites to prepare 
students for subsequent courses 0% 0% 17% 42% 42% 12 

4 Its preparation of students for a 
career in the discipline/sector 0% 0% 0% 42% 58% 12 

5 Its preparation of students for 
further education 0% 0% 17% 33% 50% 12 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           148  

Q4 - How satisfied are you with the extent Fashion & Technology program is 
incorporating sustainable and ethical concepts in its courses? 

# Percentage 

1 Very Satisfied 17% 

2 Somewhat Satisfied 42% 

3 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied 33% 

4 Somewhat Dissatisfied 8% 

5 Very Dissatisfied 0% 

Total 12 

Q5 - Thinking of how the program is delivered, how satisfied are you with the 
following? 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           149  

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
The range of modes (classroom, lab, 

online, practicum, etc.) used to deliver 
the program 

0% 0% 9% 55% 36% 11 

2 Ability to accommodate diverse 
learning styles 0% 9% 18% 55% 18% 11 

3 Opportunities for experiential learning 
(i.e. learning by doing and reflecting) 0% 17% 0% 33% 50% 12 

4 
Processes for ensuring students’ 

emotional and physical safety in the 
learning environment 

0% 9% 27% 55% 9% 11 

Q6 - Considering the KPU's Fashion & Technology program’s assessment methods 
as a whole, how satisfied are you with the following? 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither 
satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
The extent to which students are provided 

clear information on how they will be 
evaluated 

0% 9% 18% 64% 9% 11 

2 
The extent to which assessment methods 

support program competencies and learning 
outcomes 

0% 9% 18% 45% 27% 11 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           150  

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither 
satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

3 

The extent to which assessment methods 
allow students to demonstrate their 

attainment of program competencies and 
learning outcomes 

0% 9% 18% 64% 9% 11 

4 The extent to which assessment standards 
are consistent throughout the program 9% 27% 18% 45% 0% 11 

Q7 - Considering how instruction is delivered across the KPU’s Fashion & 
Technology program as a whole, how satisfied are you with the following? 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Instructors’ collective expertise to 
deliver the curriculum 0% 9% 18% 64% 9% 11 

2 Instructional methods that facilitate 
student learning 0% 18% 0% 64% 18% 11 

3 
Instructional methods that facilitate 

students’ progression through the 
program 

0% 0% 18% 73% 9% 11 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021            151  

Q8 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction delivered across the 
program? 

# Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 9% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 73% 

5 Very satisfied 18% 

Total 11 

Q9 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
highlight the strengths of the program. 

verbal communication, team work 

Opportunity to connect with industry professionals and have them participate in delivery of content 
pro kinesthetic learner pro independent and self directed over acheiver moving towards academic/research/theory and less time to play 
and discover 
Student driven, focused on student success instead of failure. 

Projects created with concept of understanding the significance of process versus product 

Passionate faculty Experiential hands-on learning Industry experience balanced with educational backgrounds 

Q10 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
highlight three areas for improvement. 

1 2 3 

technical drawing skills environmental stewardship universal design 
Connecting course objects to projects and 
outcomes 

Faculty having working knowledge of 
industry standard software 

Clear criteria on how projects are 
being evaluated 

we rush students and cram too much in, we 
speak about iterating and we don't give 
enought time for that (reduced semster, for 
example, more to teach, 

match student goals with learning outcomes 
in a variety of ways to show more than one 

way to learn and do things 
too much perfect finished work... 

integration of industry partner instructors field trips to add to learning relevancy 

Communication between faculty members 

Need to work closely with the dean's office 
and chair and PA. Not only to keep on top of 

assisting students and watching class side 
numbers. But to also share the successes 

Learning objectives/outcomes more in line 
with content and learning activities Collaborative scheduling of project due dates Clear and detailed assessment of 

student projects 
Clear criteria for assignments aligned with 
course outcomes 

Clear assessment criteria aligned with criteria 
for assignments 

Adherence to faculty mutually 
agreed upon course curriculum 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           152  

1 2 3 

content for consistency of student 
knowledge acquisition across the 

program 

Q11 - How satisfied are you with the following as they apply to KPU’s Fashion & 
Technology program? 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Availability of required texts and 
supplies at the KPU bookstore 9% 9% 9% 45% 27% 11 

2 Classroom space 9% 0% 9% 36% 45% 11 

3 Lab space 9% 0% 9% 27% 55% 11 

4 Computer space 9% 0% 9% 45% 36% 11 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           153  

5 Places for students to do group or 
individual work 9% 9% 18% 9% 55% 11 

6 Teaching and Learning 
Commons 0% 0% 18% 45% 36% 11 

7 IT services 0% 18% 9% 55% 18% 11 

8 Advising services 0% 0% 27% 27% 45% 11 

9 Counselling services 36% 18% 45% 0% 0% 11 

10 Financial services 0% 0% 70% 30% 0% 10 

11 Career services 0% 27% 64% 9% 0% 11 

12 Accessibility services 0% 18% 55% 27% 0% 11 

Q12 - How satisfied are you with the following library resources as they apply to 
KPU’s Fashion & Technology program? 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied 

Have 
not used Total 

1 
Availability of audio-

visual and computer 
equipment 

0% 0% 20% 10% 60% 10% 10 

2 Books 0% 0% 8% 25% 67% 0% 12 

3 DVDs / streaming video 
on program-related topics 0% 0% 27% 9% 55% 9% 11 

4 eBooks 0% 0% 36% 9% 45% 9% 11 

5 Librarian support for 
program-related research 0% 0% 0% 8% 92% 0% 12 

6 Library orientation 0% 0% 11% 11% 67% 11% 9 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           154  

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied 

Have 
not used Total 

7 Online resources – journal 
articles, etc. 0% 0% 18% 27% 55% 0% 11 

8 Print periodicals, journals, 
etc. 0% 0% 20% 30% 50% 0% 10 

9 Study guides 0% 0% 10% 20% 50% 20% 10 

Q13 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the resources, services and facilities 
offered through KPU's Fashion & Technology program? 

# Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 18% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 18% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 55% 

5 Very satisfied 9% 

Total 11 

Q14 - Thinking of the program’s resources, services and facilities, please highlight 
the strengths of the program. 

library services, building and accessibility 
There is a variety of materials and machinery on hand for learning to take place.  The availability for the students in non-pandemic years 
is excellent. 
Accessibility to most services and resources 

Access to Coordinator, Instructors as coaches to navigate KPU Student Advisor [Name Redacted] 

[Name Redacted] as design advisor and [Name Redacted] as the librarian with a design focus are fantastic! 

Q15 - Thinking of the program’s resources, services and facilities, please highlight 
three areas for improvement. 

1 2 3 

counceling accessibility 

More mental health services 

Clarity of program resources Clarity of services available Understanding of facilities functions 

the whole application process financial funding for WGSN, 
etc. should not be lab fees 

technicians, electricity to operate 
equipment and "test" AR, VR etc 

without faculty buying out of pocket 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           155  

1 2 3 

increased open lab space (post covid) for students to work. 
ex. longer hours on the weekend 
Counselling outreach and communication with students 
from first contact at KPU and throughout their degree - this 
is not a counselling issue, it is a lack of funding from 
management in providing enough full-time, fully available, 
counsellors with resources to provide full support for 
students on site every week day. 

Intensive Fashion Design 
Program marketing and 

promotion matching and 
exceeding those of independent 

private post-secondary 
institutions. 

Consistent and nimble adaptive 
support of ongoing Professional 

Studies courses created by the 
department to promote program, 

engage community, and heighten 
awareness. 

Not enough available counselling 

Q16 - Please rank the following names for the program in terms of preference, with 
1 being the most preferred and 4 being the least preferred. 

# Question 1 2 3 4 Total 

1 Fashion & Technology 18% 36% 45% 0% 11 
2 Fashion Design 0% 10% 10% 80% 10 
3 Fashion Design & Technology 20% 50% 20% 10% 10 
4 Apparel Design & Technology 55% 0% 27% 18% 11 
5 Other 50% 50% 0% 0% 2 

Q17 - Thinking of the program as a whole, please highlight the strengths of the 
program. 

Versatility of subjects for the industry 

Small class Size- 22students / 1 instructor ratio or less Experiential Learning General skills 
The students, the pride in working with less and less support and more and more expectations, learning styles and still launching diverse 
and successful graduates. 
Program's strong relationship to local apparel industries 
Reputation of the program, committed faculty, and industry connections providing students with a wide variety of skills and relevant 
industry experiences through guest speakers, industry critique, and practicum placements. 

Q18 - Thinking of the program as a whole, please highlight three areas for 
improvement. 

1 2 3 

The program needs to keep up with 
changes of production courses, with 
off shore production.   Patternmaking 
and sewing needs to be reduced? 
technical drawing industry linked projects design exploration 
Investing in advanced software 3D 
and VR technologies 

Upgrade of software 
technologies Training on software technologies 

We have spent the past decade going 
backwards fighting to explain our 
relevance to Senior Administration 
and therefore haven't moved ahead in 
our own PD, Ed leaves, instructional 
innovations 

better teamwork as everyone 
is afraid of workload 

reductions that have affected 
our morale and constant 

preps and shifts for the  past 
two years 

we need to teach and meet students as they arrive 

Greater industry input and 
collaboration 

More support provided for 
alumni (WSD Career Expo?) Peer to peer mentorship for students 

Access to more advanced software 
technologies 

Access to more advanced 
hardware technologies Access to more training 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           156  

1 2 3 

Marketing 

Selected pathways at upper 
level (3rd & 4th year) for 

improved attrition rates and 
graduate success 

Institutional support and recognition of the niche educational 
opportunity we provide the apparel industry and KPU.  At 

this point, we only have 2 full-time designated faculty in the 
FASN department therefore we require support to build and 

develop the program and marketing of it, while still executing 
internationally recognised apparel industry education in our 

courses. 

Q19 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping students 
develop the following competencies (related to apparel productions skills)? 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Making & creating (Pattern making & construction) 0% 0% 50% 50% 12 

2 Advanced manufacturing techniques 0% 17% 58% 25% 12 

3 Verbal communication 0% 0% 42% 58% 12 

Q20 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping students 
develop the following competencies (related to apparel production knowledge)? 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           157  

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Machinery knowledge 0% 8% 67% 25% 12 

2 Technical apparel knowledge 0% 17% 50% 33% 12 

3 TECH packs 0% 8% 58% 33% 12 

Q21 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping students 
develop the following competencies (related to technological skills)? 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Adobe Creative cloud 0% 0% 25% 75% 12 

2 Optitex (CAD Software) 0% 0% 67% 33% 12 

3 Microsoft Office 0% 0% 25% 75% 12 

4 Optimizing digital files – lighting, resolution, etc. 0% 17% 67% 17% 12 

5 Presentation Skills 0% 0% 50% 50% 12 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           158  

Q22 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping students 
develop the following competencies (related to global awareness)? 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Global design history 0% 17% 42% 42% 12 

2 Global interconnectedness of apparel industry 0% 17% 25% 58% 12 

3 Social and environmental understanding 0% 8% 50% 42% 12 

4 Variety of business models 0% 17% 67% 17% 12 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           159  

Q23 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping students 
develop the following competencies (related to creative skills)? 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Desire to build on pre-existing skills 0% 0% 25% 75% 12 

2 Understanding the use of textiles 0% 8% 58% 33% 12 

3 Anthropometry –  body in relation to apparel 0% 17% 67% 17% 12 

4 On site work experience – industry application of skills 0% 0% 50% 50% 12 

5 Equity of access 0% 17% 67% 17% 12 

6 Visual communication 0% 0% 58% 42% 12 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           160  

Q24 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping students 
develop the following self-directed competencies? 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Advocacy & initiative 0% 18% 45% 36% 11 

2 Working with networks and contacts 0% 0% 67% 33% 12 

3 Delivering and presenting ideas to others 0% 0% 33% 67% 12 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           161  

Q25 - To what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping students 
develop the following skills? 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 0% 50% 50% 12 

2 Written communication 0% 17% 67% 17% 12 

3 Reading comprehension 0% 17% 83% 0% 12 

4 Group collaboration 0% 0% 25% 75% 12 

5 Critical analysis 0% 0% 42% 58% 12 

6 Leadership skills 0% 0% 42% 58% 12 

7 Numeracy skills 8% 25% 58% 8% 12 

Q26 - How would you rate the diversity of course topic offerings in KPU’s Fashion 
& Technology program? 

# Percentage 

1 Inadequate 8% 

2 Adequate 50% 

3 Excellent 42% 

Total 12 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           162  

Q27 - What topics, if any, are missing from the program? 
Visual Communication (semiotics), advanced drawing skills 
Marketing, e commerce, the surge in reworked and resell concepts of product procurement, diversity in global history, spectrum of 
sizes/fits/drawing body types 
Virtual Reality and Social Media technologies 

Q28 - What topics, if any, you would like to see added to the curriculum? 
Incorporating digital patternmaking instead of manual patternmaking. 

Design Futures- critical and speculative design Specification Design Communication- semiotics, spec packages, page layout 

Sustainable Design Practices (Design and theory integrated into a single course) 

Menswear, knitwear 
recycling of clothing, fabrics, repair, reuse, examining clothing life cycles through history  through a real scholarly understanding of 
reuse and mending with a full historical view, scholarly view, meaning, method, and the larger picture of true recycling and the impact 
of washing and wear. 
- Fashion/Design Entrepreneurship - Fine Handcraft skills - Retail work experience for students in advance of practicum placement 

The return of the second year course that focused on computer skills in Adobe CC and in flat development. 

More 3D technologies 

More CAD programs starting earlier. 

Q29 - What topics, if any, you would like to see condensed or removed from the 
curriculum? 

Less manual patternmaking and less sewing of garments. 

"Traditional History"- look at decolonizing the content and delivery 

none 

inter-disciplinary history, drawing, intro to sewing across the programs to mix students, perspectives, be more inclusive and diverse. 
- Less of a focus on fashion history - this could be a single course - Design and production courses might be combined in certain 
instances to enhance student learning 
Fashion History II 

Textiles 2 

Q30 - How satisfied are you with the extent Fashion & Technology program is 
including indigenous content (decolonization) in its curriculum? 

# Percentage 
1 Very Satisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat Satisfied 17% 

3 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied 33% 

4 Somewhat Dissatisfied 17% 

5 Very Dissatisfied 33% 

Total 12 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021            163  

Q31 - How satisfied are you with the extent Fashion & Technology program is 
incorporating technology in its courses? 

# Percentage 

1 Very Satisfied 17% 

2 Somewhat Satisfied 58% 

3 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat Dissatisfied 25% 

5 Very Dissatisfied 0% 

Total 12 

Q32 - Please list any emerging technologies Fashion & Technology program should 
consider incorporating into the curriculum. 

CLO softwear 

Virtual Reality Augmented Reality- Clo, Browzware V-Stitcher, Optitex 3D 3D Printing 

Wearable Technology, LCA methodologies 

Advanced 3D technology Virtual Reality Internet 3 

- 3D modelling (ex. CLO3D) 
There needs to be a real assessment of what exactly is being used in industry versus what are useful teaching instruments. And there 
needs to be a clear understanding of which is being used for which to help properly prepare the students. 
VR technology 

Bringing in 3D CAD earlier into the program. More CAD programs like CLO. 

Q33 - Should there be a mandatory field school for students in the program? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 42% 

2 No 58% 

Total 12 

Q34 - Please include any additional comments you may have on mandatory field 
school and incorporating travel into the program below. 

Optional not mandatory! 

Medical Reasons 

Provides big-picture context 
There should be field school options available for FASN students, and a design (international) field school that my be offered to all 
design students with some general design content and well some specific design areas of focus that are lead by a variety of design 
faculty. 
I think it's a fun opportunity for students to participate in, but could be difficult as we don't know how travel will change after covid. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           164  

A previously critical aspect of the marketing of the program was the optional field study credit course to the New York fashion district.  
This assisted greatly with student transformational global learning and heightened awareness of the program for potential applicants.  
This would further offer social media marketing opportunities for the program. 

Q35 - Please answer the following about the practicum component of the Fashion & 
Technology program: 

# Question Yes No Total 

1 Is the length of practicum sufficient? 82% 18% 11 

2 Is the placement of practicum in the right place in the program? 100% 0% 12 

3 Do students need retail work experience before going into the practicum? 55% 45% 11 

Q36 - What should be the length of the practicum? 
There should be an option to maybe do two practicums? Perhaps using the credits from the Self Directed Study, or? 

180-200 hours 

Q37 - Please rate your level of interest in incorporating industry connected/driven 
projects into the program and courses. 

#  Percentage 

1 Not at all interested 0% 

4 Somewhat interested 42% 

5 Very interested 58% 

Total 12 

Q38 - Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU's Fashion & Technology program 
curriculum? 

# Percentage 

1 Very Dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat Dissatisfied 8% 

5 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied 0% 

6 Somewhat Satisfied 67% 

7 Very Satisfied 25% 

Total 12 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           165  

Q39 - Thinking of KPU’s Fashion & Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please highlight the strengths of the program. 

Technology, and design. 
Experiential Learning- a blend of both lecture and hands on experience Building skills- students do a lot of hands on garment and 
prototype creation Small class sizes- class sizes at 22 students or less allow more instructor feedback 
The ability of the students to complete the technical basics of design and development 

Faculty with relatable industry experience 
dedicated always educating themselves,  exploring faculty who know the fashion world and industry  amazing , persistent technical, 
technological and creative training 
The students and their inter-connectedness of peer group generally, pride in credential and return to support and mentor the next 
generation. Access to one on one attention from instructors based on cohort size Introduction to the corporate apparel business model 
It is a good generalist fashion program so that students might gain practical skills that lead to employment post graduation 
hands on experience, broad education, "dose of reality" - prepares students for an actual job in the industry, small classes with dedicated 
faculty - creates a sense of family 
Projects related to importance of process rather than end products. Faculty collaborated involvement in all courses. 
The program continues to balance the curriculum needs of all entry level positions within the field.  However, there are so many 
positions now from raw materials sourcing to post-consumer product solutions that the degree is overloaded. By adding a pathway for 
two options in the third and fourth years of the program, student retention would be dramatically increased through the choice of a)  a 
more technical and production-focused option, or b)  a more design and creativity-focused option.  This specialisation would better meet 
the needs of the industry and increase advanced-entry transfer students, thus ensuring increased student numbers in upper level classes.  
Student program satisfaction, and success, would increase due to intrinsic motivation heightened by selective program choices in upper-
level courses. 
Excellent lab and machinery access, small classes, 

Q40 - Thinking of KPU’s Fashion & Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please highlight three areas for improvement. 

1 2 3 

manual pattern drafting 

technical drawing skills design exploration industry linked projects 
Creating work of cultural relevance 
(looking beyond commercial fashion) Integration of Sustainability in Design 

Incorporating Virtual Reality 
technology More access to current 3D technologies In-depth faculty training on new technologies 

incorporate disruptive design models 
that capture direct to customer, 
custom, made to order/more 
sustainable formats 

film/theatre/reworked/resale component small business/craft/entrepreneurial focus 

Further Collaboration - across the 
program and in the WSD More industry-linked projects 

Offer a few elective fashion courses (ex. 
menswear, tailoring, outdoor tech apparel, 

handwork skills) so that students might 
personalize their education 

More collaborations between the 
courses so that students are getting 
repeats of information that doesn't 
need to be built on. As well as 
making sure students have the skills 
for the next years' courses and are not 
missing fundamental understandings 
of important information. 

More open to how students display their 
fourth year design work. It's beginning to 

look like students follow a "template", with 
much of their work layout looking much the 

same, including how they are coached on 
their pitches. 

Being resistant to change and "removing" or 
"adding" things from certain courses. students 

are changing at a much faster rate than ever 
before and the program needs to work at 

addressing that instead of continuing with the 
status quo. 

Content and Learning activities more 
in sync with learning objectives and 
outcomes 

More collaborative faculty involvement with 
course deliveries 

More PD opportunities for faculty   to learn 
new technologies 

Collaborative "fitting" experiences 
for students 

Collaborative production assignments to 
enhance learning and reduce the amount of 

intensive sewing hours demanded of each 
student 

Introduction of a couple assignments in first 
two years focused clearly on the development 
of creativity and iteration, rather than project-

based finished package outcomes 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           166  

More CAD brought in earlier 
More flexibility in some courses with 

opportunity to do rough prototyping early on 
in design process 

More flexibility for online or hybrid courses. 

Q41 - Which modes of delivery do you prefer? Select all that apply. 
# Percentage 

1 100% Face-to-Face in person 8% 1 

4 Combined Face-to-Face/Online 100% 12 

5 100% Online 17% 2 

Total 12 

Q42 - Should Fashion & Technology program consider online delivery for some 
courses as an option post COVID-19? 

# Percentage 

1 Yes 92% 

2 No 8% 

Total 12 

Q43 - What courses and content could be delivered online? Or what components of 
courses might be taught online? 

Production and design 

Lecture components or instances where students are receiving information Digital applications- drawing and work done on a computer. 

FASN 1205, FASN 4130 
non equipment courses  whatever we choose to do needs to be better/relevant/engaging than ALL of the courses that are available for 
free or with minimal cost that are flooding the online space. 
textiles & technology 1, the apparel industry, fashion history, professional practices, professional promotion 

A number of the lecture courses would be suitable for online delivery. 

Courses with use of technology 
Most of the content in the following courses could be delivered online.  A best case solution for some might be two on-site meetings (ie. 
first and middle, or first and last, classes in the semester):  The Apparel Industry, Fundamentals of Digital Communication, Fashion 
History I, Fashion History II, Professional Practices?, and Apparel in the Global Economy? 
Most courses can be taught online, even production courses that were taught online ended up being quite successful. CAD, drafting, 
design, a lot of sewing. 

Q44 - Please think of your experience with remote teaching in the Fashion & 
Technology program since March 2020.  What have been some of the highlights? 

Recording lectures and students having the ability to re-watch and slow down the content to a pace that suits them. 

Use of video as a form of delivering content 
students have been so patient, determined, flexible and invested to learn and grow removal of busy work  learning many new and 
different skills, tools and being vulnerable to share shortcomings has lead to more each one teach one moments less wear and tear 
commuting for students juggling busy work/life balance 
the need to re-examine and re-work courses 

More flexibility with courses and work 

Use of video to deliver content -- provides students for time to practice and reflect 
An excellent curation of online content has been exposed for the benefit of student learning. Students have increased their level of 
reading for comprehension and individual motivation and accountability.   Deadlines have been incredibly easier to implement as 
Moodle determines clearly for the student and the faculty member, if an assignment is late - there is no debate. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           167  

Students learned to be more independent, surprisingly, many projects came in better because the students had more to time to be flexible 
with their schedule. Students had lots of video references to refer to and could learn at their own pace, making some lessons easier than 
previously in face to face. 

Q45 - What have been some of the challenges? 
-Unstable Internet connection and or video ability is challenging for all students -Not being able to demonstrate in person for production 
based activities. Many of the students learn from high-fidelity mimicry by watching their peers and instructor and repeating production 
steps. This is both an effective teaching style and learning environment for hand work. 
Time required to produce instructional videos 
upgrading equipment and networks/immediate shifts in spring without KPU being ready non stop adjustments to delivery of materials 
and content always accessible to students and peers completely new assignments in many courses different energy invested to keep most 
students engaged in material and methods 
moodle is not user friendly 
Not all courses have offered weekly sessions leaving some students feeling lost or abandoned, especially as the program boasts for being 
hands on and people focused. It's been difficult not being able to know what's happening in other courses and feeling like being on an 
island. 
Time involved in creating videos and uploading to moodle via kaltura -- often requires multiple attempts. This process needs to be 
streamlined. 
Contextualising upper level course content without a traditional class room environment where exchange of student ideas and 
communication can impact cognition and community of learning (ie.  synthesis, cultural context, complex content, etc.) Not being able 
to "support" students by reading their response to introduction of new topics and challenging assignments meant to stretch their abilities.  
This is a fine line and is much easier to communicate in person rather than online.  Design is a personal profession and students often 
need the safe environment of a classroom to experiment, make mistakes, and reach out to class peers and faculty for support. 
Double the workload. Videos take much, much longer to make. Lack of proper lighting, filming space.  Some students don't work well 
independently. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           168  

Appendix 27: Administrative Data 

INTRODUCTION 

This report presents data for the Fashion and Technology self-study report. 

The section pertinent to chapter 2 of the self-study presents (1) enrolment trends, (2) Fashion and 
Technology enrolment in BC, (3) demographic profile of students, and (4) seat trends.  

The section pertinent to chapter 4 of the self-study presents (1) grade distributions and (2) graduation 
counts. 

There are 17 numbered exhibits. Each exhibit presents data to address a particular issue in the self-study 
report.  

Footnotes provide important information about the data sources and definitions. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           169  

STUDENT DEMAND FOR THE PROGRAM 

ENROLMENT TRENDS2 

Has demand for Fashion and Technology courses been changing over the last five years? How does 
demand for Fashion and Technology courses compare with demand for Chip and Shannon Wilson 
School of Design undergraduate courses over the same period?  

NOTE: Starting Fall 2019 first year intake was reduced to 22 with a removal of a program cohort. 

Exhibit 1: Course Headcount3 by Academic Year: Fashion and Technology and School of Design 
Undergraduate Courses 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
% 

Change4 
Fashion and 
Technology 136 135 134 129 119 -13% 

School of Design 434 425 443 485 448 3% 

Has demand for the Fashion and Technology program changed over the last five years? How does it 
compare with demand for Chip and Shannon Wilson School of Design baccalaureate degree programs 
over the same period? 

Exhibit 2: Program Headcount by Academic Year: Fashion and Technology 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 % Change 
Bachelor of Design in 
Fashion and Technology 134 122 129 127 114 -15% 

Exhibit 3: Program Headcount by Academic Year: Baccalaureate Degree Programs5 in the School of 
Design and All School of Design Programs 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 
2018/1

9 2019/20 
% 

Change 
Baccalaureate Programs in School of 
Design 327 316 315 315 318 -3% 

School of Design Total 424 407 416 416 431 2% 

2 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Enrolment dashboard 2019-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 
3 Course headcount includes students enrolled in the course from the Stable Enrolment date, including those who later 
withdrew from the course. 
4 % Change refers to change between 2015/16 to 2019/20. 
5 Baccalaureate programs in the School of Design are Fashion and Technology, Graphic Design for Marketing, Interior Design, 
and Product Design. 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           170  

FASHION AND TECHNOLOGY ENROLMENT IN B.C. 6 

How do KPU Fashion and Technology enrolment trends compare with overall enrolment trends in B.C? 
Exhibit 4 presents the number of students enrolled in Bachelor-level Fashion and Technology programs 
at B.C. public post-secondary institutions.  

Exhibit 4: Number of Students Enrolled in Bachelor-level Fashion and Technology Programs at B.C. 
Public Post-Secondary Institutions 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 
Total 159 157 139 124 129 

KPU Share 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE OF KPU STUDENTS7 

Has the demographic profile of Fashion and Technology students changed over the last five years? 
Is the gender distribution in the Fashion and Technology program equitable?  

Exhibit 5: Profile of Fashion and Technology Students by Academic Year 

Student Profile 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
FTE Headcount 134 122 129 127 114 

% Female 95% 92% 93% 88% 87% 
% 22 years or younger 74% 74% 73% 79% 72% 

% International 4% 7% 9% 9% 9% 

How does the demographic profile of Fashion and Technology students compare with that of the Chip 
and Shannon Wilson School of Design baccalaureate students over the same period? 

Exhibit 6: Profile of School of Design Baccalaureate Degree Students by Academic Year 

Student Profile 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
FTE Headcount 327 316 315 315  318 

% Female 84% 83% 84% 82% 77% 
% 22 years or younger 62% 66% 71% 70% 66% 

% International 5% 6% 8% 6% 7% 

6 All data reported below was obtained from the STP Enrolment dashboard 2017-18. STP refers to the B.C. Student Transitions 
Project, which tracks students in the public post-secondary education system. Data are coded by Classification of Instructional 
Program (CIP). To identify Bachelor-level Fashion and Technology programs, the CIP Code 50.0407 and credential category of 
Bachelor’s Degree were used.  
7 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Enrolment dashboard 2019-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           171  

SEAT TRENDS8 

Has there been a change in average seats per class in Fashion and Technology courses? How do they 
compare with Chip and Shannon Wilson School of Design undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 7: Average Seats per Class from 2016/17 to 2019/20: 

Fashion and Technology School of Design 

Has there been a change in fill rates in Fashion and Technology courses? How do they compare with 
Chip and Shannon Wilson School of Design undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 8: Fill Rate from 2016/17 to 2019/20: 

Fashion and Technology School of Design 

Definitions 
Class Equivalent to Section, except for crosslisted courses, which are merged, 

and ACA continuous intake courses, where monthly sections with the same 
schedule and location are merged into blocks per term. 

Seats Offered Maximum number of seats available in a unit (section, course, department, 
faculty- depends on the menu selection) 

Seats Filled Number of seats taken in the unit (section, course, department, 
faculty- depends on the menu selection) 

Average Seats Offered Per Class Computed as Seats Offered / Count of Classes 
Average Seats Filled Per Class Computed as Seats Filled / Count of Classes 
Fill Rate Computed as Seats Taken / Seats Offered. 

A measure of % capacity utilization. 

8 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Seat Statistics dashboard 2019-20, which is located at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 

16.3 16.3 16.6 15.5

13.7 14.8 14.7 14.8

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

19.9 19.7 20.0 19.4

14.9 15.1 15.2 15.5

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

84% 91% 89% 96%

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

75% 76% 76% 80%

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           172  

STUDENT EXPERIENCE 

GRADE DISTRIBUTIONS9 

Are an adequate number of students in Fashion and Technology courses receiving a grade of C and 
above? How do they compare with the students in Chip and Shannon Wilson School of Design 
undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 9: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Fashion and Technology Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20 

  
     
  
  
  
 
 
 
  
 

Exhibit 10: Cumulative Grade Distribution for School of Design Undergraduate Courses from 2015/16 
to 2019/20 

9 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Grade Distribution dashboard 2019-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 

9%

25
%

45
%

64
%

77
% 87

% 93
% 96

%

97
%

98
%

99
%

8%

22
%

46
%

65
%

80
% 88

% 93
% 96
%

96
%

97
%

98
%

8%

21
%

43
%

61
%

76
% 86

% 93
% 97

%

97
%

97
%

99
%

8%

22
%

42
%

62
%

78
% 87

% 93
% 95
%

96
%

96
%

98
%

9%

23
%

41
%

61
%

77
% 86

% 92
% 95
%

95
%

95
%

97
%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

A+ A A- B+ B B- C+ C C- D F

Cumulative Distribution

8%

25
%

42
%

62
%

75
% 85

% 93
% 97

%

97
%

98
%

99
%

4%

13
%

32
%

53
%

73
%

84
% 92

% 96
%

96
%

97
%

98
%

6%

17
%

36
%

52
%

69
%

81
% 91

% 97
%

97
%

98
%

99
%

10
% 20

%

35
%

57
%

73
%

84
% 92

% 96
%

96
%

96
%

98
%

7%

19
%

38
%

59
%

77
% 86

% 92
% 95

%

95
%

96
%

97
%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

A+ A A- B+ B B- C+ C C- D F

Cumulative Distribution



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           173  

Does the repeat rate in Fashion and Technology courses indicate an issue? How does it compare with the 
repeat rate of Chip and Shannon Wilson School of Design undergraduate courses?  

Does the DFW rate in Fashion and Technology courses indicate an issue? How does it compare with the 
DFW rate in Chip and Shannon Wilson School of Design undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 11: Grade Data for Fashion and Technology and School of Design Undergraduate Courses from 
2015/16 to 2019/20 

Fashion and Technology School of Design 

Fashion and Technology School of Design 

Fashion and Technology School of Design 

3.27 3.17 3.15 3.23 3.27 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Mean Grade & Std Dev

3.30 3.34 3.28 3.29 3.30 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Mean Grade & Std Dev

0% 2% 1% 1% 1%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Repeat Rate

1% 1% 1% 1% 1%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Repeat Rate

3% 4% 3% 4% 4%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

DFW Rate

3% 4% 3% 4% 4%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

DFW Rate



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           174  

Are there any issues with Fashion and Technology students’ performance at each level? How do they 
compare with Chip and Shannon Wilson School of Design undergraduate courses?   

Exhibit 12: Grade Data for Fashion and Technology and School of Design Courses for 2019/20 across 
Undergraduate Levels 

Fashion and Technology 10 School of Design 

Fashion and Technology School of Design 

Fashion and Technology School of Design 

Fashion and Technology School of Design 

10 Note that variations in sample size can affect the mean scores. 

3.32 
3.09 

3.60 

3.09 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

L1 L2 L3 L4

Mean Grade & Std Dev

3.32 3.25 3.35 3.26 3.40 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

L1 L2 L3 L4 L5

Mean Grade & Std Dev

168

220

164
146

0

50

100

150

200

250

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Seats
1,053

733

518
362

81

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

L1 L2 L3 L4 L5

Number of Seats

2% 1% 0% 1%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

Repeat Rate

1% 1% 1% 1% 1%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4 L5

Repeat Rate



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           175  

Definitions 
Grade For courses with numeric grade mode, this is the letter grade (A+ through F) assigned to a 

student based on achievement in a course. 
Mean Grade The average grade of students in the selected courses, based solely on the numerical grade 

equivalent of a letter grade. A weighted average is used, such that larger classes have a larger 
influence on the computed mean. 

Cumulative 
Distribution 

The number of students who receive a particular letter grade (A+ through F) plus those who 
receive a higher grade, as a percentage of the total number of students with a grade or a 
W/WE. Useful for estimating the proportion of passing students based on any specific grade 
requirement. 

DFW Rate % of students who received a grade of D or F or withdrew from the course. 
Percentage is calculated based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF 
(Deferred). A common metric used to identify courses with high rates of poor student 
performance. 

Enrolment Number of students assigned a grade or W/WE (Withdraw) or DEF (Deferred), except those 
marked as AUD (Audit). These are not unique students since they are allowed to repeat and 
take multiple courses. Students include those who have withdrawn from their class, but does 
not include those who dropped the class before the Stable Enrolment Date. To protect 
privacy, this dashboard does not display grade information for courses with less than 5 
students. 

Repeat Rate Students who repeat a course, that is, have taken the course previously. Percentage is 
calculated based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF. 

9%
3% 1% 3%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

DFW Rate

7% 5% 1% 2% 5%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4 L5

DFW Rate



Fashion &Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices            June 2021           176  

GRADUATION COUNTS11 

Has there been a change in the number of Fashion and Technology graduates over time? How does it 
compare with the Chip and Shannon Wilson School of Design in general? 

Exhibit 13: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: Fashion and Technology  

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
Diploma12 1 - 1 1 5 
Bachelor of Design 32 30 34 24 24 

Exhibit 14: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: School of Design 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
Total13 119 95 109 106 100 
Bachelors Degree 74 70 77 65 53 
Certificate 14 11 5 19 16 
Diploma 25 14 21 17 22 
Post Bac Diploma 8 0 6 7 9 

Are Fashion and Technology students completing the program within a reasonable time? How does it 
compare with the School of Design in general? 

Exhibit 15: Median Years to Graduate with One Credential:14 Fashion and Technology 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
Diploma 3.0 - 2.0 2.9 3.0 
Bachelor of Design 4.0 4.0 4.0 3.9 3.9 

Exhibit 16: Median Years to Graduate: School of Design 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
Bachelors Degree 4.0 4.0 4.0 3.9 3.9 
Certificate 0.9 0.9 6.8 0.9 0.9 
Diploma 2.6 2.7 2.6 2.9 2.9 
Post Bac Diploma 1.2 - 1.6 1.6 1.5 

Definitions 
Graduate 
Headcount 

Count of unique students who have earned a KPU credential. Breakdown values may not add up 
to total or 100% because a student can earn multiple credentials in different categories within the 
same academic year. 

Credential Specific academic award granted upon completion of Program, such as "Associate of Arts 
Degree" vs "Associate of Science Degree". 

Median A computed "middle" number in a set of numbers when sorted by value, such that 50% of the 
values are higher and 50% are smaller than this number. The Median is preferred over the Mean 
when the distribution of numbers contains a few extreme values. Extreme values will distort the 
Mean in that direction, whereas the Median is not affected by extreme values. 

11 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Credentials dashboard AY 2019-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 
12 Upon Successful completion of the first four terms, students are eligible to exit the program and receive a Diploma. 
13 To avoid double counting students, total graduate headcounts presented in Exhibit 14 are unique headcounts of students 
for the year, not the sum of the credential counts. 
14 The data in Exhibits 15 and 16 present the median number of years students took to receive their first credential. 



STUDENT OUTCOMES15 
There are 7 measures that Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills & Training uses to assess each 
institution with respect to the outcomes students achieve within 2 years of graduation. A description of 
each follows. Ministry has a target for each measure. 

Unemployed Unemployment rate of KPU's graduates (of those in the labour market) 
Employed Proportion of former students who are employed 
Related Job Proportion of former students employed in a related field of study 

Usefulness Proportion of former students who reported satisfaction in the usefulness of 
their knowledge and skills in performing their jobs 

Satisfaction Proportion of former students' who reported satisfaction with their education 
Quality Proportion of former students' who assessed their quality of instruction 

iti l  
Skill Development [Former] student assessment of their skill development at KPU. An overall 

average for all skills is provided, plus the results for each skill 

Are we achieving the Ministry’s targets? Are the graduates getting jobs in a related field?  

Exhibit 17: Student Outcomes Measures - KPU Fashion and Technology Average Scores Compared with 
Ministry Targets 

Measures 
Average Student Outcome Scores 
for KPU Fashion and Technology 

(2017-2019) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 58 
 Unemployment 5.2% 
 

< 7.5% 
 Currently Employed 95% 

 
> 85% 

 Related Job 93% 
 Usefulness 91% > 90% 

 Satisfaction 98% > 90% 
 Quality 98% > 90% 
 Skill Development 88% > 85% 
 Write Clearly and Concisely 84% > 85% 

Speak Effectively 88% > 85% 
Read and Comprehend Materials 75% > 85% 

Work Effectively with Others 91% > 85% 
Analyze and Think Critically 93% > 85% 
Resolve Issues or Problems 95% > 85% 

Learn on your Own 93% > 85% 

15 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Student Outcomes dashboard 2015-19, which is available at: 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 

Fashion & Technology Program Self-Study Report Appendices     June 2021     177



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

1 
 

  
 

REPORT: Fashion and Technology Self-Study Report 

 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Self-Study Report under review and an overall recommendation. 
Reviewer #1: The Fashion and Technology faculty members have created a useful self-study with attention to 
the future of their program and building strong outcomes for their students. Other than a few small revisions 
which I have suggested regarding wording, I believe that this report should be approved by SSCPR.  
 
Reviewer #3: I commend the Self-Study team for their hard work compiling and analyzing the data and writing 
the report. There is a wealth of information in the report. However, in some areas, there is a lack of clarity 
and conciseness which can obscure meaning and reduce the impact of the message. Significant edits and 
corrections were made using track changes, which I hope were helpful, but the report needs another careful 
review and proofreading.  
 

The Report:  

☒         Reviewer #1 & 2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 

☒         Reviewer #3: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending further action (see below) 

☐         Recommend return to the Program for major revision 

☐         Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 
 

 

Direction for Reviewers: Determine if the criterion for each chapter is fully addressed according to the standard. 

CHAPTER 1: Program Overview 
 
Criterion: This chapter provides a description of the program, its history, and the scope of the review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter clearly describes the program, its history and curriculum, and the scope of the current 
review. 

 
THE CHAPTER:  

  ☒     Meets the Standard 
Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Click here to enter text. 

 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Reviewer #3: The content is there, but needs to be expressed more clearly and concisely in some areas. 
Some overlapping ideas. See track changes. The main points in the scope of review are appropriate 
(competiveness advantage, currency, relevance). It gets a little cloudy though when referring to action 
points from 2015 report (p. 6). 

 

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

2 
 

 
 

CHAPTER 2: Program Currency and Connections 

 

Criterion: This chapter assesses program demand and its current relevance to the discipline/sector. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 

 
THE CHAPTER:  

  ☒     Meets the Standard 
Additional Comments (if necessary):  

 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Reviewer #3: Information about competition is valuable. Put in a table for ease of comparison since 
assessing competitive advantage is number 1 in Scope of Review.  
Numerous copy edits needed. See track changes. 
Check recommendations. Are they supported through data (eg: bullet pt. 2, pg. 18 -seek support from 
Office of Advancement)?  
Some of the recommendations are very detailed. Does this section need to be this detailed at this 
point? 

 
 

CHAPTER 3: Quality of Curriculum Design 

 

Criterion: This chapter examines the quality of the program’s curriculum. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 

 
THE CHAPTER:  

  ☒     Meets the Standard 
Additional Comments (if necessary):  

 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Reviewer #3: Overall, the assessments and recommendations are supported. A couple of questions 
about recommendations: 1) enhancing reading and numeracy skills. Seems like these skills are 
embedded in courses, but students just not aware. 2) decolonizing curriculum. Except for one item in 
list of topics for possible inclusion, the topic isn’t addressed. Since it is an important pillar of Vision 
2023, perhaps it deserves more discussion.  
 
Some copy edits needed. See track changes.  

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

3 
 

CHAPTER 4: Quality of Instructional Design 

 

Criterion: This chapter examines the quality of the program’s instructional design. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 

 
THE CHAPTER:  

  ☒     Meets the Standard 
Additional Comments (if necessary):  

 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Reviewer #3: Assessments are supported by data. I’m wondering though if list of recommendations is 
too detailed. Do some belong in a QAP?  
 
Edits are needed for conciseness and clarity.  See track changes. 

 

 
 

CHAPTER 5: Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 

 

Criterion: This chapter assesses program resources, equipment, software, and facilities from both the student 
and instructor perspective.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 

 
THE CHAPTER:  

  ☒     Meets the Standard 
Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Click here to enter text. 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Reviewer #3: Assessment are supported. Not sure comment about marketing (top of (pg. 58) belongs 
here.  
In recommendations, I would add a line addressing faculty dissatisfaction with crisis intervention 
counselling, for example, a PD session, posting of clear protocols and procedures…  
 
Edits are needed for clarity, conciseness, consistency. See track changes.  

 
 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

4 
 

CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

Criterion: This chapter summarizes the conclusions drawn from the evidence gathered in the program review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported recommendations. 

 
THE CHAPTER:  

  ☒     Meets the Standard 
Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #1: The resiliency training mentioned in this chapter could be a joint project with the Learning 
Centre. The Learning Centre has much of this curriculum developed and is using it in the KPU 101, 
Thriving in Action offering. We are looking at badging by using micro-credentials it sometime next year.  

 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Reviewer #3: I think the information in pgs. 59-61 is very interesting, valuable, and well expressed. I’m 
wondering if it belongs in chapter 6 since you are referring to new sources. 
 
To help reader, I would also remind us what scope of review is. It makes it easier for readers to connect 
the dots. 
 
Copy edits needed. See track changes.  

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

See track changes. I edited for conciseness and clarity. I caught some of the punctuation errors (commas, 
colons, lists), but not all.   

Report Page 16 – second sentence “…applicants are often looking the further understand the decisions..” 
“the” should be “to” 

 p. 34- “Find Fine Handcraft skills 

p. 42 1st paragraph- “Since the onset of the global pandemic, sweeping changes have taken place in just about 
every industry since March 2020.”- There are 2 “sinces” in this sentence- Revise to have only one.     

 p. 43- “Develop a DESN course for students transitioning to post-secondary education  
o Similar to KPU 101, but in design focused and in a credit bearing, required course (see reference course 

from North Carolina in Appendix 18) 
Revise to say “KPU 100”. (KPU 101 is the Thriving in Action course available to students at any level, not just 
transitioning students. ) 

p. 45- “Where there is greater need to manage accommodations is through clearer lines of communication 
required by learning strategists to develop accommodations with faculty consultation;”- This should read 
“learning specialists” who are the faculty in our accessibility services. Learning strategists work with the 
Learning Centre.  

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 0 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

WILSON SCHOOL OF DESIGN 
 

FASHION AND TECHNOLOGY PROGRAM 

SELF-STUDY REPORT 

JUNE 2021 
 

Program Review Team Members: 
Heather Clark, Lesley Pollard, Mary Androsiuk, Jessica Bayntun, Michael Pope, Alex Diaz, 

Sharon Greeno, Eleanor Hannan, Evelyn May, Shirley Thompson, Stephanie Phillips 
  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 1 

 

Table of Contents 

 Program Overview .................................................................................................. 3 

Program Description ................................................................................................................... 3 

Brief History of the Program ....................................................................................................... 4 

External Accreditation ................................................................................................................. 5 

Scope of the Review .................................................................................................................... 5 

 Program Currency and Connections ........................................................................ 7 

Competitive Context ................................................................................................................... 7 

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board ........................................................................... 12 

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector ...................................................................... 13 

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units ............................................................. 15 

Program’s Articulation and Credential Recognition Processes ................................................. 16 

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach ......................................................... 16 

Student Demand for the Program ............................................................................................. 18 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 21 

 Quality of Curriculum Design ................................................................................ 23 

Assessment of the Curriculum .................................................................................................. 23 

Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum ................................................................................. 31 

Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum .................................................................................. 33 

Career/Further Education Preparedness .................................................................................. 35 

Curriculum Development and Review Processes ...................................................................... 41 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 44 

 Quality of Instructional Design .............................................................................. 46 

Delivery Modes ......................................................................................................................... 46 

Assessment Methods ................................................................................................................ 49 

Student Experience ................................................................................................................... 50 

Faculty Experience .................................................................................................................... 55 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 57 

 Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities .......................................................... 59 

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities ....................................................... 59 

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ..................................... 62 

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ...................................... 62 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 63 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 2 

 

 Conclusions and Recommendations ...................................................................... 65 

Summary of Conclusions ........................................................................................................... 65 

List of Recommendations .......................................................................................................... 65 

 Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean ............................................................ 71 

Program Overview..................................................................................................................... 71 

External Connections and Support ............................................................................................ 75 

Final Comments ......................................................................................................................... 76 

 Appendices for Self-Study Report .......................................................................... 77 

 

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 3 

 

 

 Program Overview 

Program Description  

The Fashion and Technology program within the Chip and Shannon Wilson School of Design 
(WSD) at Kwantlen Polytechnic University (KPU) is one of three fashion degree granting 
programs in Canada.  In 2019, the program was awarded best in long term value, best in 
learning experience, and best overall in the undergraduate fashion school rankings by the 
Business of Fashion, and we are the only Canadian fashion school to be highlighted at the 
undergraduate level.  The Business of Fashion site is a globally recognized, industry led 
news source on the global fashion industry.   
 
Program content delivers a balance of hands-on learning, industry-focused experience, and 
academic rigor.  Our students experience unique programming in an undergraduate 
fashion-focused degree that is recognized for preparing graduating students to successfully 
enter the apparel and fashion industry.  Alumni hold roles in the local, national, and global 
industry, with many in leadership, technical, and management positions across a range of 
company structures. 
 
The program currently covers a variety of skills and knowledge including drawing and 
design, pattern drafting, textiles, apparel construction, product development, 
manufacturing methodology, computer aided design, professional practices, professional 
promotion, the apparel industry, sustainability concepts, and much more.  Students 
explore their personal values, refine their vision and purpose, and develop ethical, 
sustainable, and global business practices as they discover their place in the local and global 
industry.  The Fashion and Technology program has come to be known as a practical 
program among applicants, industry, and students with the acknowledgment that 
graduates have a breadth of industry relevant skills and knowledge. 
 
Program curricula ensures that students develop industry-ready, and relevant skills in 
creative and technical areas.  Industry connections are fostered through guest speakers 
and industry field trips which are integrated into all four years of the degree program, and 
practicum placements where our third-year students engage with industry mentors. These 
industry experiences allow students to participate, connect, and link their skills and 
knowledge with the practical application of learning in the workplace.   
 
The WSD, with seven design programs, enables students to collaborate in an 
interdisciplinary manner as they work in shared spaces. It is common to see students at 
multiple levels of programming grappling with opportunities and challenges as they share, 
collaborate, and discuss their work during the iterative design process.  WSD courses, 
including those in the Fashion and Technology program, all take place at the WSD campus 
located in Richmond, BC.  The KPU Richmond campus, a building located beside the WSD 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 4 

 

campus, and connected with a skybridge is where some students might choose to take non-
fashion courses to meet the elective requirements for the credential. 
The Fashion and Technology program is a selective entry program with an intake of 22 
students every fall in a cohort model.  The admissions process to the program includes an 
English requirement set by KPU and a portfolio submission with requirements set by 
program faculty.  The program itself has 29 core fashion courses which students are 
required to complete to meet degree requirements, as well as 3 required non-fashion 
courses and 15 required elective credits. 
 
See Appendix 1 for the program model, Appendix 2 for the calendar description of the 
program, and Appendix 3 for calendar descriptions of the required courses.  For additional 
program context, see Appendix 4 for program admissions requirements and policies, 
Appendix 5 for credential completion requirements, and Appendix 6 for the Business of 
Fashion awards. 
 
The following program mission statement, while set in 2014, still holds true today. This 
mission to provide a well-rounded education for students pursuing a career in the fashion 
industry is often cited by both industry and students alike as a strength of the program and 
is often referred to as a core reason for applying for the program and for hiring alumni from 
the program. 
 
“Kwantlen’s industry-focused curriculum integrates creative, technical, and leadership skills 
to develop graduates for meaningful careers in the global apparel industry. Our graduates 
demonstrate an awareness of the importance of marketability in design, possess the 
technical knowledge essential to their professions, and value ethical choice.”  

Fashion and Technology Program Mission Statement, 2014 
 
The program has 11 instructor-faculty members, the majority of whom also teach in other 
Wilson School of Design programs.  We have one part-time program assistant who splits 
their time between the Fashion and Technology program and another Wilson School of 
Design program and a program chair who has a 50% time-release for this role.  Students 
and faculty are also supported by a full-time WSD divisional lab coordinator and two WSD 
divisional lab technicians who support spaces and equipment required for the hands-on 
and experiential learning components of program curriculum.  Program initiatives are also 
supported by the Wilson School of Design dean’s office as needed. 

Brief History of the Program 

The Fashion and Technology degree program has its initial roots with Douglas College as a 
fashion diploma program.  The degree program at KPU was launched in 1999.  Since the 
inception of the degree, most students have graduated with a degree, with a minority of 
students opting to exit the program upon the completion of their diploma.   
 
The program last went through a program review starting in 2014, with updated curricula 
being implemented in Fall 2017. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 5 

 

 
In Fall 2019, the program shifted from a double cohort accepting 44 students each fall, to 
a single cohort intake with a maximum of 22 students.  While writing this self-study during 
the 2020/2021 academic year both the first and second-year cohorts are full.  Our third and 
fourth year of the program currently have two cohorts in each year, and in the coming 
academic year, 2021/2022, the program will be reduced to a single cohort from years one 
through three.  This cohort reduction was part of an institutional initiative to avoid a 
potential deficit budget. 
 
With the last program review, the main curricular changes included implementing new 
courses: FASN 2215 Textiles and Technology 2 focusing on print design (2nd year), FASN 
3900 Special Topics, a course with content changing on an annual basis (3rd year), and FASN 
4120 Innovative Pattern Cutting (4th year).  Program course credits were cleaned up for 
consistency to be either 3 or 6 credit courses, as previously courses ranged between 1.5 to 
7 credits, along with learning outcome and activity updates which were also addressed 
across the program. 

External Accreditation 

The Fashion and Technology program is not currently accredited by any external 
associations or organizations as there are no governing bodies at this time that might 
provide accreditation within Canada. 
 
There is a Textile and Apparel Program Accreditation Commission based in the USA.  We 
would seek accreditation with this organization if deemed to be beneficial by our program 
advisory committee, and if it is possible for a Canadian program to be part of this.  As of 
writing this report, seeking accreditation has not been mentioned as needed or necessary 
by industry partners or advisory committee members. 

Scope of the Review 

The results of the last program review and the curricular updates that resulted took effect 
in September 2017.  Since the last updates, the program was mandated to shift to a single 
cohort program, and we are currently navigating a global pandemic.  There have been many 
changes in both the program, in how it is taught and experienced, as well as within our 
local industry.  This program review aims to assess the following, and to provide 
recommendations for further program updates and enhancements: 

1. Competitive advantage of the program 
2. Currency of curriculum and instructional design 
3. Relevance to the local and global fashion industry 

 
While the outcome of the last program review and the resulting action plan items informed 
updates to program curriculum to address challenges that were raised, some other issues 
were revealed upon implementation of the recommended solutions primarily around 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 6 

 

course learning outcomes and content scaffolding.  We therefore seek to address these 
highlighted challenges throughout this current review process.   
 
Some of the action points from 2015 were dependent on external partners and their ability 
to support student learning activities such as international internship exchanges and/or 
field trip visits to factories, additional industry-based training opportunities, and additional 
industry linked projects (FASN Action Plan One-Year Follow UP, 2016).  Many of the action 
items from our previous program review regarding space, technology, and resources, were 
addressed with the move into our current WSD campus.   Action items from the 2016 report 
touching on the desire for networking events, increasing recruitment efforts, and work on 
continuing studies initiatives, require ongoing work and are also addressed in this report.   
 
A shift that occurred after our last program review was moving from computer aided 
pattern drafting (CAD) software Gerber Accumark to Optitex.  This shift was made with the 
need to work with a cloud-based CAD technology to better facilitate student learning both 
on and off campus as Gerber Accumark was not yet able to support the technology through 
the cloud and the proposed alternative solution was cost prohibitive.  When this change 
was made, Advisory Committee members were in support of the shift to Optitex as it would 
allow for students to continue working and learning with CAD technology.  Despite industry 
consultation sought at the time, our partners continue to ask and request that graduates 
have experience working with Gerber Accumark and we are therefore exploring ways that 
might support this. 
 
While the 2017 curriculum updates aimed to align content, student course load, and 
learning activities, questions have been raised since implementation about content timing 
and placement in the program to best support students. Continued work is needed to 
ensure we can continue offering the best possible program, and longest running fashion 
program in Western Canada, while ensuring that graduates continue to be industry ready.  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 7 

 

 Program Currency and Connections 

Competitive Context 

The Bachelor of Design, Fashion and Technology is one of three fashion degree granting 
programs offered in Canada.  The other two-degree fashion programs in Canada include 
one at Ryerson University in Toronto, ON, and one offered by LaSalle College Vancouver. 
 
Within Vancouver, there are an assortment of certificate and diploma fashion programs.  
These programs have coexisted with the KPU fashion program for several years with some 
of the students from these programs seeking advanced entry to the KPU program to 
achieve a bachelor's degree with a focus on fashion.  Across Canada there are also other 
certificate and diploma fashion programs offered; these programs are offered by 
educational institutions such as George Brown College (ON), Fanshawe College (ON), 
Seneca College (ON), MC College (AB), and Humber College (ON). 
 
Since the previous program review, the fashion programs with Lethbridge College and Olds 
College, both located in Alberta, have discontinued. 
 
There are many other fashion undergraduate degree programs offered in the United States 
and in Europe.  Many of these programs appear to have a conceptual design and theoretical 
focus, with students choosing to attend these programs based on their chosen area of 
interest in the fashion field. 
 
Our main competitor is the fashion program at Ryerson University, which is the longest 
running fashion degree granting program in Canada and has national recognition.  Please 
see the below program descriptions and chart for comparisons on the KPU, Ryerson, and 
LaSalle Vancouver programs. 
 
Ryerson University – Fashion (BDes) 
Fashion programing offered by Ryerson University was established in 1948.  The vision 
shared for the Ryerson fashion program touches on sustainable design, production 
practices, questions around decolonizing the fashion industry, and considering the impact 
of the industry. New for students admitted in Fall 2020 or later, Ryerson offers five options 
for concentrations in their undergraduate program:  

 Fashion Communication 

 Fashion Design 

 Design Leadership 

 Textiles and Material Practices 

 Fashion Studies 
 
In November 2020, the Suzanne Rogers Fashion Institute, recommitted to support the 
fashion institute program for an additional five years.  This institute program provides 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 8 

 

support for the transition from education to career for both undergraduate students and 
alumni of the Ryerson fashion program.  
 
While some applicants to the KPU fashion program might also apply to Ryerson, they often 
decide on what program to attend based on long-term career goals and aspirations.  Those 
willing to relocate for post-secondary and with the financial means will often prioritize the 
Ryerson program for its national recognition and specialization options within their fashion 
program.  A program model for the Ryerson program may be found in Appendix 7a. 
 
LaSalle College Vancouver – Bachelor of Design in Fashion Design 
The Bachelor of Design in Fashion Design offered by LaSalle College, Vancouver, a private 
institution, took in their first cohort in January 2020.  This program aims to provide skills 
and training for students so that they might gain a successful career in the fashion industry.  
Program content includes sustainable design concepts, technical and technology skills, 
business development and a practicum placement. 
 
A key developer of this Bachelor of Design in Fashion Design program was also integral in 
the development of the KPU Bachelor of Design, Fashion and Technology program.  The 
result is that both programs have similar foundations and tenets at present.  A program 
plan for the Bachelor of Design in Fashion Design offered by LaSalle College, Vancouver 
may be found in the self-study report, Appendix 7b.   
 
As this fashion program has yet to graduate a degree cohort, the overall impact on the 
industry and graduating students from KPU has yet to be felt.  Approval for this program to 
move ahead by the Ministry of Education was granted while the KPU fashion program was 
still accepting an intake of 44 students per year.   
 
Program Comparisons 
The following chart compares the three-degree granting fashion focused programs based 
in Canada.  While looking through the following chart it should be noted that both KPU and 
Ryerson are publicly funded institutions, and LaSalle College is a private institution.   
 

Program Name 
Kwantlen Polytechnic 

University: Bachelor of Design 
in Fashion and Technology 

Ryerson University: Bachelor 
of Design - Fashion 

LaSalle College Vancouver: 
Bachelor of Design in Fashion 

Design 
 

*Limited information is available 
about the program online 

Location Vancouver, BC with campus located 
at 5600 Kwantlen, St, Richmond, BC 

Toronto, ONT with campus located 
at 350 Victoria St, Toronto, ON 

Vancouver, BC with campus located at 
2665 Renfrew St. Vancouver, BC 

Intake 

22 students each fall semester 
 
Additional students may be 
accepted as advanced entry 

N/A 
 
Program has 600+ full time 
students 
 
Student intake numbers not 
available 

N/A 
 
Student intake numbers not available 

Tuition & Fees 
Domestic: $2527.90 per each full-
time semester 

Domestic Range: $7046-$7814 
 

Tuition fee estimates not available 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 9 

 

Program Name 
Kwantlen Polytechnic 

University: Bachelor of Design 
in Fashion and Technology 

Ryerson University: Bachelor 
of Design - Fashion 

LaSalle College Vancouver: 
Bachelor of Design in Fashion 

Design 
 

*Limited information is available 
about the program online 

  
International: $10,933.15 per each 
full-time semester 

International Range: $28,638-
$29611 
 
*Ryerson website did not share if 
this was per year or semester.  
Based on comparisons with KPU 
tuition it is anticipated that this 
range is most likely for a full 
academic year. 

Duration 

4 years full time study for degree 
completion  

4 years full time study for degree 
completion 

With full time study, including over 
summers, students might complete 
the program in 3 years 
 
180 credits over 12 quarters 

Program 
Admission 

Requirements 

Portfolio that includes 8-10 pages 
of a recent sketchbook showing a 
range of work 
 
 2 pieces of art or design work with 
analysis 
 
2 sewn garments, one of the 
garments is a specified collared 
shirt 
 
2 references, it is suggested that 
one might be academic and the 
other personal or work related 
 
Statement of Intent 
 
Resume 
 
Portfolio items are submitted 
through SlideRoom 

Portfolio that includes four 
finished pieces of creative work 
showing skills and interest in 
Fashion.  Items may include 
clothing, graphic design, fine art, 
accessory or textile design, 
writing, business concepts 
 
Statement of intent in the form of 
a 500 word essay 
 
Portfolio items are submitted 
through SlideRoom 

Admission interview with admission 
officer 
 
500 word essay 

Highlights 

Strong connections with local 
industry members throughout the 
program with guest speakers, field 
trips, and as practicum placement 
hosts 
 
120 hour workplace practicum  
 
Content includes design and 
production concepts that are 
industry focused  
 
Longest running fashion focused 
degree granting program in 
western Canada 
 
Ranked in Best in Long-Term Value, 
Best in Learning Experience, and 

250-400 internship hours are 
required 
 
Ranked in Best Fashion Schools in 
the World 2019 by Business of 
Fashion 
 
Revised curriculum implemented 
Fall 2020 and includes the option 
for students to choose from five 
specialization pathways 
 
Content focuses on exploring 
inclusive, decolonized and 
sustainable perspectives 
 

Program content includes 
fundamentals of fashion design, 
tailoring, flat pattern drafting, draping, 
textiles and computer pattern drafting 
 
Workplace practicum in final year 
 
The option to complete the program 
within 3 years. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 10 

 

Program Name 
Kwantlen Polytechnic 

University: Bachelor of Design 
in Fashion and Technology 

Ryerson University: Bachelor 
of Design - Fashion 

LaSalle College Vancouver: 
Bachelor of Design in Fashion 

Design 
 

*Limited information is available 
about the program online 

Best Overall in 2019 by Business of 
Fashion 

School also offers a master of arts 
which students might choose to 
pursue upon completion of BDes 
 
Summer 2002 the Ryerson 
Creative Academy was launched 
to support high school students 
interested in pursuing career in 
the creative industries 
 
Longest running degree granting 
program with a fashion focus 
 
Programming and school 
resources support students and 
graduates in a number of research 
and developmental ways including 
the  
Suzanne Rogers Fashion Institute 
and the Fashion Research 
Collective 

 
It should also be acknowledged that the University of Alberta offers a fashion business 
management program, description found below.  While there are some overlapping 
themes between the programs offered by the University of Alberta and the KPU Fashion 
and Technology program, we have not felt an overall impact on our applicant numbers as 
the program does have a different focus. 
 
The University of Alberta – Bachelor of Science in Fashion Business Management 
The University of Alberta in Edmonton offers a four-year Bachelor of Science in Fashion 
Business Management. The program, administered by the Department of Human Ecology 
and the Alberta School of Business offers co-op and internship opportunities to prepare 
students for a management career in the fashion industry. The school also offers a Bachelor 
of Science in Human Ecology, with a Major in Clothing, Textiles and Material Culture.   
 

Generally, those applicants seeking to be admitted to the KPU Fashion and Technology 
program are interested in working towards a degree.  While there are several fashion 
focused certificate or diploma programs also located in the Vancouver area, we do not 
typically compete with these schools for applicants.  In some cases, applicants who 
complete these programs have done so to create a portfolio to gain admission to the first 
year of the KPU fashion program, or potentially seek advanced entry into the KPU fashion 
program.  There is opportunity to further work with these schools and programs to ensure 
their students and faculty are aware of potential advanced entry pathways into the KPU 
fashion program.   
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 11 

 

Descriptions of these local non-degree granting programs are below.  It should be noted 
that apart from Vancouver Community College, all other schools are private institutions. 
 
Vancouver Area non-degree granting fashion programs: 
Vancouver Community College - Certificate or Diploma in Fashion Design & Production, 
Certificate in Fashion Merchandising 

The Fashion Design & Production program is geared toward developing creative and 
technical skills for the fashion and apparel industry.  The program features a 120-
hour practicum, along with other industry- geared skills and knowledge, and has the 
same admission requirements as the KPU Fashion and Technology program.  
Courses include pattern drafting, sewing, illustration and design, draping, fashion 
history, textiles, and features ‘fashion cycle’ courses in which students work in 
groups to apply knowledge and skills on potentially industry- linked projects. 

JCI Institute - Fashion Design and Fashion Business   
The Fashion Design program is 26 weeks long (6 months) covering both theory and 
practical hands-on knowledge with the goal of students showcasing garments in a 
fashion show.  The Fashion Business program runs for 47 weeks and is focused on 
preparing students for a range of career roles by developing skills and knowledge.   

Vancouver College of Art and Design (VCAD) - Fashion Design Diploma 
Program duration is 60 weeks, taking place over five, twelve-week terms.  Content 
covered in the program includes theoretical, design and technical skills, while also 
developing an understanding of the roles and responsibilities of positions 
throughout the fashion industry. 
Also offered by VCAD is the Fashion Design program with a specialization in 
marketing.  This specialization offers knowledge in marketing, promotion, and 
event planning and runs for an additional two, twelve-week terms. 

Blanche MacDonald - Global Fashion Marketing, Fashion Design, and International 
Fashion Marketing 

The Global Fashion Marketing program is a one-year program, aiming to provide 
skills and knowledge to students to prepare them for potential careers as stylists, 
buyers, entrepreneurs, brand specialist, social media influencers, bloggers, PR 
executives, events coordinators, and other.  The International Fashion Marketing 
program has many of the same goals as the Global Fashion Marketing program, in 
addition to seeking to improve students' English skills.   
The Fashion Design program, also a year in length, covers skills such as illustration, 
fashion history, garment construction, pattern making, and career preparation. 

The Cut Fashion Design Academy 
Relatively new to the Vancouver fashion education community, this academy offers 
courses in flexible schedules with a diploma in Fashion Design and Creative Arts, 
and an array of certificate programs both face to face and online.  Certificates range 
in content from design and technical skills to production and manufacturing 
knowledge. 

 

The Wilson School of Design also offers a two-year diploma in Fashion Marketing.  This 
program ladders into a Bachelor of Business Administration program at KPU should 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 12 

 

students wish to pursue that route.  The KPU Fashion Marketing program serves to fulfill 
learner interest in pursuing fashion studies from a buyer, social media, merchandiser, and 
marketing perspective.  Depending on student interest and timetabling, some Fashion and 
Technology students might opt to inquire about taking select Fashion Marketing courses 
toward program electives. 
 
The WSD Fashion and Technology program attracts students primarily from the Vancouver 
and greater Vancouver area.  We are a well-known program with applicants across BC and 
are recognized as being the longest degree granting fashion program in western Canada.  
Applicants for the program have typically done their research on local and national fashion 
programs and know that they will receive a broad and practical education with us that is 
aimed at ensuring they are employable in the industry.  For many applicants we are their 
first choice in program, however some may be also submitting applications to the Ryerson 
University fashion program.  If these applicants are offered seats in both programs, they 
will often choose Ryerson based on the increased recognition that the school and program 
has because of the length of time it has existed.  Exact numbers of applicants who might 
choose Ryerson over KPU are unknown, however some applicants have been in touch to 
share that they have declined their KPU offer in favour of Ryerson. 
 
To ensure the competitiveness of the WSD Fashion and Technology program, we will need 
to further integrate unique curricular components, ensure we continue to remain current 
and connected with the apparel industry, and explore additional applicant recruitment 
strategies.  With the recent implementation of the LaSalle College Vancouver fashion 
degree program, we will also need to monitor its program offerings to ensure we remain 
competitive through intentional differentiation. 

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board  

The Fashion and Technology program advisory board currently meets approximately twice 
a year, once in the fall and once in the spring.  With the current program review work, we 
are looking to increase the meetings of the program advisory board to approximately three 
times a year and to build on and increase their connection to the program and with 
students. 
 
Current advisory committee member bios may be found in the Appendix 8, and recent 
advisory board meeting minutes may be found in Appendix 9.  These meetings, and the 
resulting minutes typically focus on program suggestions, feedback, and input.  During our 
February 2021 advisory committee meeting, we had a robust conversation regarding 
potential updates and changes to the program. 
 
Each year, an advisory committee meeting is typically scheduled on the same evening as a 
designer spotlight program event.  At this event, fourth year Fashion and Technology 
students display thesis collection work, and advisory members are encouraged to attend 
and engage with students to gain an updated understanding of current student skills, 
knowledge, and abilities.   Members share feedback at the advisory committee meeting 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 13 

 

that takes place after this event.  Due to the global pandemic, this event did not take place 
in Spring 2021.  As this event is a great opportunity to gain feedback from committee 
members and to provide updates on the current skill set of students, we aim to continue 
with this in-person event when again possible.  
 
In Spring 2021, with the need to shift away from an in-person year-end event celebration, 
our advisory board members and industry partners were called upon to support students 
via virtual mentorship meetings.   Feedback sessions between our fourth-year students and 
advisory board members allowed for students to receive valuable feedback and industry 
insights. During these sessions, advisory board members gained further understanding of 
the breadth of students’ skills, abilities, knowledge, and content covered in the program.  
Through these conversations, students made valuable contacts, and in some cases, this 
opportunity led to offers of employment. 
 
Many of the advisory board committee members have been part of this committee since it 
was established.  To align with KPU Advisory Committee Policy and maintain membership 
enthusiasm, and industry relevancy, committee membership will be shifting to a 3-year 
term, and we will be welcoming new members in Fall 2021.   
 
During the February 2021 meeting, committee members shared valuable feedback 
regarding the Fashion and Technology program.  Topic suggestions for further inclusion 
touched on sustainability and circular design, the need for more advanced fabric 
technology knowledge, ethical production practices, avenues for students to specialize in 
skills and knowledge development, trend research, working with body sizes and shapes 
outside of industry standard sizes, and business writing and communication skills.  A 
breakdown of this feedback may be found in advisory committee minutes in Appendix 9c.  
Committee feedback is addressed in Chapter 3, Curriculum Design. 

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector  

In May 2021, the Canadian Apparel Federation held a webinar focusing on the annual state 
of fashion report developed by The Business of Fashion and McKinsey & Company.  This 
webinar focused on Canadian and global perspectives explored in the report with themes 
touching on the circular economy and sustainability, a continued and increased shift to 
digital retail and marketplace selling and retailing, further exploration and integration of 
on-demand manufacturing, and additional implementation of advanced analytics and 
Artificial Intelligence (AI).  While these are themes within the fashion industry both 
nationally and globally, many of these themes are evident in the feedback shared through 
surveys for this program review process and through informal industry conversations that 
have taken place both inside and outside of the classroom.  The global pandemic has 
proven to be a challenge for the fashion industry, just as it has been a challenge for 
educational institutions.  While there have been many challenges, the past year has 
allowed for space and time to reflect on past practices and future possibilities. 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 14 

 

Throughout the Fashion and Technology program, when possible, faculty regularly invite 
guest speakers into the classroom, organize industry-based field trips, and have students 
take part in industry-led projects.  Many of these guest speakers, field trip hosts, and 
practicum supervisors are alumni of the program.  These opportunities provide relevant 
and valuable industry connections and experiences for students, faculty, and the program.  
Through these connections, we aim to ensure that students have an appropriate 
understanding of current industry practices and gain greater understanding of the variety 
of roles that alumni hold in the local community. 
 
Alumni play a large role in supporting current students in the program and often take on 
mentorship type roles to help coach and guide students regarding career opportunities and 
experiences.  There is a Wilson School of Design alumni chapter, and graduating students 
are encouraged to get in touch with alumni chapter leads.  There are many opportunities 
to work with the WSD alumni chapter and program alumni to develop and share 
information about career positions and future opportunities. 
 
Faculty are asked by industry to consult on a variety of initiatives such as implementing 
internship programs, as well as sharing resources and facilitating connections.  The WSD 
also sponsors and supports local fashion industry initiatives such as Apparel Camp, an 
annual ‘un-conference’ that brings together industry, educators, and students to engage in 
presentations and dialogue on current issues and trends.   
 
The Wilson School of Design is a member of the relatively new BC Apparel and Gear 
Association. The first meeting to engage potential members took place in October 2019.  
The current program chair regularly takes part in discussions with the other Vancouver 
fashion program chairs, directors, and coordinators so they can collectively provide 
feedback to the association from an educational perspective.  As the association continues 
with its mandate, it will be important to continue to foster connections with this group and 
support its continued work and initiatives.  A description of the BC Apparel and Gear 
Association may be found in Appendix 10a. 
 
The Apparel Affinity Group (AAG), which consists of post-secondary fashion educators, 
holds an annual conference in June, typically in rotating locations across Canada.  The 
conference provides an opportunity for cross Canada educators to discuss common 
questions, explore current practices, and share resources.  Faculty of the Fashion and 
Technology program have regularly attended this annual conference and our program chair 
is currently on the coordination committee to represent schools in BC and Yukon.  Our 
program chair has been leading the planning for the conference this year, the first virtual 
conference for the group taking place June 2021, and worked to coordinate guest speakers 
and to plan an engaging schedule. A description of this group may be found in Appendix 
10b 
 
The Fashion and Technology program also has membership with the BC Society for the 
Museum of Original Costume (SMOC).  Through this membership, students have access to 
a regular newsletter and often access information and regular speaking engagement events 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 15 

 

to support their work in fashion history courses.  A description for this society may be found 
in Appendix 10c. 
 
The program also continues to support our local secondary teachers working in clothing, 
textile, and fashion classrooms.  At the annual Teachers of Home Economics Specialist 
Association (THESA) conference which takes place every fall, we aim to ensure presence 
with an informational exhibit and offer a fashion-themed workshops.  This participation 
and connection with teachers often lead to faculty and student invitations to guest speak 
in secondary school classrooms.  Follow up opportunities have enabled us to provide 
additional support and resources to secondary school teachers, while also promoting the 
Fashion and Technology program to potential applicants.  While opportunities have been 
minimal this year due to the global pandemic, we seek to increase these connections via 
guest speaking and leading workshops both virtually and onsite when possible for students 
and secondary school classes. A description for THESA may be found in Appendix 10d.   
 
According to the discipline sector survey, respondents have a positive perception of the 
program with 42% of respondents reported being moderately familiar with the program 
and 31% very familiar (Q7). Respondents noted the following as the main characteristics 
of the program (Discipline/Sector Survey, Q8):

 Technical 

 Technology 

 Industry Relevant & Focused 

 Creative 

 Innovative 

 Practical 

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units 

The Wilson School of Design regularly encourages students to access other KPU 
departments for support, including the Learning Centre, Counselling Services, and the 
academic advisor for the Wilson School of Design.  Within the Fashion and Technology 
program, we regularly share resources and lab spaces with the Product Design and the 
Technical Apparel Post Baccalaureate programs as some foundational concepts overlap.  As 
further integration is highlighted between these three programs, and a common practicum 
course, or paid co-op option, may streamline both industry connections and contacts, as 
well as processes for securing student placements. 
 
Our third- and fourth-year students are introduced and encouraged to access KPU Career 
Services for job placement information and for career focused workshops.  The Learning 
Center is also regularly recommended to students for learning support.  Students accessing 
Learning Center supports often do so for time management skill building and for assistance 
in writing.  While many of the skills and knowledge that students gain in the Fashion and 
Technology program are highly specialized, students seeking support for this type of 
learning (sewing, pattern making, technology skills such as Adobe Creative Cloud, and 
Optitex) are often paired with a peer-mentor within the program for additional support 
when needed. 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 16 

 

Students in the Fashion and Technology program are required to take several electives to 
meet their degree requirements.  Students opt to enroll in courses in the School of Business 
and the Fine Arts Department, and in Science and Horticulture for CADD courses.  For 
several years, the Fine Arts faculty has planned a Field School that takes place biannually, 
and often Fashion and Technology students choose to participate.  When planning the 2019 
field school, KPU Fine Arts faculty expressed interest in co-planning and co-leading 
subsequent field schools with Fashion and Technology faculty team members.  Due to great 
potential synergies with this it would be an ideal opportunity to explore further post-
pandemic.     

Program’s Articulation and Credential Recognition Processes 

Due to the unique nature of fashion education and the wide variety of courses that other 
educational institutions offer, the Fashion and Technology program at KPU does not 
currently have any formal articulation agreements in place.  Some courses from other 
institutions are assessed for direct transfer credits while other demonstrated learning 
outcomes may be assessed through Prior Learning Assessment and Recognition (PLAR) 
processes with KPU. For an applicant to be successful in receiving credit for prior learning, 
they must have successfully completed comparable courses, share portfolio items that 
demonstrate an applicant’s skill, experience, and capabilities, and have a successful 
interview with faculty. 
 
Those seeking to gain advanced entry into the Fashion and Technology program have 
typically completed a certificate or diploma at another institution and are looking to 
complete a bachelor’s degree in Fashion and Technology.  When accepting advanced entry 
students, the priority is to ensure that students will find success in their learning at KPU at 
the point in which they step into the program.  To help further support advanced entry 
applicants, we will revisit the possible formalization of articulation agreements with select 
schools and programs to determine if these are still a match. 
 
Once accepted into the KPU Fashion and Technology program, students will very rarely 
choose to step out of the program to continue their fashion education elsewhere.  There 
may be further exploration of pathways to support those students interested in pursuing 
further education and graduate studies.  

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach 

The Fashion and Technology program at KPU strives to maintain strong connections with 
home economics teachers and local textile classrooms.  We regularly attend the annual 
THESA Conference, having both an exhibitor booth and leading workshops, as well as 
annually hosting teachers in a fashion education themed excursion and/or workshops with 
the annual Surrey Teachers Association Convention taking place in early May.  Both 
students and faculty are regular guest speakers in secondary school classrooms (in person 
and virtually), sharing information about the programs offered by the Wilson School of 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 17 

 

Design, discussing the Fashion and Technology program specifically, and sharing general 
entrance portfolio examples and suggestions for success.  When possible, we host school 
groups on-site for tours.  When we are again able to welcome visitors on-site, we are aiming 
to increase the number of high school class tours with the opportunity to create, make, and 
learn techniques during workshops. 
 
A career path that some of our students choose is to pursue home economics education.  
To support students in this, KPU and UBC have created a pathway for students so that upon 
completion of their Fashion and Technology degree and select prerequisite courses, 
students might gain entry to the Bachelor of Education program at UBC.  Through this 
pathway, students then enter a career as an educator, teaching home economics at the 
middle school or secondary school level.  This connection also extends to our Continuing 
Professional Studies (CPS) courses with teachers potentially receiving credit from UBC 
toward a diploma or certificate in Home Economics education.  This agreement with UBC 
has existed for several years and came into place when UBC discontinued their textile, 
fashion, and clothing focused courses.  A benefit of this agreement is the opportunities it 
presents to promote WSD programming to secondary school teachers who in turn share 
information with their students. 
 
For many years, we have offered fashion-focused CPS courses.  These courses have been 
geared toward high school students to build interest, introduce mentors from our team, 
and act as a marketing tool for the Fashion and Technology program.  Courses have also 
been offered for those interested in general studies and teachers seeking a home 
economics education designation as mentioned above.  Course titles and descriptions for 
CPS courses that we have offered over the years are included in Appendix 11.  In the past, 
we have invited international masters to deliver short, intensive ‘masters’ courses that 
explore an area of specialist knowledge.  Zero waste, subtraction cutting, transformational 
reconstruction, and pleating were course topics presented before they became embedded 
components in curriculum.  These master courses also served as a form of program 
promotion.  There is desire within the Fashion and Technology team to restart these master 
courses to promote the Wilson School of Design and the Fashion and Technology program 
to industry, partners, and attract applicants, as well as empower the team in new skills and 
areas of professional development. 
 
The Wilson School of Design has social media presence through Instagram, Facebook, 
LinkedIn, and a regular blog called The Design Loop to share updates from the Wilson 
School of Design.  All messaging through social medial channels goes through the Wilson 
School of Design Communications coordinator, student assistants, and the Fashion and 
Technology program assistant.  To continue to attract a high caliber of student and access 
the greatest number of applicants, continued and increased program promotion through 
social media channels is needed. Further details about current WSD social media channels 
may be found in Appendix 12.  Having shifted to online platforms with the onset of the 
global pandemic and implementing online program info sessions, these social media 
platforms have been incredibly useful to connect with potential applicants and our 
community.   



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 18 

 

Student Demand for the Program 

Since the implementation of the previous program review, there has been a shift in the 
overall number of applicants to the program. This appears to reflect the decrease in funding 
and support for clothing, fashion, and textile classrooms at the secondary school level, 
which in turn has brought a reduced awareness of the KPU fashion program. There is also 
often a misconception regarding employment opportunities within the fashion industry. 
 
There is a growing group of diverse and socially aware applicants who relate as climate 
activists and hope to make less of an impact on the earth and are looking at ways of how 
this might be addressed through fashion education.  These applicants have a greater 
awareness and desire to critically assess an industry in which they would like to pursue a 
career and they are on the constant hunt for information.  Through open-sourced 
resources, applicants are more likely to be self-taught in a variety of skills upon starting the 
Fashion and Technology program.  We acknowledge that this is the ‘new learner’ that is 
entering our program and will be mindful of this when revising program curriculum.  
 
Students choose to pursue fashion education for a broad range of reasons.  Hodges and 
Karpova (2009) in their study on this topic found that the “opportunity to use a college 
education to expand or elaborate on fashion-related interests was critical to participants’ 
decisions to enroll in the major” (p. 51).  When talking with applicants to the Fashion and 
Technology program at KPU in their entrance interview, they often cite pursuing entrance 
to the program to support altruistic aims such as addressing the pollution and 
environmental impact of the fashion industry, a passion to pursue and express themselves 
through creative means, a love for textiles, making and creating, and much more.  
Applicants are often looking to further understand the decisions and processes that are 
involved in garment production.  Hodges and Karpova (2009) also found that many of those 
pursuing fashion education found themselves having to defend their choice of study. This 
is something that still holds true today.  There are many misconceptions about what it 
means to pursue fashion education and what a job in the industry might mean.  Post 
program review, we aim to work on developing an open education resource for current 
and potential students on the many careers available in the fashion industry including 
descriptions, tasks, company structures, and salary ranges. 
 
Applications have remained steady for the program over the past five years, as shown 
through the below chart, and we have a varying number of applicants on the waitlist.  
Generally, those who are offered a seat in the program accept and enter the program the 
following fall semester.  Applicants remaining on the waitlist are encouraged to accept a 
general studies seat at KPU, start work on non- fashion courses, and to reapply for the 
program the following year. 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 19 

 

Entry Year Number 
of 

Applicants 

Number of Applicants 
Interviewed/Completed 

SlideRoom Portfolio 

Number of First 
Year Applicants 

Accepted 

Fall 2021 93 61 22 

Fall 2020 106 56 22 

Fall 2019* 99 51 22 

Fall 2018 105 69 39 

Fall 2017 107 66 44 

NOTE:  
*Slideroom was introduced for Fall 2018 intake to manage applicant portfolios 
*Starting Fall 2019 first year intake was reduced to 22 with a removal of a program 
cohort 

 
A further breakdown of this table, including advanced entry applicant numbers may be 
found in Appendix 13. 
 
The majority of our applicants are from the Vancouver and greater Vancouver area, and 
this seems to reflect where marketing efforts are focused.  While many of our students 
continue to be women, since our last program review, we have begun to see an increase in 
men applying to, and coming into the program.  For the 2015/2016 academic year 95% of 
students identified as female and for the 2019/2020 year this percentage shifted to 87% 
(Admin Data Report, Exhibit 5, Appendix p. 170).  This adds to the diversity of the pool of 
applicants and those coming into the program.  The average age of students in the program 
is 22 or younger and has remained steady at approximately 75% over the past five years.  
The number of international students in the program has slightly increased from 4% in 
2015/2015 to holding steady at 9% over the past three years. 
 
Until recently, KPU has offered the only Bachelor-level credential in Fashion education in 
BC, reflective of the 100% KPU share for students enrolled in a Bachelor-level Fashion and 
Technology program (Admin Data Report, Exhibit 4, Appendix p. 170).  With the 
implementation of the fashion degree program at LaSalle College Vancouver, with similar 
tenets and themes, it will be important to continue to assess the competitive market as 
students begin to graduate from this program to see if the KPU Fashion and Technology 
program needs to reassess for further distinction of its unique value proposition and 
applicant recruitment strategy.  Increasing program promotion and marketing efforts 
across Canada would be beneficial.   
 
Through a requested portfolio and interview process that all applicants go through, faculty 
look to assess for applicant suitability and readiness for the program to ensure success is 
met.  Some students opt to exit the fashion program during or after first year due to a 
desire to change their program of study. 
 
It was noted that during Fall 2020, for which there is no KPU supported data, we had a 
greater than typical number of first year students struggle and opt to step out of the 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 20 

 

program.  This may have been due to the combination of starting a post-secondary program 
during a global pandemic and having a very hands-on program being taught in a virtual 
setting.  While the situation of the past year has not been ideal, it has given the faculty 
team a greater understanding of where in the program there may be opportunities for 
virtual learning and when students will need to be in person to be best supported in their 
learning. 
 
Any extra space available in the program in second year is often filled with advanced entry 
students or international exchange students.  Available seats in third or fourth year are 
challenging to fill in a selective entry program.  When possible, we aim to fill these seats 
with students seeking to step back into the program to complete their degree, or with 
general interest students who have foundational knowledge and skills to be successful in 
specific higher-level courses.  
 
Advanced entry students often seek acceptance into the program from a range of fashion 
programs across Canada and internationally.  These advanced entry students have typically 
completed all or part of another fashion program and are looking to complete a degree in 
fashion.  Students who have sought advanced entry have completed programs with LaSalle 
College Vancouver, George Brown College, Olds College, Fanshawe College, LaSalle College 
Montreal, Vancouver Community College, the Art institute and others.  Accepting advanced 
entry students is dependent on space availability in the program, which has become more 
challenging with the program reduction to a single cohort.   
 
One aspect of the program that was not asked about in surveys, that has played a crucial 
role in recruitment for the program was our annual fashion show.  This event, is often a 
sold-out event with multiple showings taking place over a day, attracting future students, 
industry members, and the community.  We were proceeding with planning for the event 
to take place again in April 2020, acknowledging that it would most likely be our last live 
traditional fashion show event, but feeling unsure of what might come next.  The onset of 
the global pandemic caused our 2020 event to be cancelled, and this pause has served to 
provide some space for the faculty to critically reflect on the fashion show event itself.  This 
pause has allowed us to explore the purpose of the event, and how the valuable aspects of 
the event for graduating students and program promotion might continue in creative ways.  
During the global pandemic, many brands, companies, and fashion weeks have explored 
alternative events and promotional activities.  We have been watching these events closely 
to better understand what works, and what might shift into an educational setting.  
Something that many in the industry seem to agree on is that while virtual events are 
wonderful, there is a personal aspect that is missing that might only be found with in-
person events.  As the global pandemic continues and we look to plan for an unknown 
future, we will continue to consider how best to support graduating students in a final end-
of-program event, that might also be used to engage industry members and attract 
applicants. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 21 

 

Summary and Recommendations 

The multi-disciplinary nature of our industry requires flexibility to continually evolve in real 
time. The ability to respond in an effective and timely manner requires a strategic 
implementation plan with adequate and prioritization of funding resources.  When making 
decisions to ensure program currency, we continually seek to work with industry partners, 
alumni, students, and other community partners. 
 
The Fashion and Technology program is flexible enough to attract advanced entry students 
seeking to complete their degree, while also supporting entrepreneurial-minded students 
looking to exit the program with a diploma, as well as those pursuing a Bachelor of Design.   
 
The following recommendations serve to ensure that the KPU Fashion and Technology 
program maintains its competitive edge with other national fashion programs, while also 
addressing student recruitment efforts. 
 

 Shift the advisory committee membership to three-year terms to ensure there is 
regular turnover allowing for a variety of insight and perspective 

o This shift will align with KPU Policy AC1 on Program Advisory Committees 

 Increase competitive edge of fashion and technology program through: 
o Restructuring program to include specialization paths  
o Increasing industry linked projects throughout the program 
o Creating additional links between program content and curriculum for 

enhanced understanding 
o Integrating a paid co-op option for students 
o Incorporating additional out of province or global travel and learning 

opportunities for students 
o Inquiring into the possibility to create links between the fashion program 

and the School of Business Entrepreneurial Leadership program for those 
looking to gain greater knowledge in an entrepreneurship career path  

 Increase student recruitment efforts both locally and across Canada by: 
o Seeking out opportunities to promote the program internationally, 

highlighting the unique position that Vancouver holds in the global apparel 
industry and the many global brands based here. 

o Requesting additional KPU marketing support for promoting the program, 
and/or faculty time release for specialized and focused program 
promotional activities  

o Increasing community engagement by welcoming secondary school textile 
classes on campus to work in the labs and gain an introduction to the Wilson 
School of Design.    

o Developing detailed program information to share via WSD website, social 
media and info handouts on career possibilities and salary ranges for the 
apparel industry. 

o Updating program website for information on alumni, students, faculty, and 
program initiatives, projects, and activities. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 22 

 

o Increasing social media presence, including regularly creating posts that 
feature students, their work, and program initiatives 

o Advocate for increasing KPU support for domestic student housing  

 Continue to develop and add to Continuing Studies Course offerings by: 
o Developing courses that appeal to industry professionals (through industry 

consultation) as industry upgrades, home economics teachers, general 
interest, and future potential students. 

o Building and plan a 12 month Continuing Professional Studies calendar with 
a range of in-person (when possible) and virtual courses. 

o Re-implementing master classes  

 Develop formalized articulation agreements with post-secondary fashion programs 
in both the Vancouver area and across Canada.   

o  Proposed potential schools for formal articulation agreements include: 
 Fanshawe College – London, ONT 
 George Brown College – Toronto, ONT 
 Seneca College - ONT 
 Vancouver Community College – Vancouver, BC 
 JCI Institute - Vancouver, BC  
 University of Alberta – Edmonton, AB 

o Create pathways for advanced entry students at KPU in the Wilson School 
of Design, as WSD general design students, if there is not room available in 
the Fashion and Technology program to accommodate them for the coming 
year 

 Establish a path into the program (ex. Dual Credit) to support secondary school 
students 

 Advocate for more robust alumni engagement 
o Develop supports for those pursuing entrepreneurship 
o Seek additional institutional supports for the Wilson School of Design alumni 

chapter  
 Explore options within the WSD to formally track why students might choose to 

leave programs 

 Further investigate the purpose and options available for our annual designer 
spotlight and fashion show events and how they might shift into a post-pandemic 
future 

  

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 23 

 

 Quality of Curriculum Design 

Assessment of the Curriculum 

Overview of the Program 

The Fashion and Technology program curriculum aims to be practical and relevant, 
ensuring that graduates have developed a well-rounded set of industry ready skills and 
knowledge.  Through field trips, guest speakers, industry-linked projects, and an industry-
based work experience practicum, students gain greater perspective and knowledge of 
how the skills they have gained in an educational setting might be applied in a workplace 
setting.  The foundation of this program goal is at the center of the student-focused goal 
of the KPU 2023 Academic Plan, Enhance Student Success.  The Fashion and Technology 
program aims to support student success through a variety of experiential learning 
opportunities, a range of learning modes that speak to the many ways our students learn 
and encouraging students to put prior and current learning into context. Details of the KPU 
2023 Academic Plan may be found in the appendix. 
 
For an overview of current courses and planning across the four years offered in the 
program, please see the program model and course descriptions in Appendix 1 and 3.    The 
Fashion and Technology program consists of 29 required fashion courses, listed below, 
which include topics such as illustration and design, pattern drafting and sewing, fashion 
history, textiles, manufacturing methodology, professional practices, and technology. The 
first year of the program focuses on fundamental knowledge to ensure students have a 
well-developed foundation on which to build through subsequent years.   
 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 
FASN 1100 
Fundamentals of 
Fashion Design 

FASN 2100 Fashion 
Design Theory & 
Process 1 

FASN 3100 Surface 
Design 

FASN 4101 Collection: 
Design Development 

FASN 1116 The Apparel 
Industry 

FASN 2116 Fashion 
History 1 

FASN 3101 Apparel 
Product Development 

FASN 4151 Apparel in 
the Global Economy 

FASN 1121 
Fundamentals of 
Apparel Pattern 
Drafting 

FASN 2121 Style 
Production 1 

FASN 3110 Advanced 
Technical Apparel 
Design & Production 

FASN 4120 Innovative 
Pattern Cutting 

FASN 1130 
Fundamentals of 
Apparel Construction 

FASN 2215 Textiles & 
Technology 2 

FASN  3151 Professional 
Practices 

FASN 4211 Professional 
Promotion 

FASN 1205 
Fundamentals of Digital 
Communication 

FASN 2201 Fashion 
Design Theory & 
Process 2 

FASN 3121 
Manufacturing 
Methodology 

FASN 4221 Collection 
Production 

FASN 1215 Textiles & 
Technology 1 

FASN 2221 Style 
Production2 

FASN 3250 Professional 
Practicum 

FASN 4130 Advanced 
Digital Communication 

FASN 1225 
Fundamentals of 
Apparel Production  

FASN 2241 CAD Drafting 
Methodology 

FASN 3131 Draping 
Methodology 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 24 

 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 
FASN 1231 
Fundamentals of 
Fashion Drawing 

FASN 2216 Fashion 
History 2 

 

 
Fashion education programs often have core foundational knowledge and understanding 
which provides context for subsequent learning.  Some of the core tenets of fashion 
programs are pattern drafting and sewing/construction knowledge.  In the Fall of 2020, one 
faculty member received funding through KPU for a Sewing OER (Open Education 
Resource) project which is being worked on in collaboration with a secondary school 
clothing and textiles teacher.  One of the goals of this project is to support students at 
multiple levels of education and to increase collaboration and credible virtual resources 
that might be used for educational purposes.  This initiative supports Goal 6 of Vision 2023, 
and open education research and practices supporting student learning.  As the Fashion 
and Technology program works toward becoming a Zero Textbook Cost (ZTC) program, we 
seek to become a leader in developing OER resources for fashion education and by 
adopting existing OERs into the program. 

Program Competencies 

The core competencies that a student may experience, develop, and be able to 
demonstrate successfully upon completion of the Fashion and Technology program 
include, but are not limited to the following: 

 Problem Solving & Adaptability 
o Concept development 
o Trial and Error 
o Prototyping 
o Body Type Inclusivity 
o Skill Transferability 

 Technical Skills 
o Technological Skills 
o Making and Creating 

 Global Awareness 
o Global Design History 
o Global Interconnectedness 
o Social and Environmental Understanding 
o Variety of Business Models 

 Curiosity 
o Desire to Build on Pre-existing Skills 
o Understanding Application of textiles 
o Anthropometry 
o On Site Work Experience & Industry Application of Skills 
o Equity of Access 

 Initiative 
o Advocacy 
o Working with Networks and Contacts 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 25 

 

o Sharing and Present Ideas 

Essential Skills 

The Fashion and Technology program provides ample opportunities for students to gain 
several essential skills.  This includes those that are core to the fashion industry and those 
that that are essential for the 21st century, including those that the Ministry of Advanced 
Education has deemed essential.

 
Fashion Industry Core Competencies: 

 Problem Solving & Trouble 
Shooting 

 Resiliency 

 Adobe Creative Suite & Microsoft 
Office 

 Design Communication 

 Intercultural Capacity & 
Emotional Intelligence 

 Flexible & Adaptable 

 Current Knowledge 

 Diverse Skill Set 

 Operationalize Innovation 

 Systems Thinking 

21st Century Core Competencies: 

 Critical Thinking 

 Creativity 

 Collaboration 

 Communication 

 Information Literacy 

 Media Literacy 

 Technology Literacy 

 Flexibility 

 Initiative 

 Leadership 

 Productivity 

 Social Skills 

 
Ministry of Advanced Education Essential Skills and The Fashion and Technology Program: 

 Written Communication – Students create written reports reflecting and analyzing 
projects, report on research, communicate with industry members and faculty 
members. 

 Oral Communication – Speak to and share work, take part in peer critique activities, 
share thoughts and perspectives, and communicate questions. 

 Group Collaboration – Students often collaborate with peers to build on and gain 
further understanding, while also working in formal teams in certain courses to 
collaborate and work collectively toward a goal. 

 Critical Analysis – Students are regularly asked to reflect on work (taking the form 
of written or spoken) to assess their learning and form conclusions, analyzing their 
path through the design process. 

 Problem Resolution – Students are regularly immersed in the design process across 
the program.  They are often asked to ‘solve’ problems by selecting appropriate 
textiles for end uses, meeting the needs (through design) of an underserviced target 
market, or even by adapting to a new way of learning in a hands-on program. 

 Learn on your own – Students are regularly asked to individually apply skills that 
they have gained by using acquired resources.  While students may initially start 
work on their own, they often will ask for input and feedback from peers or faculty 
when applying their knowledge.  For example, a student may individually design a 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 26 

 

 

garment that meets a specific brief, but yet ask a peer for input on certain design 
elements or textile option.  This individual knowledge, supported by sought out 
peer and faculty feedback and input when appropriate often sets up students for 
success upon entering the workplace. 

 Reading and Comprehension – Throughout courses in the program students are 
often asked to read shared resources or find resources and report on those.   

 
Many fashion course projects and assignments are designed to build upon multiple skills 
on multiple fronts.  Having course work structured in a multi-faceted way ensures that 
students have multiple opportunities to build on essential skills and ensures that they have 
a solid foundation and understanding of use and application. 

Learning Outcomes 

Upon successful completion of the Fashion and Technology program, students will be able 
to: 

 Demonstrate use of current industry technology (ex. CAD software such as Optitex, 
Adobe Creative Cloud, 3D modelling and augmented reality) 

 Develop an adaptable and innovative mind set   
o Learn future and aspirational industry led technology  
o Recognize the need to be flexible  
o Gain strategic foresight, including backcasting and forecasting   
o Gain an understanding of appropriate equipment, systems, design 

futures/speculative design 

o Develop a growth mindset, through a willingness to ‘unlearn’ and re-learn  

 Apply design and product development methodology and processes 

o Experiment with design concepts through a prototype process  
o Gain market analysis and research skills, and understand how to integrate 

throughout the design process 

o Integrate human centered design, and end user needs through research 

o Source data, techniques, software, raw materials, and supply chain 
resources as needed  

 Develop and practice professional communication skills, interpersonal and 
intrapersonal skills  

o Engage and collaborate with industry community members in meaningful 
ways such as through practicum, volunteering (citizenship), work 
experiences 

o Participate in industry events and maintain relationships with the Wilson 
School of Design as students, and in post-graduation 

 Collaborate effectively with others and practice leadership   
o Build team trust and cross functional efficiencies 

 Apply critical thinking through iterative prototyping to develop design concepts 

 Explore sustainable and ethical concepts and how they relate to design with a social 
innovation perspective  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 27 

 

 

o Concepts may include, but are not limited to: 
 Responsibility and Sustainability  
 Accountability 
 Social Innovation 
 Sustainable Solutions 
 Uncover values, discover voice and confidence to advocate and sell 

ideas to innovate, create and implement for growth and positive 
change, social innovation  

 Understand interconnectedness of global to local apparel industry  
 Inclusivity and Diversity: developing an understanding and gaining 

context and background   

Credential-Level Specifications 

The Fashion and Technology, Bachelor of Design program consist of 29 unique fashion 
courses and requires that students also enroll in an additional 5 electives (15 credits) and 
take three mandatory non-fashion courses. Elective courses should include a minimum of 
two general education courses, a minimum of one course from the school of Business, and 
a minimum of two electives from any area of study.  The electives from any area of study 
may include fashion courses such as FASN 3900, Special Topics with content that shifts 
every year, or FASN 4250 Self-Directed Study. 
 
The Fashion and Technology, Diploma program consists of all required courses of the 
Bachelor of Design program from the first two years.  This includes 16 unique fashion 
courses, and three required non-fashion courses.   
 
See program model, Appendix 1, for a program ‘map’ of courses. 
 
Students graduating from the Fashion and Technology program are held to a high standard 
throughout courses.  Through regular interactions with industry members as guest 
speakers, project feedback, and critiques, students develop an understanding of workplace 
standards to ensure they might find success in their future career. Learners are required to 
meet a KPU standard of 60% or more in any course that act as a pre-requisite to progress 
to another course.  Graduates from the program are recognized for being industry ready 
with a strong and diverse skill set.  To maintain this industry recognized reputation, we 
encourage students to engage in the learning process, ensuring that their skills and 
knowledge are well developed and well-rounded. 
 
Learning outcomes in the program are laddered to ensure that students gain a solid 
foundation in first year, while in second year, students continue to gain skills and 
knowledge and begin to understand how to apply this in different ways.  In third year, 
students begin to work further with industry partners and engage in a practicum placement 
to develop an understanding of skills used in industry settings, and in fourth year the focus 
is on applying gained knowledge as students also discover where their personal direction 
might lead them. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 28 

 

 

Degree-Level Standards  

Throughout their four years in the Bachelor of Design, Fashion and Technology program, 
students gain significant knowledge in a range of topics.  We maintain close links with 
industry partners to ensure students are gaining a depth of comprehension and 
understanding.  After gaining foundational knowledge in their first year, students continue 
to build on this learning during the remainder of the program.  Throughout the program, 
students are provided with opportunities through which they might apply, in practical 
ways, learning they have gained to then build on for further understanding.   
 
Industry partners are often welcomed into the classroom to speak to their specific area of 
expertise and provide direct feedback to students from an industry perspective.  These 
connections often provide students with a greater understanding of ‘real world’ application 
of their acquired classroom learning.  
 
Within curriculum, there are often spaces for students to apply their personal perspective 
and further their understanding of an area of interest in the fashion industry.  An example 
of this is most clear in the directions students choose to go in their fourth and final year, in 
the program, and the directions that their thesis collections take. Highlights of graduating 
student work may be found in our Wilson School of Design grad website at 
thisiswilson.design. For this thesis project, which spans both the Fall and Spring semester, 
fourth year students engage in research, apply a breadth of knowledge when determining 
designs and making construction decisions, communicate with industry members and 
faculty to present concepts, and determine where they might need to gain additional 
learning or understanding to bring their vision to reality. 
 
Quality Assessment Board degree-level standards: 

 Depth and Breadth of Knowledge 
o Throughout the program, students learn about a wide variety of careers 

available in the industry and the specialist knowledge that may be required 
for success. Students gain knowledge in a range of areas (see course 
descriptions and program model in appendix) through which they form 
personal career goals and directions. Students also gain greater 
understanding of skills within the discipline that may be transferable (critical 
things, analysist, communication, etc.). Students are continually encouraged 
to gather, review, evaluate and interpret information so that they may gain 
greater context and bring renewed understanding to their studies. 

 Knowledge and Methodologies and Research 
o Students continually apply critical thinking and creative problem solving as 

they engage in the design process.  They evaluate a range of approaches 
through this process, including assessing potential design solutions or 
construction methods. 

 Application of Knowledge 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 29 

 

 

o  Students regularly partake in steps of the design process whereby they 
ideate and conceptualize to solve a ‘problem’.  This process typically 
involves a potential solution for a design challenge, with a prototype process 
that supports students in applying knowledge to make informed decisions.  
Engagement with this process may result in a final ‘product’ or it may result 
in a concept in which students have engaged with and practiced applying 
their learning. 

 Communication Skills 
o Students are regularly asked to share their ideas, concepts and work with 

peers and faculty.  While some students find these critiques and 
presentations initially uncomfortable as the focus is on them and their work, 
they often grow to appreciate the supportive and constructive feedback that 
is shared in these safe learning spaces.  Through industry connections and 
contact opportunities such as guest speakers, field trips, practicum 
placements and more, students are provided platforms in which to practice 
professionally and engage with industry relevant language that may take 
both oral and written forms. 

 Awareness of Limits of Knowledge 
o Students pursuing design education are trained and supported to become 

comfortable with a degree of ambiguity and uncertainty in their work.  Often 
in this space students will seek to identify and gain what knowledge they 
may need or seek to make connections with someone who might bring this 
unique skill set to the project being worked on.  The Fashion and Technology 
students generally are curious while they may recognize their limits of 
knowledge and seek out ways to overcome limits when needed. 

 Professional Capacity/Autonomy 
o Understanding the transferability of skills within the fashion industry, and 

well as in a greater context is a focus of the professional practices course 
and a theme throughout the program.  Students are regularly asked to apply 
their skills and knowledge in a range of ways, while also working and 
collaborating with peers. 

Admissions and Prerequisites 

Admission to this selective entry program requires that applicants meet KPU requirements, 
as well as submit an entrance portfolio.  Applicants upload their portfolio items initially in 
SlideRoom, a virtual portfolio assessment platform that is used by all programs in the 
Wilson School of Design and many art and design schools across North America, and then 
take part in an interview before they are ranked and recommended for a seat in the 
program.  An overview of SlideRoom may be found in Appendix 14.   
 
Prior to the global pandemic, once applicants had submitted a completed portfolio through 
SlideRoom, they were then invited to campus for a portfolio assessment and in-person 
interview.  This assessment and interview were conducted by two faculty members and 
resulted in a score used to rank applicants.  Starting in March 2020, applicant portfolios 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 30 

 

 

were assessed in SlideRoom by two or three faculty members and then a virtual interview 
was scheduled with the program chair.  During this interview, the program chair and 
applicant had a conversation around the portfolio items that were submitted, and why the 
applicant felt that the Fashion and Technology program was the correct fit for them.  After 
the interviews, all applicants are ranked based on portfolio scores and interviews and 
recommendations are submitted to KPU Admissions for seat offers to the program 
accordingly.   
 
For Fall 2021, intake applicant portfolios were assessed by three faculty members within 
SlideRoom, with a virtual interview taking place with the program chair.  We are continuing 
to assess what this process may look like in the future when we are able to be on-site and 
welcome visitors and applicants back to campus. 
 
The requested applicant entry portfolio consists of the following: 

 Statement of Interest (Please see Appendix 4a for the questions applicants are 
asked to address) 

o For Fall 2021 intake, this shifted from a general ‘share your interest in the 
fashion program’ to a form-based format.  This shift in format has resulted 
in submissions showing greater depth and clarity regarding applicant  
interests in pursing fashion education with KPU. 

 A current CV/Resume 

 Two References – It is asked that one reference be academic, and the other be 
personal.  (Please see Appendix 4b for the questions references are asked to 
address regarding the applicant) 

o For Fall 2021 intake, this shifted from a request for reference letters, to a 
form-based format that references complete directly through the 
SlideRoom portal.  This shift in format has resulted in more in-depth 
feedback and information shared regarding applicants and their perceived 
ability to be successful in the program. 

 Two Art or Design Examples – These are to be accompanied by rationale and 
analysis, touching on why the applicant chose to include the components, and the 
thought behind creating the components.  These examples might include paintings, 
sculpture, jewelry, garments, and more.   

 Sketchbook – 8-10 pages are requested for SlideRoom upload.  It is asked that these 
pages are current and show a frequency of work. 

  Two Sewn Garments - One of these garments is a specified classic collared shirt, 
and the other is a garment of the applicant’s choice.   

o The specified collared shirt allows the fashion faculty to have a common 
garment to assess applicants on.  For many applicants, this is the first shirt 
of this nature that they have ever sewn before and for some applicants this 
is the first garment that they have sewn. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 31 

 

 

o For the second garment, applicants are encouraged to demonstrate their 
technical skills, and it is suggested they include components such as zippers, 
pockets, lining, and other finishing details.  

 
While most applicants have no concerns meeting the bulk of these requirements, since the 
implementation of the SlideRoom platform, we are noticing that we have approximately a 
50% conversion rate of those who apply to the program and those who submit a portfolio.  
Prior to the implementation of SlideRoom we do not have data on what this conversion 
rate of applicant to viable applicant with portfolio was. The program assistant and KPU 
Future Students’ Office follow up with applicants several times to share instructions and 
provide reminders and support if needed.  Despite following up with these applicants, we 
have yet to fully understand why they may have chosen to abandon their application and 
not submit a portfolio. 
 
 The most common portfolio challenge for select applicants currently appears to be the 
sewn components.  For some applicants, these are the first garments that they have ever 
sewn, and this seems to be connected to a reduced number of clothing and fashion courses 
offered at the secondary level, and students opting to register for these courses.  To help 
support applicants in developing foundational technical skills before entry into the 
program, it is recommended that KPU provide additional learning opportunities in the form 
of introductory Wilson School of Design courses, potentially including sewing, design, and 
pattern drafting, as either DESN designated courses, as CPS courses, or as micro- 
credentials. 
 
Applicants seeking advanced entry to the program are asked for similar and additional 
portfolio items than those seeking first year entry.  As those seeking advanced entry are 
currently assessed in a PLAR model when entering KPU, we ask to see portfolio items that 
align with course outcomes for courses they are seeking credit for.  Assessing these 
portfolio items, as well as a student’s transcript if they have completed foundational course 
work elsewhere, and an interview all come together to create an understanding of where 
the applicant might step into the program and find the most success in their learning. 

Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum 

Students concur that they are developing prescribed learning outcomes, from a moderate 
to large extent, with potential for some areas of improvement needed in body-type 
inclusivity, machinery knowledge, digital file optimization, business model varieties, 
anthropometry, on-site work application of skills, working with networks and contacts, and 
numeracy.  53% of students are very satisfied and 41% somewhat satisfied with program 
curriculum (Student Survey, Q28). 
 
Respondents noted the following strengths of the program (Student Survey, Q29):  

 Classmates and faculty 

 Industry relevant projects and connections to the industry 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 32 

 

 

 Guest speakers 

 Learning links between program courses 

 Variety of skills learned and gained 

 International exchange opportunities 

 Small class sizes (program currently has a cohort of 22 students) and the resulting 
supportive learning atmosphere 

 
Diversity of course topics was rated as adequate to excellent by students.  Specific student 
comments are very diverse and reflect the individual interests of students, thus supporting 
the notion of the generalist degree.  These comments vary from more technology to more 
surface design; therefore, they are not easily grouped into categories.  Currently 53% of 
students have cited the program as having an adequate offering of topics, and 47% report 
there being an excellent diversity of course topics (Student Survey, Q16).  Balancing the 
needs of all students in meeting entry level requirements for a variety of positions 
throughout the various sectors of the industry may be addressed through a specialization 
opportunity in upper-level courses to better support students in making choices that 
support professional aspirations. 
 
In reference to the Fashion and Technology program, students shared the following levels 
of satisfaction in regard to the following aspects (Student Survey, Q15): 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 33 

 

 

 
When asked what students would like to see more of in the fashion program the 
following was shared (Student Survey, Q18): 

 Wearable technology 

 Sustainable design frameworks including circular design 

 Enhanced creative design opportunities, creative growth 

 Business and entrepreneurship 

 3D rendering and design 

 Design and drafting for diverse body types (ex. Plus Size) fashion futures 

 More of a global approach and focus to fashion 

 Couture – design and making concepts 

 Digital communication 

 Lingerie 
 
The above list echoes many of the suggested areas for improvement cited by students 
(Student Survey, Q17): 

 Increased diversity in body types, sizes, and genders 

 Enhanced areas for artistic and creative exploration 

 Introduction of a co-op option for work experience 

 Additional digital communication topics and 3D rendering and design 

 Additional guest speakers and industry involvement 

 Fashion focused elective courses where students might personalize their 
education 

 Less emphasis on technical aspects, and more opportunities for creative design 

 Greater opportunities to collaborate with other students across KPU 

 Further exploration of sustainability, low environmental impact design and 
manufacturing processes 

 
The list of what students would like to see more of in the degree program is much longer 
than the few comments about what they would like to see less of.  This is consistent with 
feedback from our industry.  This feedback suggests that developing paths for 
specialization within the degree and further investigating a Master in Design are well-
supported pursuits for KPU to respond to the needs of the apparel industry. 

Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum 

Faculty concur that students are developing prescribed learning outcomes with potential 
for some areas of improvement in adaptability, sustainability and ethics, and body-type 
inclusivity concepts.  This is shown through the following survey results in answer to the 
question, to what extent is KPU’s Fashion & Technology program helping students develop 
the following learning outcomes (Faculty Survey, Q1): 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 34 

 

 

 
 
Faculty agree that they are somewhat to very satisfied (totaling 92%) with current program 
curriculum (Faculty Survey, Q38). Although varied, faculty recommend a variety of 
technologies be added into the curriculum such as 3D, more CAD, and wearable 
technologies.    
  
Areas for improvement in the curriculum are widely varied based on individual comments 
and echo many of the same areas mentioned by students.  Suggestions include (Faculty 
Survey, Q40): 

 Increased incorporation of indigenous content  

 Increased technology and software (3D and virtual Reality technologies)  

 Iterative design and prototyping opportunities, rather than finished packaged 
project outcomes 

 More practice with technical drawing 

 Enhanced industry collaboration 

 Options for specialization in the program 

 Visual communication 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 35 

 

 

 Advanced drawing skills 

 e-Commerce 

 Enhanced diversity in global fashion history 

 Working with an increased array of body types and sizes 

 Increased work with digital pattern making 

 Design futures 

 Sustainable design practices, garment life cycles 

 Enhanced knowledge in menswear and knitwear 

 Fashion & Design entrepreneurship 

 Find Handcraft skills 
 
Calls to action and supporting conversations are taking place within general society, 
educational forums, and in selected areas of the fashion industry to become more inclusive 
of Indigenous ways of knowing, and Indigenous design.  As a faculty we feel strongly about 
working toward decolonizing curriculum, while also fostering Indigenous design practices.  
Moving in this direction further will also allow the program to better align with goals set 
out in KPU Vision 2023 (Appendix 17).  To support these initiatives we aim to consult with 
Indigenous leaders in design and education to appropriately and authentically integrate 
knowledge and content in this area. 
 
Much of the Fashion and Technology faculty team have been part of the program for a 
number of years and have been present through various program iterations.  This wealth 
of experience lends added perspective and background to the changes that have taken 
place and the changes that might take place through the next iteration.   

Career/Further Education Preparedness  

Career Pathways 

Upon graduating from the Fashion and Technology program, alumni often seek 
employment in the local Vancouver area apparel industry, while some alumni also gain 
employment internationally.  In the Vancouver, and greater Vancouver area, we have many 
globally recognized brands based here that alumni work with: Arc’teryx, lululemon, and 
Mustang Survival are just a few.  Alumni also may be found in more locally recognized 
brands, or be founders of growing brands such as Noctex, Revol Undies, and FORTIV.  Roles 
that alumni hold in the industry may be found in Appendix 15a, with some of the alumni- 
founded companies listed in Appendix 15b.  While we have done our best to capture the 
range in roles and companies, neither of these lists is exhaustive of the many positions that 
alumni hold. 
 
Job titles that alumni hold include but are not limited to 

 Design Assistant 

 Designer  

 Technical Designer 

 Entrepreneur/Founder 

 Technical (Product) Developer 

 Design Manager 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 36 

 

 

 Pattern Maker 

 Production Assistant 

 Stylist 

 Supervisor 

 Sale Representative 

 Sourcing Coordinator 

 Assistant Print Developer 

 Product Assembly Specialist 

 Project Manager 

 Associate Manager (Retail) 

 Product Developer 

 Associate Designer 

 Virtual Image Creation Engineer 

 Educator 

 Product Integrity Associate 

 Developer Content Creator 
 
With the education gained in the Fashion & Technology program, most alumni gain entry 
level positions upon graduation. 
 
In some instances, alumni seek to pursue a career in education, applying for the UBC 
Bachelor of Education (BEd) program and becoming a home economics teacher.  KPU 
Fashion and Technology alumni who have pursued this pathway work in several of the 
Vancouver, greater Vancouver, and BC based school districts including Delta School District, 
Chilliwack School District, and Coquitlam School District.  To support students in this career 
path, KPU and UBC have a pathway in place that identifies prerequisite courses for the UBC 
BEd program that also fulfill elective requirements for the KPU Fashion and Technology 
program.  A document providing an overview of this pathway may be found in Appendix 
16.  

Alumni Preparedness for Work/Further Education  

Alumni responses ranged between strongly agree to strongly disagree in reference for how 

prepared students were based on the education that they received.  Many answers given 

in response to preparedness did fall within strongly agree to somewhat agree as seen in 

the chart below.  Overall, 35% of alumni are very satisfied that the KPU Fashion & 

Technology program prepared them for work and/or further education with 45% being 

somewhat satisfied.  The responses shared for strongly disagree in preparedness merit 

additional attention to better understand and address in curricular updates (Alumni Survey, 

Q19). 

 

# Question 
Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither 
agree nor 

disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree 

Total 

1 
The program prepared me for the 

career I wanted 
8% 12% 14% 39% 27% 49 

2 
The program prepared me for 

further education 
6% 10% 24% 29% 31% 49 

3 
The time I invested in my Fashion 
& Technology education was well 

spent 
6% 6% 6% 27% 55% 49 

4 
The money I invested in my 

Fashion & Technology education 
was well spent 

8% 8% 10% 43% 31% 49 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 37 

 

 

# Question 
Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither 
agree nor 

disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree 

Total 

5 

The program provided me with 
opportunities to develop 

connections with 
industry/potential employers 

10% 16% 10% 35% 29% 49 

 

Upon graduation and entry into the industry many alumni stay in regular contact with 

faculty and are often relied on as guest speakers and to mentor fourth year students as 

they look toward and plan for graduation.  73% of alumni respondents are currently 

employed, with 74% in a full-time regular position (Alumni Survey, Q23 & Q24).  

 

Alumni who have gained employment within the fashion industry hold the following roles.  

Note that this list is not exhaustive of all alumni roles:  

 Assistant technical developer 

 Product Developer 

 Apparel Product Developer 

 Junior Product Developer 

 Technical Developer 

 Entrepreneur 

 Head Designer 

 Independent Designer 

 Design Director 

 Pattern Grader 

 Pattern Designer 

 Brand Manager 

 Production Manager 

 Visual Specialist 

 Design Assistant 

 Technical Designer 

 Production Assistant 

 Costume Designer 

 Product Assembly Lead 

 R&D Designer 

 Pattern Engineer 

 

65% of alumni are employed in the local Vancouver apparel industry.  Companies that 

they work with, include, but are not limited to (Alumni Survey, Q26):

 Lululemon 

 CYC Design Corp. 

 Gentle Fawn 

 Davie & Chiyo 

 Brunette the Label 

 Spanx 

 Revol Girl Lingerie Inc  

 Made Apparel Inc. 

 Arc’teryx 

 Play On Trading 

 Aritzia 

 Apparel Mark 

 Noel Asmar Group 

 Econic Appare 

 Warner Bros. & Netflix 

 Mustang Survival 

 Aqua Lung 

 

 

 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 38 

 

 

Only 20% of alumni respondents have pursued further education post-graduation (Alumni 

Survey, Q30).  With 57% of alumni earning a diploma since their completion of the 

fashion program (Alumni Survey, Q23).  Areas of further education studies included 

(Alumni Survey, Q31): 

 General Business Studies 

 Justice Institute of BC (Police Academy) 

 UX Design 

 Administration 

 Psychology 

 Leadership 

 MBA 

 Bachelor of Education 

 

While there were a range of answers shared in relation to preparedness and development 

of program competencies, many respondents indicate feeling prepared to a large extent or 

a moderate extent (Alumni Survey, Q20).  The areas cited for further competency 

preparedness by alumni include (Alumni Survey, Q3 & Q4):  

 Technological Skills (13% cited being prepared by a small extent with 48% cited 

being prepared a moderate extent) 

 Apparel Production Knowledge (22% cited being prepared by a small extent) 

 Global Awareness (33% cited being prepared by a small extent with 33% cited being 

prepared a moderate extent) 

 

Alumni also shared a range of answers for how the program assists in developing essential 

skills.  Results are shared in the below table.  What is interesting to note is that despite 

students engaging in hands on pattern drafting methodology and with CAD software, 

requiring that they work with measurements, equations, and numeracy, is that 19% of 

respondents shared that they didn’t feel the program aided in developing essential 

numeracy skills.  Another interesting result is that 15% of respondents shared that they 

don’t feel the program helped to develop reading comprehension.  With the 

implementation of the current curriculum in 2017, additional written components were 

integrated into courses with students being asked to write formal academic essays in parts 

of the program, and where appropriate to conduct research to support projects, 

assignments, and work.  As both numeracy skills and reading comprehension results are 

notable, they have provided cause for pause, and merit further investigation to understand 

why alumni might feel this way. Based on the answers shared below (Alumni Survey, Q5), 

we will look for ways to enhance reading comprehension and numeracy skills in curriculum 

revisions, perhaps making these skills explicit in nature, and also exploring ways to enhance 

the other essential skills. 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 39 

 

 

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 2% 24% 37% 37% 54 

2 Written communication 4% 30% 41% 26% 54 

3 Reading comprehension 15% 35% 31% 19% 54 

4 Group collaboration 2% 13% 35% 50% 54 

5 Critical analysis 4% 13% 33% 50% 54 

6 Leadership skills 6% 22% 44% 28% 54 

7 Numeracy skills 19% 45% 25% 11% 53 

 

While some of the alumni surveyed have experienced curriculum updates that took effect 

in Fall 2017, others may have graduated in advance of this.  28% of alumni reported 

‘excellent’ in regard to diversity of program topics, 59% noted there was adequate offerings 

and 13% reporting there were inadequate topics (Alumni Survey, Q6).  To appropriately 

address this feedback, learning streams within the fashion program are suggested to 

enable students to have personalization options in their education and ultimately in their 

career direction.  Topics and areas that alumni currently feel that are missing from the 

current program include (Alumni Survey, Q7): 

 Knit garments (Fully Fashioned and Seamless) 

 Sustainable practices and materials, environmental awareness 

 In depth textile science knowledge 

 Design entrepreneurship 

 Sourcing 

 Raw material 

 Quality Control 

 Working with factories and mills for textile and garment production  

 Communicating with overseas vendors, manufacturing overseas 

 Development and standards for industry ready technical specification packages 

 Fashion sketching 

 Business of Fashion 

 Freelancing and consulting work 

 Gerber 

 3D Rending and Design 

 Social & Cultural Conversations and their relation to fashion 

 Traditional manufacturing techniques such as couture and hand tailoring 

Topics that were mentioned multiple times include the concept of sustainability and 

environmental awareness, knowledge covering 3D design, and practicum.  Alumni would 

like the industry work experience to be longer to enable students to have a greater in-depth 

experience (Alumni Survey, Q12).  The current practicum of 120 hours aligns with the 3-

credit course in which it currently sits.  To best meet alumni demand, we envision this work 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 40 

 

 

experience shifting to a paid co-op work experience where students might have longer 

placements that potentially occur over summer semesters. 

Alumni in the survey were asked about having a travel component integrated into the 

program.  Prior to implementation of the updated curriculum in 2017, we offered a trip to 

New York for students that took place every second year after the completion of the spring 

semester.  This trip was not for credit, but rather students enthusiastically signed up and 

participated as an option to travel with peers and explore a fashion capital of the world.  

Alumni were somewhat split on integrating a mandatory travel component (Alumni Survey, 

Q9), a question also posed to students (Student Survey, Q25) and industry members 

(Discipline/Sector Survey, Q13).  The rationale for those not in favour seemed to be citing 

financial concerns with making this a mandatory component of the program however, 

overall responses supported integrating optional travel opportunities into the program for 

the benefit for students.  Integrating additional travel opportunities for students may also 

touch on global awareness skills and provide greater understanding of the fashion industry 

in a global context, while broadening classroom learning. 

 

Discipline/Sector Feedback 

Many of the skills and knowledge that industry members shared regarding an entry-level 
applicant having in order to be hired are currently touched on in current program 
curriculum.  Most of what industry members have shared might be categorized as ‘soft’ 
skills: attention to detail, engagement, willingness to try, presentation skills, curiosity, 
creative problem solving, resiliency, self-advocacy and motivation, adaptability, 
confidence, flexibility, and having an open mind (Discipline/Sector Survey, Q2, Q3 & Q4).  
While these skills are integrated in multiple ways throughout courses, students often gain 
an enhanced understanding of the importance of these skills once they have taken part in 
work experiences. 

Regarding the current practicum placement, industry respondents, many of whom may 
have been or be involved in the practicum program, suggest that this work experience 
might take place in the last year of the degree program (Discipline/Sector Survey, Q16). 
This is also something that was echoed by alumni so that it creates a seamless entry into a 
post-graduation job (Alumni Survey, Q13). 

The idea of providing students with program learning streams to personalize their 
education is supported by 94% of industry respondents (Discipline/Sector Survey, Q17).  
When asked the same question, alumni responded with 84% in favor of this shift (Alumni 
Survey, Q14). 

 

 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 41 

 

 

Curriculum Development and Review Processes 

This Spring 2021 semester, we had our first graduating group who went through the entire 
program with the updated curriculum that was a result of the previous program review.  
After the initial changes were implemented in 2017, there were a few immediate minor 
curriculum edits that addressed some obvious initial learning activity and course content 
challenges.  Since that time, faculty have continued with curriculum as is, regularly asking 
students and advisory committee members for feedback, noting where further changes 
may be needed that might be addressed through this program review.  
 
Through biannual meetings with our advisory committee, guest speakers, field trips, and 
industry connections, we ensure that program curriculum currency and relevancy is 
maintained.  Faculty members regularly attend industry-based events, both virtual and in 
person.  Through connections forged at these events, and maintained beyond, we hear of 
industry updates, shifts, and changes. When shared, information about these industry 
shifts, and changes further inform revisions to programming as a way to enhance student 
awareness and knowledge. 
 
A valuable piece involved in curriculum development and maintaining currency and 
relevancy is the workplace practicum placements which currently take place in the third 
year of the program.  We have worked with many of these companies for several years and 
many of these companies have hired alumni of the program.  Having students working with 
local companies provides them with practical career application of knowledge gained, and 
it also provides companies with a sense of the many skills, abilities and knowledge gained 
throughout students’ education to date.  Awareness of this skill set, along with direct 
connection with faculty, allow industry to share relevant and current feedback if students 
need further skill development in specific areas. 
 
Industry members shared the following for what may be ‘missing’ from the program, and 
in turn, what may be added (Discipline/Sector Survey, Q9 & Q10): 

 More focus on communicating design ideas, managing production, and growing a 
business and less on pattern making and sewing 

 Workshops where students of all levels can work on, and work through projects, 
and share in a collaborative environment 

 Commercial aspects of how to cost garments including understanding the costs, 
timings and minimums involved with development and production and how to 
come up with the end retail price of a garments 

 More focus on overseas production and truly understanding full product lifecycles 

 More focus for students who want to work either as an entrepreneur or for big 
companies 

 Sustainability and sustainable manufacturing processes 

 Conceptual thinking within the design process for those students that want to 
become designers 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 42 

 

 

 Materials development 

 Longer practicum hours 

 Increased textiles knowledge including wash and dye processes 

 Ethical sourcing and social compliance, supply chain control, transparency, and 
traceability 

 3D design working with software such as CLO3D or Browzewear 
 
While much feedback has been shared by industry members and alumni of what should be 
added to the program, the most common response to what might be reduced or removed 
is ‘nothing’ (Disciple/Sector Survey, Q11).  These responses put us as faculty, when 
considering how program curriculum might shift, in an interesting position.  The challenge 
is then to determine the most effective way that students might have additional options 
for gaining fashion focused learning, yet not miss out on anything to ensure their industry 
readiness.  The goal with curriculum updates, and any program changes, will be to ensure 
that graduates remain industry ready.  Main feedback themes shared by students, industry 
partners, and alumni for what might be included and/or enhanced in curriculum updates 
focus on environmental and sustainability concepts within the fashion industry, and 
increased exploration and use of 3D modelling software.  Overall there was enthusiastic 
support for program learning streams which will enable students to personalize their 
education and career direction in the fashion industry.  Many of the themes mentioned 
through survey and verbal feedback are also supported through literature focusing on 
fashion education.  In the words of Timo Rissanen (2017), “one of the challenges facing 
fashion educators is training fashion designers for a difficult-to-imagine future” (p. 533).  
With the many shifts and changes that resulted from the global pandemic within not only 
the education sector, but also the apparel industry, this statement holds great truth as we 
look navigate the many unknowns a post-pandemic future may bring for all. 
 
In 2017, Rissanen, an assistant professor with the School of Fashion at Parsons School of 
Design, The New School, published a manifesto titled: Possibility in Fashion Design 
Education.  Rissanen (2017) highlights the many environmental concerns regarding the 
fashion industry and proposes that in addition to educating students in how to design 
clothing that addresses environmental concerns, we might also encourage students to take 
a broader perspective and look to redesign the current processes and supply chains in 
place.  He then goes on to explore the inclusivity, or lack thereof, in the fashion industry, 
stating that he is defining inclusion beyond size, shape, age, etc., to also touch on “inclusion 
as a way to critique and transform colonialist power structures designed to hide much of 
the fashion system” (Rissanen, 2017, p. 541).  These are powerful thoughts and concepts, 
with the potential to effect great changes in how fashion education is traditionally taught.  
As we proceed through the program review process, and ultimately look to how program 
content and curriculum might shift and change, we aim to keep these concepts in mind to 
ensure we are looking to prepare students for the future. 
 
Continuing with the concept of inclusion, there is calls in survey feedback, through 
classroom activities, and work with learners that we shift toward addressing design and 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 43 

 

 

making for a wider variety of body types.  Amanda Scriver (2020) in a discussion on inclusion 
states that “if we want to truly break the societal norms in the fashion industry, we need 
to start in the classroom first where tomorrow’s designers can learn to design for all 
bodies” (para 1).  While there has always been room in the fashion and technology program 
for students to explore design for body types beyond a standard size 8 female, we believe 
that we can do better.  By further incorporating inclusive concepts throughout the 
program, and spaces for students to explore fashion from this perspective, students might 
be better able to understand and apply knowledge.  As mentioned by Scriver (2020) and 
Rissanen (2017), inclusivity from a designing for diverse bodies perspective, as well as 
designing and planning for inclusivity throughout the global fashion supply chain might be 
further incorporated into the program.  As we look to incorporate this type of perspective, 
we acknowledge that at times we may be slow moving.   Building an inclusive and diverse 
dress form collection takes financial support, and we may only be able to add a physical 
single dress form to our collection each year budget depending.  Curriculum updates also 
take time to ensure that appropriate Senate procedures are followed.  While making these 
changes to take time, and identifying financial priorities, we do see this as a worthy area 
for further development and work.  
 
Sustainability, especially this past year, has been mentioned more and more by KPU 
students, Vancouver apparel industry members, and has been a common topic in the 
Fashion and Technology program advisory meetings.  As Pasricha and Kadolph (2009) 
succinctly put it, “sustainability is a buzzword, a trend, a cultural movement zeitgeist” (p. 
119).  Sustainability is often overused and generalized, but it is top of mind for many in the 
fashion industry.  Some students and industry members use sustainability in reference to 
the environment, others use it in reference to systems, processes, and consumption.  While 
we may use sustainability in differing ways, one aspect that we all agree on is the need for 
the fashion industry as a whole to become more sustainable, and much of the foundation 
for that might take place within the classroom.  Pasricha and Kadolph (2009) observe that 
“environmental, social and economic sustainability should be interwoven throughout all 
courses in a fashion-related program of study” (p. 121), and this is something that we aimed 
to do with our 2017 curriculum update.  While we addressed this at the time, there are 
calls for more.  Local industry partners are calling for more knowledge, exploration and 
understanding of sustainability in multiple contexts as well as touching on concepts such 
as circular design.  Many of these concepts and themes are also mentioned by applicants 
during portfolio interviews in citing their interest for pursuing fashion education.  The call 
for ‘more’ sustainability is something that we seek to address during curriculum updates 
resulting from this program review process through further authentic and applied 
integration and perhaps through specific content focusing on this topic itself while also 
looking to the future. 
 
Since the onset of the global pandemic, sweeping changes have taken place in just about 
every industry since March 2020.  The fashion industry itself has seen several changes, both 
locally and globally.  Through regular check-ins with local industry partners, updates shared 
from the BC Apparel and Gear Association, and attending virtual webinars and conferences 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 44 

 

 

with international perspectives, we feel that we have a good sense on the direction that 
this fluid industry may be heading post-pandemic.  We are now in need of the flexibility to 
move quickly enough to adapt and ensure our graduates continue to gain the skills and 
knowledge needed to find success. 

Summary and Recommendations 

The list of what students and industry partners would like to see more of in the program is 
much longer than suggested items for removal.  Many responses to these questions return 
with an exhaustive list of additional topics for inclusion and the response that there should 
be nothing removed.  These suggestions are supportive of introducing streams of learning 
specialization in the fashion program and calls for further research into a potential masters 
program to support these learners and the local industry needs. 
 
Regarding Vision 2023 we are aware that there are further actions are needed within the 
Fashion and Technology program to support these goals and their strategies, however we 
feel that we are currently working in a positive direction.  We envision program changes 
and additions that may be made through this program review process will not only support 
the goals in Vision 2023 but will also enable us to better plan for the coming future. 
 
Throughout all survey feedback, it was also quite clear that there is demand for a longer 
practicum, or even the introduction of a co-op to further support students in their learning 
and education.  Main themes for additional topics to be included in the program include 
greater exploration of sustainability in reference to environmental concerns and 3D design.  
It was also strongly supported that students have additional fashion focused travel options 
during their education.  
 
To comply with KPU policy AC14 KPU Credential Framework updates, we will need to 
identify courses for students to meet a writing-intensive (WI) requirement, and a 
quantitative requirement (QUAN).  Once program curriculum has been addressed to 
maintain currency and relevancy, we may seek approval of Fashion and Technology courses 
to meet these requirements.  The program currently meets the University Writing 
Instruction requirement with all fashion students being required to take course ENGL 1100 
Introduction to University Writing by their second year.  Additional wording will also need 
to be shared with students to ensure that they are able to meet the breadth requirement 
of baccalaureate degree programs within the elective credit requirements. 
 
Based on feedback shared through surveys and anecdotally throughout program activities, 
the recommendations below serve to address shifts that we might initiate and further 
investigate to ensure the program’s relevancy and graduates’ readiness for industry roles. 
 

 Create additional opportunities for applicants to gain foundational knowledge in 
design and construction to find success when assembling an entry portfolio 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 45 

 

 

 Identify Fashion and Technology courses or to meet the Writing-Intensive 
Requirement and Quantitative Requirement for compliance with Policy AC 14. 

o As of writing this report a writing-intensive definition, and designation 
requirements has yet to be approved by KPU Senate. 

 Enhance reading comprehension and numeracy skills within program, and ensure 

students are aware of the skills which they are developing. 

 Implement additional 3D modeling technology into curriculum and provide 
opportunities for students to work with software such as CLO3D 

 Inclusion of additional learning spaces (design, production, etc.) through curricula 
updates for students to explore body type inclusivity, diversity and equity (ex. non-
binary, plus size, transgender) 

 Increase opportunities for students to explore iterative design and prototyping, 
along with finished packages.  

 Decolonize curriculum, while fostering Indigenous design practices to better align 
with goals set out in KPU Vision 2023 (Appendix 17) 

o Seek indigenous consultation while planning curriculum updates that touch 
on this knowledge area 

o Aim to include Indigenous guest speakers and/or guest lecturers throughout 
program 

 Create an OER exploring the many different career pathways available in the fashion 
industry and job descriptions for student reference.  

 Continue work on Sewing focused OER (this project was started Fall 2020) 

 Start work on a pattern drafting focused OER 

 Integrate additional travel opportunities into the program for students 

 With the shift to embrace Optitex as KPU’s CAD software, some companies have 
cited concerns over the lack of students receiving Gerber training.  Seek to create 
partnerships with industry companies so that Gerber training might be supported.   

 Research feasibility of Master of Design: Fashion & Technology  

 Build on current practicum program by increasing work experience opportunities 
within the program through: 

o (Paid) Internships with industry partners 
o KPU co-op supported placements  

 Develop a DESN course for students transitioning to post-secondary education  
o Similar to KPU 100, but in design focused and in a credit bearing, required 

course (see reference course from North Carolina in Appendix 18) 
 

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 46 

 

 

 Quality of Instructional Design 

Delivery Modes 

Many courses in the Fashion and Technology program are a mix of lab and lecture teaching 
modes.  This course structure allows us to engage in content with students while allowing 
them space to explore through hands-on learning.  With much content in the Fashion and 
Technology program having a tactile aspect, students regularly engage with learning in 
hands-on and interdisciplinary ways that are faculty supported.  While faculty members 
may not teach using a traditional lecture approach, the time, effort, and degree of depth 
of planning and learning that is incorporated within lab components is significant.   
 
With the requirements to alter and shift teaching modes and delivery this past year due to 
the global pandemic, faculty are currently assessing the most suitable assortment for 
online, blended, and in-person courses to best support learning experiences.  59% of 
students shared that they prefer courses that are a combination of face-to-face and online, 
with 47% preferring face-to-face only delivery (Student Survey, Q32).  Students also shared 
that if taking an online course, 91% prefer a combination of synchronous and asynchronous 
content (Student Survey, Q33).  A highlight of learning this past year that was echoed by 
many, when most courses were shifted online, was the flexibility that this type of learning 
provided; flexibility in managing a schedule, ability to re-watch lectures, deadlines not 
being tied to specific course times.  Outside of curriculum, course content, and learning 
activities, the main highlights of this past academic year were the lack of travel and transit 
needed to get to campus to learn, and the course kits that were put together by faculty and 
mailed to students in advance of the semester to support student learning (Student Survey, 
Q34). 
 
The shift to online learning also brought challenges for students and faculty alike.  The main 
challenge cited was learning in a virtual setting for a hands-on program.  This included lack 
of access to campus, lack of access to machinery, the inability to pose questions to faculty 
in real time and face-to-face settings, and adapting to an online and virtual setting with 
very little time to plan (Student Survey, Q35).  While this past year was a challenge for all, 
we believe that the forced shifts have answered many questions about what type of 
content might shift to virtual settings most effectively, while gaining additional 
understanding about possibilities as we plan for the future. 
 
The Fashion & Technology program has a foundation of experiential learning, where all 
courses have components of learning by doing and learning through doing. Experiential 
learning, as a form of transformative pedagogy, provides a platform for learning to occur 
both within and outside of the classroom, and is a platform for students to learn through 
trial and error (Dewey, 1930). Through experiential learning activities, students may gain 
further understanding of real-life application of classroom content while further 
understanding the context of knowledge in everyday life. Experiential learning activities 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 47 

 

 

might consist of work or practicum placements, guest speakers, and hands-on work where 
students are provided opportunities to be active participants through firsthand learning, 
all of which are currently incorporated into the program. 
 
The diverse nature of design education allows for students with a range of learning styles 
to find success.  While we do have students who work with the KPU Learning Centre to 
receive learning accommodations which are then confidentially shared with faculty, being 
able to support students with these accommodations is manageable.  Where there is 
greater need to manage accommodations is through clearer lines of communication 
between learning strategists and WSD faculty.  Often student accommodations are focused 
on a traditionally ‘academic’ classroom and do not always align with the lab focused and 
hands-on learning activities taking place within the WSD and Fashion and Technology 
program.  This feedback was not gathered through survey data, but rather anecdotally 
through faculty conversations, meetings, and general conversations about how best to 
support those with learning accommodations. 
 
While physical safety is of concern within our lab spaces, appropriate machinery and 
equipment training is required of all students.  Most of this training occurs within the 
classroom, with ad-hoc training for use of machinery such as working with the laser cutter 
taking place outside of scheduled courses.  Having more formalized training set up for all 
machines outside of course times, in addition to virtual how-to resources would be a 
benefit for students, ensuring that they are receiving consistent training, while also shifting 
the focus in the classroom back to curriculum.   
 
Faculty are very aware of the emotional safety of our students.  Being located within the 
WSD, and working within the design field, we find that our students are incredibly invested 
in their work and often have strong emotional ties to what they are working on.  When the 
situation calls for it, faculty will fill out / file an Early Alert for a student or refer them to 
KPU counselling services.  Early Alert is a KPU supported system that serves to provide 
students with additional supports as needed to help them find learning success.  Referring 
a student to Early Alert and KPU counseling are met with varying degrees of success 
depending on the student.   
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 48 

 

 

When asked, students shared the following responses regarding their satisfaction with 
program delivery (Student Survey, Q31): 

 

Where there appears to be the most room for improvement is in the ability to 
accommodate diverse learning styles.  With this answer we acknowledge that it is hard to 
evaluate this response fully without additional context.  Including additional student 
feedback and insight during the curricula update process may be of benefit to ensure that 
the student perspective is maintained. 

When faculty were asked to share their satisfaction in how the program is delivered, the 
following answers were shared (Faculty Survey, Q5): 
 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 49 

 

 

 
Similar to student responses, faculty also feel that there is greater need to accommodate 
diverse learning styles.  An area highlighted for further investigation is that 17% of faculty 
are somewhat dissatisfied with current opportunities for experiential learning. (Faculty 
Survey, Q5).  When proceeding to curriculum updates in the program review process we 
aim to further understand what this response may mean and how additional opportunities 
might be integrated into the program to best serve learners. 
 
In respect to teaching excellence, the program has significant alignment to the KPU 2023 
Academic Plan in that “students partake [in] vibrant KPU classroom environments 
conducive to developing the skills needed to become lifelong, independent and self-
regulated learners.”  Faculty bring a wide array of perspectives to the classroom, to 
enhance and support course learning outcomes.  These personal aspects that often 
accompany taught curriculum might shift learning from a space of transmission to a space 
of lived and experienced learning. Teaching in this space may be less about “doing” or the 
finished “product” (curriculum as planned) but experiencing and learning as students work 
together (curriculum as lived) (Akoi, 2005).  

Assessment Methods 

Many assignments in the program take the form of projects, allowing students to 
demonstrate their depth of understanding course content.  Our small class size (currently 
a maximum of 22) allows faculty to provide ample feedback for students, through both 
formative and summative assessment.  These projects are typically supported by rubrics 
with detailed criteria, assessment tables with requirements, and/or guidelines for 
assignment requirements.  As the program and curricula have evolved over time, we have 
shifted toward assessing students for process and understanding, as opposed to final 
project completion.  Faculty members regularly have one-on-ones set up with students to 
support the learning process, and share direct, student specific feedback.  During this past 
year with much learning taking place online, some faculty worked with students in small 
peer groups or breakout rooms to provide students with project and learning specific 
feedback.   
 
Within the Fashion and Technology program courses, we also regularly have Learner 
Contribution as an assessment item.  Assessment for this line item often takes the form of 
how engaged a student might be in their learning:  

 Are they regularly on-time and present in class?  

 Are they prepared to learn with all resources?  

 If a student is given a responsibility such as lab duties at the end of class, is it 
completed?  

 How focused are students during class time? 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 50 

 

 

Student Experience 

Grade Distribution 

The tables below share grade distribution across the program throughout the Fall (top) and 
Spring (bottom) semester (Admin Data Report).  This chart includes grade distribution from 
the 2016/2017 academic year through to the Fall 2020/2021 semester.  Note that as of 
writing this report data for the Spring 2021 semester is not yet available.  Grade distribution 
is based on all unique Fashion and Technology courses.  Faculty do their very best to work 
with students who may be having challenges to provide support and connect them with 
other areas of the university when needed so that they might achieve learning success. 
Students are required to have a minimum of 60% in courses that might be classified as a 
prerequisite for the next level. 
 
This grade distribution is considered an accurate representation of students’ skills and 
abilities and is appropriate for the program.  Typically, those who encounter the most 
challenges in their learning are first year students and this is often a reflection of 
underdeveloped time management and project management skills which faculty have 
observed when working with and providing additional support to these learners.  Students 
who may be having challenges are often quick to admit the need to further improve their 
time and project management skills. Faculty offer multiple ways to support these learners, 
providing various points of contact to ensure all learners are able to find as much success 
as possible. 

 

 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 51 

 

 

Drop, fail, withdrawal (DFW) rates are low in this selective entry program, and we believe 
that this is a result of the required portfolio and interview process required of applicants, 
in addition to meeting general KPU requirements.  The data below spans from the 
2016/2017 academic year to the current one.  

It has been noted that the withdrawal rate in Fall 2020 does jump up slightly to 6% and this 
is understood to reflect the learning challenges that came with the shift to remote learning 
because of the global pandemic.  It should also be noted that with the onset of the global 
pandemic, the withdrawal date was shifted to the last day of the semester and continues 
to remain at that point as of writing this report.  With this continued shift we may continue 
to see an increase in withdrawal rates vs. ‘fail’ grades as student opt to receive a ‘W’ instead 
of a grade below 60%.  In general, the students who withdrew from Fall 2020 Fashion and 
Technology courses citing global pandemic challenges are planning to retake these courses 
in the Fall 2021 semester pending room in the program. 

 

 

Retention and Graduation Rates 

Retention for the Fashion and Technology program is high beyond first year as mentioned 
earlier in this report.  This high retention rate is most likely due to the application process 
and inclusion of a specific program focused portfolio.  Through the application, portfolio, 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 52 

 

 

and interview process, faculty aim to ensure that all students who receive an offer to the 
program are a good fit and have a realistic understanding of the education they will be 
receiving. 
 
The program also has a capped intake and maximum class size of 22.  This small class size 
enables students to build community amongst themselves, often forming life-long 
friendships, while also allowing for faculty to spend time with students to check for 
understanding and provide formative feedback on the learning process when needed. 
 
As the Fashion and Technology courses are only offered once per year, if a student finds 
they are not initially successful, they are required to wait a year before reattempting the 
course.  This does hold students back, and for some, this may cause a significant amount 
of stress as it adds time and expense to their expected education path.  Typically, when a 
student finds themselves in this position, it is recommended that they focus their energies 
in the interim on taking non-fashion courses to meet program elective requirements to fill 
their academic schedule. 
 
When students were asked how satisfied they were regarding frequency and availability of 
core courses, and availability of electives, responses ranged from somewhat dissatisfied to 
very satisfied. This data leads us to believe that at this time, there is not a clear point of 
concern that needs to be addressed (Student Survey, Q38). 
 

 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 53 

 

 

A course that students sometimes have challenges with is ENGL 1100 Introduction to 
University Writing and obtaining the minimum required grade of 60%.  It is currently 
suggested that students take this course in the fall semester of their second year, as it is a 
prerequisite for a course that they take in the spring of their second year.  To ensure better 
outcomes, we may look to shift this recommendation to encourage students to take the 
course during their first year of studies so program progression is not impacted. 
 
With the mandate to reduce the program to a single cohort, there will potentially be a class 
size barrier for program re-entry and completion for any students who choose to 
temporarily step out of the program   The reduction to a single cohort will also limit our 
ability to accept advanced entry students into the program, something which could 
potentially affect how the program is viewed by other educational institutions and 
ultimately by the industry. 
 
Generally, the majority of students who progress to fourth year in the fall term proceed to 
graduation the following spring.  Those students who take slightly longer than their peers 
to graduate are not often  held up by fashion courses, but rather have opted to take elective 
courses in semesters without fashion courses, for example over the summer, or have 
delayed taking electives.  The choice to take electives over the summer semester allows 
students to focus on core fashion courses during fall and spring semesters. 
 
 
Student Outcomes 
 
Students entering the Fashion and Technology program often aspire to work in the local 
apparel and fashion industry with an existing company or to start their own business.  85% 
of students shared that the career prospects and earning potential influenced their 
decision to enroll in the program, and 61% shared that the ability to obtain a fashion degree 
credential in Canada influenced their decision (Student Survey, Q4).   
 
Many of our students receive offers of employment upon completion of their practicum 
work experience, or from the contacts that they have gained leading up to graduation.  
Students have received offers of employment from local companies, including Ten Tree, 
lululemon, Gentle Fawn, Westcomb, Arc’teryx, Paper Label, Hershel Supply Co., Aritzia, and 
many others.   
 
Local industry partners often get in touch with faculty members, sharing job posting 
requests for students or alumni recommendations, or specify the posting be shared with a 
certain group.  If alumni are encountering challenges finding employment, they are 
encouraged to keep in touch with faculty who are more than happy to provide support as 
needed, and forward industry job postings as they are shared. 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 54 

 

 

Student Satisfaction with Instruction 
 
In reference to the quality and relevancy of course content, students shared that 39% are 
very satisfied, and 52% are somewhat satisfied (Student Survey, Q39).  In reference to the 
program as a whole, 58% are very satisfied with only 29% somewhat satisfied (Student 
Survey, Q40). 
 
Strengths of the program that were cited by students include (Student Survey, Q41): 

 Quality of instructors/faculty 

 Small class sizes (program courses are currently capped at 22 students) allowing 
for more personalized learning experiences 

 Able to communicate with faculty, and faculty availability 

 Industry engagement 

 Access to production labs (pre-COVID) 

 Video lectures and resources for reference 
 

When asked to share suggested areas for improvement, student recommendations 
included (Student Survey, Q42): 

 Enhanced faculty-to-faculty communication regarding due dates 

 Enhanced clarity of project descriptions and expectations  

 Additional fashion focused elective courses 

 An increased diversity of faculty members 
 

Based on student feedback collected through the surveys, there are greater improvements 
to be made in the areas of clarifying how students will be evaluated (19% are somewhat 
dissatisfied, with 48% somewhat satisfied), the consistency of assessment standards 
throughout the program (13% are somewhat dissatisfied and neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied), and the feedback that is provided (10% somewhat dissatisfied with 13% 
neither satisfied nor dissatisfied) (Student Survey, Q37). 

 
Some feedback for areas of improvement shared by students is KPU specific and reflective 
of the global pandemic shifts from this past academic year.  These include technical glitches 
with Moodle, and the inability to save videos from previous courses to then use as future 
references.  Other feedback highlighted is actionable within the program and may be 
addressed through WSD channels, such as additional access to production labs or through 
program curricular updates. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 55 

 

 

Faculty Experience 

Expertise and Qualifications 

Faculty bring with them a range of experiences, strengths, and qualifications.  The Fashion 
and Technology faculty team consists of the following members.  Full faculty team bios may 
be found in Appendix 19 
.

 Alex Diaz 

 Eleanor Hannan 

 Evelyn May 

 Heather Clark 

 Jessica Bayntun 

 Lesley Pollard 

 Mary Androsiuk 

 Michael Pope 

 Sharon Greeno 

 Shirley Thompson 

 Stephanie Phillips 

 
When working with students, faculty bring with them their industry backgrounds, 
experiences, knowledge, and skill sets.  Faculty members have a range of education 
credentials, including master level degrees, and several team members are also alumni of 
the program.  Being an alumnus of the Fashion and Technology program is often a strength 
as there is a common perspective and understanding shared of student outcomes and 
industry connections. 

While faculty member experiences and knowledge areas vary, the team shares a consistent 
drive and passion to provide students with supportive learning experiences to meet 
program outcomes and their career goals.  

The faculty is supported with a 50% time-release for a program chair role, currently filled 
by Heather Clark (term August 2019 – August 2022), and program assistant, Blair 
MacDonald, who splits her time between the Fashion and Technology program and the 
Fashion Marketing program.  Blair, an alumna of the program, has a wealth of industry 
experience and provides institutional and program support to both students and 
applicants.  Faculty and students are also supported by a Divisional Lab Coordinator, and 
two Divisional Lab Technicians with one of these technicians focusing their time on the 
production lab spaces, and the other technician focusing on the workshop space. The team 
members are also developing strategies for cross-training to further support the range of 
needs in these spaces. The lab coordinator and technicians are essential to WSD learning 
activities by ensuring that everything is in working order, and materials are well stocked.  
Our Divisional Lab Coordinator has been spending the past year ensuring campus spaces 
have appropriate signage, and that supplies are well stocked to ensure cleanliness and 
safety of learning spaces, while also planning for an increased return to campus in the 
coming fall semester. 
 
Through professional development activities, faculty members self-select activities to build 
on and further their skills and knowledge.  As the fashion industry continues to rapidly 
evolve and shift, faculty members strive to ensure that their skill set maintains a level of 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 56 

 

 

currency and relevancy with the integration of new technology, materials, and process.  
Faculty are supported in these activities through institutional PD funding opportunities. 
 
Faculty Satisfaction with Instruction 
 
When asked about satisfaction of instruction delivery across the program, 73% reported 
they are ‘somewhat satisfied’.  This is consistent with faculty being generally ‘somewhat 
satisfied’ with instructional delivery as seen in the chart below in reference to specific 
categories.  The greatest room for improvement concerns instructional methods that 
facilitate student learning with 18% of faculty ‘somewhat dissatisfied’. (Faculty Survey, Q7) 

 
 
Highlights about instructional delivery from faculty include the following (Faculty Survey, 
Q9): 

 Teamwork and communication 

 Connecting with industry members and include them within the classroom 

 Student driven and focused  

 Projects developed with a focus on understanding the process (vs. final finished 
product) 

 Hand-on learning 
 

Areas for improvement that were suggested include (Faculty Survey, Q10): 

 Further connections and alignment between learning activities with course 
objectives and outcomes 

 More focus placed on the iterative design process  

 Additional industry connected projects 

 Enhanced communication between faculty 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 57 

 

 

 Creating further clarity in assignment criteria 

 Maintaining faculty member currency with industry standard software 

 Additional field trips to enhance learning opportunities 

 Collaboratively scheduling course due dates 

Summary and Recommendations 

The foundation and core of the Fashion and Technology program is experiential learning 
and learning in hands-on ways.  Further context may be gained through experiences, while 
also adding to someone’s prior understanding and background by providing a lens through 
which they view the world.  Experiences can aid in building student engagement with 
course content as they become further connected to their learning through personal 
experiences (Dewey, 1930; van Manen, 1977; Middlecamp, 2005).  While this past year was 
challenging for all involved with the shifts brought about by the global pandemic, significant 
learning has also taken place.  Through student feedback and faculty experience, we have 
gained further understanding of what program knowledge might be taught in a blended or 
online format and identified that there may be learning ‘mode’ labels currently missing at 
an institutional level. 
 
What has come through clearly through student and faculty feedback is the need to further 
define project criteria so that all involved have a common understanding of expectations, 
while also ensuring that course learning activities align with course specific learning 
outcomes.   
 
The fashion industry is a quickly moving one so it may be of benefit to students and their 
learning to seek out ways in which members of our local industry might be invited into 
courses as short-term contract faculty to teach certain components of a course. 
 
Recommendations highlighted below touch on themes found within this chapter, while 
also seeking to maintain the core themes and tenets of the Fashion and Technology 
program.  These recommendations are supported through feedback shared in surveys, as 
well as insights gained anecdotally while working with students. 
  

 Explore a wider variety of delivery mode options to meet the needs of the 21st 
century learner (lab, lecture, studio, in person, online, hybrid, etc.) 

 Shift recommendation to take ENGL 1100 during first year of program 

 Develop additional CPS or Micro Credential courses aimed at potential applicants 
to develop their skills and knowledge prior to entering the program 

 Establish a formal peer to peer mentorship program within in program or WSD for 
additional student support 

 Assess for the possible inclusion of specialization streams within program 

 Increase lab access hours and support. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 58 

 

 

o Increase access and training to specialized machinery for students outside 
of class time. 

o Increase hours that are supported by (paid) peer mentors and/or lab 
technicians for open lab access.  

 Include industry members as course faculty in specific relevant courses. 

 Build on collection of dress forms that reflect body inclusivity (gender and sizes). 

 Form a program student committee to provide feedback on proposed curriculum 
changes. 

 Explore what courses might shift to a EXP or MAS grading format  

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 59 

 

 

 Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

With the opening of the Wilson School of Design building on the Richmond Campus in 
January 2018, many fashion and apparel specific resources have been created for the 
growth of the students’ access to industry level production capabilities.  Housed primarily 
on the third floor of the Wilson School of Design, specialized machinery allows students to 
construct and prototype at an incredibly high level.  Alongside traditional sewing machines, 
we have increased our capabilities in the emerging production methods including laser 
cutting, ultrasonic welding and a collection of machinery that adheres fabric together with 
adhesives, referred to as ‘no sew’ technology (seam sealers, adhesive laydown, and seam-
tape edge binding machines). 
 
Further to the apparel specific manufacturing capabilities, students have access to a suite 
of textile testing machinery to establish the quality properties of their textiles, as well as 
the facilities of a Textile Dye and Print lab for the creation of surface design on existing 
textiles. 
 
There are 7 main lab spaces for apparel production in the Wilson School of Design building, 
and these spaces are shared with other WSD programming offered: 

0960 – Textile Dye & Print Lab 
0961 – Material Testing  
1910 – CAD computer lab with Pattern Plotter 
2980 – Resource Library and Photo Studio 
3920 – Patternmaking and Sewing Lab 
3960 – Patternmaking and Sewing Lab 
3980 - Specialty Apparel Production Lab 

 
There are several other spaces that are set up for student use for apparel production, 
including an open studio area 3940, and open space appropriate for pattern drafting in 
0910.  A complete list of specialized machinery on campus is included in Appendix 21. 
 
Alongside the machinery that is maintained for student use with an in-house technician, 
students have access to a variety of textiles that are free to use.  These are donated from 
a variety of local industry partners, primarily from the technical apparel industry, and 
consist of high-quality performance textiles, materials, and accessories. While not supplied 
by KPU, there is significant co-ordination necessary to receive, store and organize these 
supplies. 
 
Alongside the apparel specific resources, there are many general design resources students 
have access to including 3D Printing, large scale color printing, design relevant software, a 
hard-goods workshop and spray booth. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 60 

 

 

 
KPU resources outside of the Wilson School of Design come specifically from Career 
Services, Library, Advising, Counseling, IT, Student Awards and Financial Assistance, and 
tutoring services/learning strategists. All students also have the full support and services of 
the Kwantlen Student Association (KSA). These services are provided to all students at KPU 
and are not specific to our area of teaching. 
 
Library 
With the support of the KPU library, the collection of apparel specific books has been 
curated by the librarian responsible for the WSD and via faculty requests.  Students have 
access to a fashion-focused library guide through the KPU library website.  There is a well-
developed hard copy book collection that is regularly accessed by students, as well as 
journals and other resources that are available electronically.   
 
The KPU library welcomes book or resource requests and will do their best to procure 
items.  Course references have been compiled with faculty consultation into topics that fall 
under course specific names. 
 
Degree Advising 
Our students have access to the services of degree advising with a design-focused advisor.  
Degree advising is important in this cohort program and is particularly critical to students 
that need to create an alternative program plan based on individual experience.  The 
services provided are that of a half time advisor who also works as an advisor on behalf of 
the Faculty of Science and Horticulture, and the web portal ‘My Action Plan’. 
 
In the past few years, we have had an increase of students with individualized program 
plans due to varied student success as well as an increase in advanced placement students.  
A table highlighting this increase may be found in Appendix 22.  These program plans are 
often quite complex and require more assistance from the office of degree advising.   
 
Counseling 
Counseling services offered by KPU for students are primarily individual counseling services 
for concerns as listed below, or others which are often ongoing and affect academics, sleep, 
or motivation: 

 Adjusting to university life and studies 

 Stress 

 Anxiety  

 Sadness 

 Feeling overwhelmed 

 Relationship troubles 

 Family issues 

 Loss and/or grief 

 Past experience of physical, sexual, or emotional violence 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 61 

 

 

 Other mental health challenges 

 Referrals from Early Alert 
 
KPU Counselors may also make referrals for specialized help if needed or provide referrals 
to external counseling support should students require ongoing support when choosing to 
step away from their studies or when they graduate.  KPU students also have access to a 
larger network of counselors through the services provided by Keepme.SAFE’s My SSP.  
“[This service] provides all KPU students with 24/7 access to a large, diverse network of 
professional counsellors to match your unique circumstances with a counsellor who 
understands these experiences, in your preferred language and culture. Counsellors can 
provide immediate support and referral to address a range of concerns” (Retrieved from 
https://www.kpu.ca/counselling). 
 
Fashion and Technology students are regularly referred to counseling services, but with the 
need for confidentiality, we are unsure of the current number of learners accessing these 
resources.  While referred to these resources by faculty when it is felt appropriate, some 
learners may put off contact until a point of crisis.   
 
Learning Centre 
The Learning Center and the support of Learning Strategists assist students with essential 
skills for university success. Students are regularly referred to learning strategists to gain 
additional support in time management, project planning, and learning supports.  Students, 
upon accessing these resources often find great support and are very appreciative of the 
learning strategist team. 
 

From the KPU Learning Centre: Our mission is to provide students with a range of 
skills and strategies that encourage learning excellence and promote holistic 
development. This is achieved through outstanding programming and exceptional 
services based on general, complementary, integrated, and embedded supports to 
foster student success, program completion and a desire for continuous lifelong 
learning. 
 
For students, the four Kwantlen Learning Centres are facilities where any Kwantlen 
student can find individualized learning assistance and assessments, help with study 
skills and learning strategies, and free one-to-one and small group tutoring in a 
range of writing, math, and content areas. Our online tutoring program offers 
students academic writing help from home, work, or school. Print and electronic 
resources are also available” (Retrieved from 
https://www.kpu.ca/learningcentres/mission). 

 
KSA 
The KSA supports an annual student award in the Fashion and Technology program, while 
also providing on-site KPU student supports such as REBOOT for computer servicing.  While 
their support is invaluable, Fashion and Technology students appear to be slow to access 

https://www.kpu.ca/earlyalert/student


Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 62 

 

 

services and supports through the KSA.  This delay in access may stem from students being 
unaware of supports which may be reflective of the low visibility of the KSA on the WSD 
campus. 
The Kwantlen Student Association states as its mission as being: 

The Kwantlen Student Association (KSA) supports its members during their time of 
study by ensuring adequate provision for their welfare, activities, political, and social 
needs. Through its democratic procedures, the KSA represents and reflects the 
concerns and priorities of its membership to the university and beyond, and strives 
to uphold the rights of each of its members. (Retrieved from 
http://www.kusa.ca/aboutus.html).   

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Student satisfaction with the resources offered by the Wilson School of Design and Fashion 
and Technology Program is positive overall with 84% of students being either satisfied or 
extremely satisfied with the resources from the survey conducted (Student Survey, Q45).  
 
The areas highlighted for improvement and growth were directly tied to the results of Q17 
(Student Survey) about topics missing from our curriculum. Primarily the students focused 
on the adoption of new technologies for patternmaking and drafting (3D patternmaking), 
fully fashioned knitwear and advances in wearable technology.   These areas for enhancing 
the program services were supported by the alumni in their response to the question: 
“Considering where the fashion industry is moving, suggest a course topic/theme that 
might be the next ‘thing’ in the fashion industry” (Alumni Survey, Q37).  12 of 32 non-
directed comments reference 3-Dimensional patternmaking software, and that adoption is 
accelerating due to the pandemic and the changes in the ways people are working. These 
areas of growth would need some investment in the machinery and technology to move 
these topic areas forward.  
 
An area of comment by the students that bears mentioning is that due to the complexity 
and variety of available machinery onsite, it is not always easily maintainable within our 
current structure.  This opens further discussion and opportunity for innovation and 
training. 

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Faculty satisfaction with the resources offered within the Wilson School of Design are 
excellent with 81% either Somewhat Satisfied or Extremely Satisfied with the lab and 
building spaces for student learning (Faculty Survey, Q11). 
 
The areas where the faculty see room for growth is primarily regarding Counselling services 
with 54% of faculty either ‘Dissatisfied’ or ‘Extremely Dissatisfied’, and 45% of respondents 
ambivalent.  The comments of this data point reveal that this assessment is not based on 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 63 

 

 

the quality of the counselling services, but in the challenges of access for students in crisis 
requiring immediate attention (Faculty Survey, Q11).   
 
An area for further development that the faculty has identified is that of Career Services 
(27% Dissatisfied, 64% Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied) (Faculty Survey, Q11).  Further 
investigation may be needed to better understand this answer, and how better 
collaboration and communication may be facilitated between the program, Wilson School 
of Design, and Career Services.  
 
The suggestions coming from faculty focus on increased access to mental health services 
and resources for students, greater accessibility to and hours of campus and the specialty 
labs, and increased technician assistance.  
 
The faculty overall was incredibly pleased with the library resources, and specifically with 
the librarian support.  We would like to highlight the exemplary service provided by the 
WSD focused librarian for the faculty and share our great appreciation for their work.  
While the faculty is incredibly pleased, the space they would like to see growth in the library 
offerings are directly related to the ebook collection, as it has been observed that students 
are doing a significant amount of their research online (Faculty Survey, Q12). 

Summary and Recommendations 

Student Health and Wellness Resources 

 Integrate resiliency training (for students) into Fall start up orientation 
o Request that there might be a resiliency training ‘badge’ that then may be 

required as part of a foundational level FASN program course 

 Enhance student accessibility to counseling both in-person (when possible) and 
virtually 

o Request that counseling develop and share additional resources to support 
and manage student anxiety 

 Explore PD or guest speaking options for faculty to better support learners requiring 
counseling supports 

Learning & Career Development Aids and Tools 

 Develop a Wilson School of Design or Fashion and Technology formal peer-to-peer 
mentoring program for increased program support 

 Continue with the WSD Career Expo in either an in-person or virtual format to 
provide graduating students and alumni further career support 

 Promote Learning Centre student peer tutor positions to current FASN students  
o Peer tutors to provide support with content covered and explored in the 

FASN program 

 Increase digital references (ex. A virtual library) of foundational skills in sewing, 
pattern drafting, and production knowledge to build on student learning in courses 

WSD Resources 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 64 

 

 

 Develop and acquire more industry relevant technologies and technological 
interfaces that that can be used increase the students’ skills in 3Dimensional 
patternmaking and wearable technology. 

 Enhance the lab experience with greater hours and additional technician support  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 65 

 

 

 Conclusions and Recommendations 

Summary of Conclusions 

The Fashion and Technology program, with the Wilson School of Design at KPU is in a 
unique location being based in Vancouver, BC and being the longest running degree 
granting fashion program in Western Canada.  Vancouver has a thriving apparel industry 
with many globally known brands.  Our local industry are champions of the program, of our 
alumni and graduates, and of our students.  The foundation and core of the Fashion and 
Technology program is experiential learning and learning in hands-on ways.  The multi-
disciplinary nature of our industry requires flexibility to continually evolve in real time.  The 
ability to respond effectively and timely may be constrained due to time, KPU provided 
budget, and a strategic implementation plan.   
 
“Education is about the students, so industry and education do indeed need to practice the 
fine art of compromise” (Gale, 2011, p. 29).  As a post-secondary education program, we 
often feel that at times we are caught in the middle as we strive to address expectations of 
both industry and our students.  Industry would like graduates to have certain skills set and 
knowledge, while the students stepping into the program many need enhanced 
foundational knowledge prior to them successfully understanding and applying higher level 
concepts in their education and a career setting.  As faculty in the Fashion and Technology 
program at KPU, we seek to balance these two sides by having open conversations with 
clothing and textile teachers who are working with future applicants, and with industry 
members to bring further understanding to all involved.  Colin Gale (2011), in The Future of 
Fashion Education: An Opinion, shares that “the subject of fashion today, with its industrial, 
cultural and academic character, is consequently very broad, involving practical, 
professional and intellectual dimensions with a growing repertoire of qualifications that 
reflect the different communities that have a stake in its future” (p. 30).  While this paper 
was published ten year ago, this is something that we feel has not changed, if anything the 
fashion industry has broadened as more awareness and understanding is brought to certain 
aspects.  This broadening may be seen through the conversations that take place during 
the program advisory committee meeting conversations, and in the thoughts and 
perspectives that students bring with them to the classroom.  
 
The future of the fashion industry and the future of fashion education may be cyclical in 
the way that they are tied together.  The fashion industry may serve as inspiration for those 
pursuing fashion education, individuals who in turn will be the future of the fashion 
industry.  These future leaders gain knowledge, skills and understanding through their 
education. In the Fashion and Technology program at KPU, we are uniquely positioned in a 
thriving local industry to provide a well-rounded education that might help shape future of 
the fashion industry through the work our graduates will do. 
 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 66 

 

 

At the start of this report, it was stated that this program review aims to assess the 
following, and to provide recommendations for further program updates and 
enhancements.  Through this report we sought to address the: 

1. Competitive advantage of the program 
2. Currency of curriculum and instructional design 
3. Relevance to the local and global fashion industry 

 
Through the shared chapter summaries and recommendations, explored and supported by 
survey results, observations, and anecdotal reports, we have sought to address these aims.  
Recommendations shared have been made while being mindful of what is happening in the 
fashion industry locally, nationally, and globally.  We envision future shifts in the program 
that will serve to increase its competitiveness while continuing to ensure alumni have an 
industry ready and relevant skill set. 
 

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 67 

 

 

List of Recommendations 

Recommendations found throughout this report, and shared below, have been sorted into 
the following categories: 

 Curriculum – Items relating to curriculum, courses, content, learning tools and 
program structure. 

 Program Initiatives – Items that exist within the program, and may serve to support 
curriculum or content, but are not written into curriculum.   

 WSD/KPU Initiatives – These initiatives have a broader context to support students 
and the program and will need WSD and/or KPU support to be achieved.  

Through categorizing these recommendations, we might better envision how the 
recommendations may be achieved and what departments might also be involved in the 
initiative.   

Short Term (less than 6 months) 

Curriculum 

 Implement additional 3D modeling technology into curriculum and provide 
opportunities for students to work with software such as CLO3D. 

 
Program Initiatives 

 Shift the advisory committee membership to three-year terms to ensure there is 
regular turnover allowing for a variety of insight and perspective 

o This shift will align with KPU Policy AC1 on Program Advisory Committees 

 Continue work on Sewing focused OER (this project was started Fall 2020) 
 
WSD/KPU Initiatives 

 Increase student recruitment efforts both locally and across Canada by: 
o Seeking out opportunities to promote the program internationally, 

highlighting the unique position that Vancouver holds in the global apparel 
industry and the many global brands based here. 

o Requesting additional KPU marketing support for promoting the program, 
and/or faculty time release for specialized and focused program 
promotional activities  

o Increasing community engagement by welcoming secondary school textile 
classes on campus to work in the labs and gain an introduction to the Wilson 
School of Design.    

o Developing detailed program information to share via WSD website, social 
media and info handouts on career possibilities and salary ranges for the 
apparel industry. 

o Updating program website for information on alumni, students, faculty, and 
program initiatives, projects, and activities. 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 68 

 

 

o Increasing social media presence, including regularly creating posts that 
feature students, their work, and program initiatives 

o Advocate for increasing KPU support for domestic student housing  

 Create additional opportunities for applicants to gain foundational knowledge in 
design and construction to find success when assembling an entry portfolio 

 Develop a Wilson School of Design or Fashion and Technology formal peer-to-peer 
mentoring program for increased program support 

 Continue with the WSD Career Expo in either an in-person or virtual format to 
provide graduating students and alumni further career support 

 Promote Learning Centre student peer tutor positions to current FASN students  
o Peer tutors to provide support with content covered and explored in the 

FASN program 

 Integrate resiliency training (for students) into Fall start up orientation 
o Request that there might be a resiliency training ‘badge’ that then may be 

required as part of a foundational level FASN program course 

 Enhance student accessibility to counseling both in-person (when possible) and 
virtually 

o Request that counseling develop and share additional resources to support 
and manage student anxiety 

 Explore PD or guest speaking options for faculty to better support learners requiring 
counseling supports 

Medium Term (6 months to 2 years) 

Curriculum 

 Identify Fashion and Technology courses or to meet the Writing-Intensive 
Requirement and Quantitative Requirement for compliance with Policy AC 14. 

 Enhance reading comprehension and numeracy skills within program, and ensure 

students are aware of the skills which they are developing. 

 Inclusion of additional learning spaces (design, production, etc.) through curricula 
updates for students to explore body type inclusivity, diversity, and equity (ex. non-
binary, plus size, transgender) 

 Increase opportunities for students to explore iterative design and prototyping, 
along with finished packages.  

 Decolonize curriculum, while fostering Indigenous design practices to better align 
with KPU Vision 2023 (Appendix 17) 

o Include indigenous consultation while planning curriculum updates that 
touch on this knowledge area 

o Include Indigenous guest speakers or guest lecturers  

 Build on current practicum program by increasing work experience opportunities 
within the program through: 

o (Paid) Internships with industry partners 
o Develop co-op placements through the Wilson School of Design 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 69 

 

 

 Shift recommendation to take ENGL 1100 during first year of program 

 Explore what courses might shift to a EXP or MAS grading format  

 Assess for the possible inclusion of specialization streams within program 
 
Program Initiatives 

 Increase competitive edge of fashion and technology program through: 
o Restructuring program to include specialization paths  
o Increasing industry linked projects throughout the program 
o Creating additional links between program content and curriculum for 

enhanced understanding 
o Integrating a paid co-op option for students 
o Incorporating additional out of province or global travel and learning 

opportunities for students 
o Inquiring into possibility to create links between the fashion program and 

the School of Business Entrepreneurial Leadership program so that those 
looking to gain greater knowledge in an entrepreneurship career path might 
do so. 

 Develop formalized articulation agreements with post-secondary fashion programs 
in both the Vancouver area and across Canada.   

 Start work on a pattern drafting focused OER 

 Seek to create partnerships with industry companies so that Gerber training might 
be supported.   

 Form a program student committee to provide feedback on proposed curriculum 
changes 

 Further investigate the purpose and options available for our annual designer 
spotlight and fashion show events and how they might shift into a post-pandemic 
future 

 
WSD/KPU Initiatives 

 Seek relevant, ongoing, and dedicated support from the KPU Office of Advancement 
for program awards and grants for student recruitment and support 

 Continue to develop and add to Continuing Studies Course offerings by: 
o Developing courses that appeal to industry professionals (through industry 

consultation) as industry upgrades, home economics teachers, general 
interest, and future potential students. 

o Building and plan a 12 month Continuing Professional Studies calendar with 
a range of in-person (when possible) and virtual courses. 

o Re-implementing master classes  

 Advocate for more robust alumni engagement 
o Develop supports for those pursuing entrepreneurship 
o Seek additional institutional supports for the Wilson School of Design alumni 

chapter  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 70 

 

 

 Explore a wider variety of delivery mode options to meet the needs of the 21st 
century learner (lab, lecture, studio, in person, online, hybrid, etc.) 

 Develop additional CPS or Micro Credential courses aimed at potential applicants 
to develop their skills and knowledge prior to entering the program 

 Establish a formal peer to peer mentorship program within in program or WSD fro 
additional student support 

 Increase lab access hours and support 
o Increase access and training to specialized machinery for students outside 

of class time 
o Increase hours that are supported by (paid) peer mentors and/or lab 

technicians for open lab access  

 Increase digital references (ex. A virtual library) of foundational skills in sewing, 
pattern drafting, and production knowledge to build on student learning in courses 

 A sewing focused OER is being worked on but needs a faculty time 
release for greater focused and dedicated work 

 Development of resources will need videography and development 
funding and support 

 Develop and acquire more industry relevant technologies and technological 
interfaces that that can be used increase the students’ skills in 3Dimensional 
Patternmaking and Wearable Technology. 

 Enhance the lab experience with greater hours and additional technician support 
 Explore options within the WSD to formally track why students might choose to 

leave programs 

Longer Term (over 2 years) 

Curriculum 

 Integrate additional travel opportunities into the program for students 

 Include industry members as course faculty in specific relevant courses 

 Establish a path into the program (ex. Dual Credit) to support secondary school 
students 

 
Program Initiatives 

 Create an OER exploring the many different career pathways available in the fashion 
industry and job descriptions for student reference.  

 
WSD/KPU Initiatives 

 Research feasibility of a Master of Design program 

 Develop a DESN course for students transitioning to post-secondary education  
o Similar to KPU 100, but in design focused and in a credit bearing, required 

course (see reference course from North Carolina in Appendix 18) 

 Build on collection of dress forms that reflect body inclusivity (gender and sizes)  

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 71 

 

 

 Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean 

Program Overview 

What do you see as the program’s greatest accomplishments over the last 5 years?   
 
The Fashion and Technology program is well established and recognized as the longest 
running apparel degree program in Western Canada. It has since received global 
acknowledgement from the Business of Fashion in 2019 as the only Canadian fashion 
school to be highlighted at the undergraduate level, earning awards for categories for long 
term value, best in learning experience, and best overall in the undergraduate fashion 
school rankings. 
 
The program maintains strong connections with industry through collaborative projects, 
site visits, guest speakers, critiques and practicum placements to provide further alignment 
with our polytechnic, experiential approach to learning.  The program is supported by a 
team of passionate and dedicated faculty with diverse professional and academic 
backgrounds, working closely with an actively engaged Advisory Committee that further 
contributes to the depth and relevancy of the curriculum.  Alumni of the program are 
successfully working and advancing in a range of local, national and global apparel 
companies, with many who remain in close contact with the program as Advisory 
Committee members, practicum supervisors, guest speakers and faculty. 
 
Does the program adequately fulfill the purpose for which it was intended? If not, how 
can it be improved? 
 
The program continues to prepare students with a well-rounded, generalist approach to 
immerse them into a range of experiences and skills that balances the technical, creative, 
and marketability of the apparel industry. The ability to remain nimble and responsive to 
the rapidly evolving needs of the industry is an essential component to provide graduates 
who are capable to perform in this environment. Recent industry reports and feedback 
from members from the discipline highlight the need for employees who possess an 
adaptable, innovative mindset with effective abilities in critical thinking, collaboration, and 
communications.  The current global health pandemic has further heightened the adoption 
of advanced technology and shifts in consumer decision making and purchasing practices.  
This in turn, has a direct impact on the design, product development, and production 
processes. 
 
The program is now considering the most effective strategy to address the need to cover 
all of the necessary technical and theoretically knowledge while incorporating the less 
tangible, yet highly valuable ‘soft skills’ at a depth required to be fully prepared to 
immediately engage as a contributing industry member. Therefore, areas for further 
investigation will then need to include a review of the existing program framework to 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 72 

 

 

assess for potential areas of efficiencies and to possibly investigate the viability of curricular 
streams for specialization in key areas. 
 
How does the program’s curriculum support the following: 

 graduates’ pursuit of meaningful employment and further education 

 the viability and continued development of the program 
 
The survey results and continued connection with alumni, indicate a high percentage of 
full-time employment amongst a range of companies within the apparel industry from well-
established global brands to local, entrepreneurial pursuits.  The type of roles supports all 
areas of the design, production, and marketing cycle with many alumni evolving into 
leadership positions.  The noted areas of strengths of the graduates include attributes such 
as design methodology, communications skills, with continued area of focus including 
problem solving, critical thinking, and collaboration. 
 
There is indication of some alumni who have continued to pursue further education, 
particularly in the areas of business and secondary education and the program will continue 
to engage in further discussion with industry to determine the value of an enhanced 
credential.  Other considerations include the investigation of potential pathways to pursue 
post graduate work at other institutions and to collaborate with the other degree programs 
within the Wilson School of Design to determine the viability of a Master of Design rather 
than one that is discipline specific. 
 
The apparel industry is a major player within the global economy and there is continued 
growth in demand for well-prepared and well-rounded graduates who can immediately 
integrate their skillset within an organization.  As the industry evolves, continued active 
engagement with members indicate the support for continued enhancement of the 
program curriculum.  It is essential to build in the flexibility to adapt to emerging trends 
and practices within the global economy and the program is prepared to proactively 
respond to these shifting needs.  
 
The program has now started to witness the impact of the curriculum revisions 
implemented in 2017 as per the results from the last Program Review.  The timeliness of 
this review process will provide the opportunity to assess the outcomes to date and will 
incorporate the current rationale to move forward with additional revisions and identify 
other institutional support required to remain current and relevant.  Areas of particular 
focus will address enhancement in technology, sustainability, and exploration for curricular 
streams of specialization.   

What challenges and opportunities for growth should the program consider based on the 
following? 

 student demand (past, present and future) 

 comparable programs at competing institutions 

 trends and changing contexts in the discipline/sector 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 73 

 

 

 

Since the phased in reduction of the 2nd cohort starting in 2019, the program has 

maintained a full intake of 22 students with some applicants on the waitlist.  Some 

applicants are recommended to the Foundations in Design program to work on the 

development of their portfolios skills, while others shift into the School of Business or the 

Faculty of Arts to work on elective courses and prepare for another application attempt the 

following year.  As per the recent Program Review for the Foundations in Design program, 

the WSD will be investigating the viability of the potential to attract more students to 

remain within general studies at the WSD if an open intake program is considered.  This 

will also allow for more opportunity for pathway and potential dual credit students.   

The program is committed to ongoing analysis on strategic enrolment planning to monitor 

student numbers and to assess for opportunities to support applicants with the current 

portfolio requirements.  On-going collaboration with the Future Students’ Office (FSO) 

Team will also assist to assess plans to strategically connect with suitable markets and to 

explore additional opportunities for engagement such as high school workshops and 

alumni testimonials. 

The program continues to observe the institutional direction and effectiveness of its closest 

competitors and in particular, the recent entry of the second degree program in Western 

Canada with LaSalle College.  The program also has the opportunity to leverage a 

competitive advantage with its unique value proposition with further investigation to 

differentiate itself from other degree offerings in fashion and apparel.  Other areas of 

opportunity also include the enhanced alignment with certificate and diploma programs 

from other institutions to ladder into degree completion and other transitions into 

graduate programs such as the Technical Apparel Program and the SUMAS partnership and 

entrepreneurial courses within the School of Business. 

As previously noted, it is essential that the team maintains a nimble and flexible approach 

to address future trends and drivers for change that impact the industry. Some of these 

areas include innovative technologies such as 3D prototyping, advanced analytics, artificial 

intelligence, and e-commerce that have a significant impact on all design, production, and 

marketing processes.  There are also considerations pertaining to sustainability, the circular 

economy, and diversity in body sizing.  Consumers are more intentional with their 

purchasing power and they are seeking more value in performance, quality, and a 

transparent understanding of the story behind the product.  The global health pandemic 

has also increased opportunity for the development of personal protection equipment 

(PPE) and a renewed development in local and national production. 

 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 74 

 

 

What plans (departmental, faculty and institutional) are in place for program growth and 
development? 
 
The program will move forward with strategic curriculum revisions to address currently 
identified gaps in graduate outcomes and to enhance student and faculty experience. As 
noted in previous sections, the program plans to further investigate its competitive 
advantage to elevate its distinct value proposition within the apparel education market.  
This will include the exploration of possible specialization in the upper levels as well as 
formalizing pathways for advanced entry of other certificate and diploma programs from 
other institutions.  This approach would need to consider an innovative strategy for 
enrolment and progression, as well as an assessment of current offerings for potential 
efficiencies and prioritization to create the space required to cover highlighted areas in 
need of attention.  As also mentioned, the program will further investigate opportunities 
for graduate education either through articulation with existing programming or the 
development of a WSD Master of Design or one that is more specialized for apparel. 
 
Additional areas include the enhanced development of Continuing and Professional Studies 
(CPS) courses and workshops for potential applicants, high school teachers and general 
interest.  The program piloted a few online courses during the pandemic that included a 
blend of asynchronous sessions with training videos and resources as well as optional drop-
in sessions as needed.  The program seeks to expand a larger range of offerings into micro-
credentials and develop other training sessions for student badges for such topics on lab 
safety and specialized operation of equipment and technology. 
 
Further highlights include the support for enhanced connections with industry and 
increased involvement with the Advisory Committee through site visits, guest lectures, 
linked projects, and practicum placements.  This will also include the inquiry into the 
development of a possible WSD co-op program that may serve all programs.  There will 
also be increased promotional efforts to highlight the program’s value proposition and to 
continue to build the brand and reputation of WSD and KPU.   
 
What resources, institutional support, and/or external support would help address the 
program’s plans for growth and development? 
 
The proposed program and curricular changes will require administrative support for 
program and course outline revisions through the Curriculum Committee approval process. 
This will include both the Faculty and Senate level committees and the Provost Office for 
Ministry related approvals.  The proposed consideration for specialization streams is a new 
concept for the program and this will require extra attention to confirm appropriate 
procedures.  Additional support from the Teaching and Learning Commons for curriculum 
mapping, course design, and assessment tools may also be necessary.   
 
On-going feedback from the Advisory Committee will be critical to maintain currency, 
relevancy, and connections for experiential learning opportunities. Additional 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 75 

 

 

communication with external organizations such as the Apparel Affinity Group, the 
Canadian Apparel Federation, and the BC Apparel and Gear Association with also be 
essential. 
For recruitment, this includes continued collaboration with the FSO team to connect with 
high schools and target markets to increase awareness of the program and associated 
career opportunities.  This will also require the support of the Marketing team as well as a 
dedicated budget for strategic promotional initiatives via social media, virtual information 
sessions, tours, promotional video, and highlights of success stories of students, alumni, 
faculty, and Advisory Committee members. 
 
Collectively, what qualifications and other human resources are required so the program 
will be able to make the changes required to improve and remain current? 
 
In addition to the resources noted in the section above, faculty will need continued support 
for professional development and opportunities to enhance teaching practices and to 
continue to build upon the program’s strengths and new opportunities.  Some of the areas 
of focus include support for curriculum development specific to program specialization and 
advanced technology training in 3D, virtual reality and other automated systems. 
 
As the overall usage of lab/testing spaces, specialized equipment and technology increases 
for all students within the WSD, the need for additional support and training for qualified 
technicians is also required.  The current team of one Divisional Lab Coordinator and two 
Lab Technicians may also need to be supplemented with dedicated budget for fully trained 
student assistants. 

 

What areas should the program focus on for the short range (< 6 months), mid-range (6 
mo. – 2 years), and long range (>2 years) program directions and improvement? 
 
We are in full support of the program’s recommendations as described in Chapter 6 in this 
study.  Some of the proposed areas of improvement may span over all three-time 
categories due to the nature of the curriculum process and the approval timelines.  Some 
initiatives may need to be further prioritized or assessed for scope of viability based on the 
allocations for budget and human resources as the action plan progresses. 

External Connections and Support 

How could the program improve its connections with external groups (e.g. the 
discipline/sector, high schools, alumni, professional associations, other institutions)? 
 
As noted in a previous section above, the support to continue a strong connection with the 
Advisory Committee and other industry partners is a major factor in the program’s success.  
The program will also continue strategic alignment with the associations noted above and 



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 76 

 

 

seek alliances with additional organizations such as the Sustainable Apparel Coalition and 
other global networks. 
 
Additional support is needed through the KPU Alumni Association, the growth of the WSD 
Alumni Chapter and other events to further engage with alumni and prospective applicants. 
Further collaboration will continue with FSO to connect with high schools and the 
community via visits and workshops along with other promotional tools as previously 
described.  The finalization of KPU’s CPS Business Plan and implementation of its micro- 
credential policy will also further support the connection with high school teachers and 
industry for upskilling and training opportunities. 

Final Comments 

What else do you think is important to add about the program that is not covered in the 
previous questions?   

We commend the Fashion and Technology team members for their continuous efforts to 
support successful graduates and to elevate the program, WSD and KPU.  

 
 

  



Fashion and Technology Program Self-Study Report                    June 2021 77 

 

 

 References for Self-Study Report 

NOTE: Appendices are provided in a separate document. 
 
References 
Amed, I., Balchandani, A., Jensen, J. E., Berg, A., Hedrich, S., Young, R., Peng, A., & Rolkens, 

F. (2021). The state of fashion 2021. Business of Fashion & McKinsey & Company. 

https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/retail/our-insights/state-of-fashion 

Aoki, T. T. (2005). Chapter 27: Spinning inspirited images in the midst of planned and live(d) 

curricula.  FINE: Journal of the Fine Arts Council of the Alberta Teachers’ Association, 

413-423. 

Dewey, J. (1930). Democracy and education: An introduction to the philosophy of 

education. New York, NY: The Macmillan company. 

Gale, C. (2011). The future of fashion education: An opinion. Fine Arts International Journal, 

15(1), 29-33. 

Hodges, N., & Karpova, E. (2009). Making a major decision: An exploration of why student 

enroll in fashion programs. International Journal of Fashion Design, Technology and 

Education, 2(3), 47-57. 

Middlecamp, C. (2005). The art of engagement. Peer Review, 7(2), 17-20. 

Pasricha, A., & Kadolph, S. J. (2009). Millennial generation and fashion education: A 

discussion on agents of change. International Journal of Fashion Design, Technology 

an Education, 2(3), 119-126. 

Rissanen, T. (2017). Possibility in fashion design education – A manifesto. Utopian Studies, 

28(3), 528-546. 

Scriver, A. (2020). Why the fight for inclusivity in fashion education is more important than 

ever. This Magazine. https://this.org/2020/09/16/why-the-fight-for-inclusivity-in-

fashion-education-is-more-important-than-ever/ 

van Manen, M. (1977). Linking ways of knowing with ways of being practical. Curriculum 

Inquiry, 6(3), 205-228. 



Program Reviews in Progress As of: 6/11/2021 Page 1 of 3

Planning 
Began

Data Collection Concluded Report 
Due

Report 
Approved

Site Visit 
Deadline

Date of 
Site Visit

Report 
Received 

QA Plan 
Due

QA Plan 
Approved

Report 
Due

1st Report 
Approved

2nd Report 
Approved

ACP English Upgrading Dec-18
re-start: Sep-

21

Admin Data: Feb-19 The review will start in September 2021.  
Timeline will be on the agenda for the September 
meeting. 

Arts Anthropology Sep-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Feb-19

Sep-20 Apr-21 Nov-20 Jun-21 Jun-22 External review site visit to take place in fall 
2021. 

Arts Criminology Jan-19 Admin Data: Feb-19
Rev. Admin Data: Feb-20

Survey Data: May-20

Dec-20 Feb-21 Jun-21 Jun-22 Self-study report was due in December 2020. It is 
expected in September 2021. 

Arts Creative Writing Mar-21 May-22 Jul-22 Oct-22 Nov-23

Arts Education Assistant Sep-19 Admin Data: Oct-19
Survey Data: June-20

Feb-21 May-21 Mar-21 Sep-22 Sep-22 External review site visit to take place in October 
2021. 

Arts Minor in Counselling Feb-18 Admin Data: April-18
Survey Data: April-18

x Apr-19 x Oct-19 Jan-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Sep-21 Annual follow-up is due in October 2021. 

Arts English May-20 Admin Data: Jan-21
Survey Data: April-21

Sep-21 Nov-21 Apr-22 Apr-23 Self-study report is due in September 2021.

Arts History Dec-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: March-20

Aug-20 Feb-21 Oct-20 June 
17/18

May-21 May-22 External review site visit planning is underway. 

Arts Philosophy Sep-17 Admin Data: Sep-18
Survey Data: Dec-17 (Discipline 

Survey: Mar-18)

x Apr-19 x Jul-19 Jul-19 Jan-20 Apr-21 Jan-21 Annual follow-up is due in April 2022.

Arts Political Science Dec-19 Admin Data: Dec-19
Survey Data: June-20

Jan-21 Mar-21 Sep-21 Sep-22 Self-study report is due in September 2021.  

Arts Psychology Dec-16 Admin Data: Oct-17
Survey Data: Apr/Jun-17

x Apr-18 x Jun-18 Jul-18 x May-20 May-21 May-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in May 2022. 

Arts Sociology Sep-15 Admin Data: Nov-17
Survey Data: May-16

x Dec-17 x Apr-18 May-18 x Oct-18 Oct-19 Apr-20 May-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
a third time in May 2022. 

Business Accounting Nov-17 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Jan-18

x Sep-18 x Jan-19 Feb-19 x Feb-20 Feb-21 Feb-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in February 2022. 

Business Computer Science and 
Information Technology

Apr-19 Admin Data: May-19
Survey Data: Jan-20

Aug-20 Nov-20 Nov-20 Mar 1/2-
21

Mar-21 Aug-21 Aug-22 Quality assurance plan is due in September 2021. 

Business Business Management Sep-15 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Mar-18

x Jun-18 x Jul-18 Jul-18 x Mar-20 Mar-21 Annual follow-up is expected in September 2021.

Business Entrepreneurial Leadership Jun-16 Admin Data: Aug-16
Survey Data: Apr/Aug-17

x Apr-18 x Jul-18 Sep-18 x May-19 May-20 Oct-20 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in October 2021. 

Business Human Resource 
Management 

May-14 Admin Data: Sept-16
Survey Data: Mar-17

x Jun-17 x Nov-18 Dec-18 x Sep-19 Sep-20 Oct-20 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in October 2021. 

Design Fashion Marketing Diploma Oct-17 Admin Data: Sept-18
Survey Data: Dec-17

x Oct-18 x Feb-19 Mar-19 x Sep-19 Sep-20 Sep-20 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in September 2021. 

Design Fashion Design & 
Technology

Sep-20 Admin Data: Feb-21
Survey Data: Mar-21

Jun-21 Oct-21 Jun-22 Jun-23  SSR is in. 

Design Foundation in Design 
Certificate

Oct-17
re-start: Oct-

19

Admin Data: Aug-17
Survey Data: Nov-17 (Student 

Data: Feb-18)
Revised Admin Data: Oct-19

Survey Data: Aug-20

Sep-20 Apr-21 Oct-20 June 
29/30

May-21 May-22 External review site visit will take palce on June 
29/30, 2021. 

Progress Update
The table includes only the reviews in progress. 

Faculty Program Self-Study External Review Annual Follow-upQA Plan



Program Reviews in Progress As of: 6/11/2021 Page 2 of 3

Planning 
Began

Data Collection Concluded Report 
Due

Report 
Approved

Site Visit 
Deadline

Date of 
Site Visit

Report 
Received 

QA Plan 
Due

QA Plan 
Approved

Report 
Due

1st Report 
Approved

2nd Report 
Approved

Progress Update
The table includes only the reviews in progress. 

Faculty Program Self-Study External Review Annual Follow-upQA Plan

Design Graphic Design for 
Marketing 

Oct-17 Admin Data: Oct-18  
Survey Data: Mar-18

x Dec-18 x Mar-19 Apr-19 x Oct-19 Oct-20 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in October 2021. 

Design Interior Design Sep-18 Admin Data: Nov-18
Admin Data: Sep-19
Survey Data: Nov-18

x Jan-20 Jan-20 Jun-20 Aug-20 Jun-20 Feb-21 Jun-21 Annual follow-up is due in February 2022. 

Design Product Design Feb-19 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Oct-19

Feb-20 Jun-20 Apr-20 Feb 
24/25-21

Apr-21 Oct-20 Oct-21 Quality Assurance Plan is due in October 2021.

Design Technical Apparel Design Jun-18 Admin Data: Dec-18
Admin Data: Oct-19
Survey Data: Dec-18

x Jan-20 Sep-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Jun-21 Jan-21 Jun-22 Annual follow-up is due in January 2022.

Health Bachelor of Psychiatric 
Nursing

Sep-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Feb-19

x Oct-20 x Feb-20 Mar-20 Aug-20 Nov-20 Aug-21 Annual follow-up is due in November 2021. 

Health BSN -New
BSN - Revised

Sep-16 Admin Data: Jan-18
Survey Data:

Faculty: Jan-17
Discipline: Feb-17

Student + Alumni: Sep-17

x
Feb-18

x
Mar-18 May-18

x Feb-20
Dec-18

Feb-21
Dec-19

Feb 21
Feb 20

SSCPR asked New BSN program to report on their 
progress one more time in February 2022. Note 
that the Revised BSN review is complete. 

Health Health Care Assistant 
Certificate

May-19 Admin Data: Jun-19
Survey Data: Sep-19

x Jan-20 Sep-20 Dec 9/10-
20

Feb-21 Jun-21 Jun-22 Quality Assurance Plan is in. 

Health Health Unit Coordinator 
Certificate

Jan-18 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data:

Discipline + Alumni: Mar-18
Student + Faculty: Aug-18

x Dec-18 x Jun-19 Jul-19 x x All intakes are suspended. The review is on hold 
until the future of  the program is determined.

Science Biology Oct-19 Admin Data: Nov-19 Oct-21 Jan-22 Sep-22 Sep-23 Self-study report is due in October 2021. 

Science Brewing and Brewery 
Operations

Jan-21 May-22 Sep-22 Feb-23 Feb-24 PR Kick-off meeting took place in January 2021. 
Program review will start in the fall. Timeline is 
in.

Science Health Science Sep-18 Admin Data: Nov-18
Survey Data: Nov-18

x Mar-19 x May-19 Jul-19 x Jan-20 Jan-21 Jan-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in January 2022. 

Science Bachelor of Horticulture 
Science 

Jan-18 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Apr/Jun-18 

x Mar-19 x Apr-19 May-19 Aug-19 Apr-21 Aug-20 Annual follow-up is due in April 2022.

Science Horticulture Technology 
Diploma

Dec-20 PR Kick-off meeting took place in December 
2020. The review will start in the fall. Timeline 
will be on the agenda for September meeting.

Science Mathematics May-19 Admin Data: Jul-19
Survey Data: 

Faculty: Jul-19 
Alumni: Sep-19 

Discipline/Sector: Sep-19

Sep-19 Oct-20 Nov-19 Mar 
10/11-21

Apr-21 May-20 May-21 QA Plan is due in October 2021. 

Science Physics for Modern 
Technology

Jan-21 Jan-22 Mar-22 Sep-22 Oct-23 PR Kick-off meeting took place in February 2021. 
Surveys will be drafted in Summer 2021 and 
launched in Fall 2021. Timeline is in. 



Program Reviews in Progress As of: 6/11/2021 Page 3 of 3

Planning 
Began

Data Collection Concluded Report 
Due

Report 
Approved

Site Visit 
Deadline

Date of 
Site Visit

Report 
Received 

QA Plan 
Due

QA Plan 
Approved

Report 
Due

1st Report 
Approved

2nd Report 
Approved

Progress Update
The table includes only the reviews in progress. 

Faculty Program Self-Study External Review Annual Follow-upQA Plan

Science Sustainable Agriculture Oct-19 Admin Data: Nov-19
Revised Admin Data: Feb-21

Survey Data: 
Student: Aug-20

Faculty & Alumni: Jan-21
Discipline/sector: Feb-21

Aug-20 Oct-20 or 
Nov-20

May-21 May-22 Self-study report is due in August 2021. 

Science Turf Management Diploma May-19 Admin Data: May-19
Survey Data: Sep-19

Oct-19 Jan-20 Sep-20 Sep-21 Turf Management will be reviewed as part of 
Horticulture Technology program review. 


	2 2021 06 23 SSCPR Agenda
	3 2021 05 19 SSCPR Minutes - Draft Reviewed
	4.1.0 SSCPR Cover - Creative Writing Program Review Timeline
	4.1.1 Creative Writing Program Review Timeline
	4.2.0 SSCPR Cover - Physics for Modern Technology Program Review Timeline
	4.2.1 Physics for Modern Technology Program Review Timeline_Revised
	4.3.0 SSCPR Cover - Brewing and Brewery Operations Program Review Timeline
	4.3.1 Brewing and Brewery Operations Program Review Timeline
	5.1.0 SSCPR Cover HCAP Quality Assurance Plan
	5.1.1 HCAP Quality Assurance Plan
	5.1.2 HCAP Quality Assurance Plan SSCPR Reviewers' Comments
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Quality Assurance Plan under review and an overall recommendation.
	MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:
	Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan:
	a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately addressed.
	b) Goals, Strategies, Steps and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly.
	c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-Year Follow-Up Report.

	5.1.3 HCAP Program Review_ Quality Assurance Plan_Revised
	5.2.0 SSCPR Cover Fashion and Technology Self-Study Report
	5.2.1 Fashion and Technology Self-Study Report
	5.2.2 Fashion and Technology Self-Study Report Appendices
	Appendix 1. FASN Program Model
	Appendix 2: Calendar Description of Program
	Appendix 3: Calendar Description of Program Courses
	Appendix 3a: Course Descriptions for FASN 3900 Special Topics

	Appendix 4: Program Admissions Requirements and Policies
	Appendix 4a: Statement of Interest Form
	Appendix 4b: Applicant Reference Form

	Appendix 5: Credential completion requirements and standards
	Appendix 6: Business of Fashion Awards for KPU Fashion & Technology Program
	Chapter 2. Program Currency and Connections
	Appendix 7: Competitor Program Models
	Concentrations (for students admitted Fall 2020 and after)
	1st Year
	2nd Year
	3rd Year
	4th Year

	Appendix 8: Advisory Committee Biographies
	Lisa MacCarthy, Advisory Committee: Chair (Fall 2018 – Spring 2021)
	Advisory Committee: Industry Members

	Appendix 9: Recent Advisory Board Meeting Minutes
	Appendix 9a: Advisory Meeting Minutes February 27th, 2019
	Appendix 9b: Advisory Meeting Minutes October 9th, 2019
	Appendix 9c: Advisory Meeting Minutes February 18th, 2021

	Appendix 10: Membership Association Descriptions
	Appendix 10a:  BC Apparel and Gear Association
	NETWORKING (COMMUNITY, INTERACTIONS, CONNECTIONS)
	REPRESENTATION (VOICE, BE HEARD)
	OUTREACH (DEVELOPMENT, PROMOTION)
	Appendix 10b: Apparel Affinity Group (AAG)
	Appendix 10c: BC Society for the Museum of Original Costume (SMOC)
	Appendix 10d: THESA (Teachers of Home Economics Specialist Association)

	Appendix 11: Continuing Professional Studies (CPS) Courses
	Tuesday, August 7- Saturday, August 11 - FSDP 9020 | Textile Techniques Academy
	Monday, July 30 - Friday, August 3 - FSDP 9001 | Summer Design Academy
	Monday, August 13 - Friday, August 17 - FSDP 9002 | Summer Sewing Academy
	Monday, August 20 - Friday, August 24 - FSDP 9018 | Summer Drafting Academy
	Monday, July 30 - Friday, August 3 - FSDP 9017 | Textile Techniques with Felting
	Tuesday, August 7 - Saturday, August 11 - FSDP 9012 | Beginner's Sewing
	Monday, August 13 - Friday, August 17 - FSDP 9016 | Intermediate Sewing & Pattern Making
	Monday, August 20 - Friday, August 24 - FSDP 9015 | Reworking Commercial Patterns

	Appendix 12: Wilson School of Design Social Media Platforms
	Appendix 13: Student Demand for the Program

	Chapter 3. Quality of Curriculum Design
	Appendix 14: SlideRoom Overview
	Appendix 15: Career Pathways
	Appendix 15a: Job titles that alumni of the fashion and technology program hold
	Appendix 15b: Entrepreneurship & Alumni Founded Companies

	Appendix 16: UBC x KPU Pathway to BEd
	Appendix 17: KPU Vision 2023
	Appendix 18: Intro to University Course Example

	Chapter 4. Quality of Instructional Design
	Appendix 19: Faculty Bios
	Alex Diaz
	Eleanor Hannan
	Evelyn May
	Lesley Pollard
	Mary Androsiuk
	Professional Experience:
	Recognition, rewards, research, Community engagement:
	KPU Contributions
	Sharon Greeno

	Appendix 20: BC Labor Sector Report: Apparel
	BENEFITS FOR THE SECTOR
	TO LEARN MORE PLEASE CONTACT:


	Chapter 5. Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities
	Appendix 21: Production Machinery Available in Wilson School of Design
	Appendix 22: Specialized Program Plans

	Chapter 6. Survey Results
	Appendix 23: Student Survey Results
	Appendix 24: Alumni Survey Results
	Appendix 25: Discipline/Sector Survey Results
	Appendix 26: Faculty Survey Results
	Appendix 27: Administrative Data
	ENROLMENT TRENDS1F
	Exhibit 1: Course Headcount2F  by Academic Year: Fashion and Technology and School of Design Undergraduate Courses
	Exhibit 2: Program Headcount by Academic Year: Fashion and Technology
	Exhibit 3: Program Headcount by Academic Year: Baccalaureate Degree Programs4F  in the School of Design and All School of Design Programs

	FASHION AND TECHNOLOGY ENROLMENT IN B.C. 5F
	Exhibit 4: Number of Students Enrolled in Bachelor-level Fashion and Technology Programs at B.C. Public Post-Secondary Institutions

	DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE OF KPU STUDENTS6F
	Exhibit 5: Profile of Fashion and Technology Students by Academic Year
	Exhibit 6: Profile of School of Design Baccalaureate Degree Students by Academic Year

	SEAT TRENDS7F
	Exhibit 7: Average Seats per Class from 2016/17 to 2019/20:
	Exhibit 8: Fill Rate from 2016/17 to 2019/20:

	GRADE DISTRIBUTIONS8F
	Exhibit 9: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Fashion and Technology Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20
	Exhibit 10: Cumulative Grade Distribution for School of Design Undergraduate Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20
	Exhibit 11: Grade Data for Fashion and Technology and School of Design Undergraduate Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20
	Exhibit 12: Grade Data for Fashion and Technology and School of Design Courses for 2019/20 across Undergraduate Levels

	GRADUATION COUNTS10F
	Exhibit 13: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: Fashion and Technology
	Exhibit 14: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: School of Design
	Exhibit 15: Median Years to Graduate with One Credential:13F  Fashion and Technology
	Exhibit 16: Median Years to Graduate: School of Design

	STUDENT OUTCOMES14F
	Exhibit 17: Student Outcomes Measures - KPU Fashion and Technology Average Scores Compared with Ministry Targets




	5.2.3 Fashion and Technology Self-Study Report SSCPR Reviewers' Comments
	5.2.4 Fashion and Technology Self-Study_Revised
	7 Manager's Report_Status of Program Reviews_Details for June 2021 SSCPR Meeting
	Status




